

Inflammasome and innate immunity biomarkers in patients affected by mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease.

Inès Schmidt-Morgenroth

► To cite this version:

Inès Schmidt-Morgenroth. Inflamma some and innate immunity biomarkers in patients affected by mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease. Human health and pathology. Université Clermont Auvergne, 2023. English. NNT: 2023UCFA0140. tel-04597607

HAL Id: tel-04597607 https://theses.hal.science/tel-04597607v1

Submitted on 3 Jun2024

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

THESE

Pour l'obtention du grade de : Docteur de l'Université Clermont Auvergne

Clermont Auvergne

CNRS, Clermont Auvergne INP, Institut Pascal, 63000 Clermont-Ferrand, France Novartis, Biomedical Research, 14 Fabrikstrasse, 4056 Bâle, Suisse

Ecole doctorale des sciences de la vie, santé, agronomie et environnement – ED568 Domaine Scientifique : Biologie, médecine et santé

Thèse présentée par :

Inès Schmidt-Morgenroth

Le 12 décembre 2023

Biomarqueurs de l'inflammasome et du système immunitaire inné chez

les patients atteints d'un trouble cognitif léger dû à la maladie

d'Alzheimer

Inflammasome and innate immunity biomarkers in patients affected by Mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease

Thèse dirigée et co-encadrée par	
Professeur Philippe MICHAUD	Institut Pascal, Université Clermont Auvergne
Docteur Alexandre AVRAMEAS	Biomedical Research, Novartis
Rapportrices	
Docteure Frances YEN POTIN	Institut national de la santé et de la recherche médicale, Université de Lorraine
Professeure Guylène PAGE	Pôle Biologie Santé, Université de Poitiers
Examinatrice	
Docteure Bénédicte PY	Centre International de Recherche en Infectiologie, Université Claude Bernard – Lyon 1
Président du jury	
Professeur Patrick VERNET	Université Clermont Auvergne

i

Remerciements - Acknowledgments

Tout d'abord, je remercie tous les membres du jury d'avoir accepté d'évaluer ce travail de thèse. Merci au docteur Frances Yen Potin et au professeur Guylène Page de participer à ce jury en tant que rapportrices. Merci également au docteur Bénédicte Py et au professeur Patrick Vernet, pour avoir accepté d'être membre du jury.

Merci au professeur Philippe Michaud d'avoir accepté de diriger ma thèse. Vous n'avez pas hésité quand nous vous avons proposé le sujet de ce travail à la fin de mon master. Merci à vous pour vos retours, vos relectures et l'encadrement de ma thèse.

Merci au docteur Alexandre Avrameas de m'avoir donné l'opportunité de faire cette thèse et de m'avoir accompagnée durant ces trois années. Merci d'avoir partagé vos connaissances et votre expertise dans les biomarqueurs. Merci aussi pour votre énergie et vos idées apportées à ce projet ainsi qu'à votre infaillible enthousiasme, mêmes quand les résultats n'étaient pas à la hauteur de nos espérances.

Merci également au docteur Fabrizio Gasparini, d'avoir pris le temps d'échanger et partager avec nous vos connaissances en neurosciences et dans la maladie d'Alzheimer au cours de discussions passionnées. Merci de m'avoir accompagnée dans la rédaction de la publication.

I would like to thank all my BMD colleagues at Novartis, former and current ones. First, thank you to Dr. Alessandra Vitaliti, who kindly accepted my thesis position in the group. Thank you to Dr. Marie-Anne Valentin for the support and the access to technologies of the Soluble Biomarker group. I'm thankful for all my colleagues from SBM, Giulio, Stéphanie, Stéphane, and Thierry. A big thank you to Heidi, Jasmina, Jacqueline, Moran, and Rushika, for your kindness, motivational talk and being great listeners, and for creating some fun memories in the lab (Zumba dance, year-end videos). Thank you to the ladies from the Cellular Biomarker group, Aurélie, Elham, Esther, Hélène and Tala for your kind words and encouragement.

ii

Un merci tout particulier à Anita d'avoir été mon mentor durant mon master et de m'avoir tout appris au labo. Merci d'avoir partagé ton expérience avec moi et d'avoir toujours pris le temps de répondre à mes questions.

Merci également à mes amis de l'Université, Alexia, Aude, Cyril, Florine et Romain, pour les bons moments et pour vos oreilles attentives. Merci aussi à celles de longues dates, Camille, Jiverny, Julia, Louise, Mélanie, Marion et Noémie, pour m'avoir toujours encouragée dans mon parcours et d'avoir été là dans les bons et moins bons moments, et ceux malgré nos emplois du temps chargés. Merci aussi à Alix et Barbara, pour notre traditionnel rendezvous de Noël et les fous-rires partagés.

Merci à ma famille d'avoir toujours été là pour moi et de m'avoir soutenue durant ces longues études. Merci à mes frères et à mes parents sans qui je n'aurai pas pu réaliser ce parcours. Merci à l'éducation que vous m'avez donnée et de m'avoir inculqué des valeurs telle que la curiosité qui m'a amené à faire cette thèse. Je vous suis reconnaissante et vous aime profondément. Malheureusement non, je n'ai pas trouvé de remède à la maladie d'Alzheimer.

Une pensée émue à mes deux grand-mères, qui de là-haut veillent sur moi. A ma mamama Lina qui doit sans doute déjà raconter à tout le monde l'aboutissement de cette thèse à ses nouveaux voisins.

Merci à mon compagnon de m'avoir suivie, épaulée et réconfortée durant ce travail. Il est maintenant temps de partir ensemble pour de nouvelles aventures !

Enfin, merci à ma bête poilue, Sirius, qui a été d'un soutien incommensurable durant ces trois années, et qui n'a pas hésité à taper sur ce clavier lorsque je n'étais pas inspirée.

Contents

Remercie	ements - Acknowledgments	ii
List of Ak	bbreviations	vi
List of Fig	gures	xii
List of Ta	ıbles	xiii
Introduc	tion	1
I. A	geing and neurodegenerative disease	1
1.	Mild cognitive Impairment	1
2.	Dementia	2
3.	Alzheimer's disease	2
II. A	Izheimer continuum: disease stages and progression	
1.	Preclinical AD	4
2.	MCI due to AD	4
3.	Dementia due to AD	5
III.	Alzheimer's disease pathological hallmarks: Amyloid and Tau protein	6
1.	Amyloid plaques and the Amyloid cascade hypothesis	7
2.	Tau protein tangles	
3.	Neuritic plaques	
IV.	Etiology and risk factors	15
1.	Genetic risk factors	15
2.	Vascular factors	
3.	Environmental factors	
V. A	Izheimer's disease Diagnosis	19
1.	Clinical diagnosis	19
2.	Neuropathological diagnosis	
VI.	Alzheimer's disease biomarkers	
1.	Amyloid biomarkers	25
2.	Tau biomarkers	27
3.	Neurodegeneration biomarkers	29
VII.	Alzheimer's disease treatment	
1.	Symptomatic treatment	
2.	Therapeutic treatment	35
3.	Novartis CANTOS study and Alzheimer's disease	
VIII.	Role of the inflammation in Alzheimer's disease	40
1.	The immune system	40
2.	Inflammation and disease	
3.	The neuroinflammation	

4	. New biomarkers opportunities	47
Object	tives	53
Mater	ial and methods	54
I.	Participants	54
1	. Populations	54
2	. Ethical Consent	55
3	. Sample collection	56
II.	Sample analysis	56
1	. Quantification with immunoassays	56
2	. Semi-quantitative Olink [®] profiling	66
III.	Statistical analysis	68
Result	s and discussion	69
I.	Results with MCI patients received in December 2021	69
1	. Article published in International Journal of Molecular Sciences	69
2	. Proteomics and biomarker profiling	97
3	. Blood compartment: serum and plasma	103
١١.	Comparison of the two MCI samples batches	106
1	. Population study demographic and characteristics	107
2	. Alzheimer's disease hallmarks	107
3	. Inflammatory biomarkers in CSF	109
4	. Inflammatory biomarkers in serum	111
III.	Results with the total MCI patients	112
1	. Overview of the soluble biomarkers tested.	112
2	. Population study demographic and characteristics	112
3	. Comparison of Alzheimer's disease biomarkers: Amyloid and Tau proteins	114
4	. Neuroinflammation, astrogliosis, and microgliosis biomarkers in the CSF and the serum	117
5	. Inflammatory circulating cytokines	121
6	. Central vs Systemic inflammation: role of serum as a surrogate matrix to CSF	130
7.	. Relationship between Inflammatory biomarkers and Alzheimer's disease hallmarks	134
8	. In-between biomarkers correlations	136
9	. Results summary	143
Conclu	usion	145
Refere	ence	152
Abstra	lct	188
Résum	né	189

List of Abbreviations

ACE-III: Addenbrooke's Cognitive Examination III

ACh: Acetylcholine

ACH: Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis

AChE: Acetylcholinesterase

AD: Alzheimer's Disease

ADA: Adenosine DeAminase

ADAM: A Disintegrin And Metalloproteinase

ADNI: Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative

AICD: Amyloid precursor protein IntraCellular Domain

ALS: Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis

APOE: Apolipoprotein E

APP: Amyloid Precursor Protein

APR: Aggregation Prone Regions

ARIA: Amyloid-Related Imaging Abnormality

ASC: Apoptosis-associated Speck-like protein containing a Caspase recruitment domain

Aβ: Amyloid beta

BACE1: β-Amyloid Precursor Protein-Cleaving Enzyme-1

BBB: Blood Brain Barrier

BCA-1: B Cell-Attracting chemokine 1

BP: Binding Protein

BuChE: Butyrylcholinesterase (BuChE)

C83: 83-amino-acid Carboxy terminal Amyloid precursor protein fragment

C99: 99-amino-acid Carboxy terminal Amyloid precursor protein fragment

Ca²⁺: Calcium ion

CANTOS: Canakinumab Anti-inflammatory Thrombosis Outcome Study

CCL: C-C motif Ligand

CD: Cluster of Differentiation

CD5: T-cell surface glycoprotein CD5

CDR-SB: Clinical Dementia Rating-Sum of Boxes

CERAD: Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease

ChAT: Choline AcetylTransferase

CN: Cognitively Normal elderly

CNS: Central Nervous System

CoA: Coenzyme A

Covid-19: Coronavirus disease 2019

CRP: C-Reactive Protein

CSF: CerebroSpinal Fluid

CST5: Cystatin-D

CT: Computerised Tomography

CVD: CerebroVascular Disease

CXCL: C-X-C motif Ligand

DAMP: Danger Associated Molecular Pattern

DNA: DeoxyriboNucleic Acid

DNER: Delta and Notch-like Epidermal growth factor-related Receptor

DSST: Digit Symbol Substitution Test

EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

ELISA: Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay

EMCI: Early Mild Cognitive Impairment

EOAD: Early-Onset Alzheimer's Disease

FAD: Familial Alzheimer's Disease

FcR: Fc Receptor

FDA: Food and Drug Administration

FDG: FluoroDeoxyGlucose

Gal: Galantamine

GFAP: Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein

GNI: Gross National Income H₂O₂: Hydrogen peroxide HACU: High Affinity Choline Uptake HC: Healthy Control HNP1-3: Human Neutrophil Peptides 1-3 HRP: HorseRadish Peroxidase hsp70: 70 kilodalton heat shock protein **IFN: Interferon** Ig: Immunoglobulin iGluR: Ionotropic Glutamate Receptor IL: Interleukin IP-10: Interferon gamma-induced Protein 10 IVD: In Vitro Diagnostic kDa: kiloDalton LBA: Ligand-Binding Assay LMCI: Late Mild Cognitive Impairment LOAD: Late-Onset Alzheimer's Disease MAPT: Microtubule-Associated Protein Tau MCI: Mild Cognitive Impairment MCP-1: Monocyte Chemoattractant Protein 1 M-CSF: Macrophage Colony-Stimulating Factor Mg²⁺: Magnesium ion **MIP: Macrophage Inflammatory Protein** MMP-9: Matrix MetalloProteinase 9 MMSE: Mini-Mental State Examination MoCA: Montreal Cognitive Assessment MPO: Myeloperoxidase **MRD:** Minimum Dilution Required

MRI: Magnetic Resonance Imagery

MSD: MesoScale Discovery

MTBD: MicroTubule-Binding Domain

MWH: White Matter Hyperintensities

NA: Not Applicable

nAChR: Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptor

NADPH: Nicotinamide Adenine Dinucleotide Phosphate

NBS: National BioService LLC

NFL: Neurofilament Light Chain protein

NFT: NeuroFibrillary Tangles

NGF: Nerve Growth Factor

NGS: Next Generation Sequencing

NIA-AA: National Institute of Aging – Alzheimer's Association

NIC: Non-Impaired Control

NIH: National Institutes of Health

NK: Natural Killer

NLRP3: Nucleotide binding oligomerization, Leucine riche Repeat and Pyrin Domain containing receptor protein 3

NMDA: N-Methyl-D-Aspartate

NMDAR: N-Methyl-D-Aspartate Receptor

NP: Neuritic Plaque

NPX: Normalized Protein Expression

ns: non-significant

O2-: superoxide anion

OA: OsteoArthritis

OPN: Osteopontin

OSM: OncoStatin M

PAMP: Pathogen Associated Molecular Pattern

PD-L1: Programmed Death-Ligand 1

PEA: Proximity Extension Assay

PEN: Presenilin Enhancer

PET: Positron Emission Tomography

PHF: Paired Helical Filament

PiB: Pittsburgh compound B

PM10: Particulate Matter up to 10µm diameter

PRD: Proline-Rich Domain

PRR: Pattern Recognition Receptor

PSEN: PreSenilin

pTau: Phosphorylated Tau protein

qPCR: quantitative Polymerase Chain Reaction

R: Receptor

Ra: Receptor antagonist

RAcP: Receptor Accessory Protein

RNA: RiboNucleic Acid

ROS: Reactive Oxygen Species

rtPCR: real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction

SARS-CoV-2: Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome CoronaVirus 2

SD: Standard Deviation

SEM: Standard Error Mean

SF: Straight Filament

SLE: Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

SPP1: Secreted PhosphoProtein 1

SST: Serum Separating Tube

SUV: Standard Uptake Value

TBI: Traumatic Brain Injury

TGF: Transforming Growth Factor

Th: T helper

TIMP-1: Tissue Inhibitor of MetalloProteinase 1

TMB: TetraMethylBenzidine

TNFα: Tumour Necrosis Factor alpha

TREM-2: Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid cells 2

tTau: total Tau protein

UCH-L1: Ubiquitin Carboxy-terminal Hydrolase L1

uPA: urokinase-type Plasminogen Activator

WHO: World Health Organisation

YKL-40: Chitinase-3-like protein 1

List of Figures

Figure 1: Alzheimer's disease continuum	4
Figure 2: Amyloid precursor protein proteolysis pathways.	7
Figure 3: Aβ plaques formation mechanism.	9
Figure 4: Tau isoforms	12
Figure 5: Neurofibrillary tangles formation	13
Figure 6: Schematic diagram of a senile plaque	
Figure 7: Genetic landscape of Alzheimer's disease.	
Figure 8: Amyloid plaque deposition and Thal phases in Alzheimer's disease.	22
Figure 9: Braak stages of Tau deposition.	23
Figure 10: Correlations between Pittsburgh compound B and Thal Amyloid phases	
Figure 11: Correlations between Tau PET imaging with ¹⁸ F-MK-6240 and Braak stages	
Figure 12: Comparison of FDG-PET and MRI.	30
Figure 13: Galantamine mechanism of action in the cholinergic synapse	33
Figure 14: Anti-Amyloidβ immunotherapy approaches	
Figure 15: Aducanumab mode of action	37
Figure 16: Schematic diagram of the revised Amyloid cascade hypothesis.	39
Figure 17: Innate and adaptative immunity	42
Figure 18: Schematic overview of the neuroinflammation process in Alzheimer's Disease	45
Figure 19: Schematic section of the blood brain barrier	47
Figure 20: Principle of Enzyme-Linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)	57
Figure 21: Electrochemiluminescent principle of immunoassay	58
Figure 22: 24-month biomarkers' stability	65
Figure 23: Principle of Olink [®] assay	
Figure 24: Linear regressions between immunoassay and Olink® biomarkers concentrations	
Figure 25: Immunoassays vs Olink [®] Proteomics.	
Figure 26: Olink [®] results comparison between the NIC and the MCI cohort	101
Figure 27: Olink [®] results comparison between the HC and the MCI cohort	102
Figure 28: Correlations between serum and EDTA plasma biomarkers' concentrations	105
Figure 29: Timeline of sample collection and analysis.	106
Figure 30: Alzheimer's disease hallmarks CSF concentrations in the MCI batches	108
Figure 31: CSF biomarkers concentrations for the two MCI batches	110
Figure 32: Alzheimer's disease hallmarks CSF concentrations	115
Figure 33: Significant CSF concentrations differences between the NIC and the MCI cohorts	119
Figure 34: Systemic inflammation biomarkers concentrations	123
Figure 35: Spearman r heatmaps of inflammasome biomarkers in the serum	127
Figure 36: Spearman r heatmaps of inflammasome biomarkers in CSF	128
Figure 37: Spearman r heatmap of CSF biomarkers correlations in the MCI cohort	139
Figure 38: Spearman r value heatmap of serum biomarkers in the HC cohort	140
Figure 39: Spearman r value heatmap of serum biomarkers in the NIC cohort	141
Figure 40: Spearman r value heatmap of serum biomarkers in the MCI cohort	142

List of Tables

Table 1: ABC scoring of Alzheimer's disease associated neuropathological changes	24
Table 2: AT(N) biomarkers profiles	31
Table 3: List of the biomarkers tested with quantitative immunoassays.	60
Table 4: Example of assay spike recovery	62
Table 5: Demographic and characteristics of the two sample batches.	107
Table 6: Reproducibility of Alzheimer's hallmarks.	109
Table 7: Serum biomarkers concentrations significant differences between the two MCI batches	111
Table 8: Study population demographics and characteristics.	113
Table 9: Aβ42 Innotest <i>in vitro</i> diagnostic test reproducibility	114
Table 10: Alzheimer's disease hallmarks	117
Table 11: Central nervous system inflammatory biomarkers concentrations in CSF and serum	121
Table 12: Systemic inflammatory biomarkers concentrations in serum	122
Table 13: Inflammatory biomarkers concentrations in the CSF	124
Table 14: Inflammasome pathway biomarkers concentrations	126
Table 15: Correlations between CSF and serum central nervous system associated biomarkers	131
Table 16: Correlations between CSF and serum systemic inflammatory biomarkers	133
Table 17: Correlations between Alzheimer's disease hallmarks and central nervous system associat	ed
biomarkers	134
Table 18: Correlations between Alzheimer's disease hallmarks and inflammatory biomarkers	135
Table 19: Correlations between serum biomarkers in the MCI cohort	138
Table 20: Summary table of significant results between the NIC and the MCI cohort	144

Introduction

I. Ageing and neurodegenerative disease

Progress in medicine have improved human living conditions and increased life expectancy. As a result, people are living longer all around the world. According to the World Health Organisation (WHO), one out of six people will be aged 60 years or older in 2030, accounting for 1.4 billion people. By 2050, the world population of people aged 60 years and older should double and reach 2.1 billion people¹. At a biological level, ageing is an irreversible progressive decline of the physiological functions (physical and mental capacities). Ageing is mediated by biological and genetic pathways and can be characterised as the accumulation of a variety of molecular and cellular damages over time. This decline eventually leads to age-related diseases such as arthritis, cancer, cardiovascular- and neurodegenerative diseases².

1. Mild cognitive Impairment

Mild cognitive Impairment (MCI) is an intermediate stage between normal cognitive ageing and dementia. This condition correlates strongly with age and affects 15 to 20% of adults aged 60 years and older ^{3,4}. Symptoms are mild and can be identified by abnormal memory or thinking difficulties compared to a normal ageing population. This includes, for example, forgetting events or places, losing belongings, or struggling to find words. MCI does not significantly affect the daily life of patients, as they are still able to perform most of their everyday tasks. However, while for some patients, MCI symptoms will stay the same or even improve over time, in some cases, they will get worse and eventually progress to dementia. In this last case, patients are severely impacted, and symptoms interfere with their day-to-day life. The conversion rate from MCI to dementia is difficult to estimate as the prevalence and incidence of dementia depend on several factors. Published evidence estimated this rate to be from 10 up to 20% of patients with MCI ^{5–7}. The latency phase between MCI and dementia varies greatly from one individual to another but most patients eventually progress to a more serious stage between one to four years after the first symptoms. As a result, MCI is an aggravating risk factor to develop dementia and ultimately Alzheimer's disease (AD).

2. Dementia

Dementia encompasses a plethora of diseases, including non-exhaustively: Alzheimer's disease, frontotemporal-, Lewy body-, or vascular dementia. Dementia is characterised by a cognitive decline manifesting itself symptomatically by memory loss, confusion, personality changes and motor disability ⁸. Compared to MCI, dementia symptoms are more pronounced, and impact the daily activities of people affected by it.

Estimates have rounded to 55 million, people suffering from dementia in 2021, with an expected increase to 131.5 million by 2050 ⁹. This increase will mainly take place in low- and middle-income countries (gross national income (GNI) per capita between \$1,036 and \$4,045 ¹⁰) and account for 68% of demented patients. The global prevalence of dementia is approximately 7% of people aged 65 or older, with slightly higher rate, up to 10%, in high income countries (GNI per capita of \$13,206 or more ¹⁰) ⁸.

Dementia represents an important cost and challenge for health institutions. According to the WHO, dementia yearly related costs represented nearly 1.3 trillion US dollars in 2019¹¹. In the Alzheimer report from 2021, this cost is evaluated to reach up to 2 trillion US dollar by the year 2030⁹. The report estimates that 50% of those costs are associated with care provided by informal carers (family members and friends). Moreover, most of the cost is attributable to patients enduring moderate to severe stages when they are completely caredependant. On an economic perspective, if stopping the disease remain very challenging, delaying it could also help reduce the associated costs and most importantly, improve patients' and their caretakers' quality of life.

3. Alzheimer's disease

Alzheimer's disease is an irreversible neurodegenerative disease that accounts for 60 to 80% of dementia cases ¹². Around 40 million people are estimated to be suffering from the disease around the world and the prevalence is expected to increase significantly in the coming years. AD and other dementias are the 7th leading cause of death around the world, mainly impacting upper-middle- (GNI per capita of \$4,256 to \$13,205 ¹⁰) and high-income countries ¹³.

AD is characterised by a progressive cognitive decline. Symptoms include memory loss and psychiatric changes such as forgetting event or words, behavioural changes, and agitation. Symptoms worsen dramatically over the course of the disease until patients are not able to perform daily tasks anymore and become completely care dependent. Hence, AD represents a huge burden for patients but also for their caregivers and relatives.

In the biological context, AD is thought to be caused by an abnormal accumulation of two proteins in the brain: Amyloid beta and Tau. This anomalous accumulation will cause the formation of plaques and neurofibrillary tangles respectively. With the disease progression, aggregates' deposition is increasing and eventually alter neuronal connections. The two proteins have been studied since the discovery of Alzheimer's disease and are referred to as the disease biological hallmarks.

II. Alzheimer continuum: disease stages and progression

The symptomatic changes observed with the disease progression have been described by the Alzheimer's association as the Alzheimer continuum (Figure 1). This continuum is divided in three main phases: the preclinical AD, MCI due to AD and finally the dementia itself, which can be broken down into three stages: mild, moderate, and severe ¹⁴. Symptoms of the disease worsen over its course and may vary for each patient. Likewise, the disease progression rate varies a lot for each individual and might be affected by different risk factors. Overall, the average life expectancy after diagnosis is between four to eight years ¹⁵. However, some evidence suggest that biochemical changes related to the disease are occurring years before the appearance of the first disease symptoms, supporting that early diagnosis is challenging but greatly needed ¹⁶.

The continuum described hereafter is extracted from the National Institute of aging – Alzheimer's association (NIA-AA). We can note that the nomenclature can slightly differ between the different clinical and research classifications (*i.e.* Food and Drug Administration (FDA), different international working groups).

Preclinical AD	Mild Cognitive	Dementia due to AD	Dementia due to AD	Dementia due to AD
	Impairment due to AD	Mild	Moderate	Severe
No symptoms	Very mild symptoms	Symptoms interfere	Symptoms interfere	Symptoms interfere
	that do not interfere	with some everyday	with many everyday	with most everyday
	with everyday activities	activities	activities	activities

Figure 1: Alzheimer's disease continuum.

This timeline summarizes the different stages of Alzheimer's disease (AD). The duration of each stage is not equal, contrary to the arrows on this figure. (Figure published by the Alzheimer's Association ¹⁴).

1. Preclinical AD

The preclinical stage of AD, also named asymptomatic stage, comprises patients that have no apparent symptoms. However, longitudinal studies reported cognitively normal individuals with early signs of biochemical changes in the brain (Amyloid plaques and hyperphosphorylated Tau tangles) ^{17,18}. In addition, evidence indicated that abnormal Amyloid beta levels in the cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) could occur even decades before the first apparent symptoms ¹⁹. *Post-mortem* brain analyses of cognitively normal individuals with preclinical AD have demonstrated the presence of Amyloid and phosphorylated Tau depositions ²⁰. Results suggest that during preclinical AD, the brain can compensate those early changes at this point ²¹. This stage is estimated to be the longest one and could last from 6 to over 15 years before progressing to MCI due to AD ²². Identifying patients likely to develop MCI and dementia is the main challenge at this stage.

2. MCI due to AD

Mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease or prodromal Alzheimer's disease, is characterised by subtle symptoms. Patients often experience short-term memory deficiency at first, followed by other cognitive functions decline. This stage has been outlined with biomarkers evidence (Amyloid and Tau) and studies suggest that the first AD pathology associated abnormalities might occur up to 20 years before symptoms ²³. As described above, MCI is an intermediate stage between healthy subjects and demented ones. Patients are fully independent and continue to engage in their social and professional life. MCI can be experienced as an abnormal memory loss, that is not a typical age-related change for the patient. The term MCI was initially used to describe non-demented patients with abnormal

cognitive deficit ²⁴. Every patient that develops AD has had MCI, but not all MCI patients will progress into AD or other dementias. Evidence from longitudinal studies have evaluated that the span progression from prodromal AD to dementia is comparable to the duration from preclinical to prodromal stage and last on average 7.4 years ²⁵. This thesis focuses on patients at this stage of the disease to understand if and how inflammatory factors are decisive for the disease progression into AD.

- 3. Dementia due to AD
- 1. Mild Alzheimer

If patients progress to dementia and AD specifically, the disease is divided in three different stages. First, mild, or early AD encompasses the first disease symptoms. At this stage, patients have slight memory loss, they might struggle to find an object, or have difficulties with numbers or counting and can get lost. They also might need more time to remember words or names. Mild Alzheimer and MCI are characterised by similar symptoms which are slightly worsen when subjects become demented. Individuals with mild AD are still independent but symptoms start to impact their daily activities ²⁶. Additionally, the difference between MCI and AD resides in the disease characterisation and specific neurodegenerative processes. Some neuropsychiatric symptoms, including apathy, anxiety/depression, irritability, have been associated with patients at risk to convert from MCI to dementia ²⁷.

2. Moderate Alzheimer

During the moderate or middle stage, the symptoms mentioned above are starting to intensify and worsen. This stage is considered as one of the longest during the disease course and can last for several years, but the progress of the disorder varies considerably for each individual ¹⁶. The patients can experience behavioural changes, such as getting easily frustrated and angry or starting to act in unexpected ways and suffer from delusional periods. Symptoms may include, forgetting about personal events or history, not being able to remember personal information, or recall their bearings (leading to wandering or becoming lost), in short, losing spatial and temporal dimensions. Patients are still able to live independently but require more attention and assistance ²⁶.

3. Late Alzheimer

In the late or severe AD stage, symptoms are even more pronounced, and patients become completely care-dependant. They are not able to complete daily tasks (*e.g.*, walking, sitting, swallowing), to have a conversation and are more agitated. Neuronal damages of different domains in the brain seriously alter memory and cognitive functions at this stage. This includes the brain area responsible for movement which leads patients to be confined to bed. This makes them more vulnerable to additional complications such as blood clots, skin infection and sepsis. Additionally, the part of the brain responsible for swallowing is damaged as well, making eating, and drinking very difficult. Thus, patients are more prone to swallowing into the trachea, and the food going down to the wrong pipes. This pulmonary aspiration of food particles can then cause lung infection or aspiration pneumonia. Those co-diseases or comorbidities are greatly contributing to the cause of deaths among AD patients ²⁶.

To summarize, AD classification is based on observable symptoms. To understand better the neuropathological changes associated with the disease, it is necessary to focus on the biological processes involved as well.

III. Alzheimer's disease pathological hallmarks: Amyloid and Tau protein

Amyloid and Tau proteins are known as the main AD histopathological hallmarks. The use of these hallmarks as disease biomarkers will be described later in paragraph VI. They were first described with the discovery of the disorder by Alois Alzheimer in 1907²⁸. Indeed, analysis of *post-mortem* brain cross-sections from demented individuals demonstrated an accumulation of proteins around the neuronal connections and shrinkage of the brain. Two types of aggregates have been described and studied to be known as the most important brain changes associated with AD. First, the senile plaques, are composed of dystrophic neurites and extracellular Amyloid- β (A β) aggregates. Second, neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs), are caused by hyperphosphorylated Tau protein aggregates that form filaments in the neurons of the brain. Both are biological features of AD but are not limited to this disease only, especially NFTs, which are also found in other neurodegenerative diseases (*e.g.*, supranuclear palsy, cortico-basal degeneration, subtypes of frontotemporal dementia). Extensive research on the disease demonstrated that the plaques play a crucial role in the

neuronal transmission loss and damages resulting in cognitive impairment ^{29–31}. Subsequently, both proteins are good candidates for diagnostic biomarkers.

1. Amyloid plaques and the Amyloid cascade hypothesis

Amyloid plaques are a major factor thought to be responsible for Alzheimer's disease pathophysiology. The plaques are the results of A β protein abnormal extracellular aggregation in the brain. A β peptides are produced by the degradation of the Amyloid precursor protein (APP), a protein that is normally produced throughout life by brain neurons, vascular and blood cells, and astrocytes (Figure 2) ³². This degradation is a two-step process with first the proteolytic cleavage of the APP by a β -secretase (β -APP-cleaving enzyme-1 (BACE1)) at the ectodomain and then, the cleavage at an intra-membranous site by an γ -secretase, which leads to A β peptides.



Figure 2: Amyloid precursor protein proteolysis pathways.

Amyloid precursor protein (APP) proteolysis can follow two different pathways. Most APP will undergo the non-Amyloidogenic pathway, avoiding formation of A β peptides. First, cleavage by the α -secretases belonging to the family of A disintegrin and metalloprotease (ADAM) is taking place in the A β domain, preventing the release of peptides. This will release two fragments, a larger ectodomain (sAPP α) and a smaller 83-amino-acid carboxy-terminal fragment (C83). Rest of APP which are not processed through the non-Amyloidogenic pathway will be cleaved by the β -APP-cleaving enzyme-1 (BACE1) β -secretase. One fragment will be released, the sAPP β ectodomain, and a second fragment, the 99-amino-acid carboxy terminal fragment (C99) will be retained within the membrane. This last part will be cleaved by an γ -secretase enzymatic complex of presenilin 1 or 2, nicastrin, presenilin enhancer 2 (PEN2) and anterior pharynx-defective 1 (APH-1). This liberates an A β peptide and the APP intracellular domain (AICD). (Figure published by LaFerla *et al.*, ³²).

The A β peptides generated can have different lengths in residues (from 37 to 49 residues), most of them being of 40 residues, also named A β 40, and around 10% of peptides are 42 residues variants or A β 42³³. A β are produced as monomers but will aggregate into multimeric complexes and form Amyloid fibrils³⁴. The A β 42 variant is more likely to form fibrils because of its hydrophobic ability and is the major component of senile plaques³⁵. Hence, a surplus of longer peptides such as A β 42 has been investigated as an important pathogenic process of AD ³⁶. As a result, the A β 42/A β 40 ratio has been considered as a complementary biomarker in addition to A β 42 level only.

In fact, under certain conditions, the A β proteins will undergo structural rearrangements resulting in misfolded proteins which will lead to the formation of aggregates. First, monomers will aggregate into oligomers that will later extend into fibrils. Those are highly organized and filamentous structures. Fibrils are complexes with a diameter of few nanometres and a length up to micrometres. This conformation gives stability to the structure and allows hydrogen bindings between the fibrils, resulting into the formation of plaques (Figure 3) ³⁷.



Figure 3: Aβ plaques formation mechanism.

(A) Mechanism proposed to explain the formation of Amyloid plaques. When A β proteins are misfolded, one part will be refolded accurately by chaperones, one part will be degraded, and finally, if these two processes did not occur, one later part will aggregate and lead to plaques formation. (B) *In vitro* assay aggregation process kinetics can be divided in three different steps. First A β peptides can undergo structural changes leading to oligomers formation. Then Oligomers form vertical β -sheets structured fibrils, which finally aggregate into plaques. (C) The protein disposition to form aggregates depends on short aggregation prone regions (APR) which are found in the hydrophobic core of the protein. (Figure published by Stroo *et al.*, ³⁷).

Several mechanisms exist to fight against misfolded protein aggregation, including protective chaperones which can either inhibit aggregate formation, by refolding correctly misfolded proteins, or via disaggregase activities ³⁸. Other protein degradation pathways have also been involved in AD, such as the ubiquitin proteasome pathway system and macroautophagy. The neuronal production of A β is a non-specific AD process but increases

with ageing ³⁹. Nevertheless, experimental studies on late-onset AD (LOAD) subjects indicate that the mechanism underlying AD is not an abnormal production of A β but rather an imbalance between A β production and clearance ⁴⁰. In early-onset AD (EOAD), this imbalance can be caused by a genetic dysregulation of the amyloidogenic pathway, induced by an APP dysfunction ^{41,42}.

With ageing, exerted cell stress can become chronic and challenge or even decline protein homeostasis ⁴³. Several processes might be affected, for instance, the upregulation of impaired chaperones has been correlated with ageing. Studies have also reported a decline of autophagy pathways during ageing and AD ^{44,45}. Both processes are partially responsible for chronic expression of misfolded proteins and damaged peptides in the cells, leading to Amyloid aggregates in the case of AD ^{46,47}.

However, the role of Amyloid plaques remains debated. While some studies imply a defective role of Aβ as a key driver to AD, others observed no correlation between Amyloid plaques and dementia ^{48,49}. Published study from Perez-Niveas *et al.*, analysed the Aβ deposition with imagery on *post-mortem* brain of demented patients and non-demented ones ⁵⁰. Results demonstrated that Aβ deposition was heterogenous between the two groups. Indeed, some non-impaired patients had similar amounts of Amyloid deposition compared to impaired individuals and, on the contrary, some patients with altered cognition did not display any plaque deposition. Similarly, the role of Amyloid aggregates has evolved over time. If it was first linked with neurotoxicity, this viewpoint shifted towards their potential neuroprotective functions. As of today, studies concede that Amyloid plaques could exert a protective role while intermediate species or diffuse proteins, such as the oligomers, might be veritably responsible for the toxicity ⁵¹. The Intermediate species toxicity may arise from the presence of hydrophobic groups on their surface, that under normal physiological conditions would not be accessible within the cellular environment ⁵².

If the exact role and functions of Amyloid proteins are disputed in Alzheimer's disease, they remain a key factor of the disease progression. However, new leading hypotheses are

10

suggesting that the Amyloid alone might not be responsible for the disease progression, but more likely that the interactions with Tau proteins might trigger the dementia to settle⁵¹.

2. Tau protein tangles

Together with Amyloid, Tau proteins are part of the neuropathological hallmarks of AD. They are responsible for intracellular neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) ⁵³. Like Amyloid plaques, Tau proteins accumulate in the central nervous system (CNS) and damage the neuronal connections. NFTs are made up of hyperphosphorylated Tau accumulation. They have been associated with several other disorders including non-exhaustively, frontotemporal dementia, Down syndrome, supranuclear palsy and corticobasal degeneration ⁵⁴. Most diseases associated with pathological Tau deposits, also called tauopathies, occur without concomitant amyloid deposition ⁵⁵.

In vitro studies using cell-free system, demonstrated the role and function of Tau protein in promoting microtubule assembly by tubulin, and providing stability to the axonal microtubules ⁵⁶. Interaction with microtubules involves the regulation of axonal transport, which is critical for neuronal functions. Hence, Tau has been proposed to play a role in the synaptic impairment, neurodegeneration and dementia progression observed in AD. Studies conducted on Tau knockdown animal models confirmed a deficit in spatial reversal learning which is necessary for motor and cognitive functions ^{35,38}.

Tau hyperphosphorylation has been a central biomarker for decades as research on purified NFTs described an enrichment with phosphorylated Tau proteins ⁵⁶. Tau is encoded by the microtubule-associated protein Tau (MAPT) gene, which is found on the chromosome 17 and comprises 16 exons. Different Tau protein isoforms are generated by six different exons splicing. Those isoforms differ by the absence (0N) or presence of one (1N) or two (2N) inserts in the N-terminal domain and by three (3R) or four (4R) carboxy-terminal repeat domains (Figure 4) ⁵⁷.



Figure 4: Tau isoforms.

In the adult human brain, the alternative splicing of the exon 2 and 3 leads to the presence (1N) or absence (0N) of one or two inserts in the N-terminal region. The alternative splicing of the exon 10 in the microtubule-binding domain (MTBD) results in the presence or absence of a second repeat, generating 3R or 4R isoforms. Near the MTBD lies on one end the C-terminal region, and on the other the proline-rich domain (PRD), constituting the central domain of the Tau isoforms. (Figure published by Guo *et al.*, ⁵⁷).

All the six different isoforms will have different roles and functions, regarding their expression during the brain development. However, different sets of Tau isoforms have been associated with different tauopathies. In AD, an abnormal accumulation of both 3R and 4R isoforms have been observed with the disease ⁵⁸.

Tau proteins are primarily expressed in neurons, and to a lesser extent in astrocytes and oligodendrocytes. Inside the neuron, the protein is mainly located within the axon ⁵⁷. Tau proteins have four functional domains, the N-terminal, the proline-rich domain (PRD), the microtubule-binding domain (MTBD) and finally the C-terminal tail. All the domains are involved in the microtubule assembly and stabilization and play a role in the maintenance of neuronal architecture and polarization. In addition, Tau proteins are regulating the neuronal functions by their influence on motor proteins, such as dyneins and kinesins, which are responsible for proteins and organelle axonal transport ⁵⁹. Tau function as a microtubule stabilizer is not only limited to the intracellular compartment. Recent studies showed that the protein can also be secreted by neurons which makes it detectable in CSF of healthy and diseased patients ⁶⁰.

Tau proteins can undergo various post-translational modifications, including nonexhaustively, phosphorylation, acetylation, glycosylation, and ubiquitination. In AD, the most dominant post-translational modifications are phosphorylation and acetylation. Tau phosphorylation sites are mainly located on the PRD and C-terminal regions. Under physiological conditions, phosphorylation regulates Tau affinity to bind to microtubules, reducing the promotion of tubulin assembly ⁶¹. In AD, the phosphorylation rate is increased by three to four-fold compared to a normal brain. This phenomenon is referred as hyperphosphorylation ⁶². Evidence suggests that the cause of hyperphosphorylation might be an imbalance of Tau kinases and phosphatases activities ⁶³. Little is known on the origin of this imbalance. Nevertheless, the hyperphosphorylation will cause the microtubules to disassemble and release the Tau proteins ^{64,65}. Then, the liberated free Tau proteins will form fibrils such as paired helical filaments (PHF) and straight filaments (SF), which will finally aggregate into NFTs (Figure 5).



Figure 5: Neurofibrillary tangles formation.

Microtubule stabilized by Tau proteins are surrounding the axon of the neuron. When hyperphosphorylated, Tau proteins disassemble from the microtubule and self-aggregate to form loosely intertwined paired helical filaments (PHFs). Those fibrils will get tightly wrapped into straight filaments (SFs), which then leads to the formation of neurofibrillary tangles (NFTs) within the neuronal cell body. (Figure published by Jie *et al.*, ⁵⁸).

Inside the neuron, NFTs accumulation will block the transport system, impacting the synaptic communications between neurons. Correlation between NFTs burden and cognitive

decline and disease progression have been observed repeatedly ⁶⁶. Moreover, data suggest that the abnormal Tau accumulation occur in specific brain regions, including the memory area ^{67,68}. However, it remains unclear if the aggregates or the soluble Tau are the toxic species in AD. Several factors are involved in Tau aggregation, including genetic mutations affecting first the phosphorylation process and then the cleavage of the protein. Furthermore, growing evidence are investigating the role of A β plaques to enhance Tau aggregation and seeding in AD ³⁰.

3. Neuritic plaques

Senile plaques or neuritic plaques are aggregations of glial cells containing fibrillary accumulations of abnormal Tau and a dense central Amyloid core. They result in the abnormal deposition of both Amyloid and Tau proteins. These plaques, which are characteristics of AD, are composed of extracellular Amyloidβ deposits along with dystrophic neurites (Figure 6). In the dense core, Amyloid fibrils are anchored and diffuse towards the periphery. In the periphery, activated microglia and astrocytes will concentrate and form dystrophic neurites ⁶⁹. Those dystrophic neurites can then be associated with paired helical Tau filaments. Animal model study demonstrated that neuritic plaques were facilitating the conversion to pathological Tau ⁷⁰. Dense core neuritic plaques are thought to be associated with the damaged neuronal transmission in AD ³¹.



Figure 6: Schematic diagram of a senile plaque.

Schematic view of neurons affected by a neuritic plaque. A dense core of extracellular Amyloid fibrils (represented in pink) is surrounded by dystrophic neurites and astrocytes (in green) and microglia (in blue). (Figure published by Wong *et al.*, ⁷¹).

MCI and AD are conditions associated with complex pathological mechanisms, making them hard to understand and to treat. It is more likely the addition of several biological processes together that will lead to the disease progression.

IV. Etiology and risk factors

AD is a complex disorder caused by many factors, the greatest one being age and gender. Indeed, the prevalence of AD is higher in women than men, as an example, two-thirds of Americans living with AD are women. This is partially due to the fact that women live longer than men in average, although research admits that biological (such as chromosomal or hormonal) functions and social and cultural factors (education, employment) related to sexes might be involved as well ^{72–74}.

In addition, both for women and men, other factors have been investigated to interplay with the disorder progression, including genetic, biological, and psychological factors. This paragraph will briefly describe some of the most known factors studied in AD.

1. Genetic risk factors

Several genetic variants have been identified to be involved in AD. However, it's important to note that the disorder is hardly attributable to one single factor but more likely is the outcome of multiple risk factors together. Now, several genetic mutations have been observed and correlated with AD (Figure 7).



Figure 7: Genetic landscape of Alzheimer's disease.

Familial AD-associated genes include genes causing mutations in the Amyloid precursor protein (APP) such as presenilin 1 (PSEN1) and presenilin 2 (PSEN2), and the high-risk factor Apolipoprotein E (APOE ϵ 4) variant and are represented in the blue area. In the orange area, common variants with lower risk of AD development are represented. In the green circle lie variants with intermediate risk for AD such as the triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2). (Figure published by Guerreiro *et al.*, ⁷⁵).

1. Familial Alzheimer's disease

Rare autosomal inherited dominant mutation in the Amyloid precursor protein, presenilin 1 and presenilin 2 have been linked with early-onset familial AD (EOFAD) which accounts for 2 to 5% of all AD cases ⁷⁶. First symptoms typically arise around 50 years old. Pathogenic mutations of those genes can lead to β - and γ -secretase substrate affinity increase and an increase in total A β levels or a change in the A β peptide ratios. This can cause an increase of A β 42 levels over smaller peptides such as A β 40. This imbalance in Amyloid species could potentially ease the formation of aggregates in the brain parenchyma.

2. Susceptibility genes

As opposed to familial AD, most AD cases occur in patients older than 65 years old and are characterised by late-onset symptoms (LOAD). In LOAD or sporadic AD patients, no genetic mutations have been associated with the disease, but rather a much complex multifactorial association. Genome-wide associations studies have highlighted different genetic risk factors, describing over 50 different genes/loci associated with LOAD. Most of those genes are playing a role in A β homeostasis, including role in expression, trafficking, or degradation ⁷⁷. Among those susceptibility genes, the apolipoprotein E (APOE) and the microglia-associated triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM2) genes have the highest risk for developing AD.

Apolipoprotein E gene

The ε 4 allelic variant of the Apolipoprotein E gene (APOE ε 4) is one of the most important susceptibility gene risk factors for AD. The Apolipoprotein E (ApoE) circulates in the plasma bound to lipoproteins and plays a role in lipid transport among cells as well as synaptic activity, neuroinflammation and response to neuronal injury. Gene polymorphism of the APOE results in three allelic variants: ε 1, ε 2 and ε 4, which will all have different impacts and functions on A β regulation. They will impact A β accumulation and clearance in the brain. Studies on the different Apoe isoforms have permitted to describe their role and prevalence in the population. The APOE ε 3 variant is the most common and is considered as the normal form of APOE. A single amino acid substitution on the APOE ε 3 variant, results demonstrated that APOE ε 4 variant are present in 80% of EOFAD and 65% of LOAD, whereas only 30% of the healthy controls carried this variant ^{78–80}. Data suggest that the ε 4 allele increases the risk of AD by three-fold in heterozygotes and twelve-fold in homozygotes ⁸¹. In contrast, the ε 2 allele has been associated with decreased risk of AD. Finally, around 15 to 20% of AD cases have been attributed to the ε 4 allele ⁸².

Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM-2)

From the 50 loci associated with AD, over half of them have been involved in microglial functions and the innate immunity ⁸³. One variant of the TREM-2 gene has been identified as a high-risk factor for AD. One particular mutation of the gene has been associated with a three-fold risk to develop AD ⁸⁴. The explanation behind this lies in the potential alteration of TREM-2 mediated microglial function, implicated in A β peptide phagocytosis, clearance, and plaque formation ⁸⁵.

2. Vascular factors

Evidence from epidemiologic, neuroimaging and neuropathological studies have also drawn attention to the vascular factors associated with risk of developing AD. For instance, cerebrovascular diseases (CVD), such as stroke, atrial fibrillation and coronary heart disease could increase by two-fold the risk of dementia ⁸⁶. Concomitant vascular pathology could impact the rate of plaques formation and clearance. Indeed, studies have also related hypertension and arterial stiffness to brain atrophy and NFTs ⁸⁷. Additionally, cardiovascular risk factors and their causal pathway, could directly influence AD. The lifestyle of the patients greatly impacts the risk of developing neurodegenerative diseases. In fact, obesity, smoking, diet, or physical activity have direct effects on CVDs. Studies proved that a healthy lifestyle has a positive impact on CVDs, and consequently could help preventing the risk of AD ⁸⁸.

3. Environmental factors

Additional factors including air pollution, alcohol consumption, and poor sleep patterns could also increase the risk of AD development. In 2015, 6.4 million of deaths were attributable to air pollution in the world ⁸⁹. Exposure to toxicants such as heavy metals, pesticides, detergents, solvents, and other industrial by-products are proved to be implied in various neurological diseases ⁹⁰. These pollutants can cross the blood brain barrier (BBB) and potentially alter functions of the central nervous system (CNS). This represents a huge public challenge worldwide. Impact of the air quality is not limited to the presence of those toxicants. Cross-sectional study results demonstrated that higher levels of exposure to environmental tobacco smoke were associated with increased risk of severe dementia ⁹¹. Similarly, changes in exposure to ozone and particulate matter up to 10 µm in diameter (**PM**₁₀) have been linked with increased Alzheimer's dementia risk ⁹².

Apart from the air quality impact associated with the disease, studies on psychosocial factors, such as education, social engagement, and mental and physical activities during the course of life but also specifically during late life could have an impact on the disorder. Neuroimaging studies showed that participation in cognitive activities across the lifespan is correlated with a decrease in hippocampal atrophy rate ⁹³.

18

V. Alzheimer's disease Diagnosis

Diagnosis and prognosis of AD are very challenging considering that neuropathological changes could occur years before the first apparent symptoms. Though, they are needed to evaluate disease progression. The disease can be categorized in different stages that are clinically assessed by different tests. First, different cognitive tests can help define the disease progression of patients. Additionally, quantitative measurements of AD hallmarks (Amyloid and Tau proteins) can be done in cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) or assessed with brain imagery methods such as positron emission tomography (PET) scan.

1. Clinical diagnosis

AD diagnosis relies mainly on cognitive tests that examine memory and thinking impairments. Different tests are available, but the Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) is the most used by clinicians. Other tests, such as the Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA) and the Addenbrooke's cognitive examination III (ACE-III) have been designed to check mental abilities and are quite popular as well. These tests are conducted during interviews between the clinician and the patients and sometimes their relatives.

1. National Institute on Aging – Alzheimer's Association

Several guidelines have been created to help define and stratify MCI and AD, and efforts have been made to include both the clinical as well as biological syndromes associated with the disorder. The revised guideline of the NIA-AA (National Institute on Aging and Alzheimer's Association) established diagnostic recommendations for the major criteria regarding the AD spectrum ⁹⁴. The association created a set of diagnostic guidelines for symptomatic and biological features defining the clinical stages of AD, such as preclinical AD, MCI, and AD dementia. The purpose was to facilitate routine clinical diagnostic decision and provide a common framework to define the clinical stages ⁹⁵.

2. Mini-Mental state Examination

The Mini-mental state examination (MMSE) also sometimes named the Folstein test, is a 30-point questionnaire used to assess cognitive capacities. It is widely used in AD and neurodegenerative disorders clinical routine diagnosis and especially for MCI patients screening. A standardized version of the test was established in 1997 with the aim to provide precise scoring instructions and well-defined guidelines ⁹⁶. The test rates five domains:

orientation, repetition, verbal recall, attention and calculation, and language and visual construction. A large survey on 18056 participants was conducted between 1980 and 1984 to investigate the impact of the age and educational level on the MMSE score and to serve as a population reference group ⁹⁷. Results suggested that the MMSE score was related to both age and education. Hence, there was a negative correlation with age, as the MMSE score median decreased from 29 for the 18 to 24 years old population to 25 for individuals aged 80 years or older. The educational level correlated positively with the MMSE score, for the same age-group, the MMSE score was 29 for individuals with 9+ years of education and decreased to 22 for individuals with 0 to 4 years of schooling. This can be considered as a limitation of the test and generate false positive for patients with lower education which might bias the diagnosis of higher education individuals ⁹⁸. Evidence suggests that above 24 or under 10, the MMSE score might not be sensitive enough to diagnose mild neurological disorders or severe disease progression respectively. Besides, the MMSE score is mainly memory and language oriented and lacks executive functions assessment. Other MMSE limitations, such as poor earing ability, have been demonstrated to impact the test score and should be taken into consideration as well ⁹⁹. Different MMSE score cut-offs have been established for each subpopulation, for instance an MMSE score < 24 is often used to characterise the population having MCI.

Overall, the MMSE prevails as an adequate tool for MCI screening, but misclassification remains high for older adults ¹⁰⁰. Regardless, the MMSE should be considered as a screening test rather than a stand-alone single diagnostic tool.

3. Digit symbol substitution test

The Digit Symbol Substitution Test (DSST) is a clinical neuropsychology tool used to measure cognitive dysfunction. However, this test has low specificity to determine which cognitive disorder precisely ¹⁰¹. It is based on a paper-and-pencil test presented on a paper sheet. The test evaluates different cognitive abilities, and require motor speed, attention, visuo-perceptual function, such as the ability to write and draw. It allows a reliable and minimal impact of language, culture, and education on the results.

Finally, despite the different cognitive tests available, patients often go underdiagnosed for a long time. Most of them are only diagnosed when moderate- to late-onset AD symptoms are affecting them. One of the reasons for this, is that cognitive tests remain contested, and symptoms can go undiagnosed, dismissed, or even ignored. A reliable diagnosis for MCI would considerably help improve care management of patients likely to develop AD. Accurate and timely diagnosis is indispensable for appropriate care. If cognitive assessments are not enough to diagnose accurately the disorder, they can be combined with biochemical assessments of Amyloid and Tau proteins. To do this, measurements of protein levels and brain scans have been used to evaluate brain changes associated with the disease progression. The most common ones are computerised tomography (CT) and magnetic resonance imaging (MRI). In AD cases, MRI are more precise to observe the brain structure, especially brain shrinkage, a feature of AD. However, those tests are usually only done and reserved when cognitive evaluation are inconclusive ¹⁰².

2. Neuropathological diagnosis

Post-mortem brain examinations have permitted to expend diagnosis to the pathological changes associated with the disease. According to the NIA-AA guidelines, the definitive diagnosis of AD is based on the morphology, density and neuroanatomical distribution of Amyloid plaques, neurofibrillary tangles and neuritic plaques observed through histological staining ¹⁰³. Spreading of senile plaques and NFTs through the brain can be characterised by different stages that have been described by Thal and Braak respectively ^{104,105}. Those changes together can then be scored by an ABC system.

1. Amyloid plaques and Thal phases

The different phases associated with Amyloid spreading and distribution in the brain have ben categorised in five different stages by Thal *et al.* During the phase 1, Amyloid deposits are found exclusively in the neocortex. The phase 2 is reached when the Amyloid spreading involves additional allocortical brain regions, such as the entorhinal cortex, hippocampus, and cingulate gyrus. During the phase 3, the diencephalic nuclei, striatum, and cholinergic nuclei of the basal forebrain are invaded. More brainstem nuclei are then involved
in phase 4. Finally, phase 5 is characterised by cerebellar and brainstem pons A β deposition (Figure 8)¹⁰⁴.



Figure 8: Amyloid plaque deposition and Thal phases in Alzheimer's disease.

Thal phases are based on the progressive deposition of Amyloid Beta (A β) plaques in the neocortex (phase 1), the allocortex (phase 2), the diencephalon basal ganglia (phase 3), brainstem (phase 4) and cerebellum un brainstem pons (phase 5). (Figure published by Thal *et al.*,¹⁰⁶). AD: Alzheimer's disease.

Patients affected by mild cognitive impairment have been described with Amyloid deposition corresponding to Thal Phase 1 to 3. Nevertheless, to complete neuropathological criteria from the NIA-AA, NFTs must be taken into consideration as well.

2. NFTs and Braak stages

Similarly to Amyloid spreading, Braak *et al.*, proposed a classification for the progression of NFTs through the brain ^{105,107}. First NFTs appear in the locus coeruleus, transentorhinal and entorhinal regions (stages I-II). During stages III-IV, Tau aggregates develop in the hippocampal and neocortex regions. Finally, during stage V-VI, larger parts of the neocortex are affected by Tau deposits (Figure 9) ¹⁰⁸.



Figure 9: Braak stages of Tau deposition.

Braak staged are based on the progressive deposition of Tau tangles, first, in the transentorhinal cortex, including the perirhinal (stage I) and entorhinal region (stage II). Then, during stage III, Tau deposition affects the hippocampal formation, basal forebrain, and thalamus. Stage IV is characterized by Tau deposits in the amygdala, putamen and accumbens nucleus. Stage V follows with Tau accumulation in the isocortex and temporal lobe, and finally most associated regions of the neocortex are affected during the stage VI. (Figure published by Oostveen *et al.*, ¹⁰⁹).

Finally, $A\beta$ together with Tau depositions will lead to the formation of senile plaques, also known as neuritic plaques, which are also stratified according to their frequency.

3. Neuritic plaques

Semi-quantitative scores of neuritic plaques (NPs) to determine their frequency have been established by the Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD)¹¹⁰. This standardized protocol allows to range neuritic plaques density in four different levels, from none, to sparse, to moderate and finally to frequent. This score is used to evaluate the probability to meet AD diagnosis criteria. It will determine the chances to be affected by AD from: no evidence of AD, to possible AD, to probable AD and finally definite AD.

4. ABC scoring

Finally, to rely on the NIA-AA guidelines, an ABC scoring is determined using all three parameters of the Amyloid Thal phases (A), the Tau Braak stages (B) and the neuritic CERAD score (C) (Table 1) ¹¹¹. The combination of the three letters and their seriousness (phases and stages) enables to evaluate the degree of AD associated lesions changes from none, low, intermediate, to high.

A: Aβ/Amyloid	C: Neuritic plaque score (CERAD)	B: NFT score (Braak stage)			
plaque score (Thal phases)		B0 or B1 (None or I/II)	B2 (III/IV)	B3 (V/VI)	
A0 (0)	C0 (none)	None			
A1 (1/2)	C0 or C1 (none to sparse)	Low			
	C2 or C3 (moderate to frequent)		Intermediate	Intermediate	
A2 (3)	Any C	Low			
A3 (4/5)	C0 or C1 (none to sparse)	LOW			
	C2 or C3 (moderate to frequent)			High	

Table 1: ABC scoring of Alzheimer's disease associated neuropathological changes.

Neuropathological changes are assessed based on three criteria scores: Amyloid Thal phase (A), NFTs Braak stages (B) and neuritic plaques CERAD score (C). The association of those scores evaluates the degree of Alzheimer's disease (AD) associated lesion changes ranging from no change to low, intermediate, and high changes. (Figure published by Hyman *et al.*, ¹¹¹).

If this scoring has help defining the seriousness of AD pathological changes, results should be used carefully. Indeed, study found that medial temporal NFTs deposits (Braak stages III and IV) but no presence of neuritic plaques could occur in older subjects and individuals without cognitive impairment or with MCI due to other causes than AD ¹¹². In addition to cognitive tests assessments, the NIA-AA has proposed some biomarkers that could reflect the biological processes associated with neurodegeneration and the pathological diagnosis of AD.

VI. Alzheimer's disease biomarkers

Biomarkers are biochemical proteins, peptides, or molecules that can serve as indicators of biological changes occurring in the body. They are particularly helpful for diseases or conditions as they can be used as diagnostic or prognostic tools. In MCI and AD case, neuropathological changes have been mainly determined on *post-mortem* brain crosssections using histochemical staining. Although they allowed a good stratification and helped understand the disease progression, they need to be assessed *in vivo* in patients. This led to the introduction of biomarkers in MCI and AD. Ideally, biomarkers need to be specific, reproducible, and easily measured in diseased subjects. Now, to evaluate AD stages on patients, several methods have been considered to fit with the phases and stages (Thal, Braak and NPs) described previously.

AD hallmarks, Aβ plaques, NFTs and neuritic plaques have been associated with a decrease of soluble Aβ42 concentration and an increase of total Tau and phosphorylated Tau levels in the brain. Different methods have been developed to measure those parameters, such as brain imaging, notably, IRM and PET scan imaging and quantitative methods, like immunoassays ¹¹³. Following the NIA-AA recommendations, AD biomarkers can be divided in three groups, also labelled AT(N) ¹¹⁴. The first group, known as "A" stands for Aggregated Aβ or associated pathologic state. The second group "T" reflects the Tau aggregates (neurofibrillary tangles) or associated pathologic state. Finally, the last group "N" is related to neurodegeneration or neuronal injury. The AT(N) system was elaborated with both CSF and imaging biomarkers for each group. The main advantage of this system is that the characterisation of participants can be completed either with CSF or imaging alone ⁹⁴.

1. Amyloid biomarkers

Two methods have been established to estimate the Amyloid burden in the brain of MCI and AD patients. The first one uses the analysis of biofluid such as CSF A β 42 concentration or A β 42/A β 40 ratio while the second is based on brain PET imaging visualisation.

1. Biofluid measurements of Amyloid-6 peptides

Cerebrospinal fluid is the liquid surrounding the brain and the spinal cord and protects them from shocks. Is it also an exchange matrix between the brain and the bloodstream and permits the transport of metabolic products such as antibodies and proteins ¹¹⁵. This makes it a great biological matrix to study disease-associated pathophysiological changes in the brain. Thus, CSF has been used as a reference matrix in the context of neurological diseases. Extensive studies on Aβ42 level in CSF have validated its use as a diagnostic biomarker in MCI subjects ¹¹⁶. In AD, Aβ gradually aggregates into plaques, lowering the soluble extracellular level in the CSF ¹¹⁷. As a result, lower Aβ42 levels have been associated with AD stratification ^{118,119}. In addition, CSF Aβ42 level correlates with Amyloid PET imaging ¹²⁰. Various cut-off values of CSF Amyloid-β42 have been established to discriminate patients on the AD spectrum ¹²¹. In addition, studies also considered other Aβ peptides, such as CSF Aβ38 and Aβ40 levels

as it could improve the prediction accuracy of patients progressing to AD. Notably, the A β 42/A β 40 ratio had a higher predictive value compared to single A β 42 analysis. This ratio help normalize A β 42 levels compared to the total Amyloid load, reflected by A β 40 levels ^{122,123}.

However, controversial studies have associated low levels of Aβ42 with non-demented ageing populations ^{48,49}. Additionally, CSF Aβ42 assessments are subject to inter-laboratory and batch to batch variability ^{124–126}. Three factors, pre-analytical (CSF collection, handling, biobanking), analytical (assays used, lot-to-lot variability) and biological (patients confounding factors *e.g.*, age, genetic) are involved in this variability. Efforts have been made to reduce this variability and standardize Amyloid measurements ¹²⁷. Thus, Aβ42 has a limited sensitivity and specificity to differentiate MCI and AD patients from non-impaired subjects. Moreover, CSF Aβ42 levels are giving poor information on the plaques' location. For this reason, focus was drawn to a more direct visualisation of the Aβ42 load, namely with brain imaging.

2. Amyloid-6 PET imaging

During the last two decades, progress in neuroimaging have enable to reshape the diagnosis of AD from a clinical syndrome towards a biological definition ⁹⁴. PET imaging method is based on the affinity of a specific tracer to the fibrillar Amyloid. The Pittsburgh compound B (PiB) labelled with carbon 11 was the first Amyloid tracer described in this context (Figure 10) ¹²⁸.

Thal Phas	e 0	1	2	3	4	5
PiB SUVR	1.28	1.41	1.53	2.12	2.40	2.54
3.1	**	25	**	23		
1.4	3	A.				~
0.1		3.2			*	8

Figure 10: Correlations between Pittsburgh compound B and Thal Amyloid phases.

PiB-PET imaging standard uptake values (SUV) ratios correlate positively with the different Thal phases of the AD spectrum. (Figure published by Murray *et al.*, ¹²⁹).

Post-mortem studies demonstrated a good accuracy and retention of the PiB in brain areas affected by Amyloid deposition, but its short half-life of 20 minutes limited its application in routine clinical diagnosis ¹³⁰. Other tracers have then gained more interest such as the fluorine-18 radioisotopes. These isotopes have a higher half-life of 110 minutes, and three of them, florbetapir, florbetaben and flutemetamol, have been licensed for clinical use in the UK. *Post-mortem* studies demonstrated good correlations between Amyloid depositions measured at autopsy and PET imaging ¹³¹. Although this method proposes a good sensitivity, it is very costly ^{132,133}. In comparison with CSF collection and analysis, PET associated costs are a hundred-fold higher. As a result, researchers have focus on the combination between Aβ and Tau levels as predictive biomarkers of AD.

2. Tau biomarkers

As the second hallmarks of AD and being a component of NFTs as well as NPs, Tau measurements gained a lot of focus as well. Because of Aβ42 measurements mixed results, research acknowledged that it is the combination of both Amyloid and Tau that is responsible for the pathological changes associated with AD. Again, different methods were examined to measure the proteins, comprising biofluid and imaging assessments.

1. Biofluid measurements of phosphorylated Tau peptides

Phosphorylated Tau proteins are the main component of neurofibrillary tangles making them good biomarker candidates for AD. Several isoforms of pTau have been examined under this scope, such as pTau181, pTau199, pTau217 and pTau231. They all differ by the position of the phosphorylation. For instance, pTau231 is the Tau form phosphorylated at threonine 231. *Post-mortem* studies compared NFTs and NPs scores in the different cortical areas (frontal, temporal, parietal and hippocampal) with the load of hyperphosphorylated Tau (pTau231) protein in the CSF. Results suggested that NFTs correlated with pTau231 in all neocortical regions while NPs correlated with pTau231 in the frontal cortex only ¹³⁴. These preliminary results supported the use of CSF pTau as an *in vivo* surrogate biomarker of neurofibrillary pathology in AD. Additional results obtained *in vivo*, confirmed the use of the pTau181 isoform as a biomarker as well ¹³⁵. This isoform is now the most widely used, although concentration of pTau231 and pTau199 correlate strongly with pTau181 and display

similar diagnostic accuracy ¹³⁶. In AD, pTau CSF concentration has been associated with a 200% increase and could discriminate AD patients from controls ¹³⁷. CSF pTau concentration has also been shown as a good predictive indicator for MCI progression into AD ¹³⁸. CSF collection remains an invasive procedure, although complication risks are relatively low. Therefore, biomarkers examinations were extended to different biofluids such as the blood ¹³⁹. Very recently, plasma levels of the different pTau epitopes have been studied for their potential impact as a CSF surrogate. Although those analyses do not fall under the latest update of the NIA-AA guideline, they have gained a lot of interest with promising results ^{140–142}.

2. Tau PET imaging

PET imaging of Tau deposition has been challenging as tracers lack selectivity for Tau proteins. This is partially due to the various conformational changes' native to the protein. Among the few tracers that have been studied, Flortaucipir ([¹⁸F]-AV1451, also known as T-807) demonstrated a good affinity towards paired helical filaments but relatively poor selectivity for neuronal straight Tau filaments ¹⁴³. Autopsy evidence suggest that this tracer correlates with high sensitivity especially to the late Braak NFT stages (III-IV-V)¹⁴⁴. However, results were mixed for the *in vivo* early Braak stages (I-II). To overcome this lack of sensitivity, a new promising tracer, [¹⁸F]-PI-2620 or [¹⁸F]-MK-6240 was developed with a great diagnostic accuracy to discriminate AD from MCI and frontotemporal dementia (Figure 11) ¹⁴⁵.



Figure 11: Correlations between Tau PET imaging with ¹⁸F-MK-6240 and Braak stages.

In vivo Tau brain imaging using 18F-MK-6240 on four individuals. Starting from the left going to the right, the first subject is a control with Braak stage 0, the second subject has MCI and Braak stage I/II, the third subject has also MCI but with Braak stage III/IV and the last subject has a moderate stage of AD and Braak score V/VI. (Figure adapted from Van Wambeke *et al.*, ¹⁴⁶).

Evidence demonstrated a good correlation between CSF total Tau and PET imaging ¹⁴⁷. Still, if the specificity of PET imaging has been proven over the years, this method is difficult to implement in clinical routine diagnosis or during clinical trials.

3. Neurodegeneration biomarkers

Those biomarkers are part of the "(N)" group and are indicators of the neurodegeneration or neuronal injury that can result from different causes. Thus, they are not specific to neurodegeneration due to AD. This group is represented by three biomarkers: MRI, fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG) PET, and CSF total Tau. As opposed to groups "A" and "T", they are not associated with neuropathological changes related to AD, hence the parenthesis in the denomination. Nevertheless, the combination of MRI, CSF tTau or FDG PET with abnormal Amyloid biomarker has improved the prediction of a future cognitive decline.

1. Anatomic magnetic resonance imaging

Magnetic resonance imaging or MRI is a non-invasive *in vivo* technique used to visualise the brain. This method was proposed in the dementia spectrum for enabling earlier clinical diagnosis before occurrence of the first apparent symptoms ¹⁴⁸. MRI permits the examination of the different brain regions and presents several advantages, such as excluding brain lesions or assessing vascular burden. Although in AD, the main benefit of MRI is its capacity to determine atrophy patterns, especially at early onset, in the specific cerebral regions such as the frontal and parietal area. This is particularly helpful for the prediction of MCI transition to AD. Atrophy is measured with MRI via gray matter volume and cortical thickness assessments. Results on early AD and MCI patients focusing on temporal regions demonstrated a volume loss of the hippocampal and entorhinal cortex compared to controls ^{149,150}. This decreased volume is thought to appear before the first symptoms ¹⁵¹. Likewise, cortical thickness is associated with specific cerebral regions. In MCI and AD, cortical thinning has been observed in specific brain areas and can be used to detect presymptomatic Aβ+ individuals as well as giving indication on the symptoms' severity ¹⁵².

2. Fluorodeoxyglucose PET

Fluorodeoxyglucose (FDG)-PET is a well-established imaging biomarker used to determine the cerebral glucose metabolism. This method is based on labelled ¹⁸F-fluorodeoxyglucose

analogue as a tracer ¹⁵³. In the case of AD, a decrease of the glucose metabolism or hypometabolism, is expected prior to the macroscopic atrophy detectable through MRI (Figure 12) ¹⁵⁴. Such metabolic deficits are associated with neuronal activity and reflect synaptic dysfunction. Evidence support the good diagnostic accuracy of this technique ¹⁵⁵. In an effort to harmonize the results of FDG-PET imagery, and in response to the variability encountered, several brain regions of interest (ROI) have been defined ^{156,157}.



Figure 12: Comparison of FDG-PET and MRI.

Brain Imaging measurement of FDG-PET on the left (A) and gray matter volume and cortical thickness assessment via MRI on the right (B). The visualisation shows significant difference between the four cohorts analyzed: cognitively normal elderly (CN) either Amyloid positive (A β +) or Amyloid negative (A β -), early mild cognitive impairment (EMCI) A β + and late mild cognitive impairment (LMCI) A β +. Significant hypometabolic areas are revealed in red and significant atrophy is highlighted in blue. (Figure published by Kljajevic *et al.*, ¹⁵⁴).

Good correlations between FDG-PET and PiB have been demonstrated with an equivalent accuracy to detect early AD pathological processes ¹⁵⁸. Although in the AD spectrum, FDG-PET specificity is rather limited to discriminate AD from non-AD as it reflects non-specific neurodegenerative processes.

3. CSF total Tau

CSF total Tau load is also a biomarker of neurodegeneration that is not specific to AD. Total Tau has been sought to reflect the intensity of neuronal and axonal damage during neurodegeneration ¹⁵⁹. Subsequently, increased levels of total Tau have been reported in different conditions including, traumatic brain injury, stroke, Creutzfeldt-Jakob, and AD ¹⁶⁰. In

addition, total Tau has been related to a faster clinical progression rate, with the highest increase observed in Creutzfeldt-Jakob, a neurodegenerative disorder with the most rapid neuronal loss ¹⁶¹. In AD, total Tau correlated as well with faster clinical rate, including for the progression rate between MCI and AD ^{162,163}. Moreover, studies established a strong correlation between tTau and pTau in AD patients ¹⁶⁴.

In addition to CSF total Tau biomarkers recommended in the guidelines, new candidates have emerged as promising neurodegeneration biomarkers such as the neurofilament light chain protein (NFL) ¹⁶⁵. Furthermore, research on neurodegenerative biomarkers has extended its scope to blood biomarkers ¹⁵².

Once the three biomarkers of the AT(N) nomenclature have been assessed, they are assigned to one of the eight biomarker profiles. For each category the individual is either positive or negative (Table 2).

AT(N) profiles	Biomarker category			
A-T-(N)-	Normal AD biomarkers			
A+T-(N)-	Alzheimer's pathologic change			
A+T+(N)-	Alzheimer's disease	Alzhoimor's		
A+T+(N)+	Alzheimer's disease	continuum		
A+T-(N)+	Alzheimer's and concomitant suspected non- Alzheimer's pathologic change			
A-T+(N)-	Non-AD pathologic change			
A-T-(N)+	Non-AD pathologic change			
A-T+(N)+	Non-AD pathologic change			

Table 2: AT(N) biomarkers profiles.

Combination of the AT(N) biomarkers leads to eight different signature profiles. The table is divided in three categories. The first one, with no background, is reflecting individuals with no AD, all biomarkers are normal or negative. The second, with a light grey background, gathers individuals on the Alzheimer's continuum. Finally, profiles with a dark grey shading, have non-AD pathological changes. (Figure published by Jack *et al.*, ⁹⁴).

The clinical and pathological diagnosis are giving a great overview of the AD associated symptoms and biological changes. Because of the importance and crucial involvement of the core biomarkers Aβ42, tTau, and pTau in MCI and AD, these biomarkers have been considered as promising leads for therapeutic treatment.

VII. Alzheimer's disease treatment

To this date, most available medications are treating symptoms of AD patients. They target the neurochemical system underlying cognitive dysfunction and behavioural symptoms, providing only short-term effects. Lots of clinical trials have failed to give great benefit-risk for patients, and it's only very recently that the first therapeutic treatments have been approved by health authorities ¹⁶⁶.

1. Symptomatic treatment

1. Cholinesterase inhibitors

Cholinesterase inhibitor medications have been approved by health authorities and can be found under the drug name of galantamine, rivastigmine or donepezil. They are common symptomatic treatments given to mild- to moderate AD patients. Their mechanism of action relies on cholinesterase inhibition. These treatments help slowing down cognitive decline and reducing behavioural symptoms.

On a biological level, those medications will act in the neuron synaptic connections. In the brain, cholinergic neurons are secreting acetylcholine (ACh), a neurotransmitter and neuromodulator formed by choline and cofactor acetyl coenzyme A (CoA). ACh has been studied to be a critical modulator of cognitive functions ¹⁶⁷. In the cholinergic synapse, acetylcholinesterase (AChE) is an enzyme responsible for the degradation of acetylcholine, once it's released by presynaptic terminal, into choline and acetate. ACh binds to the postsynaptic receptor and is then degraded by AChE. The choline released after AChE action is then transported back to the presynaptic terminal by high affinity choline uptake (HACU).

In Alzheimer's disease, Aβ42 accumulate in cholinergic neurons. Studies demonstrated a relationship between Aβ42 plaques and cholinergic dysfunction, as Aβ42 are decreasing ACh production and concentration in the synaptic cleft ¹⁶⁸. Additionally, Aβ42 has been shown to facilitate ACh hydrolysis via butylcholinesterases. To avoid the degradation of the lower ACh concentration available, inhibitors are used to bind to AChE, and block the ACh degradation, which accumulates in the synaptic cleft. Consequently, the cholinergic receptor is constantly stimulated on the postsynaptic cell, which will induce a prolonged cholinergic receptor signalling and associated changes in postsynaptic cell function ¹⁶⁹. In the case of AD, AChE inhibitors will have beneficial effects on memory functions for some patients. Developed drugs such as Donezepril is a selective, reversible AChE inhibitor, while Rivastigmine is a non-selective butyrylcholinesterase (BuChE) and AChE inhibitor ¹⁷⁰.

Besides, some molecules, such as Galantamine can have a dual effect in addition to the inhibition of AChE (Figure 13). A lower expression of the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR) has been associated with AD ¹⁷¹. Yet this receptor takes part in essential cognitive functions such as memory and learning. In accordance, a therapeutic approach was elaborated to restore the level of the receptor. Therefore, an allosteric modulation of the nAChR with a nicotinic antagonist was proposed. The allosteric modulator binds to different receptor sites than the natural agonist. This facilitates the channel opening and enhances the interaction of the natural agonist with presynaptic and postsynaptic nAChR ¹⁷².



Figure 13: Galantamine mechanism of action in the cholinergic synapse.

Galantamine (Gal) dual mechanism of action in the cholinergic synapse. First Gal acts on the cholinesterase by inhibiting acetylcholinesterase (AChE) activity to degrade acetylcholine (ACh) in choline and acetate. This avoids the recapture of choline in the presynapse where it will be assembled with acetyl-coenzyme A (CoA) into ACh by the choline acetyltransferase (ChAT). Second, Gal acts as an allosteric modulator to enhance the nicotinic acetylcholine receptor (nAChR). (Figure published by Tewari *et al.*, ¹⁷⁰).

This is one example of the available drug acting on AChE. Those inhibitors are not limited to AD only, for instance rivastigmine has been approved to treat other dementia types such as Parkinson's disease related dementia.

2. N-methyl-D-aspartate antagonist

Another symptomatic treatment commonly used is the N-methyl-D-aspartate (NMDA) antagonist, found under the drug name memantine. This medication is indicated for moderate to severe AD, when symptoms are advanced, and will regulate glutamate activation in the brain ¹⁶⁶.

NMDA antagonists are often used in combination with acetylcholinesterase inhibitors. The glutamatergic neurotransmission via NMDA is necessary for synaptic plasticity as it is the underlying molecular mechanism of learning and memory and neurons survival. However, a prolonged neuron excitation can cause toxicity and promote cell death ¹⁷³. Glutamate is the most abundant neurotransmitter in the CNS. It is synthesized via different metabolic pathways. Glutamate receptors are mainly ligand-gated ionotropic receptors (iGluRs). Because of their central role in excitatory neurotransmission, those receptors are involved in a variety of neuropathological disorders, such as epilepsy, Parkinson's, Huntington's, multiple sclerosis, and Alzheimer's disease. One group of those iGluRs are the NMDA receptors (NMDARs), which are voltage-dependant with magnesium ions (Mg²⁺) blockade and have high Calcium ions (Ca²⁺) permeability. NMDARs play a crucial role in synaptic function and plasticity ¹⁷⁴. A strong and prolonged release of glutamate will trigger a signalling cascade and lead to synaptic strength enhancement. In AD, an excessive stimulation of glutamatergic signalling has been observed, resulting in excitotoxicity, leading to nerve cells damage. Evidence showed this toxicity to be linked with a Ca²⁺ entry through NMDARs ¹⁷⁵. Pathological levels of Ca²⁺ lead to gradual synaptic function loss and neuronal cell death and correlate with cognitive and memory decline in AD. Evidence on cell culture support the theory that toxic A^β could be responsible for increased glutamate levels by an impaired glutamate uptake mechanism ¹⁷⁶. NMDA antagonists such as memantine are binding to the NMDARs and block the NMDA channel. They act as inhibitors of the excessive excitatory receptor activity and exert a neuroprotective role in AD case and improve cognitive functions ¹⁷⁷.

Symptomatic treatments are still debated in AD as effect on symptoms are very heterogonous among patients. Moreover, if this might relieve individuals and their caregivers, those medications are not stopping, nor reducing the disease progression. For over two decades, plenty of clinical trials have emerged to target the principal AD hallmarks: Amyloid and Tau proteins, unfortunately with limited success. Very recently though, new medications with promising results have gained more attention and could be approved by health authorities in the coming years.

- 2. Therapeutic treatment
- 1. Anti-Amyloid beta antibodies

The hypothesis that A β deposition is a central pathological hallmark of AD has been described as the Amyloid cascade. Hence it has gained a lot of focus to develop drugs and therapeutic treatments to reduce, stabilize or aiming to cure AD ¹⁷⁸.

Anti-A β antibodies therapies rely on three different mechanistic approaches. At First, when antibodies bind to the Amyloid aggregates, this could destabilize the A β plaques, fibrils and oligomers, and "dissolve" the plaques. A second pathway is the activation of microglia via Fc receptors, inducing the phagocytosis of A β . Finally, in the last hypothesis also called "the sink mechanism" the antibodies bind to A β present in the plasma, creating an efflux of A β from the brain to the systemic circulation (Figure 14) ¹⁷⁹.



Figure 14: Anti-Amyloidβ immunotherapy approaches.

Three modes of action of anti-Amyloid β (A β) are described from the left to the right. First, antibodies target directly the A β aggregates and disassemble the plaques. Second, an activation of microglia mediated with Fc receptors (FcR) stimulates the A β phagocytosis. Third, the binding of anti-A β antibodies in plasma generates an efflux of A β from the brain to the bloodstream. (Figure published by Panza *et al.*, ¹⁷⁹).

Anti-Amyloid drugs have been studied for decades but clinical trials failed to give great benefice-risk to patients. In some cases, treatments were able to reduce Amyloid burden in the brain of patients, but poor correlations with cognitive decline were observed. In worse cases, treatments had to be stopped for aggravating patients' condition ¹⁸⁰. Now, several Aβ immunotherapies are under clinical trial evaluation. Recently, two of them, Aducanumab and Lecanemab have been under the accelerated Approval of the FDA as therapeutic treatment. Both medications are disease modifying immunotherapies targeting Amyloid plaques in the brain. The two treatments are injected by intravenous for one hour every four and two weeks respectively for Aducanumab and Lecanemab. We will briefly describe their mechanism of action hereafter.

Aducanumab

Aducanumab, sold under the brand name Aduhelm[®] (produced by Biogen) was approved by the FDA in 2021. This monoclonal antibody is used to treat MCI or mild AD patients by targeting A β plaques. It aims to reduce and remove A β burden, and to avoid the accumulation in the brain by selectively binding to soluble A β aggregates and insoluble fibrils, rather than monomers (Figure 15) ¹⁸¹.



Figure 15: Aducanumab mode of action.

The selective binding of Aducanumab to soluble A β oligomers and insoluble plaques reduces the global Amyloid burden in the brain. (Figure published by Gunawardena *et al.*, ¹⁸²).

Results of Aducanumab have received controversial critics. Two phase III studies, EMERGE and ENGAGE did not demonstrate great efficacy and performance of the medication ¹⁸³. One common side effect observed was the formation of Amyloid-related imaging abnormalities (ARIA) and related oedema and haemorrhage. The risk to develop ARIA was even greater in APOɛ4 carriers ¹⁸⁴.

Lecanemab

Lecanemab marketed as Leqembi[®] (produced by Eisai) is also a monoclonal antibody therapy used in MCI patients and approved by the FDA under the accelerated Approval pathway in January 2023. This treatment is also an immunotherapy targeting A β , although the mechanism of action is slightly different from Aducanumab. Instead of targeting the plaques like Aducanumab, Lecanemab selectively binds to large soluble Aβ fibrils in the brain and the CSF. Instead of acting on already formed deposits, the aim here is to intervene one step ahead and to avoid the plaques' formation. Phase III results were very encouraging as a 27% decline in Clinical Dementia Rating-Sum of boxes (CDR-SB) at 18months compared to the placebo cohort was observed. PET scan demonstrated a decrease of Amyloid burden and one third of the treated group became PET-Amyloid negative ¹⁸⁵. The treatment was slowing of the NPs accumulation in the temporal lobe and other brain regions. This treatment is delivered through intravenous over one hour every two weeks. Like Aducanumab, Lecanemab present side effects including ARIA.

Both trials have allowed to reframe the work around the Amyloid cascade hypothesis. Indeed, even if the results of both immunotherapies are very encouraging for some individuals, the correlation between cognitive impairment and reduction of Amyloid burden does not seem so linear. Several studies used those trials to re-question the validity of the Amyloid cascade in the context of MCI and AD.

2. Amyloid cascade hypothesis and immunotherapies

The Amyloid cascade hypothesis (ACH) is based on the overload of Amyloid β deposition in the brain as the original and single cause of Alzheimer's disease. NFTs, cell loss, vascular damage and dementia ensue as a direct response to it ¹⁸⁶. The clinical and neuropathological classification of AD has permitted a better understanding of the associated changes and highlighted that it is more likely a combination of factors that is responsible for AD progression. The main argument for revising the ACH has been supported by the lack of correlation between A β 42 deposition and cognitive decline as well as the modest effects of anti-Amyloid therapies ^{48,49,187}. As a result, the ACH has been reshaped to encompass the complex multicausality of AD (Figure 16) ¹⁸⁸.



Figure 16: Schematic diagram of the revised Amyloid cascade hypothesis.

This schematic cascade integrates the important concomitant factors associated with AD. Aβ42 aggregation is caused by either an abnormal Aβ42 peptides production or a decreased plaque clearance activity. Amyloid precursor protein (APP) mis-degradation into Aβ42 aggregates, has been linked with genetic risk (on APP and presenilin (PS) genes in familial AD (FAD)). Both Amyloid plaques and soluble oligomeric forms interact with microglia, astroglia, blood vessels and neurons to induce various damaging cellular responses, leading to neuronal dysfunction and death. Hyperphosphorylation of Tau and formation of paired helical filaments (PHFs) in the neurons are linked with cognitive decline at the end stage of the disease. Additional factors such as age, APOE genotype, inflammation and environmental risks are associated with the disease. (Figure published by Karran and De Strooper, ¹⁷⁸).

This revised version of the ACH has permitted to expand the view of AD associated neuropathological changes and to put in context the importance of the risk factors.

3. Novartis CANTOS study and Alzheimer's disease

The Canakinumab Anti-inflammatory Thrombosis Outcome Study (CANTOS) was a randomized double-blind prospective, controlled clinical trial conducted on over thousands of patients with myocardial infarction and sponsored by Novartis Pharma AG. The objective was to test the inflammatory hypothesis in the context of atherosclerosis. To do so, the study was designed to assess the efficacy and safety of three doses of Canakinumab, an anti-IL-1β immunotherapy ¹⁸⁹. Results from the study demonstrated a relative risk reduction of 40% of C-reactive protein (CRP) and IL-6 levels associated with cardiovascular diseases. Most importantly, this study provided consistent evidence to support the clinical benefit of a targeted anti-inflammatory therapy ¹⁹⁰. Yet the role of inflammation has been involved in

plethora of diseases including MCI and AD. Focusing on the potential role of the inflammatory response could lead to new promising therapeutic targets.

VIII. Role of the inflammation in Alzheimer's disease

Inflammation is a biological response of the immune system triggered by exogenous or endogenous factors. These factors include external pathogens, such as virus, bacteria, or fungi, but also damaged cells and toxic compounds ¹⁹¹.

1. The immune system

The immune system is a complex, but fundamental defensive system, and vital to protect the organism from infection or injury. The inflammatory response is not limited to extreme triggering factors such as the ones mentioned above, an imbalance of tissue and cell homeostasis will also likely activate the immune system but to a lesser extent ¹⁹². The immune system is made of different components which will each take part in a specific role during inflammatory processes. For instance, some components are responsible for recognizing specific entities by targeting specific structures and stimuli, while some other components will be responsible for neutralizing and eliminating the triggering factor. The immune system can be broken down in two components: the innate and the adaptative response ¹⁹³.

1. The innate immunity

The innate immunity is at the frontline of our immune defence system. It is responsible for the recognition of molecular patterns targeted by receptors present on specific immune cells. These receptors will recognize damage associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) such as proteins, deoxyribonucleic acids (DNA), lipids, or carbohydrates produced by external pathogens. The recognition of those specific molecular structures allows the organism to distinguish infectious non-self to non-infectious self. In a second step, this allows to activate mechanisms that will neutralize the detected pathogens. The innate immune system consists of various components such as a physical barrier (skin, mucus), cells (macrophages, neutrophils), and proteins and peptides. Overall, this part of the immunity is non-specific and responds quickly to exogen or endogen threats but has no memory ¹⁹³.

2. The adaptative immunity

The adaptative system works as a safety net for external or internal aggressions that would bypass the innate immunity. The adaptative immunity role is to detect pathogens and help the immune cells from the innate system to recognize and neutralize the target. Indeed, the adaptive system consists of a continuous screening for potential foreign antigens and the production of molecular tools designed to target and suppress the corresponding pathogens. As opposed to the innate immunity, the adaptative system is specific and will have a slower response the first time of exposure to a certain pathogen. However, this system possesses a memory. Consequently, the response to the same stimuli will be faster during the forthcoming exposition. It also consists of a specific set of cells such as lymphocytes B and T, and their effectors (Figure 17)¹⁹³.



Figure 17: Innate and adaptative immunity.

Example of the innate and adaptative immune system in response to severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2). Both innate and adaptative immunities are associated to specific cells and inflammatory mediators. Cells of the innate immunity comprise monocytes, macrophages, dendritic, mast cells and granulocytes (basophil, eosinophil, and neutrophil). After activation, these cells secrete specific chemokines and cytokines, also referred as the cytokine storm. Part of the innate system comprises the activation of the inflammasome pathway, a multiproteic complex. In contrast, the effective cells of the adaptative immune system involve B lymphocytes and T lymphocytes. Both are responsible for the production of different mediators. (Figure published by Tan *et al.*, ¹⁹⁴).

Overall, the immune system is divided into two major components: the innate immunity and the adaptative immunity. Both have well-defined role and action mechanisms associated with specific effectors and cells.

2. Inflammation and disease

The role of the innate immune system has been highlighted to help against virus driven diseases, along with exerted cell stress linked with ageing ¹⁹⁵. Furthermore, inflammation can also have a detrimental effect on the disease and even be the cause of some disorders. During

an acute inflammatory response, cellular and molecular events and interactions act on minimizing the injury or infection. This mitigation will help to restore the homoeostasis and resolve the acute inflammation ¹⁹¹. However, an uncontrolled acute inflammation can become chronic and contribute to various chronic inflammatory diseases. To list a few examples of chronic inflammatory diseases, these include Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis, rheumatoid arthritis, psoriasis, or lupus. In addition, the role of inflammation has gained a lot of attention in the last decade as an important contributor to pathological changes and progression in diverse diseases. This is the case of many neurodegenerative diseases, such as Parkinson's disease, amyotrophic lateral sclerosis, Huntington's disease and ultimately Alzheimer's disease.

3. The neuroinflammation

Neuroinflammation is the specific inflammatory process of the central nervous system. Because of the increasing evidence on the role of inflammation in diverse diseases, it is not a surprise that this specific inflammation gained interest in the context of neurodegenerative pathologies. Hence, evidence suggest that a highly inflammatory status in the systemic circulation and/or the CNS has been correlated with MCI and AD ¹⁹⁶. In the context of the Amyloid cascade hypothesis, described with the origin of AD, evidence indicate towards the accumulation of A β as the trigger point of the neuroinflammation.

1. The central nervous system and the brain environment

The central nervous system is the part of the nervous system composed of the brain and the spinal cord. It is a complex network consisting of sensory components able to detect environmental stimuli and motor components such as skeletal, cardiac, and smooth muscles, that will respond to the stimuli ¹⁹⁷.

Taking into consideration that AD neuropathological changes are occurring in the brain, focus has been drawn to this specific region and the cellular and molecular effectors associated. The brain is made of various brain cells, constituting the functional tissue, and the stroma, constituting the structural or connective tissue. The brain cells are divided in two main classes, the neurons, and the glia. The neurons or nerve cells are excitable and will communicate with other neurons via synapses to form neuronal circuits in a large brain

network. The neuronal communication is made via certain proteins called neurotransmitters, which have inhibitory, excitatory, or neuro-modulatory effects. The glial cells are the supporting cells of the neurons. They are divided between the macroglia, with astrocytes, oligodendrocytes, and ependymal cells, and the microglia, the immune cells and resident macrophages of the brain. While AD neuropathology has a direct effect on the neuronal connections, inducing neuronal damage and synapse loss, the glial cells are particularly interesting as they are taking part in the neuroinflammatory processes ¹⁹⁸. Astrocytes, for instance, are responsible for maintaining the neurons' environment, especially around the synapses, where they have modulatory effects. In addition, astrocytes are involved in the perivascular system. Oligodendrocytes are providing support to the axons of neurons by forming a myelin sheath around them. This allows the electrical impulse to spread faster. The microglia are the protective cells of the brain and will initiate the inflammatory processes in response to an exogenous or endogenous stimulus.

As a matter of fact, evidence in the CNS have demonstrated that astrocytes and microglia are involved in AD progression in the brain ¹⁹⁹. Once there are activated, they will release inflammatory mediators such a chemokines and cytokines in the brain. Those mediators will in turn recruit and activate more resident cells, leading to the secretion of more mediators. As this described the typical and protective response of the acute inflammatory response, little information is known on how this response turns into a detrimental and toxic phenomenon. In AD, the inflammation has been demonstrated to have potentially a protective role in supporting clearance of plaques and tangles ²⁰⁰. However, prolonged secretion of inflammatory mediators might generate neurotoxicity and exacerbate synapses loss in the brain ²⁰¹. Hence, the inflammation has mainly been looked at in the CNS as a direct correlation with AD hallmarks. Evidence suggest that the inflammatory response and activation of astrocytes and the microglia are involved at early stages of AD or during MCI (Figure 18) ²⁰².

44



Figure 18: Schematic overview of the neuroinflammation process in Alzheimer's Disease.

Example of neuroinflammation activation. In AD, Amyloid beta (A β) and Tau hyperphosphorylation will be recognized by cells containing pattern recognition receptor (PRR) which will induce the inflammation signaling pathways and immune system. The inflammasome pathway, once activated will synthesize inflammatory cytokines and be involved in cell death processes. Activated immune brain cells will trigger the production of cytokines. BBB: Blood brain barrier; DAMPs: danger associated molecular patterns; NFTs: neurofibrillary tangles; PAMPs: pathogen associated molecular patterns. (Figure published by Yetirajam *et al.*, ²⁰³).

Now focusing on soluble biomarkers secreted during the inflammatory response, they could give information on activated cells in the CNS and the periphery.

2. The blood brain barrier

The brain is not a completely permeable, nor a hermetic compartment and exchanges are taking place between the brain and the bloodstream. Those exchanges are permitted via the brain blood barrier through specific transporters and receptors. The BBB is a highly specialized semipermeable structure composed of endothelial cells, perivascular cells (pericytes), glial cells (astrocytes) and neurons. The BBB is at the edge of the circulating blood from the systemic circulation and the extracellular fluid of the CNS²⁰⁴. In addition to its role in exchanges, the BBB has a protective role in ensuring that only specific effectors can go through, avoiding infiltration of neurotoxic factors into the brain.

In AD and other neurological diseases, growing evidence have indicated that the BBB might be involved in the disease pathogenesis ²⁰⁵. Studies found that under certain circumstances, the BBB can undergo breakdowns and permeability loss ²⁰⁶. As a result, this allows the crossing of certain peptides, or molecules such as the inflammatory cytokines but also the recruitment of immune cells, including monocytes (Figure 19). Ultimately, the BBB is also involved in inflammatory exchanges between the systemic circulation and the CNS. Additionally, the BBB has been sought to account as a link between neurodegeneration, inflammatory processes, but also vascular damages ²⁰⁷. Indeed, *post-mortem* brain examinations have revealed an association between BBB leaks and microvascular injuries ²⁰⁸. Yet, vascular dysfunctions are strongly associated with MCI, dementia, and AD ²⁰⁹.



Figure 19: Schematic section of the blood brain barrier.

This schematic view of the blood brain barrier is divided in two boards. The upper panel shows the BBB in a healthy state, while the lower panel displays the BBB under systemic inflammation. The BBB is composed of astrocytes feet (in brown), pericytes (in green) and endothelial cells (in red). There are four responses associated with a gradual systemic inflammation represented as four vertical sections associated with one astrocyte foot from the left to the right. In the first one, changes in signaling are exemplified by up- and downregulations of carriers and receptors. As a result, cellular and soluble mediators trafficking increases across the BBB. This is permitted by tight junction breakdowns (vertical section 2 and 3). Finally, the last section illustrates the structural damages ensuing chronic inflammation, this affects astrocytes feet, pericytes, endothelial cells, and the glycocalyx. (Figure published by Galea *et al.*, ²¹⁰).

To summarize, the BBB has a crucial influence on the exchanges between the blood and central compartment and potentially exacerbates the neuroinflammation. Understanding the mechanisms involved and assessing the BBB state would help gain insights into both inflammatory responses (systemic *vs* central).

4. New biomarkers opportunities

Progress and research on the inflammation have permitted to expand the general pathogenesis understanding of multiple conditions such as MCI and AD. This led to new promising targets for a better diagnosis and treatment.

1. Biomarker definition

This thesis was conducted in the Biomarker Development department at Novartis. To understand the role and usefulness of biomarkers, we will first define the use of this term. To harmonize the definition of biomarker, the FDA together with the National Institutes of Health (NIH) proposed the following definition: "a defined characteristic that is measured as an indicator of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes or responses to an exposure or intervention" ²¹¹. In other words, a biomarker can be any measure, from basic information such as patients' weight or blood pressure to more sophisticated ones such as genes expression or proteins levels. In the context of clinical trials, the term biomarker is mostly used for cellular and molecular measurements on biological material collected from patients (*i.e.*, blood or CSF). Biomarkers measurements are mainly carried out with the aim to improve diseases understanding or clinical treatments. As a result, different clinical applications have been attributed to biomarkers by the FDA and NIH.

Susceptibility/risk biomarker is a biomarker that is associated with the potential to develop a disease or a medical condition in an individual who does not currently have clinical apparent symptoms.

Diagnostic biomarker is used to detect or confirm the presence of a disease or condition of interest or to identify individuals with a subtype of the disease. These biomarkers are used to help caregivers in the diagnosis of a specific disease. Biomarkers with early diagnosis potential are extremely useful, as an early disease detection is associated with better treatments outcomes.

Monitoring biomarker is a biomarker measured serially to assess the status of a disease or a medical condition for evidence of exposure to a medical product or an environmental agent. It can also be used to detect an effect of a medical product or a biological agent. Monitoring biomarkers is a broad concept that can overlap with other biomarker categories ²¹².

Prognostic biomarker is used to identify the likelihood of a clinical event, disease recurrence, or disease progression in patients with a disease or medical condition of interest, without considering any specific treatment. Such markers are useful in predicting the severity of symptoms, which can help caregivers in adjusting the right treatments to avoid future worsening or potential complications.

Predictive biomarker is used to identify individuals who are more likely than similar individuals without the biomarker to experience a favourable or unfavourable effect from the exposure to a medical product or an environmental agent. In other words, those biomarkers are used to predict the response or non-response to a given treatment. Such markers are very interesting for precision medicine approaches, as they can direct caregivers toward treatments that are efficacious in a specific disease subpopulation. The use of predictive biomarkers ultimately leads to the pre-selection of patients to be treated and to increased treatment efficacy when compared to unselected patients.

Pharmacodynamic/response biomarker is used to show that a biological response, beneficial or harmful, has occurred in an individual who has been exposed to a medical product or environmental agent.

Safety biomarker is measured before or after an exposure to a medical product or environmental agent to indicate the likelihood, presence, or extent of toxicity as an adverse event. Safety biomarkers are useful to identify patients who are experiencing adverse effects from a treatment. Some treatments, particularly in oncology, can have heavy secondary effects and potentially endanger patient's survival. Following the functioning of organs and predicting any conditions worsening help caregivers in measuring the strain put on the body, and in adjusting the treatments to prevent or at least limit the severity of adverse events.

The use of biomarkers, and in particular laboratory-measured biomarkers, in clinical research is relatively recent, and the best approaches to this practice are still being developed and refined ²¹³. Biomarkers assessments must fulfil certain criteria before being applied in clinical trials or therapeutic use in order to be reliable, safe and easy to measure, and sensitive and specific enough. First, measurements of biomarkers by assays need to be technically validated by proven robustness, reproducibility, and accuracy. Second, the clinical utility of a given biomarker needs to be proven by its developers and approved by health authorities ²¹⁴. Finally, biomarkers are great tools to monitor the development of a disease and personalize medication or healthcare.

2. Biomarker candidates

In the context of MCI and AD, both the systemic and central inflammation are thought to be involved in neurodegenerative diseases. These inflammatory responses have been demonstrated to be involved at early onset of the disorder, making them great candidates as indicator of MCI progression to AD. Different pathways have been explored to play a role in inflammation with their respective mediators, including but not limited to complement, chemokines, and cytokines.

In this thesis, we selected some of the biomarkers described above to investigate the inflammatory signature associated with MCI. Soluble mediators can easily be quantified with immunoassay methods in biofluids. Hereafter we elaborate a list of the mediators that caught our attention.

First, soluble biomarkers secreted by innate immunity cells comprised non-exhaustively, cytokines such as the C-reactive protein (CRP), IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, Tumour necrosis factor α (TNF α). In addition, we focused on one specific pathway of the innate immunity: the NLRP3 (nucleotide-binding oligomerisation (NOD)-, leucine riche repeat (LRR)- and pyrin domain containing receptor protein 3) inflammasome. This pathway is made of an intracellular sensor (the NLRP3), that once assembled, will lead to the Caspase-1 dependant release of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1 β and IL-18 ²¹⁵.

Even though little is known about the role of the adaptative immunity, study on animal models depleted of T, B and natural killer (NK) cells, demonstrated a significant increase in A β , and a change in cytokines signalling ²¹⁶. As a result, we considered some soluble mediators associated with the T cells including, the interferon γ (IFN γ), IL-2, IL-4 and IL-17a.

Both the innate and adaptative immune systems are potentially involved in the systemic as well as the central inflammation and thus secreted both in the blood and the CSF. Yet, increasing evidence on the link between the neuroinflammation and neurodegeneration shifted the focus on mediators specifically secreted by brain cells.

Some cytokines have been linked with monocytes and neutrophils infiltrations across the BBB, such as the C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 10 (CXCL10) also known as the interferon

gamma-induced protein 10 (IP-10) and the monocyte chemoattractant protein (MCP-1). Upregulation of both these cytokines have been associated with microglial and astrocytic activation ²¹⁷.

Among promising candidates, the neurofilament light chain (NFL) protein, an axonal protein responsible for the growth and stability of axons in the CNS, has been reported elevated in CSF and blood of AD patients and correlated to neuronal damage and cognitive decline in the disease progression ^{218–223}. An additional promising biomarker is the glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP). This intermediate filament-III protein is a cytoskeletal component of astrocytes ²²⁴. In the CNS, astrocytes play a structural and functional support to neurons and the blood brain barrier. Hence, in AD, CSF GFAP has been associated with astrocytic degeneration and cognitive decline ^{221–223}.

Another biomarker linked with astrocytes activation is YKL-40, also known as chitinase-3-like protein 1, a glycoprotein secreted both in the brain and the bloodstream. The physiological role of YKL-40 has not been fully elucidated but upregulation of YKL-40 has been associated with macrophage infiltration in numerous inflammatory conditions, including AD ²²⁵. In the CNS, YKL-40 expression is induced by astrocytes once proinflammatory mediators are released by macrophages and could modulate the microglial inflammatory response ²²⁶.

Osteopontin (OPN) also appeared as a candidate regarding its role in immune cell migration (monocyte-macrophage infiltration), communication, and response to brain injury. This protein is secreted by different cell types including microglia in the CNS, where it could exert effect on microglial polarization and functions ²²⁷. OPN was found to be upregulated in autoimmune and inflammatory disorders, inducing AD ²²⁸. Changes mediated by OPN are not completely understood yet. Nevertheless, evidence in animal models suggest that OPN is involved in immunomodulatory functions leading to a key role in clearance of Amyloid plaques ²²⁹.

The Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid cells-2 (TREM-2) is a receptor expressed on microglia, macrophages, fibroblasts, and epithelial cells surface. In the CNS, it is one of the highest expressed cell surface receptors on microglia and consequently on the frontline of the

51

innate immune response after an infection. Furthermore, growing evidence have reported the genetic variants of TREM-2, as a genetic risk factor of AD ²³⁰. This variant could influence the ligand-binding affinity of TREM-2, reducing functions of TREM-2 in phagocytic clearance of Amyloid plaques and ultimately leading to the abnormal accumulation of Tau and Amyloid in AD ^{85,231}.

Finally, an additional biomarker associated with brain resident cells is the tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1 (TIMP-1). This glycoprotein is secreted by astrocytes in the early phase of inflammation and will bind to the matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9), a peptidase responsible for the degradation of extracellular matrix, including Amyloid aggregates ²³². While an increased level of TIMP-1 has been linked with AD, the balance of TIMP-1/MMP-9 could also give indications on the neuroprotective role of TIMP-1 in early phases of the disease ²³³.

Overall, the role of the inflammation has gained a tremendous interest in the context of mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease over the last decades. This was possible through the revision of the Amyloid cascade hypothesis and the fact that AD is not solely caused by Amyloids. Besides, this was supported by the aim to have a biological determination of MCI instead of its characterisation by symptomatic events. In this thesis we investigated the biomarkers described above and additional ones to explore their potential role in MCI.

Objectives

Mild cognitive impairment is a neurological condition characterized by an abnormal decline in cognitive or memory functions. It is a translational stage between a normal decline associated with age and a more serious decline such as dementia. In some cases, MCI will progress into Alzheimer's disease, an irreversible neurodegenerative disease. This latest is caused by an abnormal accumulation of A β peptides and phosphorylated Tau in the brain, leading to synapse alterations and brain atrophy. In the last decade, the role of the inflammation and neuroinflammation has gained a lot of focus in MCI progression to AD. Indeed, the brain environment including its immune cells and the production of inflammatory mediators have been linked with dementia and are examined to participate in AD pathophysiology. However, AD and dementia are hard to diagnose and only very few therapeutic treatments with controversial effects are available for the moment.

As there is a great unmet medical need ford AD, inflammation could be considered as a new therapeutic target and a potential diagnostic tool. The aim of this thesis was to have a better understanding of the role of inflammation in MCI progression. First, this was done by assessing inflammatory biomarkers in a cohort of MCI patients and to compare them with a normal, non-demented population. Alongside, the goal of the protein analysis was to evaluate available quantitative and semi-quantitative technologies on the market.

Then, we compared the soluble biomarkers levels between groups. The goal was to determine if MCI individuals had a specific inflammatory signature, and which specific pathways were involved in it. We investigated specifically biomarkers associated with the NLRP3 cascade and biomarkers associated with monocyte and neutrophil recruitment and activation.

A third objective was to evaluate the use of blood as a surrogate matrix to CSF and to unravel the link between the systemic circulation and the central nervous system. Indeed, blood biomarkers have gained lot of interest for facilitating the clinical assessment of MCI and AD. Hence, our goal was to understand if blood biomarkers measurements were suitable to reflect the inflammatory processes associated with MCI whether they are occurring in the systemic circulation or in the brain.

53

Material and methods

To evaluate both systemic and central inflammatory biomarkers, this work focused on different matrices. The first one, associated with the CNS and the reference biological matrix in the context of MCI and AD, is the CSF. CSF collection is used as an expedient method to brain imaging but remain invasive for patients. Then, to have an overview of the secreted inflammatory mediators in the systemic circulation, we analysed serum and plasma samples. The main analyses and outcomes of this work were conducted on three different cohorts, one mild cognitive impaired cohort, one non-impaired control and finally one healthy control cohort.

I. Participants

Samples collected were part of a prospective study conducted with commercial vendors National Bioservice LLC (NBS, Saint Petersburg, Russia) for the MCI and NIC populations and BioreclamationIVT LLC (BIOIVT, Westbury, NY, USA) for the HC population.

1. Populations

1. Mild cognitive impairment cohort

MCI patients had to perform a Mini-Mental State Examination total score of 20 to 30 as inclusion criteria. Additionally, if digit symbol substitution test (DSST) score was performed, the score had to be at least 1 standard deviation (SD) below normative data at the point of screening.

Biochemical measurements of Amyloid-β40, Amyloid-β42, Tau and pTau had to be assessed by NBS (using MAGPIX Cat. No. HNABTMAG-68K, Merck Millipore, Burlington, USA). Additionally, to be included, a diagnosis of MCI due to AD (stage 2-3) or mild AD based on the National Institute on Aging and Alzheimer's association (NIA-AA) criteria and at least 6 months decline in cognitive function documented in the medical record was required. Patients had to be over 45 and below 90 years old.

Additional data such as the date of collection, age, gender, ethnicity, comorbidities, and treatments were required as well.

2. Non-impaired control cohort

NIC patients had to perform a Mini-Mental State examination total score \geq 29 to be included. Patients should not suffer from any chronic neurodegenerative disorders and be older than 55 years old to be included.

Important note: CSF collection is only permitted for diseased patients and/or can be taken during spinal anaesthesia. In our case, patients had a suspicion of traumatic brain injury (TBI). As a result, donors were non-demented but had osteoarthritis with either knee arthritis or a discal herniation.

3. Healthy control cohort

Patients had to be \geq 50 years old, to age-match with the MCI and the NIC group, and with no comorbidities and/or treatment to be included in the study. These donors should not suffer from any chronic disease. Associated data were acquired such as the collection date, age, gender, and ethnicity. CSF could not be collected in these donors, thus only serum samples were available.

4. Neuronal disease

CSF, plasma, and serum from different individuals with neuronal disease, such as amyotrophic lateral sclerosis (ALS), hydrocephaly, polyneuropathy, cerebrovascular disease, and encephalopathy were collected by and purchased from NBS LLCS. These samples were used to assess the stability of the biomarkers. We chose to use samples from diseased patients to better estimate the course of AD and to evaluate subjects with increased biomarkers concentrations potentially like AD patients. Samples from the same disease were pooled together and then aliquoted to use one aliquot per timepoint and immunoassay, avoiding freeze-thaw cycle repeats. The aliquots were stored in the freezer at -80°C.

2. Ethical Consent

Written informed consent was obtained for all participants respecting the declaration of Helsinki and applicable local regulations.

3. Sample collection

CSF were collected via lumbar puncture in 15ml Falcon tube. To remove blood contamination, samples were centrifuged at 300rcf for 7minutes at +4°C. CSF were aliquoted in 2ml cryovials. An additional 200 μ l was aliquoted separately in a cryovial tube for the MCI donors, and used for A β 40, A β 42, Tau and pTau testing by the vendor. Aliquots were placed in a freezer at -80°C before further analysis.

Sera were collected into serum-separating tubes (SST) of 8.5ml. After collection, the blood sat for 30 minutes to 1 hour to allow the blood clot to fully form. Then, the blood was centrifuged at 2000rcf for 10 minutes at room temperature. Sera were aliquoted in 2.0ml cryovials and put in a freezer at -80°C before further analysis.

For plasma collection, samples were collected in K3-EDTA tubes (9mL) and sat for 5 minutes. Then blood was centrifuged at 2000rcf for 15 minutes at room temperature. Plasmas were aliquoted in 1.0ml cryovials and put in a freezer at -80°C before further analysis.

After reception of the samples, the two cryovials of each donor were pooled together to be aliquoted in 100µl tubes and then placed in the freezer at 80°C before further analysis. This allowed to limit the freeze-thaw cycles and use one aliquot per experiment.

II. Sample analysis

1. Quantification with immunoassays

Quantification of proteins was obtained using immunoassays with different commercially available kits. Immunoassay methods allow specific quantification of molecules with concentrations ranging from high abundance, up to mg/ml, to very low abundance, around tens of fg/ml. In this thesis, we used sandwich immunoassays, such as enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) methods. Hence, sandwich represents well the concept, as the target is trapped between a capture— and detection antibody. The detection antibody is then labelled with an enzyme that will catalyse a substrate into a product for which the signal is measurable. For this reason, the last reaction of the assay can be colorimetric, chemiluminescent, fluorescent, or even electro-chemiluminescent (Figure 20). Historically, the reaction signal was measured with absorbance, but overtime, the development of new

STEP 1 STEP 2 STEP 3 STEP 4 TMB Substrate Analyte YY Y TMB Antibody-coated microplate Substrate Yellow LEGEND Analyte Capture Antibody **Biotinylated Detection** Antibody Streptavidin-HRP

detection methods has improved the sensitivity of the assays. Additionally, new technologies permitted automated methods, increasing sample throughput and robustness of the assays.

Figure 20: Principle of Enzyme-Linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA).

Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) is a quantitative method based on the absorbance of a colorimetric reaction. During the first step, a 96-well plate is coated with a capture antibody. Then samples and standards are loaded on the plate, and the analyte of interest binds to the capture antibody. During the second step, a second biotinylated antibody also named detection antibody is added and will bind to the analyte as well. After that, Streptavidin Horseradish peroxidase (HRP) is added during phase three and will bind to the biotin. Finally, during the fourth step, Tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) is added as a substrate of the HRP and will result in a blue-colored product. An acidic stop solution is then added to stop the reaction and leads to a yellow solution. The optical density of the yellow solution is measured with a spectrophotometer at the appropriate wavelength of 450nm. Signals of the added standards will allow to define a calibration curve used to calculate the analyte concentration in samples. Between each step, a washing of the plate is done to remove all unbound material. (Figure adapted from R&D systems Duoset datasheet,²³⁴).

Very recently, Mesoscale Discovery developed their S-plex method based on electrochemiluminescence and new substrates, which allows the quantification of very low concentrations for some interleukins such as IL-2 and IL-4, which were not quantifiable in the
past (Figure 21). Likewise, this evolution supported the expansion of low abundant protein quantification in different matrices such as CSF, urine, or synovial fluid. This method allows a high versatility with a wide detection range, low background noise and good reproducibility ²³⁵.



Figure 21: Electrochemiluminescent principle of immunoassay.

Principle of the electrochemiluminescent assay developed by Mesoscale Discovery (MSD). As opposed to classical ELISA, the plate here is coated with Streptavidin. Then the designed capture antibody for the analyte of interest, is biotin-labeled and will bind to the streptavidin. The sample is added to the plate and the analyte will bind to the biotinylated antibody. The second detection antibody is added to the plate and will bind as well to the specific analyte. This latest is labeled with MSD specific TURBO-BOOST enzyme. Finally, a TURBO-TAG substrate is added to the plate. During the reading process, an electrical impulse is generated via a printed circuit under the plate. This will provide a high-energy electron transfer reaction and excites the Turbo Tag substrate in a state that it will emit light. The luminous signal is recorded and used to calculate the concentration. (Figure proposed by Mesoscale discovery ²³⁶).

All biomarkers were assessed using commercial kits (Table 3). In total, fifty-four different biomarkers were tested using different quantitative immunoassays. Twenty-eight of those biomarkers were kept for the final analysis and measured in all the 150 samples. For the remaining biomarkers that were not kept (twenty-six), the majority (twenty) were not quantifiable with the kits tested. The rest of them were quantifiable in at least one matrix but did not display any conclusive outcome or could not be analysed in all the samples because of a lack of time.

Analyte	Kit	Catalog Nr.	Р	rovider
β-Defensin-2	ELISA kit	100-250	Alpha Diagnostic	San Antonio, TX, USA
Glutathione reductase	Immunoassay kit	703202	Cayman	Neratovice, Czech Republic
hsp70	Amp'd [®] Hsp70 High Sensitivity ELISA kit	ENZ-KIT-101	ENZO	Farmingdale, NY, USA
Αβ42		81576		
tTau	Innotest IVD	81572	Fujirebio	Gent, Belgium
pTau181		81574		
HNP1-3	ELISA kit	HK317	HycultBiotech	Uden, Netherlands
MPO	ELISA kit	10-1176-01	Mercodia	Uppsala, Sweden
IgA IgE IgM	lsotyping panel	K15203D		
IL-1β	S-plex	K151ADSS		
pTau231	S-plex	K151AGNS	Masasala	
IFNγ IL-12p70 IL-17a IL-2 IL-4 TNFα	S-plex Proinflammatory panel 1 (Human)	K15396S	Discovery	Rockville, MD, USA
ASC BCA-1 Caspase-1 IL-10 IL-18 IL-18BPa IL-1α IL-1Ra IL-5 IL-6 IL-8 IL-8 IP-10	Simple-plex	Custom kits	Protein Simple	San Jose, CA, USA

Analyte	Kit	Catalog Nr.		Provider
MCP-1				
OPN				
PD-L1				
TIMP-1				
sTREM-2				
YKL-40				
GFAP	Nours 2 play D	102520		
NFL	Neuro 2-piex B	103520	Quanterix	Billerica, MA, USA
UCH-L1	Neuro 4-ріех в	102155		
sC5b9	Microvue	A029	Quidel	San Diego, CA, USA
α-Defensin-1	Duoset	DY8198-05		
CD163	Quantikine	DC1630		
CRP	Duoset	DY1707		
Galectin 3	Duoset	DY1154		
Galectin 9	Duoset	DY2045		
hsp70	Duoset	DYC1663	R&D systems	Minneapolis, MN, USA
IL-1RAcP	Duoset	DY676		
IL-2Rα	Quantikine	SR2A00		
IL-36	Duoset	DY2320		
M-CSF	Duoset	DY216		
P-selectin	Duoset	DY137		
Sirtuin 2	ELISA kit	ELH-SIRT2	Raybiotech	Peachtree Corners, GA, USA
Caspase-8	ELISA kit	KOA0861	Rockland	Limerick, PA, USA
Catalase	Colorimetric Activity	EIACATC	ThermoFisher	Waltham, MA, USA

Table 3: List of the biomarkers tested with quantitative immunoassays.

In the white background are the biomarkers which were kept for the final part of the results section. Biomarkers in gray background were not analyzed in all samples, mostly because they were not quantifiable. Aβ: Amyloid-beta; ASC: apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a caspase recruitment domain; BCA-1: B cell-attracting chemokine 1; BPa: binding protein a; CD: cluster of differentiation; CRP: C-reactive protein, GFAP: glial fibrillary acidic protein; HNP1-3: human neutrophil peptides 1-3; hsp70: heat shock protein 70; IFN: interferon; Ig: immunoglobulin; IL: interleukin; IP-10: interferon gamma-induced protein 10; M-CSF: macrophage colony-stimulating factor; MCP-1: monocyte chemoattractant protein 1; MPO: myeloperoxidase; NFL: neurofilament light chain; OPN: osteopontin; PD-L1: programmed death-ligand 1; pTau: phosphorylated Tau; Ra: receptor antagonist; RACP: receptor accessory protein; TIMP-1: tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase1; TNF: tumor necrosis factor; TREM-2: triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2; tTau: total Tau; UCH-L1: ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1; YKL-40: chitinase-3-like protein 1.

Immunoassays were performed on plasma, serum and CSF in duplicate using the manufacturers' instructions. Samples were randomized on the plates and per run. A new aliquot was used for each run to avoid thaw-freeze cycles.

The difference in sample size throughout the study is due to the removal of protein concentrations with a concentration coefficient of variation > 30%. Additionally, we excluded CSF and serum protein with a low detection rate (< 60%). Our final statistical analysis included 15 proteins which were detected in > 60% of CSF and 23 proteins detected in > 60% of serum. When the detection rate was > 60%, samples with concentration below the lowest standard of the calibration curve were included and calculated according to the following formula:

Calculated concentration =
$$\frac{Lower \ limit \ of \ detection}{2} \times sample \ dilution \ factor$$

The same rule was applied if signals were above the limits of detection and could not be repeated, sample concentration was calculated depending on the upper limit of detection. The following formula was applied:

Calculated concentration = *Upper limit of detection* \times *sample dilution factor*

1. Immunoassay feasibility test: parallelism and selectivity

Before a clinical trial begins, it is crucial to verify that the methods used to assess biomarkers are reliable and robust. For this reason, several factors are tested as part of the method validation and need to follow strict guidelines ²³⁷. This can be referred as the feasibility testing of an assay. In this work, the methods used were not fully validated but two parameters, dilution-linearity, and specificity, were tested for the different commercial assay kits. First, parallelism allows to demonstrate the relative accuracy of ligand-binding assay (LBA) such as the immunoassays used in this thesis ^{238,239}. The goal is to assess the effect of dilutions on the quantification of endogenous analyte and to characterize the assay, matrix effects and define the minimum dilution required (MRD). To assess the parallelism, 6 matrices from different subjects were used to prepare at least two-, ideally three- or more serial dilutions, depending on the assay sensitivity and the expected concentration in the matrix. The accuracy between the two or more concentrations obtained for the same donor and each serial-dilution was calculated. To accept the dilution-linearity and parallelism criteria and the MRD, we then examined if the bias was ranging from $\pm 25\%$ for a single-plex assay up to $\pm 35\%$ for a multiplex assay (*i.e.*, new sensitive MSD S-plex pro-inflammatory panel with 9 different analytes) between the dilution concentrations.

Second, the selectivity of the assay is defined as the ability of the assay to measure the analyte of interest ²⁴⁰. In other terms, this allows to confirm that the measured analyte used to establish the calibration curve (usually a recombinant protein) is accurately measured in the sample matrices. To do so, we used the matrices from the six same donors used for the parallelism and spiked them with the recombinant protein calibrator. We spiked the same concentration as the one we were expected to find in the samples to obtain a theorical final concentration of 50% endogenous plus 50% of exogenous analyte. If the expected concentration could not be defined, samples were spiked with a concentration corresponding to the standards in the middle of the calibration curve. Then, we calculated the recovery to compare the final concentration of the spiked samples with the expected concentration, using the following formula:

 $\% Recovery = \frac{Measured \ concentration \ of \ spiked \ sample}{Measured \ concentration \ of \ neat \ samples \ + \ recombinant \ spike} \times 100$

The selectivity of the assay was considered acceptable if the bias of the spiked concentration was \pm 30%.

The recovery percentage of each dilution level was normalized to the concentration adjusted to the lowest dilution factor (Table 4).

IL-1β spike recovery								
Samplatura	Dilution factor	Average %	% Recovery	Acceptable				
Sample type	Dilution factor	Recovery	range	recovery ± 30%				
Diseased serum	neat	100.0	NA	NA				
sample	2	107.8	103 - 126	6/6				
n=6	4	113.9	102 - 135	5/6				

Table 4: Example of assay spike recovery.

Example of spike recovery of the MSD S-plex ultrasensitive IL-1 β assay. Six different diseased sera were plated neat, at dilution 1:2 and at dilution 1:4 and were spiked with the IL-1 β recombinant protein (standard). Percentage recoveries from the spiked samples were calculated for each dilution and were normalized to the neat concentration. NA: Not applicable.

2. Stability study

Numerous studies on AD including MCI and AD patients use specimens or data from the Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging Initiative (ADNI) biobank. The goal of the initiative was to collect, gather, and share global data for collaborators in AD research. Since 2014, ADNI has recruited data and specimens of over 1700 participants in the USA and Canada. Data collected include clinical data, neuroimaging, genetic data and biospecimens ²⁴¹. Although it is a great initiative to have access to AD biospecimens, samples used to conduct studies have sometimes been collected several years before their use in research. This led us to question how we can make sure that biomarkers assessed a few years after collection are still reliable. Similarly in this study, due to Covid-19 and the conflict in Ukraine, some of the MCI samples analysed had been collected almost two years before biomarkers' assessments. For this reason, we investigated the stability of 10 pooled CSF, serum, and plasma over two years for 12 and 10 different biomarkers in serum and CSF respectively. Results were collected at baseline (t0), 3 months (t1), 9 months (t2), 15 months (t3) and 24 months (t4). Stability was completed at two years for 15 biomarkers (Figure 22). The results were reported as the percentage concentration compared to the baseline, following the formula:

% baseline =
$$\frac{Concentration at tx}{concentration t0} \times 100$$

To consider a biomarker stable, we fixed an acceptable bias of \pm 30% compared to the % baseline at t0. Most plasma and serum biomarkers were stable over two years. It is important to note that the kit lot of each assay was not always the same for each timepoint. This might have affected the data.





Figure 22: 24-month biomarkers' stability.

The biomarkers' stability is represented as a baseline percentage. Biomarkers were assessed at five different timepoints ranging from baseline t0 to, 3, 9, 15 and 24 months.

Overall, serum and plasma stability were within the acceptance range for most biomarkers. Only for IL-10 and IL-1 β , stability at 24 months was slightly below 70%, with a mean at 68% and 60% baseline respectively. High abundant biomarkers, such as OPN, TIMP-1, sTREM-2, and YKL-40 had a good stability for all three matrices. Regarding CSF, ASC, IP-10, IL-18, IL-6, MCP-1 had a higher stability starting from timepoint t2, which could be explained by a new kit lot that was used at this point.

2. Semi-quantitative Olink[®] profiling

Protein profiling was conducted using Olink[®] Target 96 inflammation Panel (cat. No. 95302, Olink[®] Proteomics, Uppsala, Sweden) allowing simultaneous semi-quantification of 92 different proteins for 90 samples. This technology is based on Proximity Extension Assay (PEA) with 92 oligonucleotide labelled antibody-pairs containing unique DNA-sequence of the 92 targeted proteins which will hybridize specifically to each other. This extension leads to 92 DNA reporter sequences which are then amplified by real-time polymerase chain reaction (rtPCR). Internal and external controls are added on the plate and enable normalization of the results (Figure 23).



Figure 23: Principle of Olink[®] assay.

The Olink[®] profiling method is divided in three phases. The first one, lies on the same principles as an immunoassay with the capture antibody targeting the analyte of interest. Here, the antibodies pairs are labelled with specific oligonucleotides probes. During the second phase, both probes will hybridize by proximity extension. Finally, the third phase allows the detection via the amplification of the reporters' sequences. Three internal controls are added on the plate to monitor the three steps of the assay. They are used for quality control and data normalization. (Figure adapted from Olink^{® 242}).

The main benefit of this profiling method is that it allows high sample throughput multiplexing using very small volume (1μ) of matrix, making it a great method for exploratory purpose. However, the quantification is not absolute, and results are difficult to compare between populations.

In this study, the three populations were analysed and assessed on two different plates from the same lot. The analyses were not conducted at the same time, as there were done on two different days with an interval of several months. One plate contained the MCI cohort, whereas the second plate contained the HC serum and the NIC cohorts. Samples were randomized on the plate.

For the MCI cohort, 30 samples were tested in CSF and match set serum and plasma on the same plate. For the serum samples, 71% of the biomarkers were quantifiable in at least 70% of the samples, whereas in CSF, 49% of the biomarkers were quantifiable in at least 70% of the samples.

On the second plate, 30 NIC CSF and match set serum along with 30 HC sera were tested. For the 60 sera (from the NIC and the HC cohort together) tested, 67% of biomarkers were quantifiable in at least 70% of the samples, and 38% of the biomarkers were quantifiable in at least 70% of all CSF samples. CSF quantification rate of the NIC population was slightly lower compared to the MCI cohort. To compare the two populations together, the two plates were normalized together using the Intensity Normalize v.2 program from Olink[®] Normalized Protein Expression (NPX) Manager version 3.1.1.399 (Olink[®] Proteomics, Uppsala, Sweden). To avoid technical bias between the plates, randomization of all samples and populations on the two plates would have been preferable. Nonetheless, some common biomarkers between profiling and immunoassays allowed to compare if semi-quantitative results could be reliable.

III. Statistical analysis

Data obtained by immunoassays were analysed with Prism version 9.5.1 (Graphpad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA) and TIBCO Spotfire version 11.4 (TIBCO, Palo Alto, CA, USA).

Study population characteristics (sex, MMSE score, comorbidities, and concomitant diseases) were compared using Chi-square test. A β 42 and pTau/A β 42 cut-off values comparison was performed with Fisher exact test.

The normality of the data distribution was tested using the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. Because a great majority of biomarkers did not follow a Gaussian distribution, comparisons were made using Mann-Whitney t-test (two group) or Kruskal-Wallis test (multiple group) followed by Dunn's pairwise comparison. The same tests were applied for all biomarkers to homogenize the statistical analyses. In-group biomarker correlations were performed with Spearman correlation test. Method comparison of the same biomarker was evaluated with a linear regression.

For all tests, the *p*-value of significance used was <0.05. For Spearman tests, in addition to the *p*-value, we fixed an arbitrary r value cutoff of ±0.50 and only considered correlations with r \ge 0.50 or \le -0.50 as statistically significant.

Results and discussion

I. Results with MCI patients received in December 2021

1. Article published in International Journal of Molecular Sciences

This results section presents the preliminary results published in June 2023, in the article entitled "Central and peripheral inflammation in Mild Cognitive Impairment in the context of Alzheimer's disease." In this paper, we summarized the main soluble biomarkers outcomes obtained on three different cohorts. Studied populations consisted of one MCI due to AD cohort of 32 subjects, one non-impaired control (NCI) cohort composed of 45 subjects and finally one healthy control (HC) cohort of 30 subjects.

These results include less than half of the initial MCI prospective samples expected (thirtytwo out of seventy-five). Indeed, the total amount of the 75 MCI patients analysed in this thesis was received in two separate batches. A first batch of 32 subjects was received in December 2021, and a second one of 43 patients in April 2023. First, because of Covid-19 the initial collection was delayed for a few months. Then, because of the conflict in Ukraine and the Russian embargo, the second batch of samples could not be sent directly after collection. We compared serum biomarkers levels for all three cohorts, whereas CSF biomarkers concentrations were only available for MCI and NIC subjects.

Shortly, in this article, we observed similar concentrations of AD hallmarks (A β 42 and Tau) in the MCI and NCI cohort, and similar blood inflammatory biomarkers in both cohorts as well, although concentrations were elevated compared to HC individuals. In the CSF most proteins assessed were increased in the MCI cohort. Additionally, evidence suggested an overactivation of the inflammasome pathway in the MCI cohort compared to the NIC and HC populations.

Schmidt-Morgenroth, I., Michaud, P., Gasparini, F. & Avrameas, A. Central and Peripheral Inflammation in Mild Cognitive Impairment in the Context of Alzheimer's Disease. *Int J Mol Sci* **24**, 10523 (2023). ²⁴³





Inès Schmidt-Morgenroth ^{1,2}, Philippe Michaud ², Fabrizio Gasparini ¹ and Alexandre Avrameas ^{1,*}

- ¹ Novartis Institutes for Biomedical Research (NIBR), Translational Medicine, 4056 Basel, Switzerland
- ² Institut Pascal, Université Clermont Auvergne, CNRS, Clermont Auvergne INP,
- 63000 Clermont-Ferrand, France
- * Correspondence: alexandre.avrameas@novartis.com

Abstract: Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is characterized by an abnormal decline in mental and cognitive function compared with normal cognitive aging. It is an underlying condition of Alzheimer's disease (AD), an irreversible neurodegenerative disease. In recent years, neuroinflammation has been investigated as a new leading target that contributes to MCI progression into AD. Understanding the mechanism underlying inflammatory processes involved in the early onset of the disease could help find a safe and effective way to diagnose and treat patients. In this article, we assessed over twenty different blood and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) inflammatory biomarker concentrations with immunoassay methods in patients with MCI (mild cognitive impairment), nonimpaired control (NIC), and serum healthy control (HC). We performed group comparisons and analyzed in-group correlations between the biomarkers. We included 107 participants (mean age: 64.7 ± 7.8 , women: 58.9%). CSF osteopontin and YKL-40 were significantly increased in the MCI group, whereas serum C-reactive protein and interleukin-6 were significantly higher (p < 0.001) in the NIC group compared with the MCI and HC groups. Stronger correlations between interleukin-1ß and inflammasome markers were observed in the serum of the MCI group. We confirmed specific inflammatory activation in the central nervous system and interleukin-1ß pathway upregulation in the serum of the MCI cohort.



Citation: Schmidt-Morgenroth, I.; Michaud, P.; Gasparini, F.; Avrameas, A. Central and Peripheral Inflammation in Mild Cognitive Impairment in the Context of Alzheimer's Disease. *Int. J. Mol. Sci.* 2023, 24, 10523. https://doi.org/ 10.3390/ijms241310523

Academic Editor: Dong-Gyu Jo

Received: 11 May 2023 Revised: 5 June 2023 Accepted: 20 June 2023 Published: 23 June 2023

CC () BY

Copyright: © 2023 by the authors. Licensee MDPI, Basel, Switzerland. This article is an open access article distributed under the terms and conditions of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) license (https:// creativecommons.org/licenses/by/ 4.0/). Keywords: neuroinflammation; mild cognitive impairment; biomarkers; interleukin-1ß; inflammasome

1. Introduction

Mild cognitive impairment (MCI) is a translational stage between normal aging and dementia and is defined by minor but abnormal cognitive decline. Symptoms include memory loss, trouble remembering events or words, and unpredictable behavioral changes [1]. The risk of developing MCI is strongly correlated with age and can evolve in various neurological diseases, including Alzheimer's disease (AD) [2,3]. Hence, MCI has been considered a preclinical stage of AD. Moreover, AD is the most common form of dementia in the world and its prevalence is expected to increase significantly in the coming years. Investigating biochemical factors involved in MCI could help identify patients at risk of AD progression [4]. AD is a major health challenge of the 21st century, as the relationship between biochemical hallmarks, such as amyloid plaques and neurofibrillary tangles, and disease onset and progression remain unclear. Thus, insufficient diagnosis limits appropriate care for patients who are often diagnosed when moderate-to-late onset symptoms start to impact them [5,6]. Additionally, the standard of care mainly includes symptomatic medications as clinical trials have failed to offer a great benefit-risk ratio for patients [7–10]. Big effort and investment are still needed to fill the gap for effective disease-modifying treatment in order to stop or reduce disease progression at an early stage.

Growing evidence, including on animal models, demonstrated that abnormal deposition of amyloids could trigger the activation of microglia and astrocytes and, therefore, the

MDF

release of inflammatory mediators [11–14]. In this context, inflammation has emerged as a new leading target in various diseases, including MCI and AD [15–17]. Nonetheless, a chronic immune response could lead to even greater neuronal damage and indirect toxic effect [18,19]. Focusing on neuroinflammation, circulating inflammatory biomarkers can help understand pathophysiological changes associated with the disease, taking place in the brain and the systemic circulation.

In recent years, the development of highly sensitive quantification technologies has allowed the field to broaden its research area to new potential targets for diagnosis or treatment. CSF collection alongside molecular imaging using positron emission tomography (PET) have been used as a reference to monitor amyloids and tau proteins, assuming it would reflect biochemical changes occurring in the central nervous system (CNS). CSF collection, although it has helped gain insight into diagnosis, especially at the early onset of the disease, remains a painful, invasive, and expensive method for patients [20]. Therefore, biomarker investigations were extended to blood biomarkers as they could help find a more effective, less invasive, and painless way to detect the disease [21]. In recent years, several blood and CSF candidates have been examined to be promising for AD diagnosis, including, non-exhaustively, neurodegenerative, brain damage, glial response, and astrocytic biomarkers [22].

Among promising candidates, soluble biomarkers associated with the CNS, mainly secreted by microglia and astrocytes, have been investigated for modulating the inflammatory response, including activation of proinflammatory cytokines production. Biomarkers have been sought to be involved in structural or functional roles of brain resident cells such as neuron and blood–brain barrier (BBB) support, cell migration and communication, and amyloid plaque clearance [23–26]. Glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), neurofilament light (NFL), and triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM-2) are examples of biomarkers that have been reported in AD, mainly for their biological functions in the CNS. However, to comprehend the origin of neuroinflammation, the focus has been expanded to soluble mediators from the blood. Cytokines of general inflammation, including interleukin (IL)-1 β , have also been correlated with AD and aging [13,26–31]. In addition to its role in general inflammation, IL-1 β plays a potential, but controversial, role in neuroidegenerative disease development as results remain inconsistent between studies, some supporting increased and some showing unaltered IL-1 β levels or expression in Alzheimer patients [27,32–35].

In the present study, we investigated if patients with mild cognitive impairment had a specific central or peripheral inflammatory signature reflecting the early onset of AD. We compared different soluble biomarkers in the CSF and serum of three populations, one MCI, one non-impaired control (NIC), which consisted of cognitively healthy individuals (mini-mental state examination score of 30) with osteoarthritis, and one healthy control (HC). Furthermore, we wanted to understand the systemic inflammation potential role in AD development and how it could be interconnected with neuroinflammation. Accordingly, we added biomarker measurements of systemic inflammation. To better understand the biological mechanism underlying IL-1 β production, we focused here on proteins involved in the NLRP3 (nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain (NOD), leucine-rich repeat, and pyrin domain-containing receptor protein 3) inflammasome pathway. Activation of this pathway promotes the production of cytokines including IL-1 β and IL-18 and is involved in pyroptosis, a form of programmed cell death [36]. In Alzheimer's disease, its activation has been highlighted to affect amyloid and tau deposition through microglia stimulation [37,38].

2. Results

The demographic and clinical characteristics are shown in Table 1. We selected 107 participants including 32 with MCI, 45 non-impaired control (NIC), and 30 healthy control (HC). Because CSF collection is only permitted for diseased patients, we selected patients with osteoarthritis, but cognitively unimpaired, as the CSF and serum biomarkers control. We then added a cohort of healthy control, as the peripheral inflammation biomarker control, with only serum available.

Table 1	. Study popu	lation dem	ographic an	nd clinical	characteristics.
---------	--------------	------------	-------------	-------------	------------------

	Total n = 107	HC n = 30	NIC n = 45	MCI n = 32	<i>p</i> -Value
Age, years	64.7 (7.8)	59.6 (6.1)	64.8 (6.5)	69.1 (8.3)	<0.0001
Sex (female), n (%)	63 (58.9)	15 (50)	28 (62.2)	20 (62.5)	0.0655
MMSE (0-30) *	26.4 (22-30)	-	30 (30–30)]	22 (21.75-24)	<0.0001
Comorbidities, n (%)					
Hypertension	12 (11.2)	-	2(4.4)	10 (31.3)	0.014
Ischemic heart disease	12 (11.2)	-	0 (0.0)	12 (37.5)	< 0.0001
Diabetes	2 (1.9)	-	0 (0.0)	2 (6.3)	0.0893
Concomitant disease, n (%)					
Knee arthritis	32 (29.9)	-	32 (71.1)	-	-
Disc herniation	11 (10.3)	-	11 (24.4)	-	<u>~</u>

* Median (1st quartile–3rd quartile). *p*-values < 0.05 are given in bold–italic entries. HC: healthy control, NIC: non-impaired control, MCI: mild cognitive impairment, MMSE: mini-mental state examination. Continuous variables are described as means (standard deviation (SD)). *p* values were calculated using *t*-test for continuous variables and Chi-square test for categorical variables.

Of the 107 included participants, the mean age was 64.7 (7.8) years, and the subjects were mainly women (58.9%). Patients with MCI were older than the NIC and HC subjects 69.1 (8.3) vs. 64.8 (6.5) and 59.6 (6.1), respectively. The difference in age was significantly different between the HC vs. NIC groups and the HC vs. MCI groups but not between the NIC and MCI groups. Most patients with MCI and NIC were women (62.5% and 62.2%, respectively), whereas the HC patients were equal in the number of men and women. A total of 68.8% of MCI patients had heart- or vascular-related concomitant disease (31.3% hypertension and 37.5% ischemic heart disease). Additionally, all NIC subjects suffered from osteoarthritis, being either knee arthritis or a disc herniation, 71.1% and 24.4%, respectively.

Overall, of the twenty-one different biomarkers measured in CSF, six had a very low detection rate or were not quantifiable at all, including IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-1Ra, IL-10, Caspase-1, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α as they were below the limits of detection.

In serum, of the twenty biomarkers tested, IL-1 α was not quantifiable in any cohort while pTau181 was below the limits of quantification in 53% of the healthy controls only (100% quantifiable in NIC and MCI cohorts).

2.1. Comparison of Alzheimer's Disease Biomarkers: Amyloid and Tau Proteins

First, we investigated the main AD hallmark biomarkers, namely, Aβ42 and Tau proteins, in all three cohorts and in all CSF and serum samples (Table 2). Those proteins are frequently, but not necessarily, assessed with quantitative methods or PET imaging in combination with cognitive evaluation as part of AD clinical diagnostic. We used the INNOTEST (IT) diagnostic test for amyloid β (A β) 42, whereas MSD S-plex was used for total Tau (tTau) and phosphorylated Tau (pTau) 181. Beforehand, we compared INNOTEST tTau with MSD S-plex tTau using the NIC CSF samples. To confirm the use of the MSD kit instead of INNOTEST tTau for the rest of the samples, we drew a linear regression and tested the correlation between the two kits: $R^2 = 89\%$ and the *p*-value < 0.0001 (Figure S1 from the Supplementary Materials).

	HC	NIC	MCI	NIC vs. MCI
Analyte –	n = 30	<i>n</i> = 45	<i>n</i> = 32	<i>p</i> -Value
CSF				
Aβ42 IT pg/mL	-	496.3 (235.6)	735.7 (285.1)	0.0002
tTau pg/mL	-	211.6 (235.3)	198.1 (186.8)	0.1263
pTau181 pg/mL	-	15.51 (8.149)	16.22 (12.95)	0.3872
Serum				
tTau pg/mL	10.01 (12.04)	17.10 (10.87)	13.93 (14.70)	0.0003 *
pTau181 pg/mL	-	1.238 (1.989)	0.9307 (1.371)	0.0173
AD cutoffs, n (%)				
4β42 < 556 pg/mL	-	28 (62%)	8 (25%)	0.0023
pTau181/AB42 ratio				
pTau181/Aβ42 ⁺	-	0.035	0.018	0.0008

* Overall *p*-value from Kruskal–Wallis test between HC, NIC, and MCI. [†] pTau/A β 42 ratio means were calculated using each individual ratio. No CSF available for the HC cohort. A β 42: amyloid β 42; tTau: total Tau; and pTau: phosphorylated tau. *p*-values < 0.05 are given in bold–italic entries.

Surprisingly, A β 42 CSF mean concentration was significantly higher in the MCI group than the NIC group (496.3 pg/mL vs. 735.7 pg/mL; *p* = 0.0002). tTau CSF mean concentration was not significantly different between the two groups: 211.6 pg/mL vs. 198.1 pg/mL for the NIC and MCI populations, respectively. Additionally, no significant difference was observed between the pTau181 CSF mean concentration between the NIC and MCI groups (15.5 pg/mL vs. 16.1 pg/mL, respectively).

Aβ42 and Tau play a critical role in the brain of AD patients, although little is known about their function in the periphery. Consequently, we investigated if serum tau levels would exemplify CSF levels. In the serum, tTau was significantly higher in the NIC cohort compared with the HC cohort (p = 0.0002), but not between the HC vs. MCI cohorts (p = 0.1561) and the NIC vs. MCI cohorts (p = 0.1124). pTau181 was significantly higher in the NIC cohort compared with the HC cohort as pTau181 serum concentration was not detectable for every sample, with only 47% of the samples having concentrations above the limit of quantification. Looking at tTau concentration in absolute values, MCI and NIC were not so different in both matrices and the concentration differences between both cohorts were approximatively the same in CSF and serum.

We applied the A β 42 CSF cutoff proposed by Hulstaert et al. with the same diagnostic kit, to evaluate if our MCI population was presenting an AD profile or predicting disease development [39]. At this stage, only 25% of MCI patients had positive Alzheimer hallmarks, whereas 62% of the NIC samples were positive. This implied that only one quarter of our MCI cohort would have been considered amyloid positive and potentially AD positive if the diagnosis had been conducted only based on the CSF protein assessment. On the other hand, 62% of the NIC cohort could be considered amyloid positive and potentially AD positive, although they were not affected by cognitive pathological symptoms. At this point, neither A β 42 nor tau proteins alone were reliable biomarkers to differentiate between the MCI and NIC cohorts.

Reinforcing that the use of soluble A β 42 and Tau or pTau levels alone as diagnostic biomarkers might not be sufficient, we calculated the pTau181/A β 42 ratio, as a study found a strong correlation between this ratio and A β 42 PET imaging [40]. It should be noted that A β 42 concentration was measured similarly to the one found in the published study; however, the method used to assess pTau181 was different in our case. Hence, this cutoff only provides information on how our populations identify in terms of MCI. The NIC and MCI ratio means were statistically significant between the two groups (p = 0.008) but both corresponded to the MCI cohort results published by Harten et al.

A β accumulation has been studied as the first driver of AD and as possibly causing inflammation and tauopathy [41]. To evaluate this causal link, we tested the correlations between CSF A β 42, tTau, and pTau181 in both cohorts (Table S1). In each group, only tTau and pTau181 correlated positively (MCI: r = 0.732, *p* < 0.0001; NIC: r = 0.521, *p* = 0.0013). This corroborates with total Tau measurements, which encompass all post-translational modifications, including phosphorylation.

Comparing the results between CSF and serum (Table S2), no significant correlation was observed in the MCI population between AD biomarkers. In the NIC cohort, comparing biomarkers in serum vs. CSF, pTau181 correlated positively (r = 0.563, p = 0.0007). Additionally, we observed a correlation between CSF tTau and serum pTau181 (r = 0.620, p < 0.0001).

Overall, comparing CSF AD hallmarks in MCI and NIC cohorts, only A β 42 was significantly increased in the MCI cohort compared with NIC, whereas CSF tTau and pTau181 levels remained similar. When we applied published cutoffs specific to MCI or AD signatures, they did not correspond with our population characteristics. The results suggest that more NIC individuals presented signature biochemical AD hallmarks than MIC patients. Furthermore, when correlating biomarker concentrations in both matrices, tau and pTau181 correlated positively between CSF and serum in the NIC cohort only and not in the MCI cohort, indicating potentially that blood biomarkers could not be used as CSF surrogates.

2.2. Neuroinflammation, Astrogliosis, and Microglia Activation Biomarkers in CSF and Serum

The role of brain resident cells, such as microglia and astrocytes, have been investigated in AD as they are important structural and functional supports to the CNS environment. As a result, the focus has been drawn to secreted mediators, assuming they would reflect CNS cell activation.

The quantified CNS soluble biomarkers are summarized in Table 3. In the CSF, osteopontin (OPN) and YKL-40 (also known as chiniase-3-like1 (CHI3L1)) were significantly increased in the MCI cohort compared with the NIC cohort (p < 0.0001 and p = 0.0165, respectively). For the rest of the biomarkers, mean concentrations were higher in the MCI cohort, although not significantly. Moreover, a greater heterogeneity was observed for all biomarkers in the MCI cohort.

Amelata	HC	NIC	MCI	HC vs. NIC	HC vs. MCI	NIC vs. MCI	Overall ⁺
Analyte	<i>n</i> = 30	<i>n</i> = 45	<i>n</i> = 32	<i>p</i> -Value	p-Value	<i>p</i> -Value	p-Value
CSF							
GFAP pg/mL	-	5737 (3396)	9189 (11,108)		21	0.1386	
NFL pg/mL	-	1164 (1685)	1639 (2086)	-	-	0.0723	-
OPN ng/mL	-	254.8 (119.9)	512.8 (318.0)	-	-	<0.0001	-
TIMP-1 ng/mL	-	53.36 (16.96)	63.90 (40.00)	-	-	0.5072	-
sTREM-2 ng/mL	-	14.16 (5.948)	18.05 (10.03)	-	-	0.1332	-
YKL-40 ng/mL	-	172.5 (75.31)	233.6 (123.6)	-	-	0.0165	-
Serum							
GFAP pg/mL	94.38 (39.56)	133.0 (84.99)	151.8 (132.1)	0.1209	0.0288	>0.9999	0.0272
NFL pg/mL	14.01 (8.115)	33.67 (29.70)	58.10 (106.5)	0.0001	0.2455	0.0699	0.0002
OPN ng/mL	41.57 (19.80)	93.07 (42.22)	51.53 (25.25)	<0.0001	0.3558	<0.0001	<0.0001
TIMP-1 ng/mL	111.1 (39.74)	230.6 (58.89)	225.4 (35.75)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	>0.9999	< 0.0001
sTREM-2 ng/mL	40.49 (19.42)	30.90 (12.31)	28.28 (11.85)	0.0584	0.0088	>0.9999	0.0086
YKL-40 ng/mL	67.05 (69.11)	156.2 (274.9)	66.73 (60.43)	0.0426	>0.9999	0.3484	0.0407

Table 3. Neuroinflammatory biomarkers.

⁺ Overall *p*-value from Kruskal–Wallis test between the three groups (HC, NIC, and MCI). No CSF was available for the HC cohort. GFAP: glial fibrillary acidic protein. NFL: neurofilament light; OPN: osteopontin; TIMP-1: tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 1; sTREM-2: soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2; and YKL-40: Chitinase-3-like 1 (CH13L1). *p*-values < 0.05 are given in bold–italic entries. In the serum, only OPN (p < 0.0001) was significantly increased in the NIC cohort compared with the MCI cohort. All other biomarkers were not significantly different between the NIC and MIC cohorts.

Between the MIC and HC cohorts, glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP) and tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 1 (TIMP-1) levels were both significantly increased in the MCI cohort (p < 0.01 and p < 0.05, respectively). Soluble triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2 (TREM-2) was the only biomarker significantly higher in the HC cohort compared with the MCI cohort (p < 0.05). Compared with the CSF, GFAP and neurofilament light (NFL) protein serum concentrations displayed higher variability in the MCI cohort.

We compared serum vs. CSF results for each biomarker to investigate the potential link between matrices (Table S3). In the MCI cohort, no biomarker had a significant correlation between the CSF and serum. In the NIC cohort, only NFL correlated positively (r = 0.650, p < 0.0001) between the two matrices.

To summarize, CSF biomarkers associated with microglia and astrocyte activation were increased in the MCI cohort compared with the NIC cohort, including significantly for OPN and YKL-40, two mediators secreted in the brain and associated with immune cell infiltration and recruitment. On the other hand, most biomarkers had similar serum concentrations between the MCI and NIC cohorts. There were no correlations between biomarker concentrations in the CSF and serum.

2.3. Systemic Inflammation Biomarkers

As it is easy to assume that CNS resident cells are activated during AD onset, we wanted to review the influence of the peripheral system and potentially its activation as well. Concentrations of systemic inflammatory biomarkers are compiled in Table 4. Globally, five biomarkers, C-reactive protein (CRP), IL-10, IL-6, monocyte chemoattractant protein 1 (MCP-1), and TNF α were increased in NIC serum. CRP serum mean concentration was significantly higher in the NIC cohort compared with the MCI cohort (12.9 mg/mL vs. 3.72 mg/mL, respectively) and the IL-6 serum mean concentration was significantly higher in the HC and NIC cohorts compared with the MCI cohort (7.81 pg/mL and 42.8 pg/mL vs. 3.1 pg/mL, respectively).

Table 4. Systemic inflammatory cytokines in serum.

A	HC	NIC	MCI	HC vs. NIC	HC vs. MCI	NIC vs. MCI	Overall
Analyte $n = 30$	<i>n</i> = 30	<i>n</i> = 45	<i>n</i> = 32	<i>p</i> -Value	<i>p</i> -Value	<i>p</i> -Value	p-Value
CRP ng/mL	3922 (3604)	12,856 (19798)	3722 (8060)	0.0816	0.0724	<0.0001	<0.0001
IL-10 pg/mL	2.190 (1.151)	6.094 (5.195)	3.456 (2.120)	<0.0001	0.0086	0.0295	< 0.0001
IL-6 pg/mL	7.807 (18.71)	42.76 (71.71)	3.162 (3.983)	0.4752	0.0066	< 0.0001	< 0.0001
IL-8 pg/mL	19.67 (19.65)	35.19 (37.69)	87.74 (164.6)	0.0054	< 0.0001	0.3771	<0.0001
IP-10 pg/mL	123.4 (75.34)	97.20 (85.05)	131.7 (79.53)	0.0238	>0.9999	0.0098	0.0037
MCP-1 pg/mL	207.1 (68.54)	536.1 (220.5)	389.6 (155.0)	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0171	<0.0001
TNFa fg/mL	602.7 (249.0)	1592 (648.5)	1235 (447.9)	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.2253	<0.0001

CRP: C-reactive protein; IP-10: interferon gamma-induced protein 10; MCP-1: monocyte chemoattractant protein 1; and TNF α : tumor necrosis factor α . *p*-values < 0.05 are given in bold–italic entries.

In the MCI cohort, IL-10, MCP-1, and TNF α serum levels were significantly increased compared with the HC cohort, whereas the only biomarker significantly increased in the MCI cohort vs. the NIC cohort was interferon gamma-induced protein 10 (IP-10) (131.7 pg/mL vs. 97.20 pg/mL; *p* < 0.01). Interestingly, IL-8 mean serum concentration was increased as well in the MCI cohort but not significantly (MCI: 87.74 pg/mL vs. NIC: 35.19 pg/mL; *p* = 0.3771).

The NIC cohort displayed a high peripheral inflammatory status, notably with CRP and IL-6 concentrations, which were respectively four and fourteen times higher compared with the MCI population. The MCI inflammatory status was elevated as well; although most biomarker concentrations were not as high as in the NIC cohort, they were still raised compared with the HC population.

2.4. Circulating Inflammatory Cytokines in the CNS

Circulating inflammatory mediators are mainly known for their central role in the peripheral system, and some, such as CRP, are routinely measured to evaluate the general inflammatory status of an individual. To explore the potential effect and origin of inflammatory cytokines, we assessed the same biomarkers in the CSF (Table 5). The tendency of most biomarkers was reversed in the CSF as all biomarkers were increased in the MCI cohort, although not significantly. This was particularly striking for CRP and IL-6 concentrations, as both were significantly lower in the MCI cohort serum compared with the NIC cohort; however, CSF was increased.

Table 5. Systemic inflammatory cytokines in CSF.

	NIC	MCI	NIC vs. MCI
Analyte	n = 45	<i>n</i> = 32	<i>p</i> -Value
CRP ng/mL	7.595 (11.18)	11.93 (17.76)	0.8531
IL-6 pg/mL	3. 541 (3.332)	11.63 (25.81)	0.0572
IL-8 pg/mL	41.36 (20.63)	132.8 (198.1)	0.0002
IP-10 pg/mL	131.4 (65.38)	199.6 (130.2)	0.0187
MCP-1 pg/mL	602.7 (232.4)	671.0 (324.5)	0.3126

IL-8 and IP-10 were the only two biomarkers significantly higher in the MCI cohort CSF compared with the NIC cohort (MCI: 132.8 pg/mL vs. NIC: 41.36 pg/mL, p < 0.001; MCI: 131.4 pg/mL vs. NIC: 199.6 pg/mL, p < 0.05, respectively). p-values < 0.05 are given in bold–italic entries.

Two biomarkers stood out and were significantly higher in the MCI cohort, first IL-8 (MCI: 132.8 pg/mL vs. NIC: 41.36 pg/mL; p < 0.001) and IP-10 (MCI: 199.6 pg/mL; NIC: 131.4 pg/mL; p < 0.05). Surprisingly, these two biomarkers were the only ones with higher serum concentrations in the MCI subjects as well (Figure 1).

To evaluate if there were any direct links between levels found in serum and CSF, especially for IL-8 and IP-10, we correlated the biomarkers in both matrices. These data are summarized in Table S4. First, comparing IL-8 and IP-10 concentrations in serum vs. CSF, there was no significant correlation in the MCI or NIC cohorts. This was the case for all inflammatory cytokines in the MCI cohort. Looking at the MCI cohort, IL-18 was the only biomarker that correlated positively between the two matrices (r = 0.6151, p < 0.0001).

We further compared all CSF vs. serum biomarkers together. In the MCI population, two significant correlations were found, IL-6 correlated positively with CRP and MCP-1 (r = 0.501, p = 0.0041, and r = 0.525, p = 0.0020, respectively). On the opposite, no significant results were observed in the MCI individuals.

Altogether, the results suggest that inflammatory status in the CNS is higher in the MCI cohort compared with the NIC cohort. There were no direct correlations between the biomarkers in serum and CSF, indicating that the link between the periphery and the CNS is not so straightforward. In fact, it is more likely that inflammatory mediators are independently secreted in both compartments.

2.5. IL-1 β and the Inflammasome Pathway

Similarly to the inflammatory cytokines assessed previously, IL-1 β has been studied for is central role in the inflammatory response. This interleukin is engaged in different pathways of the innate immunity. In this article, we wanted to focus specifically on the stimulation of IL-1 β via NLRP3 pathway activation. We compared IL-1 β and NLRP3 biomarkers in the CSF and serum (Table 6).



Figure 1. IL-8 and IP-10 scatter plots. Data bars are presented as mean (+/- standard error mean (SEM)). (a) IL-8 in CSF; NIC: 41.36 (3.075) pg/mL, MCI: 132.8 (35.02) pg/mL. (b) IP-10 in CSF; NIC: 131.4 (9.746) pg/mL, MCI: 199.6 (23.02) pg/mL. (c) IL-8 in serum; NIC: 35.19 (5.619) pg/mL, MCI 87.74 (29.57) pg/mL, HC: 19.67 (3.587) pg/mL. (d) IP-10 in serum; NIC: 97.20 (12.68) pg/mL, MCI: 131.7 (14.06) pg/mL, HC: 123.4 (13.76) pg/mL. *: *p*-value < 0.05; **: *p*-value < 0.01; ***: *p*-value < 0.001;

Table 6. IL-1 β and NLRP3 associated biomarkers.

	HC	NIC	MCI	HC vs. NIC	HC vs. MCI	NIC vs. MCI	Overall
Analyte	<i>n</i> = 30	<i>n</i> = 45	<i>n</i> = 32	p-Value	p-Value	<i>p</i> -Value	p-Value
CSF							
ASC pg/mL	-	45.20 (15.75)	48.83 (26.97)	-	-	0.9243	-
IL-18 pg/mL	-	2.622 (1.830)	3.325 (2.997)	-	-	0.9897	-
Serum							
ASC pg/mL	396.3 (426.2)	550.0 (199.3)	535.3 (247.8)	< 0.0001	0.0002	>0.9999	< 0.0001
Caspase-1 pg/mL	0.9008 (1.049)	3.626 (1.453)	4.151 (2.716)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	>0.9999	< 0.0001
IL-1 β fg/mL	90.74 (157.6)	211.7 (161.5)	345.2 (306.9)	< 0.0001	< 0.0001	0.1801	< 0.0001
IL-1Ra pg/mL	272.3 (164.4)	833.0 (443.2)	684.3 (967.3)	0.0005	0.0177	0.2925	0.0007
IL-18 pg/mL	222.6 (100.1)	223.7 (154.5)	234.0 (114.3)	>0.9999	>0.9999	0.4652	0.3580

No CSF was available for the HC cohort. ASC: apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD; IL-1Ra: interleukin-1 receptor antagonist. *p*-values < 0.05 are given in bold–italic entries.

Mechanistically, ASC (apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD) is the adaptor recruited by the NRLP3 sensor, which once assembled, will recruit and activate Caspase-1. Altogether, this complex becomes active and will, in part, cleave pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18 into their active forms. In addition to being a downstream biomarker of the

8 of 19

NLRP3 pathway, IL-1 β acts as an upstream primer as well. Binding of IL-1 β to its receptor, IL-1R1, leads to upregulation of the NLRP3 component [36].

Measuring components and biomarkers associated with the pathway, ASC and IL-18, the only markers quantifiable in CSF, were not significantly different in the NIC and MCI cohorts (NIC: 45.20 pg/mL, MCI: 48.83 pg/mL, and NIC: 2.622 pg/mL; MCI: 3.325 pg/mL, respectively).

Similarly, in serum, no significant difference was observed for any biomarker between the NIC and MCI cohorts. Additionally, serum Caspase-1 and IL-1 β had higher levels in the MCI cohort than the NIC cohort but not significantly (Figure 2). Yet all NRLP3 biomarkers were significantly increased in both the NIC and MCI cohorts compared with the HC cohort. Only the IL-18 levels were similar in the three cohorts. Plus, serum Caspase-1, IL-1 β , and IL-1Ra had greater heterogeneity in the MCI cohort compared with the other cohorts.



Figure 2. Inflammasome pathway biomarkers. ASC, caspase-1 and IL- β scatter plot. Data are presented as mean (+/–SEM). (a) Serum ASC; NIC: 550.0 (29.71) fg/mL, MCI: 535.3 (43.81) fg/mL, and HC: 396.3 (77.82) fg/mL. (b) Serum caspase-1; NIC: 3.626 (0.2165) pg/mL, MCI: 4.151 (0.4801) pg/mL, and HC: 0.9008 (0.1915) pg/mL. (c) Serum IL-1 β ; NIC: 211.7 (24.93) fg/mL, MIC 345.2 (54.26) fg/mL, and HC: 90.74 (31.52) fg/mL. ***: *p*-value < 0.001; ****: *p*-value < 0.0001.

Comparing correlations between the NLRP3 biomarkers in serum, r-values obtained via the Spearman test were all \geq 0.50 and much higher in the MCI cohort (Figure 3, Table S6). Likewise, in this cohort, all biomarkers correlated positively with each other with all *p*-values < 0.0001. In the NIC cohort, only ASC correlated positively with caspase-1 (r = 0.78; *p* < 0.0001). A similar result was observed in the HC cohort, where only ASC and caspase-1 had a positive correlation (r = 0.50; *p* < 0.01).

ASC and caspase-1 are recruited at the very beginning of the cascade, which is demonstrated by the correlations in all three cohorts. However, IL-1 β and IL-1Ra are upstream and downstream biomarkers and their link with the NLRP3 complex is not so direct. This was reflected by comparable correlations between the NIC and HC cohorts, whereas it was much stronger in the MCI population. Hence, our results suggest a specific overexpression of the inflammasome pathway in the periphery of MCI patients. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 2023, 24, 10523 10 of 19 1Ra 1Ra 18 -18 1.0 1.0 0.43 0.26 0.28 0.20 ASC ASC 1.00 ASC 1 00 0.97 0.5 0.5 0.5 Caspase-1 0.50 0.37 0.26 Caspase-1 1.00 0.35 0.30 0.97 1.00 Caspase-IL-16 0.43 0.35 IL-1B 0.26 0.37 0.21 1.00 0.42 IL-16 1.00 -0.5 -0.5 0.26 IL-1Ra 0.20 0.30 0.42 1.00 1.00 0.28 0.21 IL-1Ra IL-1Ra 1.0 -10 1.0 (a) (b) (c)

Figure 3. Correlation between NLRP3 serum biomarkers heatmap. Spearman r-value. (a) HC cohort. (b) NIC cohort. (c) MCI cohort. The *p*-value of significance used was < 0.05. In addition, the r-value was required to be ≥ 0.50 or ≤ -0.50 in order to be considered statistically significant.

To explore the activation of the pathway in the CNS compartment, we tested correlations between ASC and IL-18, as these two biomarkers are the only ones quantifiable in CSF. In the MCI cohort, there was no significant correlation between the matrix for each biomarker (Table S5). In the NIC population, IL-18 correlated positively in serum vs. CSF (IL-18: r = 0.575, *p* < 0.0001). Hence, the ASC level in the serum is not linked with the ASC level in CSF, and potentially the inflammasome could be activated independently by CNS-secreted cytokines.

We added serum inflammatory biomarkers (IL-18, IL-6, CRP, and TNF α) to compare with the serum NRLP3-related biomarkers (Figure 4). Again, in serum, of all three cohorts, stronger correlations were observed in the MCI cohort, with all *p*-values < 0.05, except for caspase-1 vs. TNF α . Interestingly, in the NIC cohort, the correlation between CRP and IL-6 was stronger compared with the MCI and HC cohorts (NIC: r = 0.81, MCI: r = 0.64, and HC: r = 0.39). This confirmed the high peripheral inflammatory status in the NIC cohort, supported by the increased levels obtained for both biomarkers.



Figure 4. Correlation between NLRP3 and systemic inflammation serum biomarkers heatmap. Spearman r-value. (**a**) HC cohort, (**b**) NIC cohort, and (**c**) MCI cohort.

Correlations between the NLRP3 biomarkers were comparable between the NIC and HC cohorts, whereas it was much stronger in the MCI population. Our results suggest a specific activation of the inflammasome pathway in the periphery of MCI patients.

79

2.6. Relationship between Inflammatory Biomarkers and AD Hallmarks

Analyzing the NIC and MCI cohorts' peripheral and central inflammatory statuses, it appeared that CNS inflammation was more specific to AD. Subsequently, we explored interactions between the AD signature and inflammatory processes. We tested the relationships between the hallmark biomarkers (A β 42, tTau, and pTau181 CSF levels) with all assessed mediators cited above.

Despite previous evidence supporting that peripheral and central inflammatory responses were occurring independently, we first correlated AD biomarkers with all mediator results obtained in serum. No significant results were observed in both cohorts, confirming our first hypothesis.

Then, we compared AD hallmarks with neuroinflammation, astrogliosis, and microglia activation biomarkers. The Rr-value results are represented as a heatmap in Figure 5. First, we noticed that there were no correlations between Aβ42 and any markers, underlining its potential limitation in AD diagnosis. On the other hand, we found specific pTau181 correlations in the MCI cohort. The results demonstrated significant correlations between pTau181 and astrocytic and microglial biomarkers, including mediators involved in plaque clearance (OPN, TIMP-1, and sTREM-2). Additionally, pTau181 correlated with the inflammasome biomarker ASC. tTau proteins correlated as well with specific CNS biomarkers in the MCI cohort (GFAP, NFL, and sTREM-2) and the NIC cohort (OPN, TIMP-2, and YKL-40).





To summarize, our results displayed no link between AD hallmarks and peripheral mediators. However, we found a specific pTau181 correlation with central nervous system and inflammasome-related biomarkers in the MCI cohort.

3. Discussion

In the present study, we assessed a set of various serum and CSF biomarkers, including AD hallmarks and central nervous system and peripheral system inflammatory mediators,

in a cohort of 30 healthy control, 45 non-impaired control, and 30 mild cognitively impaired patients. Our results confirmed specific activation of inflammatory processes in the brain of the MCI cohort. Additionally, the presence of systemic biomarkers in the CSF of the MCI population could give an indication of blood–brain barrier (BBB) permeability. Finally, IL-1β was upregulated in MCI serum and correlated with NLRP3 activation biomarkers.

First, comparing the AD hallmarks in the MCI and NIC cohorts, we were not able to discriminate between the NIC and MCI patients. AB42 CSF levels in the MCI cohort were comparable to published data in similar populations and lower in the NIC subjects compared with the MCI population [39,42-44]. Nonetheless, both populations had higher Aβ42 CSF levels compared with a demented cohort. The MCI cohort patients are at an early stage of dementia and not AD yet; as a result, it is not surprising that the values in this cohort are higher than mild AD. The cutoffs found in published studies were mainly determined based on AD cohorts; hence, it is difficult to apply them to the MCI cohort, but they can provide clues regarding patients with early AD patterns. Low levels of CSF Aβ42 have been associated with a cognitively normal aged population in addition to being a marker of dementia in AD [45]. Studies demonstrated that postmortem imaging of amyloid depositions did not necessarily correlate with dementia [46]. Furthermore, soluble Aβ42 levels only provide a small clue to the amount of amyloid degradation at a certain timepoint and do not reflect the plaque deposition process. Considering our results, the low A β 42 levels found in the NIC cohort might not be associated with pathological Aß deposition, but rather that the levels were too low to allow aggregation in the brain. In addition, the process responsible for plaque clearance might be upregulated in response to the high inflammatory status of the patients. Indeed, Aß accumulation in Alzheimer patients has been linked to an imbalance between AB production and clearance. A study demonstrated that this imbalance is caused by an impaired clearance rate but not by an increased amyloid production [47]. On the opposite, soluble Aβ42 levels in the MCI cohort might reflect an early stage of pre-aggregates. As patients are at the beginning of the disease, the Aß clearance mechanism could start to gradually slow down and AB to slowly and abnormally accumulate before aggregating in the brain. Hence, the first pathological symptoms appear at this stage.

The CSF and serum levels of tTau and pTau181 were not significantly different between the MCI and NIC populations either, but they were significantly higher in serum compared with the HC subjects. Like the A β 42 results, this could be explained by the fact that the samples were from patients with early onset of disease and that tTau and pTau have also been observed in a normal aging population. Nevertheless, the pTau181/A β 42 ratio matched with the one found in a published study, confirming that our MCI cohort corresponded to a pre-dementia stage of the disease [40]. The ratio was significantly higher in the NIC cohort compared with the MIC cohort but remained lower than a demented population. Looking strictly at AD hallmark concentrations, both Tau and A β 42 levels were not sensitive enough, alone or in combination, to diagnose our MCI population. Our results suggest that the NIC population might display more biochemical AD features than the MCI cohort. This highlights a potential lack of specificity for these biomarkers, as amyloidosis and tauopathy are not limited to AD. Moreover, A β 42 did not correlate with inflammatory cytokines.

AD has been described as a cascade of several biochemical mechanisms [48,49]. First, the amyloid plaques start to accumulate abnormally in the brain, triggering an inflammatory response that will chronically exacerbate amyloid deposition and neurotoxicity. This will be followed by the production and hyperphosphorylation of tau proteins generating neurofibrillary tangles. All three mechanisms together are then responsible for altering neuronal transmission in the brain, which results in cognitive decline. Consequently, it is the combination of amyloids, inflammation, and tau proteins together that is responsible for cognitive impairment. As our patients have MCI based on cognitive tests and potentially early AD onset, the stage of the disease could correspond to the transition between amyloid aggregation and inflammatory response activation. Accordingly, the tauopathy might not

be settled at this time. Therefore, tau levels are not yet significantly increased in the MCI cohort compared with the NIC cohort. Furthermore, this highlights a limitation of our study as we are lacking healthy CSF to compare with. Unfortunately, while it is possible to have access to healthy serum, CSF collection is limited to diseased patients only.

In addition, although AD hallmarks could not differentiate between the MCI and the NIC cohorts at this stage, all CNS inflammatory biomarkers, such as the astrogliosis and neuronal damage (GFAP and NFL) were increased in the CSF of the MCI cohort, including significantly for OPN and YKL-40, confirming published results [23,26,28,31,50,51]. More surprisingly, this was not reflected in the serum, where levels were either comparable or increased in the NIC cohort. Given the fact that our NIC patients suffer from osteoarthritis, this cohort can be used as a control for the inflammatory state in systemic circulation. This was confirmed by looking at the blood inflammatory biomarkers. Serum IL-6 and CRP levels were significantly higher in the NIC cohort, supporting published evidence on inflammatory activation in knee arthritis and disc herniation [52,53]. Similarly, IL-1 β , IL-8, and TNF α serum levels have been associated with osteoarthritis (OA) [54]. This was demonstrated by our results as concentrations of these biomarkers were comparable in the MCI and NIC cohorts and both significantly increased compared with the HC cohort. Moreover, these results illustrate that peripheral inflammatory biomarkers are hardly specific to AD. Several factors can influence the inflammatory response and activate the production of cytokines independently or in addition to the disease. Furthermore, MCI and AD are age-related diseases and, therefore, the risk of associated inflammatory conditions are exacerbated.

On the other hand, all inflammatory biomarkers tested in CSF where higher in the MCI cohort, with IL-8 and IP-10 levels significantly increased. Altogether, our results support that, in the brain, inflammatory biomarkers are specific to MCI and dementia. Hence, if blood biomarkers could greatly facilitate AD diagnosis, this would require finding a highly specific inflammatory pathway. Evidence from our study suggests that CSF inflammatory biomarkers are more reliable for this neurological disorder. Moreover, the use of blood biomarkers as an appropriate surrogate to CSF remains challenging. Indeed, in our study, there was no significant correlation between CSF and serum for CNS and inflammatory biomarkers in the MCI cohort, whereas some correlations were observed in the NIC cohort. Published data in peri-operative neurocognitive disorder in the context of delirium have also reported unrelated inflammatory cytokines in CSF and serum, suggesting that the CNS inflammatory response might be regulated separately from the peripheral one [55,56]. This could indicate that cytokines may be released by several cell types present in the periphery and in the brain. Considering that two different inflammatory processes are ongoing, determining their time-related interactions could help understand disease onset and progression. Whether these two processes are completely separated or interdependent remains to be investigated. Evidence from the literature supports the role of blood-brain permeability to explain how inflammatory processes from the periphery and CNS are related [57-59]. Blood-brain barrier disruption has been investigated in neurodegenerative disease to amplify CNS inflammation via infiltrating cytokines and monocytes [60-62]. Mediators from the periphery, once they cross the BBB, might trigger and activate infiltrated monocytes and astroglia [63]. Looking at our biomarkers, CRP plays a control role as the only blood-borne mediator. This protein is produced in response to innate immune cytokines IL-6 and TNFα and is routinely measured in clinical practice as a systemic inflammation biomarker. High CRP blood levels have been associated with neurological disease and depression, but little is known about the relationship between CSF and blood levels [27,64]. In our study, this was particularly striking for CRP, as the MCI cohort had a low serum CRP level, but higher CRP CSF levels compared with the NIC cohort. The same was observed with IL-6, which can be considered a general inflammation marker similar to CRP. Hence, this could reflect potential BBB breakdowns or permeability changes allowing proteins to cross into the CNS. Additionally, IL-8, IP-10, and MCP-1, which are both significantly increased in MCI, have been highlighted to play a role in monocyte infiltration

and BBB permeability [31,63,65–67]. Indeed, these cytokines can induce chemotaxis of immune cells, and activation and recruitment of microglia to inflammatory sites [68–70].

Finally, regarding the IL-1 β results, only serum concentration was measurable in our samples as concentrations remained too low to be quantified in CSF. IL-1ß concentration was significantly higher in the MCI patients compared with the HC cohort. This difference was also observed in the MCI vs. NIC patients, although not significantly. Additionally, all NLRP3 biomarkers (ASC, caspase-1, and IL-18) correlated positively and significantly with each other and with IL-1 β in the MCI population compared with the HC and NIC cohorts. This confirmed the role of the inflammasome pathway and upregulation of IL-1ß in pre-dementia patients [38]. An animal model study also demonstrated the potential role of pathological tau to activate IL-1ß production via the NLRP3 pathway [71]. Nevertheless, further investigation is needed to comprehend the inflammasome pathway impact and role in the brain. Unfortunately, CSF levels were too low to be detected for most biomarkers of the NRLP3 cascade except for ASC and IL-18, preventing us from drawing any conclusions. However, if protein quantification remains limited in CSF, such as for caspase-1 and IL-1β, we cannot exclude their potential role in central nervous system inflammation. Indeed, focusing on ASC, we observed no correlation between CSF vs. serum in the MCI cohort, suggesting a different origin in the periphery and in the CNS of MCI subjects. Moreover, the results from our study illustrated that ASC correlated significantly with the AD pTau181 hallmark for MCI patients. Moreover, a strong correlation was found in the MCI CSF between ASC and TREM-2, which might indicate activation of the inflammasome pathway through microglia in the brain. Hopefully, rapid development and enhancement of ultrasensitive quantification methods in the coming years will confirm the role of inflammasome in the CNS.

Overall, we observed a higher variability for most biomarkers in the MCI cohort. This increased heterogeneity can be explained by the fact that MCI encompasses a variety of patients at different stages of an evolving disease. Soluble biomarkers only provide us with a glimpse of all the inflammatory processes involved at a given moment of the disorder setting.

4. Materials and Methods

4.1. Participants

MIC and NIC prospective samples were acquired from the National Bioservice LLC (NBS, Saint Petersburg, Russia). For the MCI population, patients were required to complete a mini-mental state examination with a total score of 20 to 30, and biochemical measurements of amyloid-40, amyloid-42, Tau, and pTau were conducted via NBS (using MAGPIX Cat. No. HNABTMAG-68K, Merck Millipore, Burlington, VT, USA). Additionally, to be included, a diagnosis of MCI due to AD (stage 2–3) or mild AD based on the National Institute on Aging and Alzheimer's Association (NIA-AA) criteria and at least a 6-month decline in cognitive function documented in the medical record was required. Patients had to be \geq 45 years and \leq 90 years. For the NIC population, patients completed a mini-mental state examination with a total score \geq 29. Furthermore, to be included, patients could not suffer from a chronic neurodegenerative disorder or be older than 55 years old. Associated data, such as collection date, age, gender, ethnicity, comorbidities, and treatment, were acquired for both groups.

HC serum was acquired from the commercial vendor BioreclamationIVT LLC (BIOIVT, Westbury, NY, USA). Patients had to be \geq 50 years to age match with the MCI and NIC groups with no comorbidities and/or treatment to be included in the study. Associated data were acquired such as collection date, age, gender, and ethnicity.

4.2. Ethical Consent

Written informed consent was obtained for all participants respecting the Declaration of Helsinki and applicable local regulations.

4.3. Sample Collection

Blood sera were collected into an SST tube (8.5 mL). After collection, the blood samples sat for 30 min to 1 h to allow blood clots to fully form. Then, blood samples were centrifuged at 2000 rcf for 10 min at room temperature. Sera were aliquoted in 2 mL cryovials and put in a freezer at -80 °C before further analysis.

CSF was collected via lumbar puncture in a 15 mL Falcon tube. To remove blood contamination, samples were centrifuged at 300 rcf for 7 min at +4 °C. The CSF was aliquoted in 2 mL cryovials. An additional 200 μ L was aliquoted in a cryovial for MCI individuals and used for A β 40, A β 42, Tau, and pTau testing by the vendor. Aliquots were placed in a freezer at -80 °C before further analysis.

4.4. CSF and Serum Analyses

Absolute quantification of proteins was obtained using immunoassays with different commercially available kits. Alzheimer's disease hallmarks were assessed using IN-NOTEST for A β 42 and tTau (Cat. No. 81576 and Cat. No. 81572 respectively, FUJIREBIO, Tokyo, Japan) and MSD S-plex for tTau and pTau181 (Cat. No. K151AGPS and Cat. No. K151AGMS respectively, Mesoscale Discovery, Rockville, MD, USA). ASC, caspase-1, IL-10, IL-18, IL-1 α , IL-6, IL-8, IP-10, MCP-1, OPN, TIMP-1, sTREM-2, and YKL-40 were measured using custom simple-plex kits from Protein Simple (San Jose, TX, USA). GFAP and NFL were assessed with Simoa technology using Neurology 2-plex B (Cat. No. 103520, Quanterix, Billerica, MA, USA). CRP was detected using the DuoSet Human CRP kit (Cat. No DY1707, R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA). IL-1 β and TNF α were quantified with MSD S-plex kits (Cat. No. K151ADSS and Cat. No. K15396S, respectively). Immunoassays were performed on serum and CSF in duplicates using the manufacturer's instructions. The samples were randomized on the plates and per run. A new aliquot was used for each run to avoid thaw–freeze cycles.

The difference in sample size throughout the study is due to the removal of protein concentrations with a concentration coefficient variation of >30%. Additionally, we excluded CSF and serum protein with a low detection rate (<60%). Our final statistical analyses included 15 proteins that were detected in >60% of CSF and 19 proteins detected in >60% of serum. When the detection rate was >60%, the samples with concentrations below the lowest standard of the calibration curve were included and calculated according to the following formula: calculated concentration = (lower limit of detection)/2 × sample dilution factor.

4.5. Statistical Analysis

Data obtained via immunoassays were analyzed with Prism version 9.5.1 (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA) and TIBCO Spotfire version 11.4 (TIBCO, Palo Alto, CA, USA).

Study population characteristics (sex, MMSE score, comorbidities, and concomitant disease) were compared using the chi-square test. A β 42 cutoff comparison was performed with the Fisher exact test.

The normality of the data was tested using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov test. Two-group comparisons were performed using the Welsch *t*-test. Multiple group comparisons were conducted using one way ANOVA followed by the Tukey test. For variables following a non-Gaussian distribution, comparisons were made using the Mann–Whitney *t*-test (two group) or the Kruskal–Wallis test (multiple group) followed by Dunn's pairwise comparison.

In-group biomarker correlations were performed with the Spearman correlation test. The *p*-value of significance used was < 0.05. In addition to the *p*-value, we fixed an arbitrary r-value cutoff of ± 0.50 and only considered correlations with $r \ge 0.50$ or ≤ -0.50 as statistically significant.

Supplementary Materials: The supporting information can be downloaded at: https://www.mdpi.com/article/10.3390/ijms241310523/s1.

Author Contributions: Conceptualization, A.A., F.G. and I.S.-M.; validation, A.A. and I.S.-M.; formal analysis, I.S.-M.; investigation, I.S.-M.; resources, A.A.; data curation, I.S.-M.; writing—original draft preparation, I.S.-M.; writing—review and editing, A.A., F.G. and P.M.; visualization, I.S.-M.; supervision, A.A. and P.M.; project administration, A.A. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding: This research was conducted internally at Novartis Pharma AG and received no external funding.

Institutional Review Board Statement: The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of Arte Med Assistance, LLC (NBS_ICF_5 RU approved on 21 August 2019), and the BIOIVT institutional review board (protocol number 2010-017 approved on 8 December 2019).

Informed Consent Statement: Informed consent was obtained from all subjects involved in the study.

Data Availability Statement: The data presented in this study are available upon reasonable request from the corresponding author. The data are not publicly available due to a privacy policy.

Acknowledgments: We would like to thank Anita Auger Sarrazin and Sabine Lennarz for their inputs and technical expertise on biomarkers and Alessandra Vitaliti for her support, allowing this study to come to light.

Conflicts of Interest: Authors A.A., F.G., and I.S.M.: current full-time employees of and hold company stocks or stock options at Novartis Pharma AG. P.M.: none.

References

- Vega, J.N.; Newhouse, P.A. Mild Cognitive Impairment: Diagnosis, Longitudinal Course, and Emerging Treatments. Curr. Psychiatry Rep. 2014, 16, 490. [CrossRef]
- Mitchell, A.J.; Shiri-Feshki, M. Rate of Progression of Mild Cognitive Impairment to Dementia—Meta-Analysis of 41 Robust Inception Cohort Studies. Acta Psychiatr. Scand. 2009, 119, 252–265. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Ge, X.Y.; Cui, K.; Liu, L.; Qin, Y.; Cui, J.; Han, H.J.; Luo, Y.H.; Yu, H.M. Screening and Predicting Progression from High-Risk Mild Cognitive Impairment to Alzheimer's Disease. Sci. Rep. 2021, 11, 1–10. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 4. World Alzheimer Report 2021: Journey through the Diagnosis of Dementia; Alzheimer's Disease International: Chicago, IL, USA, 2021.
- Winblad, B.; Amouyel, P.; Andrieu, S.; Ballard, C.; Brayne, C.; Brodaty, H.; Cedazo-Minguez, A.; Dubois, B.; Edvardsson, D.; Feldman, H.; et al. Defeating Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias: A Priority for European Science and Society. *Lancet Neurol.* 2016, *15*, 455–532. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 6. Alzheimer's Association. Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures. Alzheimer's Dement. 2018, 14, 367-429. [CrossRef]
- Breijyeh, Z.; Karaman, R. Comprehensive Review on Alzheimer's Disease: Causes and Treatment. *Molecules* 2020, 25, 5789. [CrossRef]
- Cummings, J.L.; Tong, G.; Ballard, C. Treatment Combinations for Alzheimer's Disease: Current and Future Pharmacotherapy Options. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 2019, 67, 779. [CrossRef]
- Cummings, J.L.; Morstorf, T.; Zhong, K. Alzheimer's Disease Drug-Development Pipeline: Few Candidates, Frequent Failures. Alzheimers Res. Ther. 2014, 6, 37. [CrossRef]
- Mullane, K.; Williams, M. Alzheimer's Disease (AD) Therapeutics—1: Repeated Clinical Failures Continue to Question the Amyloid Hypothesis of AD and the Current Understanding of AD Causality. *Biochem. Pharmacol.* 2018, 158, 359–375. [CrossRef]
- Heneka, M.T.; O'Banion, M.K.; Terwel, D.; Kummer, M.P. Neuroinflammatory Processes in Alzheimer's Disease. J. Neural Transm. 2010, 117, 919–947. [CrossRef]
- Heneka, M.T.; O'Banion, M.K. Inflammatory Processes in Alzheimer's Disease. J. Neuroimmunol. 2007, 184, 69–91. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 13. Liu, C.; Cui, G.; Zhu, M.; Kang, X.; Guo, H. Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's Disease: Chemokines Produced by Astrocytes and Chemokine Receptors. Int. J. Clin. Exp. Pathol. 2014, 7, 8342.
- 14. Zaheer, S.; Thangavel, R.; Wu, Y.; Khan, M.M.; Kempuraj, D.; Zaheer, A. Enhanced Expression of Glia Maturation Factor Correlates with Glial Activation in the Brain of Triple Transgenic Alzheimer's Disease Mice. *Neurochem. Res.* **2013**, *38*, 218. [CrossRef]
- Akiyama, H.; Barger, S.; Barnum, S.; Bradt, B.; Bauer, J.; Cole, G.M.; Cooper, N.R.; Eikelenboom, P.; Emmerling, M.; Fiebich, B.L.; et al. Inflammation and Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurobiol. Aging* 2000, 21, 383. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 16. Hansson, O. Biomarkers for Neurodegenerative Diseases. Nat. Med. 2021, 27, 954–963. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Aisen, P.S.; Davis, K.L. Inflammatory Mechanisms in Alzheimer's Disease: Implications for Therapy. Am. J. Psychiatry 2006, 151, 1105–1113. [CrossRef]
- Liddelow, S.A.; Guttenplan, K.A.; Clarke, L.E.; Bennett, F.C.; Bohlen, C.J.; Schirmer, L.; Bennett, M.L.; Münch, A.E.; Chung, W.S.; Peterson, T.C.; et al. Neurotoxic Reactive Astrocytes Are Induced by Activated Microglia. *Nature* 2017, 541, 481. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Colonna, M.; Butovsky, O. Microglia Function in the Central Nervous System During Health and Neurodegeneration. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 2017, 35, 441–468. [CrossRef]
- Jack, C.R.; Albert, M.S.; Knopman, D.S.; McKhann, G.M.; Sperling, R.A.; Carrillo, M.C.; Thies, B.; Phelps, C.H. Introduction to the Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association Workgroups on Diagnostic Guidelines for Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimer's Dement.* 2011, 7, 257–262. [CrossRef]
- Varesi, A.; Carrara, A.; Pires, V.G.; Floris, V.; Pierella, E.; Savioli, G.; Prasad, S.; Esposito, C.; Ricevuti, G.; Chirumbolo, S.; et al. Blood-Based Biomarkers for Alzheimer's Disease Diagnosis and Progression: An Overview. *Cells* 2022, *11*, 1367. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Olsson, B.; Lautner, R.; Andreasson, U.; Öhrfelt, A.; Portelius, E.; Bjerke, M.; Hölttä, M.; Rosén, C.; Olsson, C.; Strobel, G.; et al. CSF and Blood Biomarkers for the Diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Lancet Neurol.* 2016, 15, 673–684. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 23. Mattsson, N.; Cullen, N.C.; Andreasson, U.; Zetterberg, H.; Blennow, K. Association Between Longitudinal Plasma Neurofilament Light and Neurodegeneration in Patients With Alzheimer Disease. *JAMA Neurol.* **2019**, *76*, 791. [CrossRef]
- Weston, P.S.J.; Poole, T.; Ryan, N.S.; Nair, A.; Liang, Y.; Macpherson, K.; Druyeh, R.; Malone, I.B.; Ahsan, R.L.; Pemberton, H.; et al. Serum Neurofilament Light in Familial Alzheimer Disease: A Marker of Early Neurodegeneration. *Neurology* 2017, *89*, 2167. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Preische, O.; Schultz, S.A.; Apel, A.; Kuhle, J.; Kaeser, S.A.; Barro, C.; Gräber, S.; Kuder-Buletta, E.; LaFougere, C.; Laske, C.; et al. Serum Neurofilament Dynamics Predicts Neurodegeneration and Clinical Progression in Presymptomatic Alzheimer's Disease. *Nat. Med.* 2019, 25, 277. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Milà-Alomà, M.; Salvadó, G.; Gispert, J.D.; Vilor-Tejedor, N.; Grau-Rivera, O.; Sala-Vila, A.; Sánchez-Benavides, G.; Arenaza-Urquijo, E.M.; Crous-Bou, M.; González-de-Echávarri, J.M.; et al. Amyloid Beta, Tau, Synaptic, Neurodegeneration, and Glial Biomarkers in the Preclinical Stage of the Alzheimer's Continuum. *Alzheimer's Dement.* 2020, 16, 1358. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 27. Ng, A.; Tam, W.W.; Zhang, M.W.; Ho, C.S.; Husain, S.F.; McIntyre, R.S.; Ho, R.C. IL-1β, IL-6, TNF- α and CRP in Elderly Patients with Depression or Alzheimer's Disease: Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Sci. Rep.* **2018**, *8*, 12050. [CrossRef]
- Van Hulle, C.; Jonaitis, E.M.; Betthauser, T.J.; Batrla, R.; Wild, N.; Kollmorgen, G.; Andreasson, U.; Okonkwo, O.; Bendlin, B.B.; Asthana, S.; et al. An Examination of a Novel Multipanel of CSF Biomarkers in the Alzheimer's Disease Clinical and Pathological Continuum. *Alzheimer's Dement.* 2021, 17, 431. [CrossRef]
- Lee, W.J.; Liao, Y.C.; Wang, Y.F.; Lin, I.F.; Wang, S.J.; Fuh, J.L. Plasma MCP-1 and Cognitive Decline in Patients with Alzheimer's Disease and Mild Cognitive Impairment: A Two-Year Follow-up Study. *Sci. Rep.* 2018, *8*, 1–8. [CrossRef]
- 30. Hu, W.T.; Howell, J.C.; Ozturk, T.; Gangishetti, U.; Kollhoff, A.L.; Hatcher-Martin, J.M.; Anderson, A.M.; Tyor, W.R. CSF Cytokines in Aging, Multiple Sclerosis, and Dementia. *Front. Immunol.* **2019**, *10*, 480. [CrossRef]
- Bettcher, B.M.; Johnson, S.C.; Fitch, R.; Casaletto, K.B.; Heffernan, K.S.; Asthana, S.; Zetterberg, H.; Blennow, K.; Carlsson, C.M.; Neuhaus, J.; et al. CSF and Plasma Levels of Inflammation Differentially Relate to CNS Markers of Alzheimer's Disease Pathology and Neuronal Damage. J. Alzheimers Dis. 2018, 62, 385. [CrossRef]
- 32. Dinarello, C.A. IL-1: Discoveries, Controversies and Future Directions. Eur. J. Immunol. 2010, 40, 599–606. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Testa, G.; Staurenghi, E.; Zerbinati, C.; Gargiulo, S.; Iuliano, L.; Giaccone, G.; Fantò, F.; Poli, G.; Leonarduzzi, G.; Gamba, P. Changes in Brain Oxysterols at Different Stages of Alzheimer's Disease: Their Involvement in Neuroinflammation. *Redox. Biol.* 2016, 10, 24. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Forlenza, O.V.; Diniz, B.S.; Talib, L.L.; Mendonça, V.A.; Ojopi, E.B.; Gattaz, W.F.; Teixeira, A.L. Increased Serum IL-1β Level in Alzheimer's Disease and Mild Cognitive Impairment. Dement. Geriatr. Cogn. Disord. 2009, 28, 507–512. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Leung, R.; Proitsi, P.; Simmons, A.; Lunnon, K.; Güntert, A.; Kronenberg, D.; Pritchard, M.; Tsolaki, M.; Mecocci, P.; Kloszewska, I.; et al. Inflammatory Proteins in Plasma Are Associated with Severity of Alzheimer's Disease. *PLoS ONE* 2013, *8*, 64971. [CrossRef]
- Swanson, K.V.; Deng, M.; Ting, J.P.Y. The NLRP3 Inflammasome: Molecular Activation and Regulation to Therapeutics. Nat. Rev. Immunol. 2019, 19, 477. [CrossRef]
- 37. Liu, L.; Chan, C. The Role of Inflammasome in Alzheimer's Disease. Ageing Res. Rev. 2014, 15, 6. [CrossRef]
- Hanslik, K.L.; Ulland, T.K. The Role of Microglia and the Nlrp3 Inflammasome in Alzheimer's Disease. Front. Neurol. 2020, 11, 570711. [CrossRef]
- Hulstaert, F.; Blennow, K.; Ivanoiu, A.; Schoonderwaldt, H.C.; Riemenschneider, M.; de Deyn, P.P.; Bancher, C.; Cras, P.; Wiltfang, J.; Mehta, P.D.; et al. Improved Discrimination of AD Patients Using β-Amyloid(1-42) and Tau Levels in CSF. *Neurology* 1999, 52, 1555. [CrossRef]
- van Harten, A.C.; Wiste, H.J.; Weigand, S.D.; Mielke, M.M.; Kremers, W.K.; Eichenlaub, U.; Dyer, R.B.; Algeciras-Schimnich, A.; Knopman, D.S.; Jack, C.R.; et al. Detection of Alzheimer's Disease Amyloid Beta 1-42, p-Tau, and t-Tau Assays. *Alzheimer's Dement.* 2022, 18, 635–644. [CrossRef]
- Gulisano, W.; Maugeri, D.; Baltrons, M.A.; Fà, M.; Amato, A.; Palmeri, A.; D'Adamio, L.; Grassi, C.; Devanand, D.P.; Honig, L.S.; et al. Role of Amyloid-β and Tau Proteins in Alzheimer's Disease: Confuting the Amyloid Cascade. J. Alzheimers Dis. 2018, 64, S611. [CrossRef]
- 42. Bertens, D.; Tijms, B.M.; Scheltens, P.; Teunissen, C.E.; Visser, P.J. Unbiased Estimates of Cerebrospinal Fluid β-Amyloid 1-42 Cutoffs in a Large Memory Clinic Population. *Alzheimers Res. Ther.* **2017**, *9*, 1–8. [CrossRef] [PubMed]

- Palmqvist, S.; Zetterberg, H.; Blennow, K.; Vestberg, S.; Andreasson, U.; Brooks, D.J.; Owenius, R.; Hägerström, D.; Wollmer, P.; Minthon, L.; et al. Accuracy of Brain Amyloid Detection in Clinical Practice Using Cerebrospinal Fluid β-Amyloid 42: A Cross-Validation Study Against Amyloid Positron Emission Tomography. JAMA Neurol. 2014, 71, 1282–1289. [CrossRef]
- de Riva, V.; Galloni, E.; Marcon, M.; di Dionisio, L.; Deluca, C.; Meligrana, L.; Bolner, A.; Perini, F. Analysis of Combined CSF Biomarkers in AD Diagnosis. *Clin. Lab.* 2014, 60, 629–634. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 45. Mormino, E.C. The Relevance of Beta-Amyloid on Markers of Alzheimer's Disease in Clinically Normal Individuals and Factors That Influence These Associations. *Neuropsychol. Rev.* **2014**, *24*, 300. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Perez-Nievas, B.G.; Stein, T.D.; Tai, H.C.; Dols-Icardo, O.; Scotton, T.C.; Barroeta-Espar, I.; Fernandez-Carballo, L.; De Munain, E.L.; Perez, J.; Marquie, M.; et al. Dissecting Phenotypic Traits Linked to Human Resilience to Alzheimer's Pathology. *Brain* 2013, 136, 2510. [CrossRef]
- Mawuenyega, K.G.; Sigurdson, W.; Ovod, V.; Munsell, L.; Kasten, T.; Morris, J.C.; Yarasheski, K.E.; Bateman, R.J. Decreased Clearance of CNS Amyloid-β in Alzheimer's Disease. *Science* 2010, 330, 1774. [CrossRef]
- Jack, C.R.; Knopman, D.S.; Jagust, W.J.; Shaw, L.M.; Aisen, P.S.; Weiner, M.W.; Petersen, R.C.; Trojanowski, J.Q. Hypothetical Model of Dynamic Biomarkers of the Alzheimer's Pathological Cascade. *Lancet Neurol.* 2010, 9, 119. [CrossRef]
- 49. Huang, L.K.; Chao, S.P.; Hu, C.J. Clinical Trials of New Drugs for Alzheimer Disease. J. Biomed. Sci. 2020, 27, 1–13. [CrossRef]
- Carecchio, M.; Chiocchetti, A.; Galimberti, D. Osteopontin Is Increased in the Cerebrospinal Fluid of Patients with Alzheimer's Disease and Its Levels Correlate with Cognitive Decline. J. Alzheimer's Dis. 2010, 19, 1143–1148. [CrossRef]
- Craig-Schapiro, R.; Perrin, R.J.; Roe, C.M.; Xiong, C.; Carter, D.; Cairns, N.J.; Mintun, M.A.; Peskind, E.R.; Li, G.; Galasko, D.R.; et al. YKL-40: A Novel Prognostic Fluid Biomarker for Preclinical Alzheimer's Disease. *Biol. Psychiatry* 2010, 68, 903. [CrossRef]
- Risbud, M.V.; Shapiro, I.M. Role of Cytokines in Intervertebral Disc Degeneration: Pain and Disc-Content. Nat. Rev. Rheumatol. 2014, 10, 44. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Livshits, G.; Zhai, G.; Hart, D.J.; Kato, B.S.; Wang, H.; Williams, F.M.K.; Spector, T.D. Interleukin-6 Is a Significant Predictor of Radiographic Knee Osteoarthritis: The Chingford Study. *Arthritis Rheum* 2009, 60, 2037. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Gundogdu, G.; Gundogdu, K. A Novel Biomarker in Patients with Knee Osteoarthritis: Adropin. Clin. Rheumatol. 2018, 37, 2179–2186. [CrossRef]
- Bromander, S.; Anckarsäter, R.; Kristiansson, M.; Blennow, K.; Zetterberg, H.; Anckarsäter, H.; Wass, C.E. Changes in Serum and Cerebrospinal Fluid Cytokines in Response to Non-Neurological Surgery: An Observational Study. J. Neuroinflamm. 2012, 9, 1–12. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 56. Fertleman, M.; Pereira, C.; Dani, M.; Harris, B.H.L.; Di Giovannantonio, M.; Taylor-Robinson, S.D. Cytokine Changes in Cerebrospinal Fluid and Plasma after Emergency Orthopaedic Surgery. *Sci. Rep.* **2022**, *12*, 1–10. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- 57. Varatharaj, A.; Galea, I. The Blood-Brain Barrier in Systemic Inflammation. *Brain Behav. Immun.* 2017, 60, 1–12. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Bettcher, B.M.; Tansey, M.G.; Dorothée, G.; Heneka, M.T. Peripheral and Central Immune System Crosstalk in Alzheimer Disease–A Research Prospectus. *Nat. Rev. Neurol.* 2021, 17, 689–701. [CrossRef]
- Prinz, M.; Priller, J. The Role of Peripheral Immune Cells in the CNS in Steady State and Disease. Nat. Neurosci. 2017, 20, 136–144. [CrossRef]
- Shang, D.S.; Yang, Y.M.; Zhang, H.; Tian, L.; Jiang, J.S.; Dong, Y.B.; Zhang, K.; Li, B.; Zhao, W.D.; Fang, W.G.; et al. Intracerebral GM-CSF Contributes to Transendothelial Monocyte Migration in APP/PS1 Alzheimer's Disease Mice. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 2016, 36, 1978. [CrossRef]
- Kierdorf, K.; Masuda, T.; Jordão, M.J.C.; Prinz, M. Macrophages at CNS Interfaces: Ontogeny and Function in Health and Disease. Nat. Rev. Neurosci. 2019, 20, 547–562. [CrossRef]
- Bowman, G.L.; Dayon, L.; Kirkland, R.; Wojcik, J.; Peyratout, G.; Severin, I.C.; Henry, H.; Oikonomidi, A.; Migliavacca, E.; Bacher, M.; et al. Blood-Brain Barrier Breakdown, Neuroinflammation, and Cognitive Decline in Older Adults. *Alzheimer's Dement.* 2018, 14, 1640–1650. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Takata, F.; Nakagawa, S.; Matsumoto, J.; Dohgu, S. Blood-Brain Barrier Dysfunction Amplifies the Development of Neuroinflammation: Understanding of Cellular Events in Brain Microvascular Endothelial Cells for Prevention and Treatment of BBB Dysfunction. Front. Cell Neurosci. 2021, 15, 661838. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Felger, J.C.; Haroon, E.; Patel, T.A.; Goldsmith, D.R.; Wommack, E.C.; Woolwine, B.J.; Le, N.A.; Feinberg, R.; Tansey, M.G.; Miller, A.H. What Does Plasma CRP Tell Us about Peripheral and Central Inflammation in Depression? *Mol. Psychiatry* 2020, 25, 1301. [CrossRef]
- Hillmer, L.; Erhardt, E.B.; Caprihan, A.; Adair, J.C.; Knoefel, J.E.; Prestopnik, J.; Thompson, J.; Hobson, S.; Rosenberg, G.A. Blood-Brain Barrier Disruption Measured by Albumin Index Correlates with Inflammatory Fluid Biomarkers. J. Cereb. Blood Flow Metab. 2023, 43, 712–721. [CrossRef] [PubMed]
- Wang, K.; Wang, H.; Lou, W.; Ma, L.; Li, Y.; Zhang, N.; Wang, C.; Li, F.; Awais, M.; Cao, S.; et al. IP-10 Promotes Blood–Brain Barrier Damage by Inducing Tumor Necrosis Factor Alpha Production in Japanese Encephalitis. *Front. Immunol.* 2018, *9*, 1148. [CrossRef]

- Franciotta, D.; Martino, G.; Zardini, E.; Furlan, R.; Bergamaschi, R.; Andreoni, L.; Cosi, V. Serum and CSF Levels of MCP-1 and IP-10 in Multiple Sclerosis Patients with Acute and Stable Disease and Undergoing Immunomodulatory Therapies. J. Neuroimmunol. 2001, 115, 192–198. [CrossRef]
- Gertje, E.C.; Janelidze, S.; van Westen, D.; Cullen, N.; Stomrud, E.; Palmqvist, S.; Hansson, O.; Mattsson-Carlgren, N. Associations Between CSF Markers of Inflammation, White Matter Lesions, and Cognitive Decline in Individuals without Dementia. *Neurology* 2023, 100, e1812. [CrossRef]
- Michlmayr, D.; McKimmie, C.S. Role of CXCL10 in Central Nervous System Inflammation. Int. J. Interferon Cytokine Mediat. Res. 2014, 6, 1–18. [CrossRef]
- Scarpini, E.; Galimberti, D.; Baron, P.; Clerici, R.; Ronzoni, M.; Conti, G.; Scarlato, G. IP-10 and MCP-1 Levels in CSF and Serum from Multiple Sclerosis Patients with Different Clinical Subtypes of the Disease. J. Neurol. Sci. 2002, 195, 41–46. [CrossRef]
- Jiang, S.; Maphis, N.M.; Binder, J.; Chisholm, D.; Weston, L.; Duran, W.; Peterson, C.; Zimmerman, A.; Mandell, M.A.; Jett, S.D.; et al. Proteopathic Tau Primes and Activates Interleukin-1β via Myeloid-Cell-Specific MyD88- and NLRP3-ASC-Inflammasome Pathway. *Cell Rep.* 2021, *36*, 109720. [CrossRef]

Disclaimer/Publisher's Note: The statements, opinions and data contained in all publications are solely those of the individual author(s) and contributor(s) and not of MDPI and/or the editor(s). MDPI and/or the editor(s) disclaim responsibility for any injury to people or property resulting from any ideas, methods, instructions or products referred to in the content.



Article

Central and Peripheral Inflammation in Mild Cognitive Impairment in the Context of Alzheimer's Disease

Inès Schmidt-Morgenroth 1.2, Philippe Michaud 2, Fabrizio Gasparini 1 and Alexandre Avrameas 1.*

Supplementary Materials

MDP



Innotest tTau vs S-plex tTau

Figure S1. Linear regression between FUJIREBIO INNTOTEST total Tau (tTau) diagnostic test and MESOSCALE DISCOVERY (MSD) S-plex total Tau. Measurements were done with Nonimpaired (NIC) CSF samples. Regression curve expression y = 0.7331x + 43.13, r-square = 0.8908 and *p*-value < 0.0001.

(a)

MC	I	CSF	biomarkers (r,	<i>p</i>)
n = 3.	2	Αβ42	pTau181	
	Αβ42	1.0000		
		-		
CSF biomarkers	tTau	0.2188	1.0000	
(r <i>, p</i>)		0.2288		
	pTau181	0.0710	0.7317	1.0000
		0.7094	<0.0001	-

(b)

NIC		CSF biomarkers (r, <i>p</i>)			
n = 4	5	Αβ42	tTau	pTau181	
	Αβ42	1.0000			
		-			
CSF biomarkers	tTau	-0.0844	1.0000		
(r <i>, p</i>)		0.5858	-		
	pTau181	-0.0762	0.5213	1.0000	
		0.6636	0.0013	-	

Table S1. Summary table of Spearman correlation between CSF AD hallmarks. r-value and *p*-value are displayed for each correlation as r, *p* respectively. *p*-values < 0.05 and r-values \geq 0.50 or \leq 0.50 are given in bold-italic entries. (a) Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI) cohort. (b) Non-Impaired control (NIC) cohort.

A β : Amyloid β ; tTau: total Tau; pTau: phosphorylated tau.

(a)					
MCI		Serum biomarkers (r, p)			
n =	n = 32		pTau181		
	Αβ42	-0.0301	-0.1123		
CEE		0.8703	0.5619		
C5F	tTau	0.2636	0.2064		
(r, <i>p</i>)		0.1450	0.2827		
	pTau181	0.2169	0.2039		
		0.2496	0.3076		
(b)					
NI	(C	Serum biomarkers (r, p)			
n =	45	tTau	pTau181		
	Αβ42	-0.0189	-0.0346		
CSF biomarkers (r, p)		0.9102	0.8388		
	tTau	0.3805	0.6195		
		0.0185	<0.0001		
	pTau181	0.3075	0.5625		
		0.0817	0.0007		

Table S2. Summary table of Spearman correlation between CSF vs serum AD hallmarks. r-value and *p*-value are displayed for each correlation as r, *p* respectively. *p*-values < 0.05 and r-values \ge 0.50 or \le -0.50 are given in bold-italic entries (a) MCI cohort. (b) NIC cohort.

			6	amuna hia				
NCI		CEAD	NEL	OPN	TIMP 1	TDEMO	VIZI 40	
n =	52 GEAD	GFAP	NFL	OPN	11MP-1	1 KEM-2	YKL-40	
	GFAP	0.1327	0.1411	0.1338	0.0249	0.0374	0.1679	
		0.4691	0.4410	0.4654	0.8923	0.8390	0.3584	
	NFL	0.2034	0.3083	0.2372	0.0451	-0.1672	0.1309	
		0.2641	0.0860	0.1912	0.8064	0.3605	0.4753	
CSF	OPN	0.0975	-0.0777	0.1085	0.1246	0.0704	-0.1012	
biomarkers		0.5955	0.6725	0.5544	0.4967	0.7019	0.5817	
(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p})	TIMP-1	0.2518	0.3691	0.2617	0.2705	0.1507	0.2911	
(-) [)		0.1644	0.0376	0.1479	0.1343	0.4105	0.1061	
	TREM-2	0.0407	0.0363	0.1536	0.0139	0.0191	0.0916	
		0.8250	0.8437	0.4013	0.9397	0.9175	0.6179	
	YKL-40	0.2837	0.2991	0.3105	0.2093	0.1393	0.2449	
		0.1156	0.0963	0.0837	0.2503	0.4470	0.1768	
(b)								
NIC		Serum biomarkers (r, <i>p</i>)						
n = 45		GFAP	NFL	OPN	TIMP-1	TREM-2	YKL-40	
	GFAP	0.4533	0.1891	0.1205	-0.1148	0.2454	0.222	
		0.0023	0.2247	0.4415	0.4637	0.1127	0.152	
	NFL	-0.1323	0.6498	0.2884	0.1262	-0.0310	0.004	
CSF biomarkers (r, p)		0.3921	<0.0001	0.0576	0.4144	0.8416	0.976	
	OPN	0.3290	-0.2163	0.1009	-0.1630	0.1722	0.180	
		0.0273	0.1535	0.5095	0.2848	0.2580	0.236	
	TIMP-1	0.1642	0.2447	0.2868	0.0972	-0.0082	0.17	
		0.2812	0.1053	0.0561	0.5252	0.9575	0.247	
	TREM-2	0.2850	0.1461	0.1132	-0.0584	0.1772	0.015	
		0.0578	0.3382	0.4592	0.7033	0.2442	0.918	
	YKL-40	0.4896	0.0072	0.1665	-0.0568	0.3033	0.354	
		0.0006	0.9623	0.2742	0.7110	0.0428	0.01	

Table S3. Summary table of Spearman correlation between CSF vs serum neuroinflammatorybiomarkers. r-value and p-value are displayed for each correlation as r, p respectively. p-values <</td>0.05 and r-values ≥ 0.50 or ≤ -0.50 are given in bold-italic entries. (a) MCI cohort. (b) NIC cohort.

GFAP: Glial fibrillary acidic protein. NFL: Neurofilament light; OPN: Osteopontin; TIMP-1: Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase 1; sTREM-2: soluble Triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells 2; YKL-40: Chitinase-3-like 1 (CHI3L1).

	-1	
(a	

MCI n = 32		Serum biomarkers (r, p)						
		CRP	IL-18	IL-6	IL-8	IP-10	MCP-1	
CSF biomarkers (r, p)	CRP	0.1889	0.3962	0.5009	0.3452	-0.0734	0.3397	
		0.3088	0.0273	0.0041	0.0617	0.6948	0.0616	
	IL-18	-0.0844	0.1517	0.2873	0.1262	-0.1139	0.2073	
		0.6462	0.4073	0.1108	0.4987	0.5346	0.2549	
	IL-6	0.2584	0.1378	0.3530	0.3028	-0.0552	0.2518	
		0.1533	0.4519	0.0475	0.0977	0.7642	0.1644	
	IL-8	0.1397	0.0356	-0.0561	0.0331	-0.3381	-0.2071	
		0.4458	0.8468	0.7602	0.8598	0.0584	0.2554	
	IP-10	-0.2782	-0.0918	0.1398	0.2194	-0.0919	-0.0106	
		0.1231	0.6172	0.4454	0.2358	0.6171	0.9540	
	MCP-1	0.3727	0.4781	0.5248	0.1285	0.1987	0.4202	
		0.0357	0.0056	0.0020	0.4910	0.2757	0.0167	

NIC		Serum biomarkers (r, <i>p</i>)						
n = 45		CRP	IL-18	IL-6	IL-8	IP-10	MCP-1	
CSF biomarkers (r, p)	CRP	0.3990	0.0848	0.3481	0.4084	0.1329	-0.0042	
		0.0098	0.5887	0.0222	0.0065	0.3956	0.9785	
	IL-18	-0.1515	0.6151	0.0498	0.1765	0.0922	0.1457	
		0.3323	<0.0001	0.7453	0.2462	0.5471	0.3395	
	IL-6	0.1630	-0.0052	0.1936	0.3506	0.2905	0.2833	
		0.2962	0.9731	0.2025	0.0182	0.0529	0.0593	
	IL-8	-0.1349	0.0020	-0.0559	0.1851	0.3193	-0.0266	
		0.3883	0.9894	0.7152	0.2236	0.0325	0.8622	
	IP-10	0.1135	0.1185	0.1948	0.3255	0.3278	0.1262	
		0.4687	0.4380	0.1997	0.0291	0.0280	0.4087	
	MCP-1	0.1876	0.0061	0.1601	0.3827	0.1591	0.2178	
		0.2284	0.9681	0.2935	0.0095	0.2965	0.1507	

Table S4. Summary table of Spearman correlation between CSF vs serum inflammatory biomarkers. r-value and *p*-value are displayed for each correlation as r, *p* respectively. *p*-values < 0.05 and r-values \geq 0.50 or \leq -0.50 are given in bold-italic entries. (a) MCI cohort. (b) NIC cohort.

CRP: C-reactive protein; IL: Interleukin; IP-10: Interferon gamma-induced protein 10; MCP-1: Monocyte chemoattractant protein 1; TNF α : Tumor necrosis factor α .
6 of 8

(a)

MC	I	Serum biomarkers (r, p)			
n = 3	32	ASC	IL-18		
	ASC	0.1685	0.1327		
CSF		0.3566	0.4689		
biomarkers	IL-18	0.0322	0.1517		
(\mathbf{r}, p)	-	0.8611	0.4073		
(b)					
NIC	2	Serum biom	arkers (r, p)		
n = 4	15	ASC	IL-18		
COL	ASC	0.3820	0.1269		
CSF		0.0096	0.4062		
biomarkers (r, p)	IL-18	0.1333	0.5747		
		0.3828	<0.0001		

Table S5. Summary tables of Spearman correlation between CSF vs serum inflammasome biomarkers. r-value and *p*-value are displayed for each correlation as r, *p* respectively. *p*-values < 0.05 and r-values \geq 0.50 or <-0.50 are given in bold-italic entries. (a) MCI cohort. (b) NIC cohort. ASC: (apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD).

7 of 8

(a)

M	CI		Serum Biomarkers (r, <i>p</i>)								
n =	32	ASC	Caspase-1	IL-1β	IL-1Ra	IL-18	IL-6	CRP	TNFα		
	ASC	1.0000									
		-									
	Caspase-1	0.9663	1.0000								
		<0.0001									
	IL-1β	0.8079	0.7819	1.0000							
		<0.0001	<0.0001	-							
Sorum	IL-1Ra	0.7735	0.7023	0.6246	1.0000						
biomarkara		<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	-						
(n tr)	IL-18	0.4898	0.4223	0.4368	0.6936	1.0000					
(\mathbf{r}, p)		0.0044	0.0160	0.0124	<0.0001	-					
	IL-6	0.6605	0.5598	0.5111	0.7792	0.5485	1.0000				
		<0.0001	0.0009	0.0028	<0.0001	0.0012	-				
	CRP	0.4732	0.4172	0.4842	0.4505	0.5074	0.6427	1.0000			
		0.0062	0.0175	0.0050	0.0097	0.0030	<0.0001	-			
	TNFα	0.4744	0.3399	0.4517	0.5562	0.7395	0.6807	0.6197	1.0000		
		0.0093	0.0712	0.0139	0.0017	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0003	-		

(b)

N	NIC Serum Biomarkers (r, p)								
n =	45	ASC	Caspase-1	IL-1β	IL-1Ra	IL-18	IL-6	CRP	TNFα
	ASC	1.0000							
		i							
	Caspase-1	0.7754	1.0000						
		<0.0001	-						
	IL-1β	0.4325	0.3501	1.0000					
		0.0042	0.0230	Ξ.					
Serum	IL-1Ra	0.2048	0.2992	0.4221	1.0000				
biomarkers		0.1773	0.0459	0.0054	-				
(\mathbf{r}, \mathbf{p})	IL-18	0.0657	0.0561	0.1968	0.2079	1.0000			
		0.6681	0.7145	0.2117	0.1706	-			
	IL-6	0.2372	0.0916	0.6096	0.3963	0.0697	1.0000		
		0.1167	0.5494	<0.0001	0.0070	0.6491	-		
	CRP	0.0671	-0.1440	0.4625	0.2510	-0.1313	0.8072	1.0000	
		0.6692	0.3569	0.0027	0.1045	0.4013	<0.0001	-	
	TNFa	0.0435	0.0104	0.0169	0.1095	0.1196	0.4001	0.1673	1.0000
		0.8260	0.9581	0.9360	0.5792	0.5443	0.0349	0.4043	-

8 of 8

HC n = 30				S	erum Bioma	rkers (r, p)			
		ASC	Caspase-1	IL-1β	IL-1Ra	IL-18	IL-6	CRP	TNFα
	ASC	1.0000 -							
	Caspase-1	0.4965 0.0053	1.0000						
	IL-1β	0.2582 0.2126	0.3733 0.0661	1.0000 -					
Serum biomarkers	IL-1Ra	0.2770 0.1384	0.2629 0.1604	0.2135 0.3055	1.0000				
(r <i>, p</i>)	IL-18	0.2148 0.2544	0.1818 0.3363	0.0961 0.6478	0.1237 0.5147	1.0000 -			
	IL-6	-0.2152 0.2535	-0.1715 0.3647	0.4510 0.0236	0.4045 0.0266	0.0336 0.8601	1.0000		
	CRP	0.0857 0.6526	-0.3633 0.0484	0.0039 0.9853	0.1916 0.3105	0.2294 0.2226	0.3900 0.0331	1.0000	
	TNFα	0.3944 0.0342	0.4382 0.0174	0.4160 0.0386	0.4398 0.0170	0.1996 0.2993	0.3034 0.1095	0.1665 0.3880	1.0000 -

Table S6. Summary tables of Spearman correlation between serum inflammasome and inflam**matory biomarkers**. r-value and *p*-value are displayed for each correlation as *r*, *p* respectively. *p*-values < 0.05 and r-values ≥ 0.50 or ≤ -0.50 are given in bold-italic entries. (a) MCI cohort. (b) NIC cohort. (c) Healthy Control (HC) cohort. IL-1Ra: Interleukin-1 receptor antagonist.

2. Proteomics and biomarker profiling

In addition to the immunoassays results obtained and published in the article above, the same samples were used to evaluate the proteomics profiling method from Olink[®] Proteomics. Immunoassays are a great method to determine the quantification of biomarkers. Thanks to continuous technological evolution and progress, this technique has the main benefit to allow measurements of protein levels up to fg/ml. However, because of antibody cross-reactive binding, they are often limited to a few tens of analytes at the same time. In response to that, new multiplex technologies have emerged in the last decade and are particularly appealing for pharmaceutical companies. Indeed, they allow the quantification of up to thousands of proteins simultaneously in larger sample sizes, providing a great tool for protein biomarker discovery and development.

In this context, Olink[®] Proteomics is a commercial provider that has developed a new multiplexing approach based on Proximity Extension Assay (PEA) combining antibody- and DNA-based methodologies. This results in the generation of DNA amplicons by PCR, which can be quantified by two different readouts. The first one to be developed, and the one we used, is by quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR). With this method, different panel of 92-plex biomarkers are commercially available with a total of up to ~3000 different proteins split in various panels. The procedure uses a very small sample volume of only 1µl. Because of the method used, the sensitivity can reach the same ranges as immunoassays with levels around pg to fg/ml. The second readout developed, use next-generation sequencing (NGS), and can read from 384-plex up to 1536 analytes at the same time. This method enables DNA or Ribonucleic acid (RNA) sequencing of thousands of genes at the same time in multiple samples. Overall, Olink[®] immunoassay provides a great answer to high-throughput protein profiling for biomarker, which has gained an increasing enthusiasm at Novartis. In addition, Olink[®] uses the same reagents (antibodies) from the 1536- to the 92-plex panels.

1. Correlations between immunoassays and proteomics

During this thesis, the objective was to focus on the Olink[®] Target 96 inflammation panel and to evaluate its reliability compared to classical immunoassays. Two analyses were conducted on different days. First, a plate with the MCI samples batch received in December 2021 was tested. This plate consisted of 30 CSF, 30 sera, and 30 plasmas. Then, nine months later, a second plate comprising 30 HC sera, 30 NIC sera and 30 NIC CSF was assessed. Samples were randomized on the plates, but not across the experiments. This added inter-run variability, even if the same kit-lot was used for both plates. The first plate, containing MCI samples, had lower signals compared to the second, especially for the CSF samples. To still be able to compare the different cohorts and to minimize the bias, the plates were normalized together as Normalized Protein expression (NPX).

Because the goal was to assess the reliability of the assay, focus was drawn on the biomarkers which were common between the Olink[®] Target 96 Inflammation panel and the various immunoassays. These biomarkers included IL-1 α , IL2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-18, IFN γ , IP-10 and MCP-1. Among those biomarkers, IL-1 α , IL-10, IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, and IFN γ were not quantifiable with Olink[®] and/or immunoassays in serum and/or CSF. To compare and ensure the accuracy of both methods, we tested the linear regression of the remaining biomarkers (Figure 24).

Analyta	Olink [®] vs immunoassay		
Analyte	R ²	<i>p</i> -value	IP-10 Imunoassay vs Olink®
Serum, n=90			600 μ Equation Y = 73.17*X - 651.2
IL-10	0.71	3.09e-023	R squared 0.7920
IL-18	0.64	9.68e-020	
IL-8	0.68	2.63e-021	<u><u> </u></u>
IFNγ	0.62	3.33e-018	-10
IP-10	0.79	2.39e-029	
MCP-1	0.75	5.25e-026	
CSF, n = 60			e e
IL-18	0.31	1.19e-004	0
IL-8	0.77	8.48e-018	8 10 12 14 16
IP-10	0.64	3.21e-013	serum IP-10 NPX
MCP-1	0.61	2.85e-012	

Figure 24: Linear regressions between immunoassay and Olink[®] biomarkers concentrations.

Results of linear correlations between immunoassay and Olink[®] methods. On the left panel, R² and p-values are summarized for serum and CSF biomarkers concentrations. On the right panel, scatter plot of the linear regression between serum IP-10 (Interferon gamma-induced protein 10) results with immunoassay *versus* with Olink[®] method. Olink[®] semi-quantitative results are expressed in Normalized Protein Expression (NPX). CSF: Cerebrospinal fluid.

Overall, there was a good correlation between quantifications obtained with immunoassays and Olink[®] semi-quantitative method for all biomarkers in serum. Unfortunately for the CSF, signals of the first plate were lower for the MCI patients, and despite the normalization, few samples were under the detection limits, especially for IL-18. As a result, the sample size was reduced. Although CSF results remain acceptable, there were slightly less robust than in the serum.

In addition, the different quantifications per disease were compared. The scatter plots were done using the samples that were tested with Olink[®] only (Figure 25). Looking at the graphics, the results were coherent between the groups and the sample distribution patterns were similar. This confirmed that both quantifications correlate well.



Figure 25: Immunoassays vs Olink® Proteomics.

Scatter plots of serum and CSF IP-10 with immunoassays on the left panel and serum and CSF results with Olink[®] on the right panel. The bars represent the mean ± standard error mean (SEM). *: *p*-value < 0.05; ***: *p*-value <0.001; ns: non-significant. Overall, Olink[®] proteomics method is a great tool for screening of large number of proteins. Although the results are semi-quantitative, they correlate robustly with quantitative immunoassays, which is reinforcing their promising use for biomarker profiling.

2. Results comparison between cohort

With this 92-plex panel, Olink[®] allowed the investigation of potential new targets in the cohorts. Comparing CSF results between groups, there was no significant difference between the two cohorts. This is mainly because signals were lower for the plate containing the MCI cohort, and despite the normalization, most samples were under the detection limits.

In the serum, the same trend than the previous quantification results were observed with comparable results between the MCI and the NIC cohorts and lower protein levels for the HC cohort. Comparing serum levels strictly between the NIC and the MCI cohort, eight biomarkers were significantly increased in the MCI cohort, including IP-10 (Figure 26). The seven significative results remaining included the adenosine deaminase (ADA), the C-C motif chemokine 20 (CCL20), the T-cell surface glycoprotein CD5 (CD5), the cystatin-D (CST5), the Delta and Notch-like epidermal growth factor-related receptor (DNER), the interleukin-10 receptor subunit beta (IL-10R β) and the Urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA). Among those results, the ADA, CCL20 and IP-10 are related to macrophage activation and secretion. This seems to confirm an activation of the innate immunity along with IL-10RB significant result.



Figure 26: Olink[®] results comparison between the NIC and the MCI cohort.

Scatter plots of significant serum NPX results between the NIC and the MCI cohort. Bars represent the mean \pm standard error mean (SEM). The following descriptive results are described as mean \pm standard deviation (SD). Significant increase for the adenosine deaminase (ADA); NIC: 5.676 (0.3076) NPX, MCI: 6.108 (0.4911) NPX. C-C motif ligand 20 (CCL20); NIC: 7.442 (1.080) NPX, MCI: 8.360 (1.278) NPX. T-cell surface glycoprotein CD5; NIC: 6.940 (0.3569) NPX, MCI: 7.123 (0.3526) NPX. Cystatin-D (CST5); NIC: 6.181 (0.3311) NPX, MCI: 6.412 (0.4534) NPX. The Delta and Notch-like epidermal growth factor-related receptor (DNER); NIC: 8.905 (0.2901) NPX, MCI: 9.127 (0.3066) NPX. IL-10 Receptor β (IL-10R β); NIC: 8.099 (0.3122) NPX, MCI: 8.322 (0.2971) NPX. IP-10; NIC: 10.03 (1.267) NPX, MCI: 10.58 (0.9081) NPX. The urokinase plasminogen like protein (uPa); NIC: 10.07 (0.3992) NPX, MCI: 10.29 (0.3215) NPX. Then, comparing only the MCI cohort with the HC cohort, results were significantly increased for twenty-two biomarkers in the MCI cohort. Among which, some biomarkers, that had been published by Whelan *et al.* using the same panel in four different cohorts ²⁴⁴. In their study, Whelan *et al.* analysed one cohort of AD subjects, a second cohort of Aβ+ MCI subjects, a third cohort made of Aβ- MCI subjects and finally a cohort composed of Aβ- controls. In our case, the MCI population could correspond to the Aβ- MCI cohort from their publication. Comparing our results with the ones found between the Aβ- MCI *vs* Aβ- controls, some common biomarkers were significantly increased, notably the Oncostatin-M (OSM) and the C-X-C motif ligand chemokine 1 (CXCL1), and one biomarker, the Urokinase-type plasminogen activator (uPA) was significantly decreased in the MCI cohort (Figure 27). However, for the rest of the biomarkers, it is difficult to conclude as the published results were assessed with plasma instead of serum. This could impact the biomarkers behaviours and results. Furthermore, our results must be considered carefully as the variability introduced by not randomizing the cohorts on the plates could have a considerable impact in comparing the NPX levels. Subsequently, those results are poorly usable.



Figure 27: Olink[®] results comparison between the HC and the MCI cohort.

Scatter plots of significant serum NPX results between the HC and the MCI cohort. Bars represent the mean (\pm SEM). The following descriptive results are described as mean (\pm SD). CXCL1 (p < 0.0001); MCI: 11.08 (0.1125) NPX, HC: 9.613 (1.187) NPX. OSM (p < 0.0001); MCI: 6.944 (1.174) NPX, HC: 5.911 (0.4852) NPX. uPa).

Despite the point mentioned above, and out of curiosity, Spearman correlations between all serum biomarkers obtained were tested in the MCI cohort only. Again, OSM seemed to stand out, and correlated with the transforming growth factor alpha (TGF-α). OSM is a cytokine of the IL-6 family and is secreted by T lymphocytes, neutrophils, and macrophages. OSM is involved in inflammation, cell proliferation and haematopoiesis. In addition, OSM is expressed and regulated in most cells of the CNS, including astrocytes, neurons, and is predominantly produced by microglia ²⁴⁵. OSM has been described in several disorders, including inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, cancers, and CNS pathologies ²⁴⁶. For instance, increased plasma and CSF levels of OSM have been observed in multiple sclerosis ²⁴⁷. *In vitro* study demonstrated that OSM reduces the BBB integrity by downregulating the junctional molecules and promotes the secretion of T helper (Th) 17-attracting chemokine by the BBB endothelial cells and reactive astrocytes ²⁴⁸.

Apart from the correlations between the same biomarkers with both assays, the first significant correlation was observed between IL-1 β and the macrophage inflammatory protein (MIP)- α (also known as the chemokine C-C motif ligand 3 (CCL3)) as well as the cluster of differentiation 40 (CD40). CCL3 function includes the recruitment of leukocytes to the site of inflammation. As a result, the release of CCL3 has been used as an indicator of phagocytic activities ²⁴⁹. Interestingly, a significant correlation was also observed between the ASC and the Caspase-8. Both of those biomarkers are involved in cell death pathways and potentially in Amyloid processing ²⁵⁰. Additionally, studies demonstrated that both caspase-1 and Capase-8 can be activated by ASC specks, and that they both cooperate and compensate to mediate downstream apoptosis of inflammasome ²⁵¹. Moreover, correlations with ASC and Caspase-1 and Olink[®] IL-18 and IL-18 receptor (R) 1 were confirming preliminary results on the activation of the Inflammasome pathway.

To sum up, although results of the proteomics profiling could not be used to their full potential, they permitted to confirm and explore new targets of the inflammatory response, especially the inflammasome and cell death pathway in MCI patients.

3. Blood compartment: serum and plasma

Blood collection is widely used to monitor global health of individuals and helps diagnose various diseases. It has the benefit of giving quick results and is easy to implement during clinical diagnosis. Indeed, this method is less invasive, less painful, and less costly compared

103

to CSF collection. Recent results from blood biomarkers in AD have been very promising to help understand and diagnose the disease. Some of them have been studied in both the serum and the plasma, such as the pTau isoforms, and some almost exclusively in only one of the blood matrices.

Accordingly, we wanted to investigate their potential use as a surrogate matrix to the CSF in MCI and AD. Two types of matrices can fall under the blood compartment, and biomarkers' concentrations can be measured either in the serum or the plasma. The difference between the two matrices resides in the presence of coagulants in the plasma whereas the serum does not contain any. Because of the presence of coagulants in plasma, it is necessary to add an anticoagulant in the samples otherwise the blood would clot after collection. In this study, we compared the impact of the serum matrix and Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid ((EDTA) which serves as anticoagulant) plasma for biomarkers assessments of the 32 MCI samples received in December 2021.

Overall, results obtained in serum and EDTA plasma from the same donor support that both matrices can have an incidence on soluble biomarkers quantification and do not behave the same for each mediator (Figure 28). For some soluble proteins, such as IL-6, the concentration was almost in a 1:1 ratio for both matrices and both concentrations correlated almost perfectly in EDTA plasma *vs* serum ($r^2 = 0.99$). For tTau concentration, the correlation between both matrices was very good as well ($r^2 = 0.87$), but concentrations were higher in EDTA plasma compared to serum with a ratio of 1:1.5. For those soluble biomarkers, the choice of the matrix had no impact on the quantification. This is encouraging given that tTau and pTau are crucial biomarkers of Alzheimer's disease. However, concentrations were more scattered for different biomarkers including IL-8 and IL-1 β . Looking at both, there was no correlation between the matrices and the concentration ranges were differing a lot. For instance, looking at the concentrations' means, IL-8 serum concentration was between fifteen to twenty times higher compared to plasma concentration (87.7 pg/ml *vs* 5.87 pg/ml respectively). For IL-1 β , the same was observed as the concentration was not correlating in both matrices. However, serum average concentration was only 1.2 times higher compared to plasma concentration (354 fg/ml vs 290 fg/ml respectively). As a result, matrix selection should be carefully considered for the quantification of proteins.



Figure 28: Correlations between serum and EDTA plasma biomarkers' concentrations.

Scatter plots of linear regressions of the same biomarker in EDTA plasma vs serum for 32 samples of the MCI batch from December 2021. IL-6 concentration correlation between both matrices displayed the highest r² value at 0.9913. tTau results correlated well between serum and plasma (r² = 0.8716). For IL-8 and IL-1 β , no significant correlation was observed (r² = 0.02732 and r² = 0.0004036 respectively). EDTA: Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid.

In this work, soluble biomarkers were assessed in the serum as the blood compartment representative. This was chosen arbitrarily at the beginning of the project and serum was the only matrix ordered and available for most samples (HC and NIC individuals). Our results demonstrated that the choice of the matrix is decisive in the biomarkers outcomes. As a result, serum and EDTA plasma cannot be interchanged during a clinical trial. The same matrix should also be kept for all the studies related to a medical product used in a specific disease.

II. Comparison of the two MCI samples batches

As mentioned above, the total number of MCI due to AD samples was received in two separate batches. The analysis was first conducted in the batch of 32 samples received in December 2021, named MCI Dec-2021 and then, the second part of the analysis was conducted more recently with the batch of 43 samples received in April 2023 and named MCI Apr-2023 in the following results (Figure 29). Both populations were part of the same initial prospective study order and hence were selected according to the same inclusion and exclusion criteria. All the samples received in December 2021 had been collected between March and September 2021, and were aged of maximum 9 months when delivered and around 12 months at the date of analyses. Then, in the second batch received in April 2023, most samples had been collected between September 2021 and August 2022, and just one patient had his collection done in December 2022. Therefore, some samples were much older when there were received (20 months) and analysed in 2023 compared to the batch received in 2021. To assess if the age of samples could have an impact on the cytokines, we first compared the soluble biomarkers concentrations in both samples' batches.



Figure 29: Timeline of sample collection and analysis.

Timeline between collection date and analysis of the two batches of samples. The collection span of the first batch received in December 2021 (Dec-2021) was from seven months, and most of the analyses were conducted six months after the received date. For the second batch received in April 2023 (Apr-2023), the collection took fifteen months and analyses were done directly afterwards. However, some samples had been collected already twenty months ago by the time of analysis.

1. Population study demographic and characteristics

The patients from the two batches are part of the same prospective study, there were collected according to the same exclusion and inclusion criteria. To confirm this, we compared the characteristics of the patients of both batches (Table 5). There was no statistical age difference between both batches, although the age mean of patients from the second batch was slightly lower (69.1 *vs* 65.4 for the first and second batch respectively). In the same way, looking at the sex difference between both batches, we observed no statistical difference. Comparing the MMSE score of each batch, although the means were very close (22 *vs* 24 for the first and second batch respectively), the distribution of the second batch was more stretched. The MMSE scores suggested that the second batch of MCI samples contained patients at each side of the MCI spectrum. On one hand, the Apr-2023 batch included patients with very mild symptoms (MMSE score around 28) and patients with more severe cognitive decline symptoms (MMSE score of 19 and below).

Batch	MCI Dec-2021	MCI Apr-2023	n valuo	
Datth	n = 32	<i>n</i> = 43	p value	
Age, years (SD)	69.1 (8.3)	65.4 (12.2)	0.1346	
Sex (female), <i>n</i> (%)	20 (62.5)	19 (44.2)	0.1614	
MMSE [0-30]*	22 [22-24]	24 [19-28]	0.5483	

Table 5: Demographic and characteristics of the two sample batches.

*Median [1st quartile-3rd quartile]. MMSE: Mini-Mental State Examination. SD: Standard deviation.

2. Alzheimer's disease hallmarks

We then conducted the analysis of the three main AD features: Amyloid, Tau, and pTau181 concentrations in CSF with the Innotest diagnostic test (Figure 30). We added the Tau and pTau181 analysis of the first MCI batch which had not been done previously with this assay. There was no significant difference for the three biomarkers.



Figure 30: Alzheimer's disease hallmarks CSF concentrations in the MCI batches.

Scatter plots of AD hallmarks concentrations in the two MCI batches, bars represent the mean \pm standard mean error (SEM). CSF levels of Amyloid β 42 (A β 42), MCI Dec-2021: 735.7 (50.40) pg/ml, MCI Apr-2023: 670.8 (50.08) pg/ml; total Tau protein (tTau), MCI Dec-2021: 256.9 (30.49) pg/ml, MCI Apr-2023 (391.6 (66.75) pg/ml; and phosphorylated Tau 181 (pTau) protein, MCI Dec-2021: 40.85 (4.066) pg/ml and MCI Apr-2023: 45.23 (3.963) pg/ml. Both batches displayed the same concentrations of biomarkers.

Those biomarkers proteins are known to be stable in the CSF samples. However, to check the reproducibility of the assays, few samples of NIC CSF were plated again for all three biomarkers. For Aβ42, seven NIC samples were added and none of them met the acceptance criteria for the reproducibility recovery (accepted between 70-130%) as the average recovery was 177%. For the tTau, only four samples were repeated, and all passed the acceptance criteria with an average recovery of 114%. Finally, two samples were repeated for the pTau, with a good average recovery of 107%. If six samples are considered enough to assess the reproducibility of an assay, four and two might not be enough to give a conclusion for tTau and pTau (Table 6). Though, it already gives information compared to Aβ42 CSF biomarkers in the two batches. This confirmed the analytical variability of the assay and needs to be

considered carefully in the analysis of A β 42. In this thesis, due to separate time receptions of the batches, it was not possible to measure all the samples at once for each biomarker.

Analyte	Αβ42	tTau	рТаи
Sample repeat, n	<i>n</i> = 6	n = 4	n = 2
Sample within the accepted recovery range, n/n	0/6	4/4	2/2
Mean recovery (%)	177	114	107
Recovery range (%)	154-209	104-122	103-111

Table 6: Reproducibility of Alzheimer's hallmarks.

Sample recovery summary from Innotest diagnostic test. Aβ42 concentration recovery of the six CSF was over the acceptance criteria for a good reproducibility (between 70-130%). tTau and pTau reproducibility was acceptable, despite reduced sample sizes.

Because of the poor reproducibility of A β 42 concentration in the NIC cohort, the measurement was repeated with a new kit lot for the MCI and NIC samples. Results are presented with the final analysis in the paragraph III.3 below.

3. Inflammatory biomarkers in CSF

We compared sixteen biomarkers in the CSF of both batches. Four of them had significant increase in the MCI CSF from April 2023 (Mann-Whitney test, p < 0.05) (Figure 31). These biomarkers included the ASC, CRP, sTREM-2 and UCH-L1. The mean concentration was doubled for ASC in the most recent samples batch, and less than that for the two other biomarkers. For most biomarkers, there was a higher number of outliers in the new MCI batch from April 2023.



Figure 31: CSF biomarkers concentrations for the two MCI batches.

Scatter plots of significant CSF biomarkers concentrations differences between the two MCI sample batches. Data bars represent mean (\pm SME). CSF ASC, MCI Dec-2021: 48.83 (4.767) pg/ml, MCI Apr-2023: 93.99 (16.43) pg/ml, p = 0.0159. CSF CRP results; MCI Dec-2021: 30.89 (11.56) ng/ml, MCI Apr-2023: 37.58 (8.572) ng/ml, p = 0.0236. CSF sTREM-2 data; MCI Dec-2021: 28.28 (2.095) ng/ml, MCI Apr-2023: 37.37 (2.525) ng/ml, p =0.0130. Finally, UCH-L1 CSF results; MCI Dec-2021: 837.8 (66.11) pg/ml, MCI Apr-2023: 1494 (127.9) pg/ml.****: *p*-value <0.0001.

Overall, apart from these four biomarkers, the CSF concentrations in the new batch (April 2023) were very similar and in the same range, compared to the ones obtained in the first batch (December 2021).

4. Inflammatory biomarkers in serum

Now, comparing the biomarkers concentrations in the serum, twenty-four proteins were tested and fourteen of them displayed significant differences (Table 7). ASC, Caspase-1, CRP, GFAP, IL-1Ra, IL-6, MCP-1, NFL, sTREM-2, TNF α and YKL-40 concentrations were significantly increased in the batch from April 2023. On the opposite, IL-18BPa, IP-10, and TIMP-1 concentrations were significantly increased in the sample batch received in 2021.

Sample batch	MCI Dec-2021	MCI Apr-2023	n voluo
Analyte	n = 32	n = 43	p-value
ASC (pg/ml)	535.3 (247.8)	794.6 (342.6)	0.0009
Caspase-1 (pg/ml)	4.151 (2.716)	6.675 (6.298)	0.0205
CRP (ng/ml)	3724 (8059)	4827 (7947)	0.0306
GFAP (pg/ml)	151.8 (132.1)	247.3 (210.2)	0.0063
IL-18BPa (pg/ml)	2960 (705.4)	2442 (635.8)	0.0025
IL-1ra (pg/ml)	684.3 (967.3)	932.7 (802.1)	0.0020
IL-6 (pg/ml)	3.162 (3.983)	7.682 (10.74)	0.0008
IP-10 (pg/ml)	131.7 (79.53)	122.7 (143.1)	0.0462
MCP-1 (pg/ml)	389.6 (155.0)	497.0 (251.2)	0.0462
NFL (pg/ml)	58.10 (106.5)	117.0 (243.7)	0.0381
sTREM-2 (ng/ml)	28.28 (11.85)	37.17 (16.56)	0.0130
TIMP-1 (pg/ml)	246.8 (135.5)	221.6 (92.29)	0.0357
TNFα (pg/ml)	1235 (447.9)	1809 (1615)	0.0268
YKL-40 (ng/ml)	95.16 (169.8)	86.97 (77.86)	0.0465

Table 7: Serum biomarkers concentrations significant differences between the two MCIbatches.

Summary of the significant mean (SD) concentration differences and p-values of serum biomarkers between the two MCI sample batches. Mann-Whitney U test with significant p-values < 0.05 are given in bold italic entries.

Globally, samples from the new batch displayed a higher general inflammation (IL-6 and CRP) compared to the previous samples. Similarly, biomarkers concentrations of the inflammasome pathway (ASC, Caspase-1 and IL-1ra) were increased in this batch. Again, there were more, and higher outliers compared to the oldest batch from 2021, which increased the median and mean. Looking at the 24-month stability of these biomarkers, results are quite steady, so it should not have impacted the concentrations. Hence, for most biomarkers, THE range of the means remained the same. This also reflects the complex heterogeneity associated with mild cognitive impairment.

III. Results with the total MCI patients

1. Overview of the soluble biomarkers tested.

Overall, 132 different soluble biomarkers were tested during this thesis project. They allowed to explore several inflammatory pathways and potential inflammatory signature in the MCI patients. Assessments were done with either immunoassays or with Olink[®] semiquantitative method. Some of those proteins were only tested in one matrix, usually serum, and some in all three matrices (CSF, serum and EDTA plasma). Most biomarkers were tested with the first MCI batch (Dec-2021). During the thesis, only biomarkers which seemed to gain interest or have noticeable difference between the cohorts were kept and are described hereafter. For both the quantitative and semi-quantitative methods, some biomarkers were not detectable. Among the cytokines tested with immunoassays, some were below the detection limits, including non-exhaustively: 70 kilodalton (kDa) heat shock protein (hsp70), α - and β - defensin, complement protein c5b9, caspase-8, CD163, CD25, galectin 3 and 9, IL-1 α , IL-2ra, phosphorylated tau isoform pTau231, reactive oxygen species (catalase and glutathione reductase).

2. Population study demographic and characteristics

Population study demographics and clinical characteristics are described in Table 8. Analyses were conducted on Mild Cognitive Impairment due to AD (MCI) patients, Nonimpaired Control (NIC) patients and Healthy Controls (HC). Both CSF and serum were assessed for the MCI and the NIC cohort, and only serum were analysed for the HC cohort. Indeed, CSF collection is only permitted for diseased patients or with suspicion of an injury, such as traumatic brain injury (TBI) in our case. In this study, the age of the population was an inclusion criterion and individuals had to be over fifty years old to age-matched all groups as much as possible. However, comparing statistically the age of the three populations, it was significantly higher for the NIC cohort, and the MCI cohort compared with the healthy controls (p<0.05 and p<0.001 respectively). Nevertheless, there was no significant difference between the NIC and the MCI cohort age-wise.

Now looking at the sex disparity, over 54% of the total subjects involved in this study were women. The HC cohort was divided equally between men and women (50% women), whereas

there were more women in the NIC (62%) and the MCI cohort (52%), although the distribution was not significantly different between the cohorts.

Because the MMSE score was used as an inclusion criterion for the non-impaired and the impaired cohorts, NIC individuals had a median score of 30 and MCI subjects a median score of 23. In addition, 25 MCI patients underwent the DSST test, with a median score of 7.

As mentioned above, CSF collection is limited to diseased patients only. To have a control CSF population, we included patients that were unimpaired and not suffering from any neurodegenerative disease but suspected to have a traumatic brain injury. In our case, all the patients were affected by osteoarthritis (OA). OA is a progressive degenerative disease of the joints. In our study, OA in the NIC cohort accounted for 71% of patients suffering from knee arthritis and 29% from disc herniation. Like AD, age is considered as a major risk factor for OA disease development. Yet, recent evidence and evolution on OA understanding agreed that the inflammation is involved in the pathophysiological process associated with the disease ²⁵².

Cabart	НС	NIC	MCI
consit	<i>n</i> = 30	<i>n</i> = 45	<i>n</i> = 75
Age, years (SD)	59.6 (6.1)	64.8 (6.5)	67.0 (10.8)
Sex (female) <i>,</i> n (%)	15 (50)	28 (62.2)	39 (52)
MMSE [0-30]*	-	30 [30-30]	22 [21-28]
Concomitant disease, n (%)			
Knee arthritis	-	32 (71.1)	-
Disc herniation	-	13 (28.9)	-
Comorbidities, n (%)			
Hypertension	-	2 (4.4)	27 (36.0)
Ischemic heart disease	-	0 (0.0)	27 (36.0)
Diabetes	-	0 (0.0)	2 (2.7)
Treatment, n (%)			
Analgesic, antispasmodic	-	13 (28.9)	-
AchE, Glutamate inhibitors	-	-	57 (76.0)
Cardiovascular related	-	2 (4.4)	27 (36.0)

Table 8: Study population demographics and characteristics.

*Median [1st quartile-3rd quartile]. MMSE: Mini-Mental State Examination. SD: Standard deviation.

Additionally, most NIC and MCI patients were suffering from concomitant diseases, especially heart related diseases and were treated accordingly. Indeed, growing age is also a

risk factor for additional diseases. This is important to note, as in addition to concomitant diseases, their associated treatments might have an effect in activating or regulating the inflammatory response. In addition, 76% of MCI due to AD patients were under symptomatic AD treatment with either acetylcholinesterase inhibitors (Memantine, Rivastigmin, Galantamine, etc) or glutamate inhibitors (Donezepril).

Overall, the NIC and the MCI cohort share similar characteristics in terms of age and sex but are fundamentally different regarding their cognitive abilities. Now, to assess if this capacity can be reflected by biomarkers, we first compared the AD associated hallmarks.

3. Comparison of Alzheimer's disease biomarkers: Amyloid and Tau proteins

Once populations were defined, we investigated the main AD hallmarks biomarkers, namely A β 42, tTau and pTau181 protein concentrations in CSF. We used the Innotest kit, an *in vitro* diagnostic (IVD) test from Fujirebio for all three biomarkers.

Because of the poor reproducibility data obtained while reassessing the NIC samples (see part.II.2 of the results section), we examined the previous experiment that had been done to measure AD hallmarks concentrations. Comparing the standard curve from this experiment with the ones from the run of MCI from Dec-2021 and more recently Apr-2023, we observed a shift in the signal intensity for the standards in the middle of the curve. The signals of the higher standards were also lower compared to the recent runs which explained the poor reproducibility between the two experiments. For this reason, the samples were repeated with a new kit lot. This time, eight MCI samples from Apr-2023 batch were added on the plate to compare the lot-to-lot variability and assess the reproducibility (Table 9).

Analyte	Αβ42
Sample repeat, n	<i>n</i> = 8
Sample within the accepted recovery range, n/n	7/8
Mean recovery (%)	106
Recovery range (%)	91-132

Table 9: Aβ42 Innotest *in vitro* diagnostic test reproducibility.

Eight MCI samples from the Apr-2023 batch were assessed twice with two different A β 42 kit lots. Seven samples fill the acceptance criteria between 70-130% recovery and only one sample was slightly above with a recovery of 132%. Overall, there was a great average recovery of 106% for this assay.

Seven out of eight samples passed the reproducibility acceptance criteria with a recovery average of 106%. The standard curve signals of both runs were compared and matched. This gave us good confidence in the final results obtained for all cohorts.

After re-assessing the A β 42 in the CSF, the mean concentration of the NIC group was shifted, and concentrations were higher compared to the previous run done in 2021 (735 pg/ml vs 496.3 pg/ml respectively) (Figure 32). As a result, there was no significant difference anymore between the MCI cohort and the NIC cohort (*p*-value = 0.4527). Means of both cohorts were comparable and had similar heterogeneity.

Total Tau and pTau181 were also reassessed using the Innotest kit for the complete MCI cohort, which was done with another assay in the published data. For this reason, concentrations differed from the article. Total Tau concentration, which was assessed using the IVD kit, was significantly increased in the MCI cohort (*p*<0.01). MCI cohort mean concentration was almost 1.5-fold higher than the NIC cohort (201.2 pg/ml *vs* 338.9 pg/ml), although concentrations were more scattered. On the other hand, pTau181 CSF concentration was similar between the two groups and no significant difference was observed (NIC: 40.51 pg/ml, MCI: 44.26 pg/ml).



Figure 32: Alzheimer's disease hallmarks CSF concentrations.

Scatter plots of CSF results from Innotest *in vitro* diagnostic test. Bars represent mean (\pm SEM). No significant difference for A β 42: NIC: 735.0 (46.52) pg/ml, MCI: 698.5 (35.83) pg/ml. Significant increase of tTau in the MCI cohort (p < 0.01). NIC: 201.2 (98.18) pg/ml, MCI: 338.9 (42.87) pg/ml. No difference was observed for pTau181, NIC: 40.51 (2.474) pg/ml and MCI: 44.26 (2.897) pg/ml. **: *p*-value < 0.01.

This is particularly interesting as some studies suggest that certain isoforms of pTau might be more specific than others. Those results have been mainly obtained while focusing on tTau and pTau levels in the blood. For instance, pTau217 and pTau231 have gained a lot of interest recently, with promising evidence of a greater sensitivity, especially for pTau217, to discriminate MCI to AD patients ²⁵³. Unfortunately, because of a lack of time, tTau and pTau serum concentrations could not be measured in the last batch of MCI samples. However, pTau231 was tested with an immunoassay in the CSF of the first batch of MCI patients and the NIC cohort, but more than half of the samples was not quantifiable in both cohorts.

As indicated in the publication, we applied A β 42 CSF cutoff proposed by Hulstaert *et al.* to evaluate if patients from the MCI cohort were presenting an AD profile or predicting the disease development ¹²¹. Because of the new A β 42 assessment of the NIC cohort, samples below the cutoff dropped from 28 (62%) to 13, representing 29% of the NIC cohort. For the MCI cohort, the result was almost the same as 32% of the patients were below the cutoff and defined as A β positive (A β +). This was expected given that the two cohorts had similar concentrations. At this point, only the total Tau proteins seemed to differentiate the MCI cohort.

Again, we also calculated the pTau181/Aβ42 ratio, that has been associated with Aβ42 PET imaging and proposed by Harten *et al.*²⁵⁴. This time, the method used was the same as the published one. In the article, the median ratio of the MCI population was 0.021, while the median of the AD population was 0.069. In our study, the median of the NIC and the MCI populations were comparable, 0.051 and 0.055 respectively (*p*=0.3664) (Table 10). They corresponded to an in-between stage of the MCI and the AD populations in the published results. By applying a cutoff of 0.069 for AD positive (AD+) individuals, we found that 31% (13/42) of the NIC and 26% (18/70) of the MCI patients were above this limit. For the MCI cohort, this result was encouraging, knowing that these patients are between the two stages and might progress from MCI to AD. However, comparing with the NIC patients, this ratio does not correlate specifically to dementia and to differentiate both populations.

Cohort	NIC	MCI	NIC vs MCI
Analyte	<i>n</i> = 45	n = 75	<i>p</i> -Value
CSF			
Aβ42 IT pg/mL	735.0 (312.1)	698.5 (310.3)	0.4527
tTau IT pg/mL	201.2 (98.18)	338.9 (356.1)	0.0034
pTau181 IT pg/mL	40.51 (16.41)	44.26 (24.24)	0.5513
AD cutoffs, n (%)			
Aβ42 < 556 pg/mL	13 (29%)	24 (32%)	-
pTau181/Aβ42 (median) [†]	0.051	0.055	-
pTau181/Aβ42 ratio > 0.069	13 (31%)	18 (26%)	-

Table 10: Alzheimer's disease hallmarks.

Continuous variables are described as mean (SD). ⁺ Median value of the ratio which was obtained with individual ratio values. IT: Innotest *in vitro* diagnostic kit from Fujirebio.

Even though our results were differing from the first part, because a different diagnostic kit was used, they still confirmed that biomarkers diagnosis based on the Amyloid and Tau hallmarks is more complicated than it seems. In our results, these biomarkers could not differentiate the demented from the non-demented cohort. To find other neurodegenerative and CNS specific inflammatory signature, we added the assessment of additional soluble biomarkers in the CSF and the serum.

4. Neuroinflammation, astrogliosis, and microgliosis biomarkers in the CSF and the serum

Some biomarkers have been observed and described for their specific role in the CNS in the context of AD and MCI. With this perspective we referred to them as CNS inflammatory biomarkers. It is important to note that these cytokines are not exclusively produced in this compartment and their functions are not limited to the ones described in AD.

CSF biomarkers analyses were completed with the MCI Apr-2023 batch samples. In the CSF, four biomarkers were significantly increased in the MCI cohort. These included GFAP, NFL, OPN, and sTREM-2. Interestingly, both increased cytokines are produced by several cell types including the microglia (OPN, sTREM2) and astrocytes (GFAP) in the brain. In the brain, GFAP and NFL have been associated with neurodegenerative processes and neuronal loss. sTREM2 is a biomarker of reactive microgliosis. During neuroinflammation and AD, reactive microglia, also called microgliosis, is responsible for promoting phagocytosis and clearance of apoptotic neurons ²⁵⁵. TREM-2 is an innate immune receptor expressed by microglia and is

involved in microglial functions such as cytokine release, phagocytosis, proliferation, and migration. Moreover, TREM-2 has been genetically linked to AD. A rare variant of TREM-2 is thought to contribute to the pathogenic effect of the protein ⁸⁴. The TREM-2 variant could cause a loss of the protein function which could reduce the microglial response to toxic metabolite and their clearance in the brain. The soluble TREM-2 could then serve as a surrogate measure of the microglial activity ²⁵⁶. As a result, CSF sTREM-2 has been studied in the AD continuum. Results suggest that CSF TREM-2 is increased in early AD such as MCI ^{257,258}.

In addition, osteopontin (also called secreted phosphoprotein 1 (SPP1)) is a glycoprotein produced by various cells, including microglia in the brain. OPN is a multifunctional protein involved in different processes such as inflammation, biomineralization, cell viability and wound healing ²⁵⁹. Upregulation of OPN has been linked with neurodegenerative and neuroinflammatory conditions as well as autoimmune diseases. In the context of AD, OPN has mainly been investigated for its inflammatory ability including cell death and migration of potentially damaging inflammatory cells. OPN secretion by microglia activates and recruits macrophages and resident cells that modulate the inflammatory response. CSF OPN levels have been associated with regional brain volumes and white matter lesions ²⁶⁰. In fact, OPN interacts with multiple ligands including cell surface receptors such as integrin and a site for CD44. Interestingly, OPN has been highlighted to be at the crosstalk between the innate and the adaptive immunity by acting on macrophages to upregulate IL-12 production and mediate T helper (Th) development. At the same time, acting on Th cells, OPN promotes production of IL-17 and inhibits production of IL-10. By doing that, OPN induces hypomethylation of IFNy and IL-17a genes which will enhance the differentiation of Th1 and Th17 cells directly and induce polarization of the cells ²⁶¹.

Looking at our results, they confirmed the activation of microgliosis and astrogliosis via soluble cytokines. All biomarkers, except for the UCH-L1, had a higher mean concentration but also a greater disparity in the MCI cohort, confirming our first results (Figure 33). UCH-L1 significant increase in the NIC cohort could be explained by the fact that NIC patients have a suspicion of TBI. Indeed UCH-L1 is a highly abundant protein in the brain and expressed by

neurons. Because of its fundamental role in neuronal maintenance, UCH-L1 has been studied in various pathologies including cancer and traumatic brain injury ^{262,263}.



Figure 33: Significant CSF concentrations differences between the NIC and the MCI cohorts.

Scatter plots of glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), Neurofilament light chain protein (NFL), osteopontin (OPN), soluble TREM-2 (sTREM-2) and Ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1) concentration in CSF. Bars represent mean (± SEM). Significant increases were observed for GFAP, NIC: 5737 (517.9) pg/ml, MCI: 9847 (1116) pg/ml; NFL, NIC: 1164 (254.0) pg/ml, MCI: 2220 (417.6) pg/ml; OPN, NIC:254.8 (17.87) ng/ml, MCI: 592.3 (56.47) ng/ml; and sTREM-2, NIC: 14.16 (0.8867) ng/ml, MCI: 23.37 (1.542) ng/ml in the MCI cohort. Then UCH-L1, NIC: 1430 (67.49) pg/ml, MCI: 1214 (751.5) pg/ml was increased in the NIC cohort. ****: *p*-value < 0.0001.

Comparing those biomarkers in the serum, only OPN and GFAP were significantly different between the non-impaired and mild impaired cohorts. For GFAP, the trend was the same in both matrices, we observed an increase in the serum and the CSF of the MCI cohort

only. GFAP is the signature intermediate filament of astrocytes ²⁶⁴. Astrocytes, which account for 30-40% of the cells in the CNS, are essential to the normal function of synapses and contribute to axonal metabolic maintenance. Astrocytes maintain the homeostasis for the optimal functioning of the brain ²⁶⁵. In the case of an injury or a diseased state in the brain, such as AD, astrocytes respond to the homeostasis changes by a mechanism called reactive astrogliosis. To harmonize the definition of reactive astrogliosis, a consensus statement was given by a group of experts. Reactive astrogliosis has been defined as 'the process whereby, in response to pathology, astrocytes engage in molecularly defined programs involving changes in transcriptional regulation, as well as biochemical, morphological, metabolic and physiological remodeling, which ultimately result in gain of new function(s) or loss or up-regulation of homeostatic ones, in response to pathology' ²⁶⁶. In this context, GFAP has been studied as a promising biomarker. Both CSF and plasma GFAP levels have been associated with Alzheimer's disease severity ^{267,268}. During neurological disorders, GFAP is released in the brain and can diffuse into the blood compartment. As a result, blood GFAP has the potential to reflect the disease progression and severity.

Surprisingly, the OPN serum result had an opposite trend compared to the CSF. Indeed, CSF OPN concentration was over two-fold higher in the MCI patients whereas it was just over one-fold increased in the serum of the NIC cohort. In fact, OPN is produced by different types of cells in the systemic circulation and the brain, so it is expected that concentrations will not necessarily be similar in both compartments. However, it could indicate that OPN has a more specific role in the brain of MCI patients, especially acting on the microglia, which is responsible for Aβ plaques clearance ²⁶⁹. Furthermore, OPN production has been associated with inflammatory and bone remodeling processes in OA, which could explain the increased serum level ²⁷⁰.

Most proteins had comparable concentrations between both cohorts, except for YKL-40 which had a non-significant two-fold increased mean concentration in the NIC serum (Table 11). Similarly to the OPN, this cytokine is produced by different cells in both compartments. In MCI, YKL-40 has been linked with astrocytes and microglia activation around the senile plaques in the brain and its use as a biomarker was therefore suggested in

120

the CSF ²⁷¹. In fact, little is known on its involvement in the blood during MCI development. On the opposite, YKL-40 in serum has gained interest in OA where it has been proposed as a potential biomarker. Study demonstrated that its level in serum correlated with the disease severity ²⁷². In the end, the NIC cohort is a good indicator of an activated inflammatory response in the blood compartment.

Cohort	нс	NIC	MCI	HC <i>vs</i> NIC	HC <i>vs</i> MCI	NIC <i>vs</i> MCI
Analyte	<i>n</i> = 30	<i>n</i> = 45	n = 75	<i>p</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value
CSF						
GFAP pg/ml	-	5737 (3396)	9847 (9665)	-	-	0.0078
NFL pg/ml	-	1164 (1685)	2220 (3616)	-	-	0.0007
OPN ng/ml	-	254.8 (119.9)	592.3 (489.1)	-	-	<0.0001
TIMP-1 ng/ml	-	53.36 (16.96)	93.17 (107.0)	-	-	0.0736
sTREM-2 ng/ml	-	14.16 (5.948)	23.37 (13.35)	-	-	<0.0001
UCH-L1 pg/ml	-	1430 (447.7)	1214 (751.5)	-	-	0.0005
YKL-40 ng/ml	-	172.5 (75.31)	237.9 (179.4)	-	-	0.0613
Serum						
GFAP pg/ml	94.64 (38.90)	133.0 (84.99)	206.6 (186.1)	0.1209	<0.0001	0.0324
NFL pg/ml	14.20 (8.039)	33.67 (29.70)	91.55 (197.5)	0.0001	0.0012	0.9161
OPN ng/ml	41.57 (19.80)	93.07 (42.22)	79.63 (137.1)	<0.0001	0.0132	<0.0001
TIMP-1 ng/ml	111.1 (39.74)	230.6 (58.89)	223.2 (73.30)	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.8673
sTREM-2 ng/ml	40.49 (19.42)	30.90 (12.31)	33.38 (15.30)	0.0609	0.2643	>0.9999
YKL-40 ng/ml	67.05 (69.11)	156.2 (274.9)	78.33 (71.22)	0.0574	0.1546	>0.9999

Table 11: Central nervous system inflammatory biomarkers concentrations in CSF and serum.

Biomarkers concentrations in the CSF in the upper panel and the serum in the lower panel. Continuous variables are presented as mean (SD). No CSF is available for the HC cohort.

Now comparing the MCI cohort with the HC cohort, biomarkers concentrations were all higher, except for sTREM-2, in the MCI patients including significantly for GFAP, OPN, TIMP-1. This confirmed that in addition to the brain, those biomarkers are circulating in the bloodstream, although very little is known on their role in this compartment in context of AD. Overall, inflammatory mediators of the central nervous system seemed more specific in the CSF of the MCI cohort. Indeed, biomarkers were more abundant in comparison to the other cohorts.

5. Inflammatory circulating cytokines

Results suggest that inflammatory mediators specific to AD are highly associated to the CSF compared to the serum. We investigated if the situation was the same for the systemic

inflammation and its related biomarkers and wanted to determine the general inflammatory status of the cohorts. Our analyses included biomarkers secreted by the innate immunity cells, such as IL-6 and TNFα and commonly used in clinical assessment such as CRP. These mediators are at the frontline of the human body defence against external pathogens but also homeostasis change related, for instance, to internal pathology. In addition, biomarkers which are more specific to the lymphocyte T cells reaction and the adaptative immunity were added. These biomarkers included, IL-17a, IL-2 and IL-4. Results are summarized in Table 12.

Cohort	НС	NIC	MCI	HC <i>vs</i> NIC	HC <i>vs</i> MCI	NIC <i>vs</i> MCI
Analyte	<i>n</i> = 30	<i>n</i> = 45	<i>n</i> = 75	<i>p</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value
Serum						
CRP μg/ml	4.362 (5.159)	14.51 (22.44)	4.350 (7.960)	0.0763	0.2768	< 0.0001
IFNγ fg/ml	671.6 (940.2)	667.2 (716.7)	715.6 (623.7)	>0.9999	0.1293	0.6566
IL-10 pg/ml	2.190 (1.151)	6.094 (5.195)	5.080 (11.20)	<0.0001	0.0004	0.0067
IL-17a fg/ml	270.7 (175.9)	936.7 (922.7)	1200 (2114)	<0.0001	<0.0001	>0.9999
IL-1β fg/ml	90.74 (157.6)	211.7 (161.5)	510.0 (759.0)	0.0003	<0.0001	0.0051
IL-2 fg/ml	145.5 (79.85)	145.7 (209.7)	181.8 (223.4)	0.3644	0.3427	>0.9999
IL-4 fg/ml	25.60 (15.94)	81.57 (52.28)	114.0 (101.8)	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.9666
IL-6 pg/ml	7.807 (18.71)	42.76 (71.71)	5.754 (8.782)	0.4183	0.1906	0.0002
IL-8 pg/ml	19.67 (19.65)	35.19 (37.69)	140.1 (274.8)	0.0185	<0.0001	0.0048
IP-10 pg/ml	123.4 (75.34)	97.20 (85.05)	126.6 (119.6)	0.0352	>0.9999	0.1013
MCP-1 pg/ml	207.1 (68.54)	536.1 (220.5)	451.2 (220.8)	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0799
TNFα fg/ml	602.7(249.0)	1560 (606.7)	1578 (1305)	<0.0001	<0.0001	>0.9999

Table 12: Systemic inflammatory biomarkers concentrations in serum.

Continuous variables are presented as mean (SD).

Comparing results between the NIC and the MCI cohort, CRP, IL-10 and IL-6 remained significantly increased in the NIC cohort. However, IL-1 β and IL-8 serum concentrations were both significantly increased in the MCI cohort. This confirmed our preliminary results. Most inflammatory biomarkers had similar concentrations between the MCI and the NIC cohort which were both higher compared to the HC cohort (*i.e.* IL-4, MCP-1, TNF α). This suggests that both cohorts have a high systemic inflammatory status. Interestingly, IL-17a and IL-4 were significantly increased in the MCI cohort compared to the healthy controls. As for IFN γ and IL-2, there was no difference between the three cohorts (Figure 34).



Figure 34: Systemic inflammation biomarkers concentrations.

The heterogeneity of the MCI cohort is displayed by the scatter plots. It is particularly striking for CRP, IL-1 β , IL-4, IL-8 and MCP-1, whereas some cytokines have similar sample distribution, such as IL-10 and TNF α . Significant differences were tested with Kruskal-Wallis test.

The heterogeneity of the MCI patients was once again increased compared to the other cohorts for most biomarkers. Even if more samples were added to the MCI cohort, the same pattern was already observed in the first part of the results with twice less samples.

Then, we compared the same proteins in the CSF. Results are compiled in Table 13. They confirmed what had been observed in the preliminary results, with IP-10 and IL-8 significant concentration increase. In addition, the higher sample size permitted establishing new significant differences including for the CRP and the IL-6. This corroborates with the trend observed for the CNS biomarkers. Especially for the CRP and the IL-6 levels, for which the tendency was completely reversed between the serum and the CSF. Indeed, when the CRP mean concentration in serum was around four times higher in the NIC cohort, in the CSF, the CRP mean concentration was four times increased in the MCI cohort. Here again all biomarkers were significantly increased in the MCI cohort compared with the NIC cohort, which correlates with the fact that AD is a CNS related disease.

Cohort	NIC	MCI	NIC <i>vs</i> MCI
Analyte	<i>n</i> = 45	n = 75	<i>p</i> -value
CSF			
CRP ng/ml	8.360 (15.69)	34.81 (57.72)	0.0032
IL-6 pg/ml	3.541 (3.332)	36.55 (113.7)	0.0048
IL-8 pg/ml	41.36 (20.63)	150.1 (266.9)	<0.0001
IP-10 ng/ml	131.4 (65.38)	273.3 (277.4)	0.0004
MCP-1 pg/ml	602.7 (232.4)	707.8 (486.9)	0.5461

Table 13: Inflammatory biomarkers concentrations in the CSF.

Continuous variables are presented as mean (SD). No CSF was available for the HC cohort. Only the MCI and NIC cohorts could be measured.

Results with the additional MCI samples allowed to confirm increased levels of biomarkers in the CSF. The only two biomarkers which seemed more MCI specific in the serum were the IL-1 β and IL-8. Accordingly, we wanted to investigate and confirm the link between IL-1 β and the inflammasome pathway in both matrices.

1. IL-16 and the inflammasome pathway

The inflammasome pathway is an alternate inflammatory response part of the innate immunity. Results with the first batch of MCI samples demonstrated a strong correlation between the inflammasome cascade biomarkers ASC and Caspase-1 with IL-1 β . Because our results demonstrated a significant increase of IL-1 β serum concentration with the second batch of MCI patients, we investigated if the link with the inflammasome pathway was still effective.

First, it seemed that the additional samples had an impact on the ASC and IL-18 concentrations. In the CSF, both mean concentrations were 1.5-fold increased, going from 48.83 pg/ml to 74.22 pg/ml for ASC and from 3.325 pg/ml to 5.220 pg/ml for IL-18. This did not impact much the comparisons between the MCI and NIC patients, which remained statistically non-significant, mainly because of the high inflammatory status heterogeneity in the MCI patients.

IL-18 is a proinflammatory cytokine that has been described essentially in the blood. IL-18 is a member of the IL-1 family of cytokines and is expressed by lymphoid and myeloid cells. This mediator is involved in inducing IFN γ and Th1, NK (Natural Killer), Th2 and macrophage activation. IL-18 is being processed into its active mature form by caspase-1, similarly to IL-1 β . Once secreted, IL-18 binds to its receptors IL-18R α followed by IL-18R β . Using the IL-1 signaling pathway, this will induce the production of inflammatory mediators ²⁷³. IL-18 can also bind with a high affinity to its binding protein (BP). IL-18BP is secreted in response to IL-18 and act as an inhibitor, preventing binding of IL-18 to its receptor. Doing so, IL-18BPa inhibits IL-18 induced IFN γ production ²⁷⁴. For this reason, we added the measurement of IL-18BPa as a further downstream and more distal biomarker of the inflammasome.

In our study, serum IL-18 and IL-18BPa concentrations were comparable between the three cohorts. Interestingly, IL-18BPa concentration was ten- and over two hundreds-times higher than IL-18 concentration in the serum and the CSF respectively. This might impact the quantification of the soluble IL-18 as the BPa could bind to IL-18, blocking antibodies from the assays to recognize and capture it. In AD, IL-18 concentration and expression have been observed in the blood and the CSF ^{275,276}. Because of its role in the inflammatory processes in

125

a broader sense, IL-18 has been studied to be involved in a variety of diseases and conditions. In the context of OA, IL-18 serum secretion has been linked to chondrocytes and could participate in destructive alterations of the joints via TNF α induction. Additionally, correlations between IL-18 and YKL-40 have been observed in the serum of OA patients ²⁷⁷. This is interesting given that YKL-40 concentration was increased in the NIC patients.

In serum, the addition of samples did not impact drastically the results. However, the inflammasome biomarkers ASC and Caspase-1 were increased in the MCI cohort although not significantly compared to the NIC cohort (Table 14). This indicates that the inflammasome could be activated in MCI patients, but the overall heterogeneity of the population decreases the statistical significance of the pathway.

Cohort	НС	NIC	MCI	HC <i>vs</i> NIC	HC <i>vs</i> MCI	NIC <i>vs</i> MCI
Analyte	<i>n</i> = 30	<i>n</i> = 45	n = 75	<i>p</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value	<i>p</i> -value
CSF						
ASC pg/ml	-	45.20 (15.75)	74.72 (85.99)	-	-	0.1049
IL-18 pg/ml	-	2.622 (1.830)	5.220 (9.501)	-	-	0.0910
IL-18BPa pg/ml	-	928.9 (318.7)	1153 (482.8)	-	-	0.0453
Serum						
ASC pg/ml	396.3 (426.2)	550.0 (199.3)	683.9 (330.2)	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.3443
Caspase-1 pg/ml	0.9008 (1.049)	3.626 (1.453)	5.583 (5.196)	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.3036
IL-1β fg/ml	90.74 (157.6)	211.7 (161.5)	510.0 (759.0)	0.0003	<0.0001	0.0051
IL-1 Ra fg/ml	272.3 (164.4)	833.0 (443.2)	826.7 (878.9)	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.5016
IL-18 pg/ml	222.6 (100.1)	219.4 (156.7)	240.2 (123.7)	0.9904	>0.9999	0.0953
IL-18BPa pg/ml	2972 (478.7)	2786 (584.1)	2659 (709.3)	0.6710	0.0257	0.4066

Table 14: Inflammasome pathway biomarkers concentrations.

Summary table results of CSF and serum biomarkers concentrations related to the Inflammasome pathway.

Now, if both pathways are activated, we expected to obtain the same correlations between the biomarkers' concentrations. Our preliminary results demonstrated a significant and strong correlation between IL-1 β and the NLRP3 related biomarkers in the MCI patients. Here, we tested again the Spearman correlations between the biomarkers' concentrations (Figure 35).



Figure 35: Spearman r heatmaps of inflammasome biomarkers in the serum.

The heatmaps display the r-values of spearman tests between inflammasome and related biomarkers in the serum. The HC cohort is on the left, the NIC cohort in the middle and the MCI cohort on the right panel. Results were considered significant when the *p*-value was < 0.05 and the r value was \geq 0.50 or \leq -0.50.

Drawing correlations between the biomarkers involved in the NLRP3 cascade in serum, some of the strong correlations obtained with the preliminary results between IL-1β and ASC and Caspase-1 were not significant anymore with the addition of samples. There was still a very strong link between ASC and Caspase-1, but the significant r-values with IL-1β were decreased. On the other hand, correlations with IL-1Ra, which is also a downstream biomarker of the cascade, were still significant with ASC and the Caspase-1. In addition, there was no correlation with the inflammasome biomarkers and IL-18, nor with IL-1β and IL-18. Yet, both have conjointly been described to be secreted as direct downstream biomarkers of the caspase-1 cascade ²¹⁵. Increasing evidence in the inflammasome field have permitted to characterize distinct pathways such as the NLRP3, NLRC4, NLRP-1 and AIM2 ²⁷⁸. As a result, different Caspase type could be involved in the IL-1β and IL-18 maturation such as the Capase-8 ²⁷⁹. For this reason, we tried to measure the Caspase-8 concentration in the serum, but the protein was not quantifiable with the kit tested.

In the CSF, most soluble biomarkers including Caspase-1, IL-1 α , IL-1 β and IL-1Ra were too low to be quantified. As a result, it was not possible to conclude on the link between the inflammasome proteins and the secretion of IL-1 β . However, available concentrations of soluble ASC, IL-18 and IL-18BPa enabled to investigate the potential activation of the pathway in the brain (Figure 36). In the MCI cohort, both IL-18 and IL-18BPa were significantly correlated with ASC as well as IL-18 and IL-18BPa together. This suggests an activation of the inflammasome pathway in the brain and the regulation of IL-18 activation by the production of IL-18BPa. Surprisingly, in the NIC cohort, similar correlations were observed between ASC and IL-18 and IL-18BPa, although there was no significant link between IL-18 and IL-18BPa concentrations.



Figure 36: Spearman r heatmaps of inflammasome biomarkers in CSF.

R values of spearman tests between inflammasome and related biomarkers concentrations in the CSF. The NIC cohort is on the left panel and the MCI cohort is on the right panel. Results were considered significant when the *p*-value was < 0.05 and the r value was \ge 0.50 or \le -0.50.

In the CNS, IL-18 might participate in neurodegenerative processes and influence the homeostasis behaviour. Evidence demonstrated that IL-18 is expressed both by astrocytes and microglia but also neurons in a variety of brain regions. In addition, *in vivo* analyses on animal model showed that IL-18 receptors were expressed in neurons throughout the brain ²⁸⁰. *In vitro* culture of neuron like cell exposed to IL-18 demonstrated higher levels of APP and its processing products and enzymes, in addition with an increase of Aβ40 production ²⁸¹. On the contrary, the effect of IL-18 was inhibited when the cells were exposed to IL-18BP. This could explain the correlation between IL-18 and IL-18BPa in the CSF of patients with MCI. Interestingly, CSF and serum IL-18R increased levels have also been observed in OA ^{282,283}. This might explain the lack of significant statistical concentration difference between the two cohorts.

Overall, the strong correlations with IL-1 β and the inflammasome biomarkers were attenuated with the addition of samples. The fact remained that inflammasome was potentially activated in the serum of both the MCI and the NIC cohorts. Although the inflammasome is most probably not single-handedly responsible or involved in IL-1 β production. In the CSF, it looked like the pathway could be activated as well, although it is difficult to attest because of the few quantifiable biomarkers in this matrix.

2. IL-8, neutrophils, and innate immunity

The second biomarker that stand out from our analyses was IL-8. Indeed, concentrations of this cytokine were significantly increased in both the serum and the CSF of the MCI cohort. As a result, we investigated its potential role in the neurodegenerative context.

IL-8 is a pro-inflammatory chemokine produced by monocytes, endothelial cells, and different epithelial cells ²⁸⁴. In the bloodstream, IL-8 is mainly known for its chemoattractant ability. Indeed, release of IL-8 is responsible for the recruitment of monocytes and neutrophils to the site of injury. Increased IL-8 production has been reported in the bloodstream of patients with different inflammatory and autoimmune diseases, infections, and cancers ^{285–287}. In the brain, IL-8 is produced by the microglia and astrocytes ²⁸⁸. IL-8 is produced early in the inflammatory response as part of the innate immunity. In the brain, the microglia are the primary cells responding to a pathogenic insult such as the Aβ depositions. Thus, activated microglia could secrete IL-8 at the beginning of the pathogenesis. Moreover, evidence have demonstrated that microglia express IL-8 receptors, yet those cells have been identified in dystrophic neurites ^{289,290}. In MCI and AD, increased levels of IL-8 have been observed in both MCI and dementia stages of the disease and in both blood biofluids and the CSF ^{291,292}.

In addition, studies suggest that the chemotactic properties of IL-8 are extended to the blood brain barrier. Indeed, evidence of neutrophils and monocytes crossing through the BBB have been associated with IL-8 in Alzheimer's and other neurodegenerative diseases ²⁹³.

Neutrophils are part of the innate immunity and among the first cells to arrive at the site of infection or inflammation. Their roles include the generation of reactive oxygen species
(ROS). Neutrophils can generate superoxide anion (O_2^{-1}) via the phagocytosis of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase. O_2^{-1} will dismutate to hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂). One biomarker that is specifically expressed by neutrophils, is the myeloperoxidase (MPO). This enzyme catalyzes the oxidation of chloride and halide ions in the presence of hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) ²⁹⁴. The role of neutrophils have mainly been described in the bloodstream, while little is known on their presence and potential activation in the brain.

To investigate the neutrophils involvement in MCI and IL-8 production, we added measurements of ROS related enzyme: catalase and glutathione reductase. Unfortunately, both enzymes were undetectable in serum samples. However, we were able to measure the MPO in the serum. Subsequently, we tested the Spearman correlation between IL-8 and MPO in serum to investigate the link between IL-8 secretion and the presence of neutrophils. The correlation obtained was not significant (*p*-value = 0.0965). Consequently, we could not conclude that IL-8 in the serum of MCI patients is only linked with the presence of neutrophils, although we cannot exclude it as well. It is more likely possible that IL-8 is secreted by different cell types and pathways, especially in the blood. Unfortunately, due to a lack of time, MPO concentration was not measured in the CSF, nor the serum of the other cohorts.

6. Central vs Systemic inflammation: role of serum as a surrogate matrix to CSF

After comparing both blood matrices, we focused on the use of serum as a surrogate to the CSF. CSF has been used as the reference matrix in AD and is predominant in most studies and the clinical diagnosis. Because neurodegenerative changes associated with AD are taking place in the brain, this matrix seemed appropriate to reflect Amyloid and Tau depositions. CSF was proposed as an alternative to PET imaging after results demonstrated analogous outcomes between both technologies ^{131,147}. Although the blood compartment could be a very promising in facilitating the diagnosis, it is vital to make sure that it reflects the pathophysiological changes associated with the disorder. In the following paragraph, we compared for each biomarker its concentration in the CSF *versus* in the serum. Results are only available for the MCI and NIC cohorts as there were the only cohorts with both matrices at our disposal. No additional correlations were done with the Alzheimer's disease hallmarks since there were not measured in serum.

130

1. Astrogliosis, microgliosis and neuroinflammation biomarkers

To explore how biomarkers associated with the CNS cells and processes behaved in the blood compartment, we correlated their levels in both matrices with Spearman tests. Results are summarized in the Table 15.

MCI				Serum bioma	rkers (r <i>, p</i>)		
n = 75		GFAP	NFL	OPN	TIMP-1	TREM-2	YKL-40
	GFAP	0.2865	0.2267	0.0995	0.0534	0.1428	0.1088
		0.0127	0.0521	0.3956	0.6489	0.2216	0.3530
	NFL	0.3668	0.3820	0.1579	0.1522	0.1724	0.2292
		0.0012	0.0008	0.1761	0.1924	0.1392	0.0479
	OPN	0.0668	0.0801	0.2442	0.0606	0.0316	-0.0567
CSF		0.5689	0.4973	0.0347	0.6057	0.7876	0.6291
biomarkers (r, p)	TIMP-1	0.4840	0.3910	0.3091	0.2989	0.3800	0.3400
		<0.0001	0.0006	0.0070	0.0092	0.0008	0.0028
	TREM-2	0.2586	0.2811	0.2184	-0.1300	0.0952	0.1510
		0.0251	0.0153	0.0597	0.2663	0.4166	0.1961
	YKL-40	0.1985	0.3453	0.2497	0.1842	0.1576	0.2300
		0.0878	0.0026	0.0307	0.1136	0.1768	0.0471

NIC				Serum biomar	rkers (r <i>, p</i>)		
n = 45		GFAP	NFL	OPN	TIMP-1	TREM-2	YKL-40
	GFAP	0.4533	0.1891	0.1205	-0.1148	0.2454	0.2221
		0.0023	0.2247	0.4415	0.4637	0.1127	0.1522
	NFL	-0.1323	0.6498	0.2884	0.1262	-0.0310	0.0046
		0.3921	<0.0001	0.0576	0.4144	0.8416	0.9764
	OPN	0.3290	-0.2163	0.1009	-0.1630	0.1722	0.1801
CSF		0.0273	0.1535	0.5095	0.2848	0.2580	0.2365
biomarkers (r, p)	TIMP-1	0.1642	0.2447	0.2868	0.0972	-0.0082	0.1759
		0.2812	0.1053	0.0561	0.5252	0.9575	0.2478
	TREM-2	0.2850	0.1461	0.1132	-0.0584	0.1772	0.0157
		0.0578	0.3382	0.4592	0.7033	0.2442	0.9186
	YKL-40	0.4896	0.0072	0.1665	-0.0568	0.3033	0.3545
		0.0006	0.9623	0.2742	0.7110	0.0428	0.0169

Table 15: Correlations between CSF and serum central nervous system associated biomarkers.

Spearman r- and *p*-values in the MCI cohort (upper panel) and the NIC cohort (lower panel). Correlation was considered significant if the r value was \geq 0.50 or \leq -0.50 and the *p*-value was \leq 0.05. r values \geq 0.50 or \leq -0.50 and *p*-values \leq 0.05 are given in bold italic entries.

With additional samples in the MCI cohort, none of the biomarkers correlated significantly between the matrices. Results remained consistent for the NIC cohort, for which only NFL correlated positively between the CSF and the serum. The NFL protein is a specific biomarker of the neuro-axonal damage, as it is released in the extracellular space of the brain. Studies suggest that after release in the brain, NFL could be measured in the CSF until it potentially diffuses into the bloodstream where it could be analysed as well. A longitudinal study in a cognitively normal aging population demonstrated an increased level of serum NFL with age, associated with a higher variability for individuals over 60 years, and the acceleration of neuronal injury at higher age ²⁹⁵. In the NIC cohort, this direct correlation could reflect age related neuronal damages, while in the MCI cohort, NFL levels result from the combination of aging and chronic neurodegenerative processes.

Results obtained demonstrated poor correlations between most biomarkers in the CSF and the serum. Yet, some of those biomarkers have been correlated with MCI and neurodegenerative processes in the blood (GFAP, NFL) ^{223,264}. While these proteins are specifically associated with the CNS, other biomarkers (OPN, TIMP-1, sTREM-2, YKL-40) are known to be released both in the brain and the systemic circulation and are secreted by different cell types.

2. Systemic inflammation biomarkers

Comparing the inflammatory biomarkers associated with the systemic inflammation, we found some significant concentrations increases in serum of the NIC cohort (CRP and IL-6), while the opposite was observed in the CSF of the MCI cohort. Then, CSF IL-8 and serum IL-8 concentrations were both significantly increased in the MCI cohort. Looking at the systemic inflammation biomarkers, CRP for instance, is well-known to be only produced by the liver in the blood circulation ²⁹⁶. This makes it a great control for the central-systemic inflammation crosstalk.

In the MCI cohort, CRP correlates between both matrices but not in the NIC cohort, suggesting potentially a higher permeability of the blood brain barrier in the patients with MCI. In contrast to CRP, there was no correlation for IL-8, indicating that production of this cytokine could occur independently and in parallel in both compartments. This was the case for all the other inflammatory mediators. Interestingly, CSF CRP concentration was linked to serum IL-6 concentration. This is relevant given that CRP production is known to be stimulated by IL-6²⁹⁶. Both those proteins are measured clinically in the serum as biomarkers of the systemic inflammation ^{297,298}. IL-6 is secreted during the cytokine storm which is early on after

132

an infection or a tissue injury and will contribute to the innate immune response 299 . Spearman r- and *p*-values were calculated and are summarized in Table 16.

M	CI				Serum b	piomarkers	(r <i>, p</i>)		
n =	75	ASC	CRP	IL-18	IL-18BPa	IL-6	IL-8	IP-10	MCP-1
	ASC	0.2042	0.2932	0.0547	0.2557	0.4124	0.2139	-0.0716	0.1731
		0.0788	0.0112	0.6410	0.0279	0.0002	0.0672	0.5414	0.1376
	CRP	0.2827	0.5645	0.2672	0.2759	0.5001	0.2488	-0.0467	0.1059
		0.0177	<0.0001	0.0254	0.0218	<0.0001	0.0393	0.7009	0.3831
	IL-18	0.1552	0.2416	0.1743	0.2459	0.3983	0.1155	-0.0311	0.1917
		0.1836	0.0381	0.1348	0.0347	0.0004	0.3272	0.7912	0.0995
	IL-18BPa	0.1671	0.2260	0.1652	0.3551	0.2665	0.0085	0.0811	0.1987
CSF		0.1548	0.0546	0.1595	0.0021	0.0217	0.9429	0.4920	0.0896
biomarkers	IL-6	0.0947	0.2583	-0.0294	0.1966	0.2405	0.1229	-0.1371	0.2242
(,)		0.4189	0.0263	0.8024	0.0932	0.0377	0.2969	0.2409	0.0532
	IL-8	0.0537	0.1520	-0.1070	0.0007	0.0719	-0.0164	-0.1581	0.0133
		0.6473	0.1960	0.3608	0.9953	0.5399	0.8899	0.1754	0.9101
	IP-10	0.1371	-0.0319	-0.0513	0.0555	0.1446	0.0746	-0.0825	0.1070
		0.2409	0.7870	0.6623	0.6386	0.2159	0.5275	0.4818	0.3610
	MCP-1	0.1958	0.3510	0.0825	0.2883	0.3126	0.1180	0.0864	0.0711
		0.0923	0.0022	0.4814	0.0127	0.0063	0.3167	0.4613	0.5444

NI	С				Serum bioma	rkers (r <i>, p</i>)			
<i>n</i> =	45	ASC	CRP	IL-18	IL-18BPa	IL-6	IL-8	IP-10	MCP-1
	ASC	0.3820	-0.1324	0.1039	0.1457	0.0591	0.1360	0.1158	0.0259
		0.0096	0.3975	0.4970	0.3395	0.6998	0.3729	0.4487	0.8659
	CRP	0.0807	0.3990	0.0848	0.1173	0.3481	0.4084	0.1329	-0.0042
		0.6069	0.0098	0.5887	0.4536	0.0222	0.0065	0.3956	0.9785
	IL-18	0.1333	-0.1515	0.6151	0.1684	0.0498	0.1765	0.0922	0.1457
		0.3828	0.3323	<0.0001	0.2689	0.7453	0.2462	0.5471	0.3395
	IL-18BPa	0.2719	-0.0779	-0.0149	0.2754	0.0497	0.0427	0.3467	-0.1589
CSF		0.0707	0.6194	0.9227	0.0671	0.7459	0.7807	0.0197	0.2972
biomarkers (r p)	IL-6	0.1329	0.1630	-0.0052	0.2644	0.1936	0.3506	0.2905	0.2833
(1) (2)		0.3842	0.2962	0.9731	0.0793	0.2025	0.0182	0.0529	0.0593
	IL-8	0.2775	-0.1349	0.0020	0.1739	0.0559	0.1851	0.3193	-0.0266
		0.0649	0.3883	0.9894	0.2534	0.7152	0.2236	0.0325	0.8622
	IP-10	0.0427	0.1135	0.1185	0.1674	0.1948	0.3255	0.3278	0.1262
		0.7807	0.4687	0.4380	0.2717	0.1997	0.0291	0.0280	0.4087
	MCP-1	0.0486	0.1876	0.0061	0.1798	0.1601	0.3827	0.1591	0.2178
		0.7511	0.2284	0.9681	0.2372	0.2935	0.0095	0.2965	0.1507

 Table 16: Correlations between CSF and serum systemic inflammatory biomarkers.

Spearman r- and *p*-values in the MCI cohort (upper panel) and the NIC cohort (lower panel). r values \geq 0.50 or \leq -0.50 and *p*-values \leq 0.05 are given in bold italic entries

In the NIC cohort, only IL-18 correlated positively and significantly between the two matrices. Interestingly, as mentioned above, this cytokine has been observed in the context of OA in both matrices ^{282,283}.

7. Relationship between Inflammatory biomarkers and Alzheimer's disease hallmarks

How AD hallmarks, microglial, astrocytic, and inflammatory mediators are influenced and connected with each other is crucial to understand the link between the disease and the cellular processes involved. We tested the correlations between the Amyloid and Tau biomarkers together with the rest of the biomarkers quantifiable in the CSF (Table 17). Note that results are different from the ones in the first part for the NIC cohort because AD hallmarks were re-assessed with a different test (Innotest IVD test).

MCI				CSF I	piomarkers	(r <i>, p</i>)		
n = 75		GFAP	NFL	OPN	TIMP-1	sTREM-2	UCH-L1	YKL-40
	Αβ42	0.0114	-0.2446	-0.0625	-0.2816	-0.0162	-0.0385	0.0060
		0.9226	0.0344	0.5942	0.0144	0.8904	0.7430	0.9594
CSF biomarkers	tTau	0.3462	0.5261	0.4533	0.3464	0.3133	0.3701	0.3896
(r <i>, p</i>)		0.0036	<0.0001	0.0001	0.0036	0.0088	0.0017	0.0009
	pTau181	0.1665	0.0627	0.3494	0.1091	0.1372	0.1681	0.3004
		0.1684	0.6062	0.0030	0.3688	0.2573	0.1643	0.0115

NIC				CSF b	piomarkers	(r <i>, p</i>)		
<i>n</i> = 45		GFAP	NFL	OPN	TIMP-1	sTREM-2	UCH-L1	YKL-40
	Αβ42	0.3506	0.4424	0.0308	0.4265	0.4347	0.4973	0.3282
		0.0211	0.0026	0.8407	0.0035	0.0028	0.0006	0.0277
CSF biomarkers	tTau	0.5818	0.3736	0.6144	0.6256	0.5444	0.5095	0.7711
(r <i>, p</i>)		<0.0001	0.0125	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0001	0.0004	<0.0001
	pTau181	0.5334	0.2091	0.5525	0.5009	0.4231	0.3895	0.7558
		0.0003	0.1784	0.0001	0.0005	0.0042	0.0098	<0.0001

 Table 17: Correlations between Alzheimer's disease hallmarks and central nervous system

 associated biomarkers.

Spearman r- and *p*-values in the MCI cohort (upper panel) and the NIC cohort (lower panel). r values ≥ 0.50 or ≤ -0.50 and *p*-values ≤ 0.05 are given in bold italic entries.

In the NIC cohort, almost all CNS biomarkers correlated with tTau concentration (GFAP, OPN, TIMP-1, sTREM-2, UCH-L1 and YKL-40). Four of them also correlated with pTau concentration (GFAP, OPN, TIMP-1, YKL-40). Surprisingly in the MCI cohort, correlations with pTau were not significant anymore after addition of samples. The only significant correlation

found in the MCI cohort was between the NFL and tTau. Yet, both of those proteins have been described as neurodegenerative and neuronal damage biomarkers ¹⁶⁵.

Previous results suggested that the inflammatory response might be independent and more specific in the CNS of the MCI patients. To examine this hypothesis, we compared AD hallmarks with inflammatory biomarkers concentrations analysed previously in the CSF. Spearman r and *p*-values are summarized in the Table 18. First, in the MCI population, only IL-18BPa correlated significantly with A β 42. However, correlations remained quite similar compared with the preliminary results obtained with the first batch of MCI samples only. In addition, we observed a strong, but not significant, correlation between tTau and ASC (*p* < 0.0001 and r = 0.4994). Surprisingly, in the NIC cohort, more biomarkers correlated with AD hallmarks. This was the case for ASC which correlated with tTau and pTau and IL-18BPa with tTau and pTau as well. Moreover, IL-8 correlated with A β 42.

МС	1				CSF biomark	ers (r, <i>p</i>)			
n = 7	75	ASC	CRP	IL-18	IL-18BPa	IL-6	IL-8	IP-10	MCP-1
	Αβ42	-0.0434	-0.3737	-0.2432	0.1201	0.0894	-0.2588	-0.0230	0.1124
005		0.7113	0.0014	0.0355	0.3081	0.4458	0.0250	0.8445	0.3368
CSF	tTau	0.4994	0.2033	0.3553	0.5299	0.0443	0.0724	0.0637	-0.0448
(r n)		<0.0001	0.1043	0.0027	<0.0001	0.7175	0.5546	0.6030	0.7149
(,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	pTau181	0.2163	-0.1235	0.0076	0.3139	0.0366	-0.0687	-0.1810	0.1221
		0.0721	0.3231	0.9501	0.0086	0.7633	0.5720	0.1338	0.3141

NIC	2				CSF biomark	ers (r <i>, p</i>)			
n = 4	15	ASC	CRP	IL-18	IL-18BPa	IL-6	IL-8	IP-10	MCP-1
	Αβ42	0.4743	-0.1326	0.3725	0.4689	0.2904	0.5653	0.4741	0.3232
CSF biomarkers		0.0010	0.3967	0.0117	0.0012	0.0530	0.0001	0.0010	0.0304
	tTau	0.6964	0.1584	0.2700	0.8508	0.1833	0.3954	0.2613	0.2661
biomarkers		<0.0001	0.3103	0.0728	<0.0001	0.2282	0.0072	0.0830	0.0773
(<i>i</i> , <i>p</i>)	pTau181	0.6327	0.0887	0.1290	0.7750	0.1315	0.3635	0.1923	0.1326
		<0.0001	0.5763	0.4038	<0.0001	0.3948	0.0153	0.2110	0.3910

Table 18: Correlations between Alzheimer's disease hallmarks and inflammatory biomarkers.

Spearman r- and *p*-values in the MCI cohort (upper panel) and the NIC cohort (lower panel).

Surprisingly, there was no significant relationship between the AD hallmarks and the inflammatory biomarkers in the CSF of the MCI cohort. More surprisingly, some of the AD hallmarks correlated positively and significantly in the NIC cohort. It is difficult to conclude on those results because the measured biomarkers, even though they are linked with the

pathogenic aggregates in the brain, are analysed as soluble proteins with immunoassays. Increasing levels of A β 42 and Tau have been observed in normal ageing population as well ^{49,300}. This could be the case in the NIC cohort as the levels of those hallmarks are comparable to the ones from the MCI patients.

8. In-between biomarkers correlations

Finally, to have an overview of the inflammatory mechanisms involved and to establish the relationships between biomarkers, we analysed the statistical correlations between all the biomarkers together in the CSF and in the serum.

1. In the CSF

Comparing the fifteen quantifiable biomarkers in CSF, both populations shared similar results. Hereafter, we focused on the MCI cohort specifically. MCI Spearman r- and *p*-values are summarized in the Table 19 and r-values are represented in a heatmap (Figure 37) to facilitate the reading.

For the patients with MCI, most biomarkers' concentrations correlated with ASC, including the inflammasome direct downstream biomarkers (IL-18) and further associated biomarkers such as IL-18BPa but also IP-10 (also named CXCL10), which is induced by IFNy. In addition, TIMP-1 (tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase-1) displayed relationships with most biomarkers, including as well the inflammasome and related biomarkers, and the biomarkers of the innate immunity, such as the CRP, IL-6, and IL-8. Surprisingly, IL-8 increased concentration in CSF did not exhibit any significant relationship with other biomarkers except for TIMP-1. TIMP-1 is expressed by a variety of cells, including activated astrocytes in the brain ³⁰¹. TIMP-1 is a protein involved in extracellular remodelling, by inhibiting the activity of metalloproteinases (MMPs). In addition, TIMP-1 can influence various biological processes acting as a signalling molecule with cytokine-like activities. Among some of these biological processes, TIMP-1 is involved in cell growth, apoptosis, differentiation, angiogenesis, and oncogenesis ³⁰². In the case of tumour, TIMP-1 has been associated with infiltrating immune cells, including, B cells, T cells, macrophages, neutrophils, and dendritic cells ³⁰³. Interestingly, IL-8 is also known for its chemoattractant ability ²⁸⁴. This could support the role of these biomarkers in the recruitment of cells in the brain through the BBB.

NFL and GFAP, which are both biomarkers of neuronal injury, did not correlate significantly anymore with each other in the MCI cohort after the addition of samples. The correlation was still strong with a *p*-value < 0.0001, but the r-value was slightly below 0.50 (r = 0.4569). YKL-40 (which has been associated to activated astrocytes) correlated significantly with NFL (*p* < 0.0001 and r = 0.5594) and strongly but not significantly with GFAP (*p* < 0.0001, r = 0.4557) in the CSF. Yet, both YKL-40 and GFAP are produced by reactive astrocytes, particularly around the Amyloid plaques ^{304,305}.

In addition, sTREM-2 (macrophage and microglial activation) correlated positively and significantly with GFAP (p < 0.0001, r = 0.6992) and positively with NFL (p = 0.0004, r = 0.3989). This confirmed the potential role of sTREM-2 in phagocytosis of apoptotic neurons ³⁰⁶. Furthermore, sTREM-2 correlated positively with the inflammasome downstream associated biomarkers (ASC, IL-18, IL-18BPa and IP-10). This is interesting given that study on defective TREM-2 mice demonstrated that TREM-2 could regulate the macrophage pyroptosis induced by the inflammasome after bacterial infection ³⁰⁷. In fact, TREM-2 knockout mice had an increased expression of NLRP3 protein after infection. This suggests that sTREM2 could inhibit the NRLP3 pathway to regulate macrophage pyroptotic clearance activities. This inhibition could also lead to the promotion of apoptotic process. sTREM-2 activation results in the activation of biological pathways responsible for maintaining cellular metabolism and inhibiting autophagy. As a result, microglia expressing TREM-2 have an increased capacity to activate and proliferate in response to Amyloid-β plaques ³⁰⁸.

Finally, we found a notable (but not significant) correlation between UCH-L1 and NFL (p < 0.0001, r = 0.4673). UCH-L1 is a highly abundant neuron-specific enzyme. UCH-L1 is also a component of the axonal compartment where it is involved in axonal transport and integrity ³⁰⁹. During normal and neuropathological situations, UCH-L1 is responsible for the removal of excessive, misfolded, or oxidized proteins. As a result, the protein has been studied for its use as a biomarker in traumatic brain injury and spinal cord injury ^{263,310}. Hence, the relationship between NFL and UCH-L1 potentially reflect the neuronal damages occurring in MCI patients.

137

	01							CSF bio	markers (r <i>, p</i>)						
n = 1	75	ASC	CRP	GFAP	IL-18	IL- 18BPa	IL-6	IL-8	IP-10	MCP-1	NFL	OPN	TIMP-1	TREM-2	UCH- L1	YKL-40
	ASC	1.0000														
	CRP	0.4119	1.0000													
		0.0004														
	GFAP	0.6591	0.2462	1.0000												
		<0.0001	0.0399													
	IL-18	0.6553	0.5448	0.3871	1.0000											
		<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0006												
	IL-18BPa	0.7968	0.3968	0.5969	0.6316	1.0000										
		<0.0001	0.0007	<0.0001	<0.0001											
IL-6 IL-8	IL-6	0.4366	0.3997	0.2288	0.4120	0.4161	1.0000									
		0.0001	0.0006	0.0483	0.0002	0.0002										
CSF biomarkers (r, p)	IL-8	0.3651	0.3176	0.3393	0.3665	0.3116	0.3080	1.0000								
		0.0013	0.0074	0.0029	0.0012	0.0069	0.0072									
	IP-10	0.5012	0.1413	0.3989	0.5494	0.5368	0.4746	0.4233	1.0000							
(r. p)		<0.0001	0.2434	0.0004	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0002								
()[]	MCP-1	0.2425	0.2296	0.2372	0.0698	0.2362	0.4129	0.0627	0.0943	1.0000						
		0.0361	0.0559	0.0404	0.5516	0.0427	0.0002	0.5929	0.4208							
	NFL	0.5084	0.4431	0.4569	0.4928	0.4568	0.3320	0.2742	0.2609	0.1220	1.0000					
		<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0036	0.0173	0.0237	0.2969						
	OPN	0.4398	0.2899	0.3750	0.3410	0.5858	0.0604	0.3640	0.1703	0.0106	0.1818	1.0000				
		0.0001	0.0149	0.0009	0.0028	<0.0001	0.6068	0.0013	0.1440	0.9280	0.1185					
	TIMP-1	0.7886	0.5480	0.6010	0.6465	0.6570	0.5917	0.4950	0.4077	0.3537	0.5683	0.3974	1.0000			
		<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0003	0.0019	<0.0001	0.0004				
	TREM-2	0.7181	0.4276	0.6992	0.4925	0.6828	0.3305	0.3075	0.4942	0.2186	0.3989	0.4007	0.6507	1.0000		
		<0.0001	0.0002	<0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.0038	0.0073	<0.0001	0.0595	0.0004	0.0004	<0.0001			
	UCH-L1	0.2337	0.1251	0.2965	0.1539	0.1381	-0.0067	-0.2297	-0.0150	0.1849	0.4673	-0.0634	0.2216	0.2610	1.0000	
		0.0436	0.3021	0.0098	0.1873	0.2407	0.9548	0.0474	0.8980	0.1122	<0.0001	0.5887	0.0561	0.0237		
	YKL-40	0.4828	0.2556	0.5594	0.3428	0.6055	0.2933	0.3164	0.2336	0.2686	0.4557	0.4303	0.5261	0.4538	0.0351	1.0000
		<0.0001	0.0327	<0.0001	0.0026	<0.0001	0.0107	0.0057	0.0437	0.0198	<0.0001	0.0001	<0.0001	<0.0001	0.7651	

Table 19: Correlations between serum biomarkers in the MCI cohort.



Figure 37: Spearman r heatmap of CSF biomarkers correlations in the MCI cohort. Spearman r-values in the MCI cohort.

2. In the serum

The relationships between biomarkers' concentrations in the serum were tested as well. Overall, spearman correlations between all the biomarkers seemed more positive and significant in the MCI cohort compared to the NIC and HC cohorts. There were only thirteen significant correlations in the HC cohort (Figure 38) and twenty-six in the NIC cohort (Figure 39). Twenty-eight biomarkers' relationships correlated significantly in the MCI cohort (Figure 40). This confirmed the trend observed up to this point, with a high serum inflammatory status in both the MCI and NIC cohort *versus* the HC cohort. The following paragraph focuses specifically on the correlations in the MCI cohort. Spearman r-values of the MCI, NIC and the HC cohorts are represented as heatmaps.

	ASC	Caspase-1	CRP	GFAP	IFNγ	IL-10	IL-17a	IL-18	IL-18BPa	IL-1β	IL-1Ra	IL-2	IL-4	IL-6	IL-8	IP-10	MCP-1	NFL	NGO	TIMP-1	TNFα	sTREM-2	YKL-40		4.0
ASC	1.00	0.50	0.09	0.19	0.21	0.23	0.40	0.21	0.28	0.26	0.28	0.14	0.27	-0.22	0.25	0.11	0.14	0.33	-0.11	0.30	0.39	0.13	0.43		1.0
Caspase-1	0.50	1.00	-0.36	0.23	0.08	0.56	0.36	0.18	0.28	0.37	0.26	-0.15	-0.15	-0.17	0.30	-0.18	0.21	0.28		0.02	0.44	0.22	0.25		
CRP	0.09	-0.36	1.00	-0.01	0.30	-0.27	0.12	0.23	0.01		0.19	0.31	0.29	0.39	-0.02	0.40	0.23	0.14	0.01	0.38	0.17	0.20	0.23		
GFAP	0.19	0.23	-0.01	1.00	0.43	-0.11	0.16	-0.09	0.01	0	-0.05	-0.15	-0.07	-0.11	0.04	0.28	-0.28	0.50	-0.32	0.20	-0.22	0.54	0.37		
IFNγ	0.21	0.08	0.30	0.43	1.00	-0.01	0.39	-0.07	0.15	0.14	0.47	0.23	0.22	0.27	0.15	0.44	-0.04	0.05	-0.40	0.17	0.28	0.31	0.27		
IL-10	0.23	0.56	-0.27	-0.11	-0.01	1.00	0.17	0.24	0.54	0.56	0.32	0.22	-0.09	0.26	0.52	0.02	0.24	0.09	0.28	-0.01	0.53	0.16	0.32		0.5
IL-17a	0.40	0.36	0.12	0.16	0.39	0.17	1.00	0.06	0.20	0.26	0.51	0.33	0.09	0.24	0.17	0.29	0.29	0.08		0.21	0.64	0.26	0.02		
IL-18	0.21	0.18	0.23	-0.09	-0.07	0.24	0.06	1.00	0.28	-0.10	0.12	0.38	0.11	0.03	-0.09	0.15	0.14	0.30	0.04	0.47	0.20	0.48	0.23		
IL-18BPa	0.28	0.28	0.01	0.01	0.15	0.54	0.20	0.28	1.00	0.43	0.10	0.25	-0.18	0.15	0.18	0.14	-0.02	0.29	0.43	0.03	0.43	0.22	0.26		
IL-1β	0.26	0.37		0	0.14	0.56	0.26	-0.10	0.43	1.00	0.21	-0.10	-0.14	0.45	0.72	-0.13	0.30	0.38	0.36	-0.02	0.42	-0.09	0.43		
IL-1Ra	0.28	0.26	0.19	-0.05	0.47	0.32	0.51	0.12	0.10	0.21	1.00	0.34	0.14	0.40	0.17	0.45	0.30	-0.36	-0.05	0.18	0.44	0.20	0.19		
IL-2	0.14	-0.15	0.31	-0.15	0.23	0.22	0.33	0.38	0.25	-0.10	0.34	1.00	0.65	0.37	0.12	0.38	0.12	-0.09	-0.11	0.29	0.39	0.20	-0.16		0
IL-4	0.27	-0.15	0.29	-0.07	0.22	-0.09	0.09	0.11	-0.18	-0.14	0.14	0.65	1.00	0.07	0.13	0.18	0.04	-0.12	-0.45	0.33	0.31		-0.16		
IL-6	-0.22	-0.17	0.39	-0.11	0.27	0.26	0.24	0.03	0.15	0.45	0.40	0.37	0.07	1.00	0.33	0.48	0.56	-0.16	0.23	0.08	0.30	0.01	0.10		
IL-8	0.25	0.30	-0.02	0.04	0.15	0.52	0.17	-0.09	0.18	0.72	0.17	0.12	0.13	0.33	1.00		0.27	0.18	0.12	0.05	0.29	0.08	0.56		
IP-10	0.11	-0.18	0.40	0.28	0.44	0.02	0.29	0.15	0.14	-0.13	0.45	0.38	0.18	0.48		1.00	0.15	-0.17	-0.01	0.33	0.14	0.28	0.18		
MCP-1	0.14	0.21	0.23	-0.28	-0.04	0.24	0.29	0.14	-0.02	0.30	0.30	0.12	0.04	0.56	0.27	0.15	1.00		0.36	0.25	0.45	-0.04	0.19		0.5
NFL	0.33	0.28	0.14	0.50	0.05	0.09	0.08	0.30	0.29	0.38	-0.36	-0.09	-0.12	-0.16	0.18	-0.17		1.00	0.01	0.22	0.01	0.43	0.46		-0.5
OPN	-0.11		0.01	-0.32	-0.40	0.28		0.04	0.43	0.36	-0.05	-0.11	-0.45	0.23	0.12	-0.01	0.36	0.01	1.00	0.08	0.13	-0.23	0.12		
TIMP-1	0.30	0.02	0.38	0.20	0.17	-0.01	0.21	0.47	0.03	-0.02	0.18	0.29	0.33	0.08	0.05	0.33	0.25	0.22	0.08	1.00	0.22	0.52	0.31		
TNFα	0.39	0.44	0.17	-0.22	0.28	0.53	0.64	0.20	0.43	0.42	0.44	0.39	0.31	0.30	0.29	0.14	0.45	0.01	0.13	0.22	1.00	0.13	-0.02		
sTREM-2	0.13	0.22	0.20	0.54	0.31	0.16	0.26	0.48	0.22	-0.09	0.20	0.20		0.01	0.08	0.28	-0.04	0.43	-0.23	0.52	0.13	1.00	0.43		
YKL-40	0.43	0.25	0.23	0.37	0.27	0.32	0.02	0.23	0.26	0.43	0.19	-0.16	-0.16	0.10	0.56	0.18	0.19	0.46	0.12	0.31	-0.02	0.43	1.00		-1.0

Figure 38: Spearman r value heatmap of serum biomarkers in the HC cohort.

Spearman r-values of serum vs serum biomarkers in the HC cohort.

	ASC	Caspase-1	CRP	GFAP	IFNγ	IL-10	IL-17a	IL-18	IL-18BPa	IL-1β	IL-1Ra	IL-2	IL-4	IL-6	IL-8	IP-10	MCP-1	NFL	NHO	TIMP-1	τνγα	sTREM-2	YKL-40			10
ASC	1.00	0.78	0.15	0.21	-0.43	0.20	-0.26	-0.07	0.13	0.43	0.20	-0.10	0.05	0.24	0.37	-0.07	0.02	-0.16	0.10	0.20	0.33	0.10	0.37			1.0
Caspase-1	0.78	1.00	-0.07	0.02	-0.27	0.15		0.06	0.03	0.35	0.30	-0.19	0.12	0.09	0.23	-0.09	-0.06	-0.10	0.09	0.26	0.14	-0.12	0.19			
CRP	0.15	-0.07	1.00	0.24	-0.31	0.67	-0.10	-0.14	0.25	0.45	0.21	0.23	0.21	0.70	0.65	-0.22	0.18	0.17	0.42	0.26	0.44	-0.06	0.52			
GFAP	0.21	0.02	0.24	1.00	-0.15	0.11	-0.06	-0.41	0.18	-0.06	-0.08	0.53	-0.19	0.21	0.11	0.25	-0.04	-0.12	0.02	-0.24	0.12	0.20	0.24			
IFNγ	-0.43	-0.27	-0.31	-0.15	1.00	-0.18	0.27	0.45	0.13	-0.10	0.03	0.22	-0.16	-0.18	-0.20	0.33	0.20	0.25	-0.18	-0.12	-0.17	0.16	-0.39			
IL-10	0.20	0.15	0.67	0.11	-0.18	1.00	0.13	0.16	0.51	0.65	0.45	0.51		0.83	0.64	-0.35	0.32	0.33	0.59	0.29	0.71	-0.15	0.65	-	- (0.5
IL-17a	-0.26		-0.10	-0.06	0.27	0.13	1.00	0.25	-0.02	-0.05	-0.06	0.19	0.22		-0.19	-0.05	0.17	0.06	0.11	0.08	-0.02	-0.09	0.07			
IL-18	-0.07	0.06	-0.14	-0.41	0.45	0.16	0.25	1.00	0.23	0.20	0.21	0.09	0.21	0.07	-0.01	-0.06	0.34	0.25	0.02	0.19	0.18	-0.02	-0.19			
IL-18BPa	0.13	0.03	0.25	0.18	0.13	0.51	-0.02	0.23	1.00	0.37	0.31	0.53	-0.03	0.42	0.19	0.11	0.25	0.33	0.40	0.15	0.47	0.21	0.32			
IL-1β	0.43	0.35	0.45	-0.06	-0.10	0.65	-0.05	0.20	0.37	1.00	0.42	0.21	0.28	0.61	0.65	-0.18	0.44	0.27	0.52	0.34	0.61	-0.16	0.49			
IL-1Ra	0.20	0.30	0.21	-0.08	0.03	0.45	-0.06	0.21	0.31	0.42	1.00	0.14	-0.19	0.40	0.35	-0.07	0.25	0.26	0.31	0.37	0.47	-0.08	0.29			
IL-2	-0.10	-0.19	0.23	0.53	0.22	0.51	0.19	0.09	0.53	0.21	0.14	1.00	-0.10	0.41	0.19	0.15	0.34	0.16	0.29	-0.11	0.44	0.12	0.21	ŀ	- (D
IL-4	0.05	0.12	0.21	-0.19	-0.16		0.22	0.21	-0.03	0.28	-0.19	-0.10	1.00	0.17	0.19	-0.08	0.43	-0.04	0.18	0.22	0.11	-0.34	0.03			
IL-6	0.24	0.09	0.70	0.21	-0.18	0.83		0.07	0.42	0.61	0.40	0.41	0.17	1.00	0.66	-0.21	0.40	0.18	0.59	0.36	0.65	-0.13	0.65			
IL-8	0.37	0.23	0.65	0.11	-0.20	0.64	-0.19	-0.01	0.19	0.65	0.35	0.19	0.19	0.66	1.00	-0.14	0.23	0.20	0.39	0.25	0.49	-0.05	0.49			
IP-10	-0.07	-0.09	-0.22	0.25	0.33	-0.35	-0.05	-0.06	0.11	-0.18	-0.07	0.15	-0.08	-0.21	-0.14	1.00	-0.02	-0.02	-0.05	0.03	-0.09	0.32	-0.23			
MCP-1	0.02	-0.06	0.18	-0.04	0.20	0.32	0.17	0.34	0.25	0.44	0.25	0.34	0.43	0.40	0.23	-0.02	1.00	0.29	0.26	0.27	0.42	-0.03	0.21			
NFL	-0.16	-0.10	0.17	-0.12	0.25	0.33	0.06	0.25	0.33	0.27	0.26	0.16	-0.04	0.18	0.20	-0.02	0.29	1.00	0.27	0.14	0.35	0.08	0.05		1	0.5
OPN	0.10	0.09	0.42	0.02	-0.18	0.59	0.11	0.02	0.40	0.52	0.31	0.29	0.18	0.59	0.39	-0.05	0.26	0.27	1.00	0.39	0.53	-0.30	0.65			
TIMP-1	0.20	0.26	0.26	-0.24	-0.12	0.29	0.08	0.19	0.15	0.34	0.37	-0.11	0.22	0.36	0.25	0.03	0.27	0.14	0.39	1.00	0.46	0.04	0.27			
ΤΝFα	0.33	0.14	0.44	0.12	-0.17	0.71	-0.02	0.18	0.47	0.61	0.47	0.44	0.11	0.65	0.49	-0.09	0.42	0.35	0.53	0.46	1.00	0.11	0.51			
sTREM-2	0.10	-0.12	-0.06	0.20	0.16	-0.15	-0.09	-0.02	0.21	-0.16	-0.08	0.12	-0.34	-0.13	-0.05	0.32	-0.03	0.08	-0.30	0.04	0.11	1.00	-0.06			
YKL-40	0.37	0.19	0.52	0.24	-0.39	0.65	0.07	-0.19	0.32	0.49	0.29	0.21	0.03	0.65	0.49	-0.23	0.21	0.05	0.65	0.27	0.51	-0.06	1.00			-10

Figure 39: Spearman r value heatmap of serum biomarkers in the NIC cohort.

Spearman r-values of serum vs serum biomarkers in the NIC cohort.

	ASC	Caspase-1	CRP	GFAP	IFNγ	IL-10	IL-17a	IL-18	IL-18BPa	IL-1β	IL-1Ra	IL-2	IL-4	IL-6	IL-8	IP-10	MCP-1	NFL	NHO	TIMP-1	τνγα	sTREM-2	YKL-40	_	1.0
ASC	1.00	0.93	0.36	0.31	-0.09	0.23	0.12	0.18	0.03	0.39	0.66	-0.13	0.08	0.42	0.24	0.08	0.21	0.36	0.35	-0.06	0.15	0.18	0.35		1.0
Caspase-1	0.93	1.00	0.35	0.31	-0.12	0.29	0.05	0.20	0.03	0.43	0.57	-0.16	0.06	0.37	0.28	0.10	0.12	0.37	0.31	0.03	0.12	0.13	0.32		
CRP	0.36	0.35	1.00	0.33	0.26	0.37	0.42	0.30	0.33	0.40	0.33	0.32	0.14	0.68	0.36	0.14	0.12	0.50	0.37	0.33	0.53	0.48	0.50		
GFAP	0.31	0.31	0.33	1.00	0.08	0.19	0.34	0.09	0.15	0.08	0.27	0.34	0.10	0.44	0.13	0.12	0.30	0.54	0.36	0.32	0.36	0.45	0.54		
IFNγ	-0.09	-0.12	0.26	0.08	1.00	0.14	0.39	0.17	0.25	0.18	0.06	0.50	0.33	0.29	0.20	0.50	0.07	0.09	0.12	0.33	0.45	0.22	0.23		
IL-10	0.23	0.29	0.37	0.19	0.14	1.00	0.27	0.33	0.25	0.42	0.49	0.27	0.07	0.52	0.28	0.05	0.06	0.38	0.35	0.30	0.38	0.16	0.38		 0.5
IL-17a	0.12	0.05	0.42	0.34	0.39	0.27	1.00	0.04	0.36	0.04	0.16	0.54	0.03	0.41	0.12	0.26	0.19	0.35	0.43	0.33	0.54	0.38	0.40		
IL-18	0.18	0.20	0.30	0.09	0.17	0.33	0.04	1.00	0.19	0.03	0.26	0.09	0.13	0.24	-0.01	0.06	0.12	0.31	0.16	0.27	0.21	0.14	0.24		
IL-18BPa	0.03	0.03	0.33	0.15	0.25	0.25	0.36	0.19	1.00	0.12	0.03	0.32	0.20	0.29	0.18	0.17	0.13	0.25	0.28	0.37	0.33	0.29	0.31		
IL-1β	0.39	0.43	0.40	0.08	0.18	0.42	0.04	0.03	0.12	1.00	0.27	0.11	0.30	0.47	0.77	0.04	-0.01	0.32	0.21	0.02	0.39	0.13	0.30		
IL-1Ra	0.66	0.57	0.33	0.27	0.06	0.49	0.16	0.26	0.03	0.27	1.00	0.09	0.11	0.51	0.16		0.26	0.35	0.35	0.07	0.33	0.28	0.36		
IL-2	-0.13	-0.16	0.32	0.34	0.50	0.27	0.54	0.09	0.32	0.11	0.09	1.00	0.29	0.37	0.23	0.38	0.17	0.24	0.19	0.40	0.62	0.34	0.32		 0
IL-4	0.08	0.06	0.14	0.10	0.33	0.07	0.03	0.13	0.20	0.30	0.11	0.29	1.00	0.30	0.31	0.07	0.13		0.01	0.02	0.27	0.10	0.17		
IL-6	0.42	0.37	0.68	0.44	0.29	0.52	0.41	0.24	0.29	0.47	0.51	0.37	0.30	1.00	0.52	0.09	0.41	0.55	0.46	0.29	0.65	0.45	0.58		
IL-8	0.24	0.28	0.36	0.13	0.20	0.28	0.12	-0.01	0.18	0.77	0.16	0.23	0.31	0.52	1.00	-0.06	0.14	0.27	0.24	0.13	0.51	0.27	0.42		
IP-10	0.08	0.10	0.14	0.12	0.50	0.05	0.26	0.06	0.17	0.04		0.38	0.07	0.09	-0.06	1.00	0.05		0.14	0.25	0.17	0.13	0.19		
MCP-1	0.21	0.12	0.12	0.30	0.07	0.06	0.19	0.12	0.13	-0.01	0.26	0.17	0.13	0.41	0.14	0.05	1.00	0.21	0.20	0.28	0.32	0.35	0.39		
NFL	0.36	0.37	0.50	0.54	0.09	0.38	0.35	0.31	0.25	0.32	0.35	0.24		0.55	0.27		0.21	1.00	0.52	0.26	0.54	0.40	0.50		 -0.5
OPN	0.35	0.31	0.37	0.36	0.12	0.35	0.43	0.16	0.28	0.21	0.35	0.19	0.01	0.46	0.24	0.14	0.20	0.52	1.00	0.26	0.47	0.33	0.37		
TIMP-1	-0.06	0.03	0.33	0.32	0.33	0.30	0.33	0.27	0.37	0.02	0.07	0.40	0.02	0.29	0.13	0.25	0.28	0.26	0.26	1.00	0.37	0.43	0.45		
TNFα	0.15	0.12	0.53	0.36	0.45	0.38	0.54	0.21	0.33	0.39	0.33	0.62	0.27	0.65	0.51	0.17	0.32	0.54	0.47	0.37	1.00	0.48	0.50		
sTREM-2	0.18	0.13	0.48	0.45	0.22	0.16	0.38	0.14	0.29	0.13	0.28	0.34	0.10	0.45	0.27	0.13	0.35	0.40	0.33	0.43	0.48	1.00	0.47		
YKL-40	0.35	0.32	0.50	0.54	0.23	0.38	0.40	0.24	0.31	0.30	0.36	0.32	0.17	0.58	0.42	0.19	0.39	0.50	0.37	0.45	0.50	0.47	1.00		

-1.0

Figure 40: Spearman r value heatmap of serum biomarkers in the MCI cohort.

Spearman r-values of serum vs serum biomarkers in the MCI cohort.

Less biomarkers correlated with each other in the serum compared to the CSF, although more biomarkers were tested in this matrix. First, results confirmed activation of the innate immune system in the serum, with significant correlations between CRP, IL-6 and TNF α . In addition, IL-8 displayed significant relationships between TNF α , IL-6 and IL-1 β . This demonstrated that two biomarkers could be specific to MCI, IL-8 and IL-1β. This is particularly interesting as both IL-1β and IL-8 were significantly increased in the MCI cohort. In addition to its chemotactic ability, IL-8 has also been related with the process to form new blood vessels, also called angiogenesis. In this context, IL-8 has gained a lot of interest in several pathologies including, atherosclerosis, asthma, psoriasis, and tumour growth. As a result,

study demonstrated that mast cells stimulation with IL-1 β led to the production of IL-8 ³¹¹. Most MCI patients were suffering from concomitant conditions including hypertension and ischemic heart disease. Hypertension is an important cardiovascular risk factor, affecting up to 40% of the general population according to the WHO ³¹². Immune responses are involved in hypertension and an increase of inflammatory mediators has been observed in biofluids of hypertensive patients. Notably, elevated IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8 and TNF α serum levels have been associated with hypertension ³¹³. Those underlying conditions could impact the systemic inflammation in addition to MCI. We observed no significant difference comparing the soluble biomarkers with the different concomitant diseases in MCI patients. This means that these biomarkers are not solely attributable to hypertension or ischemic heart disease.

Furthermore, NFL and GFAP correlated positively and significantly as well (p < 0.0001, r = 0.5353), which reinforced their use as neurodegenerative biomarkers in the blood of MCI patients. In addition, we found significant relationships between OPN and YKL-40. This supports that inflammatory cells are activated in the systemic circulation as well.

9. Results summary

Finally, to have an overview of the significant differences obtained between the nonimpaired control and the mild cognitive impaired cohorts, we summarized the main findings obtained during this thesis in the following table (Table 20). In the CSF, results confirmed the activation of brain cells, including the astrocytes (GFAP), the microglia (OPN, sTREM-2) but also the neurons and biomarkers of neurodegeneration (NFL, tTau). In addition, significant differences emphasised the presence of inflammatory biomarkers of the innate immunity (CRP, IL-6, IL-8, IP-10).

In the serum, our results highlighted the role of the immune response as well and the activation of macrophages (IL-8) as well as the activation of the inflammasome pathway (IL- 1β). The serum concentration of GFAP was increased as well, which supports its role as a neurodegenerative biomarker in the blood.

Cohort	NIC	MCI	NIC vs MCI
Analyte	<i>n</i> = 45	n = 75	<i>p</i> -value
CSF			
CRP ng/ml	8.360 (15.69)	34.81 (57.72)	0.0032
GFAP pg/ml	5737 (3396)	9847 (9665)	0.0078
IL-18BPa pg/ml	928.9 (318.7)	1153 (482.8)	0.0453
IL-6 pg/ml	3.541 (3.332)	36.55 (113.7)	0.0048
IL-8 pg/ml	41.36 (20.63)	150.1 (266.9)	<0.0001
IP-10 ng/ml	131.4 (65.38)	273.3 (277.4)	0.0004
NFL pg/ml	1164 (1685)	2220 (3616)	0.0007
OPN ng/ml	254.8 (119.9)	592.3 (489.1)	<0.0001
sTREM-2 ng/ml	14.16 (5.948)	23.37 (13.35)	<0.0001
tTau IT pg/mL	201.2 (98.18)	338.9 (356.1)	0.0034
Serum			
CRP µg/ml	14.51 (22.44)	4.350 (7.960)	<0.0001*
GFAP pg/ml	133.0 (84.99)	206.6 (186.1)	0.0324*
IL-1β fg/ml	211.7 (161.5)	510.0 (759.0)	0.0051*
IL-6 pg/ml	42.76 (71.71)	5.754 (8.782)	0.0002*
IL-8 pg/ml	35.19 (37.69)	140.1 (274.8)	0.0048*

Table 20: Summary table of significant results between the NIC and the MCI cohort.

This table summarized the statistically significant results obtained between the NIC and the MCI cohort. *: *p*-value obtained with Kruskal-Wallis test comparing the three cohorts (HC, NIC and MCI).

Finally, correlations obtained for each matrix in the MCI cohort permitted to support previous analyses obtained comparing the cohorts. The results led to an increase of soluble biomarkers' concentrations in the CSF of MCI patients, including the ones involved in neurodegeneration, microgliosis and astrogliosis (GFAP, NFL, OPN, YKL-40). In addition, we observed a concentration increase of biomarkers of the innate immune system in the blood stream (IL-1 β and IL-8), which correlated together. Finally, although fewer biomarkers are quantifiable in the CSF, there are substantial evidence that the cells involved in inflammatory responses are activated in the brain as well.

Conclusion

The inflammatory signature of three cohorts, one mild cognitive impairment (MCI), one non-Impaired control (NIC) and one healthy control (HC) cohort were compared in this thesis. The objective was to understand the inflammatory processes associated with MCI and their potential link with the progression to dementia. Finding an inflammatory signature could help diagnose and prognose patients suffering from this disorder and predict the conversion into Alzheimer's disease (AD). To this day, very little therapeutic treatments with limited results are available to treat AD. Numerous clinical trials failed to give great benefit-risk for patients. Thus, inflammation has gained a lot of interest in the recent years as a new therapeutic target. During this thesis, several inflammatory pathways were explored in serum and cerebrospinal fluid by measuring soluble mediators with quantitative immunoassays and a semi-quantitative method. The MCI samples were received in two different batches with an eighteen-month delay. As a result, the analyses were conducted independently twice. The first results obtained with thirty-two MCI patients (out of seventy-five), were published in International Journal of Molecular Sciences, while the rest of the samples analysis was delayed because of the Covid-19 pandemic and the conflict in Ukraine. Additionally, the exploratory biomarkers analysis was the opportunity to test different commercially available immunoassays, such as the innovative proteomics Olink[®] method developed for biomarker profiling.

As this study focused on mild cognitive impairment, and particularly on the risk of progression to AD, biomarkers known to be associated with the pathophysiology of the disease, namely Amyloid and Tau proteins, were included. These biomarkers are extensively studied as diagnostic tools in CSF but also in the blood, especially for the different phosphorylated Tau protein isoforms. Our results displayed no significant difference for the CSF Amyloid β 42 and pTau181 concentrations between the impaired and non-impaired cohort, whereas CSF total Tau level was significantly increased in the MCI cohort. If we refer to the NIA-AA recommendations, total Tau has been proposed as a biomarker of neurodegeneration, which was confirmed with additional increased biomarkers such as NFL and GFAP in the MCI patients CSF. Applying the A β 42 cutoff proposed by Harten *et al.*, results

were not so stringent and could not differentiate the MCI cohort to the NIC cohort. Interestingly, osteoarthritis has been associated to be an increasing risk factor of dementia ³¹⁴. Indeed, OA is one of the most prevalent chronic diseases in the ageing population. Evidence suggests that association between OA and the APOE-E4 genetic variant might exacerbate AD alterations in the precentral and postcentral cortices of the brain. A longitudinal study with a follow-up over three years on AB+ AD participants demonstrated that OA was related to faster Aβ42 and Tau deposition ³¹⁵. Additionally, research on the pain burden associated with OA, or pain interference with usual activities, was a risk factor for Alzheimer's disease and related dementias, and accelerated the cognitive decline ^{316,317}. This could explain the similarities observed regarding AD hallmarks levels between the two cohorts. Results on AB42 and pTau can sometimes be inconsistent as study on non-demented patients observed Amyloid and Tau depositions without cognitive decline and plaques ^{318–320}. As a result, AB42 and pTau have been associated with what is called pathological ageing. Pathological ageing occurs when the development of a neurodegenerative disorder is a feature of only the older population, in other words, a significant subset of the older population is affected by age-related cognitive decline ³²¹. In the context of MCI and AD, pathological ageing can describe patients Amyloid positive but cognitively unimpaired at the time of death ³¹⁸.

Focusing on the presence of inflammatory biomarkers in the bloodstream, most biomarkers shared similar concentrations between the MCI and the NIC cohorts, while there were increased compared to the HC cohort. This was particularly the case for the biomarkers of the innate immunity which were increased in the NIC and the MCI cohorts' serum and translated to similar inflammatory status. Although, in the NIC cohort, the typical biomarkers of the inflammation, CRP and IL-6, were significantly much higher than in the MCI cohort. As a matter of fact, in addition to its role in dementia and AD progression, inflammation has been highlighted in other types of disease including OA ³²². OA is, by definition, an inflammation of one or more joints. In the case of traumatic injuries or stress on the joints, the synoviocytes and chondrocytes present in the joint environment, can produce, or respond to the increase of inflammatory cytokines production. For instance, studies suggested that these cells could release TNF α , or expressed Caspase-1 and could synthetize IL-1 β ^{323,324}. This was confirmed when we looked at our results, and most biomarkers were increased in the NIC cohort compared with the healthy controls. These inflammatory biomarkers included, TNF α and inflammasome related biomarkers (ASC, Caspase-1, IL-1 β , IL-1Ra). Moreover, we found significant correlations between the inflammasome biomarkers in the NIC cohort. OA patients are affected by a substantial inflammation as they displayed high levels of inflammatory cytokines. Consequently, the soluble biomarkers' concentrations from this cohort were good indicators to determine the specificity and severity of the inflammatory response. Remarkably, the inflammasome biomarkers, ASC and Caspase-1 were even more increased in the MCI cohort compared to the NIC cohort.

Surprisingly, even though IL-1 β level was expected to be increased in the NIC cohort, which was the case compared to the HC cohort, IL-1 β was even more, and significantly, increased in the MCI cohort. This confirmed previous and published results with higher expression and levels of IL-1β in MCI and AD subjects ^{325,326}. Role of IL-1β has been sought to be involved in MCI for years but it's only recently that robust immunoassays have permitted a reliable quantification in the serum. Furthermore, before selecting the S-plex ultra-sensitive method for IL-1^β quantification, several commercial immunoassays were tested prior to the analysis of the samples. IL-1 β was previously only detected in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) serum samples and MCI individuals with less sensitive methods. Yet, levels of IL-1β have been associated with autoimmune diseases such as SLE on top of chronic inflammatory diseases. In SLE, IL-1 β production has been related to autophagy mechanisms. In addition to its role in the inflammation, IL-1 β could contribute to pain during disease, including neuropathic ones. IL-1ß has been demonstrated to upregulate pro-nociceptive mediators and induced-production of nerve growth factor (NGF), a neurotrophic factor known to play a crucial role in chronic and acute pain ³²⁷. Interestingly, Alzheimer's disease is also sometimes considered as an autoimmune disease of the innate immune system, considering the release of Aβ as an early responder cytokine triggering the innate immunity ³²⁸. This could explain the role of sTREM-2 and the NLRP3 inflammasome, which are both involved in apoptotic neuronal death, in AD and MCI patients ³²⁹.

Production of IL-1 β has been described via the NLRP3 pathway, which was elevated for the MCI patients in our study and coincided with the OA results. Correlations between the associated biomarkers of the inflammasome pathway (ASC and Caspase-1) confirmed its activation in the MCI cohort. Now, production of IL-1β via this pathway is also associated with IL-18 production jointly. In our study, IL-18 levels were not disease related as there were comparable in all three cohorts. Comparatively, we measured IL-18BPa to evaluate a potential interference with soluble IL-18. Concentrations of the binding protein was hundreds- to a thousand-fold higher compared to IL-18 in serum and CSF respectively. Those results suggest that IL-18 quantification could be biased by the presence of the BP. There was no significant correlation between IL-1 β and IL-18 neither. The addition of MCI samples attenuated the correlation between the inflammasome biomarkers (ASC and Caspase-1) and IL-1β. IL-1β is a central player of the innate immunity and is participating in multiple mechanisms. This was confirmed in our results as MCI patients displayed significant correlations between the innate immunity biomarkers concentrations (CRP, IL-6, TNF α and IL-1 β). IL-1 β is secreted by different cells including monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells ³³⁰. As a result, IL-1β production might not be produced uniquely via the inflammasome pathway. In the brain, evidence suggests that IL-1β could be related to CNS pain and interaction between the glia and neurons ³³¹. Unfortunately, if great progress in immunoassay methods allowed IL-1β quantification in serum, CSF measurements are still under the detection ranges. In addition, most of the biomarkers of the inflammasome and IL-1 related cascade (Caspase-1, IL-1Ra) were not quantifiable in the CSF, and only ASC and IL-18 could give information about possible activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome cascade. Both correlated in the MCI cohort, which might indicate possible activation of the pathway in the brain. Even so, our results in the serum suggested that the inflammasome alone is not responsible for IL-1 β production, and we would need more evidence to conclude on the release of IL-1 β .

In addition to IL-1 β , IL-8 results gained our attention as there were measurable and significantly increased in the CSF and the serum of the MCI patients. IL-8 is a chemoattractant cytokine produced by a variety of cells. IL-8 production is tied with the innate immune system and acute inflammation mechanisms ³³². This cytokine has been linked with monocytes and

neutrophils recruitment to the site of infection or inflammation via its chemotaxis ability ³³³. This has been demonstrated in Alzheimer's as well, with increased IL-8 levels and secretions located around the BBB ²⁸⁹. Studies on culture cells also suggest that IL-8 might help recruit inflammatory cells through the BBB, where they might activate and produce more inflammatory cytokines. To explore the link between IL-8 and neutrophils, we measured its associated enzyme, the myeloperoxidase. Then, we correlated both biomarkers together. Results did not show any significant correlation between IL-8 and MPO. But, like IL-1β, IL-8 is secreted by different cells, so neutrophils are presumably not the only cell type involved. For instance, in the brain, IL-8 production has been associated with activated microglia. Interestingly, in AD, IL-8 receptor was found in dystrophic neurite, where the activated microglia surround the neurons, suggesting a potential role in neurodegeneration ²⁹⁰. IL-8 has been associated with vascular leakages and white matter hyperintensities (WMH) in patients with AD ^{291,334}. White matter hyperintensities, are measurable (with MRI) white matter lesions in the brain. WMH have been associated with vascular risks and could indicate an increased BBB permeability, plasma leakages, and degeneration of axons and myelin ³³⁵. WMH volumes have been associated with older age, AD, small vessel disease and cognitive decline ³³⁶. In vivo neuroimaging studies using MRI to assess WMH confirmed their association with Amyloid PET in non-demented elderly ³³⁷. Correlations between WMH and lower CSF AB42 burden have also been observed in AD patients ³³⁸. This is particularly interesting as a part of the MCI patients were suffering from concomitant diseases including heart-related ones. In fact, IL-8 is particularly studied in the context of cancer for its role in the tumour microenvironment ³³⁹. Evidence suggests that in addition to its proinflammatory properties, IL-8 is also involved in promoting angiogenesis ³³⁹. In our study, IL-8 correlates with TIMP-1, a chemoattractant cytokine involved in the tumour microenvironment as well. In AD, the vascular endothelial cells could have a role in the destruction of cortical neurons. During inflammatory processes, endothelial cells respond by undergoing angiogenesis ³⁴⁰. In vivo study on animal model of AD demonstrated that vascular dysfunctions correlated with the incidence and severity of AD. Inducing occlusions of the microvasculature with femtosecond laser promoted AB plaque deposition around the lesion site ³⁴¹. The same was observed in elderly patients as vascular risk factors (hypertension, cardiovascular- and cerebrovascular diseases) have been associated with AD and cognitive decline ³⁴².

Finally in the CSF of the MCI cohort, we observed significant concentrations increases and relationships between the biomarkers of neuronal damage (NFL and GFAP), astrogliosis (YKL-40) and microgliosis (OPN, sTREM-2) which confirmed the specific activation of those pathways in the context of MCI and AD.

When we compared the biomarkers concentrations in the CSF and the serum, there was no significant relationship between the two matrices. This is explained by the fact that different cell types are responsible for the secretion of cytokines in the two compartments (the brain and the systemic circulation). However, this observation was also made for certain biomarkers which are specifically secreted in the brain, particularly GFAP and NFL. This could reflect the potential role of the blood brain barrier permeability in the trafficking of cells and inflammatory mediators. Breakdowns of the BBB have been observed in correlation with the increasing chronic inflammation in MCI and AD ^{205,343}. The BBB is a dynamic structure constantly changing in response to its environment ³⁴⁴. Therefore, crossing of cytokines from the brain to the bloodstream are not following a linear process. The BBB plasticity is enabled by the endothelial cells. In our study we found significantly increased biomarkers associated with vascular function and cells recruitment through the BBB in MCI patients (IL-8, IP-10, and TIMP-1). Although there was no correlation between the CSF and the serum for both matrices, certain biomarkers were still significantly increased in the serum of the MCI cohort compared to the HC population.

Overall, our results provide substantial evidence that inflammatory processes are involved in mild cognitive impairment. Those mechanisms are taking place both in the systemic circulation and the central nervous system of MCI patients and span over time. The data we obtained, confirmed that the CNS inflammation is specific to MCI, but two biomarkers were emphasized in the blood as well: IL-1 β and IL-8. Boths are involved in the innate immunity mechanism and have been demonstrated to play a role in dementia progression. With ageing, accumulation of stress in the cellular environment, including the neurons in the

150

brain, might activate an acute inflammatory response via the innate immune system. The first purpose of this response is to protect the organism via the secretion of inflammatory mediators ^{301,345}. However, a heightened or prolonged acute inflammatory response might participate in the neuropathological changes associated with AD ³⁴⁶. Most biomarkers, including the ones related to the adaptative immune system, were increased as well but were not statistically relevant. This is partly linked to the fact that MCI displayed a higher variability for most biomarkers. This increased heterogeneity can be explained by the fact that MCI is a long phase in the AD spectrum. The duration of MCI can last up to fifteen years. As a result, patients might be at different timepoints of inflammatory processes. The measure of soluble biomarkers are only snapshots of all the inflammatory processes involved at a given moment of the disorder setting. This reflects the challenges faced to understand the neuropathological processes involved in Alzheimer's disease continuum and how they interact together. Finally, our results asserted the complexity and heterogeneity associated with Alzheimer's disease.

Reference

- (1) *Ageing and health*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/ageing-and-health (accessed 2023-09-17).
- Li, Z.; Zhang, Z.; Ren, Y.; Wang, Y.; Fang, J.; Yue, H.; Ma, S.; Guan, F. Aging and Age-related Diseases: From Mechanisms to Therapeutic Strategies. *Biogerontology* 2021, 22 (2), 165. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10522-021-09910-5.
- (3) Petersen, R. C. Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Continuum : Lifelong Learning in Neurology* **2016**, *22* (2 Dementia), 404. https://doi.org/10.1212/CON.0000000000313.
- Petersen, R. C.; Roberts, R. O.; Knopman, D. S.; Geda, Y. E.; Cha, R. H.; Pankratz, V. S.; Boeve, B. F.; Tangalos, E. G.; Ivnik, R. J.; Rocca, W. A. Prevalence of Mild Cognitive Impairment Is Higher in Men: The Mayo Clinic Study of Aging. *Neurology* 2010, *75* (10), 889. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0B013E3181F11D85.
- Tifratene, K.; Robert, P.; Metelkina, A.; Pradier, C.; Dartigues, J. F. Progression of Mild Cognitive Impairment to Dementia Due to AD in Clinical Settings. *Neurology* 2015, *85* (4), 331–338. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0000000001788.
- (6) Thaipisuttikul, P.; Jaikla, K.; Satthong, S.; Wisajun, P. Rate of Conversion from Mild Cognitive Impairment to Dementia in a Thai Hospital-based Population: A Retrospective Cohort. *Alzheimer's* & Dementia : Translational Research & Clinical Interventions 2022, 8 (1). https://doi.org/10.1002/TRC2.12272.
- Mitchell, A. J.; Shiri-Feshki, M. Rate of Progression of Mild Cognitive Impairment to Dementia--Meta-Analysis of 41 Robust Inception Cohort Studies. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 2009, *119* (4), 252– 265. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1600-0447.2008.01326.X.
- Gale, S. A.; Acar, D.; Daffner, K. R. Dementia. Am J Med 2018, 131 (10), 1161–1169. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AMJMED.2018.01.022.
- International, A. D.; University, M. World Alzheimer Report 2021: Journey through the Diagnosis of Dementia. September 21, 2021. https://www.alzint.org/resource/world-alzheimer-report-2021/ (accessed 2023-10-12).
- (10) World Bank Country and Lending Groups World Bank Data Help Desk. https://datahelpdesk.worldbank.org/knowledgebase/articles/906519-world-bank-country-and-lending-groups (accessed 2023-10-03).
- (11) Dementia. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/dementia (accessed 2023-08-21).
- Karlawish, J.; Jack, C. R.; Rocca, W. A.; Snyder, H. M.; Carrillo, M. C. Alzheimer's Disease: The next Frontier—Special Report 2017. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2017, *13* (4), 374–380. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JALZ.2017.02.006.
- (13) *The top 10 causes of death*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/the-top-10-causes-of-death (accessed 2023-04-05).

- (14) 2021 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures. *Alzheimer's and Dementia* **2021**, *17* (3), 327–406. https://doi.org/10.1002/ALZ.12328.
- Liang, C. S.; Li, D. J.; Yang, F. C.; Tseng, P. T.; Carvalho, A. F.; Stubbs, B.; Thompson, T.; Mueller, C.; Shin, J. II; Radua, J.; Stewart, R.; Rajji, T. K.; Tu, Y. K.; Chen, T. Y.; Yeh, T. C.; Tsai, C. K.; Yu, C. L.; Pan, C. C.; Chu, C. S. Mortality Rates in Alzheimer's Disease and Non-Alzheimer's Dementias: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Lancet Healthy Longev* 2021, *2* (8), e479–e488. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2666-7568(21)00140-9.
- Porsteinsson, A. P.; Isaacson, R. S.; Knox, S.; Sabbagh, M. N.; Rubino, I. Diagnosis of Early Alzheimer's Disease: Clinical Practice in 2021. *Journal of Prevention of Alzheimer's Disease* 2021, *8* (3), 371–386. https://doi.org/10.14283/JPAD.2021.23.
- (17) Haas, A. L.; Olm, P.; Utz, J.; Siegmann, E. M.; Spitzer, P.; Florvaag, A.; Schmidt, M. A.; Doerfler, A.; Lewczuk, P.; Kornhuber, J.; Maler, J. M.; Oberstein, T. J. PASSED: Brain Atrophy in Non-Demented Individuals in a Long-Term Longitudinal Study from Two Independent Cohorts. *Front Aging Neurosci* **2023**, *15*. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNAGI.2023.1121500.
- Roberts, R. O.; Aakre, J. A.; Kremers, W. K.; Vassilaki, M.; Knopman, D. S.; Mielke, M. M.; Alhurani, R.; Geda, Y. E.; Machulda, M. M.; Coloma, P.; Schauble, B.; Lowe, V. J.; Jack, C. R.; Petersen, R. C. Prevalence and Outcomes of Amyloid Positivity Among Persons Without Dementia in a Longitudinal, Population-Based Setting. *JAMA Neurol* 2018, 75 (8), 970–979. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMANEUROL.2018.0629.
- (19) Villemagne, V. L.; Pike, K. E.; Darby, D.; Maruff, P.; Savage, G.; Ng, S.; Ackermann, U.; Cowie, T. F.; Currie, J.; Chan, S. G.; Jones, G.; Tochon-Danguy, H.; O'keefe, G.; Masters, C. L.; Rowe, C. C. A Deposits in Older Non-Demented Individuals with Cognitive Decline Are Indicative of Preclinical Alzheimer's Disease. *Neuropsychologia* 2008, *46*, 1688–1697. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuropsychologia.2008.02.008.
- (20) Hubbard, B. M.; Fentonm, G. W.; Anderson, J. M. A Quantitative Histological Study of Early Clinical and Preclinical Alzheimer's Disease. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* **1990**, *16* (2), 111–121. https://doi.org/10.1111/J.1365-2990.1990.TB00940.X.
- Insel, P. S.; Weiner, M.; Scott MacKin, R.; Mormino, E.; Lim, Y. Y.; Stomrud, E.; Palmqvist, S.;
 Masters, C. L.; Maruff, P. T.; Hansson, O.; Mattsson, N. Determining Clinically Meaningful Decline in Preclinical Alzheimer Disease. *Neurology* 2019, *93* (4), E322–E333. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000007831.
- (22) Vermunt, L.; Sikkes, S. A. M.; van den Hout, A.; Handels, R.; Bos, I.; van der Flier, W. M.; Kern, S.; Ousset, P. J.; Maruff, P.; Skoog, I.; Verhey, F. R. J.; Freund-Levi, Y.; Tsolaki, M.; Wallin, Å. K.; Olde Rikkert, M.; Soininen, H.; Spiru, L.; Zetterberg, H.; Blennow, K.; Scheltens, P.; Muniz-Terrera, G.; Visser, P. J.; Vellas, B.; Reynish, E.; Ousset, P. J.; Andrieu, S.; Burns, A.; Pasquier, F.; Frisoni, G.; Salmon, E.; Michel, J. P.; Zekry, D. S.; Boada, M.; Dartigues, J. F.; Olde-Rikkert, M. G. M.; Rigaud, A. S.; Winblad, B.; Malick, A.; Sinclair, A.; Frölich, L.; Ribera, C.; Touchon, J.; Robert, P.; Salva, A.; Waldemar, G.; Bullock, R.; Tsolaki, M.; Rodriguez, G.; Spiru, L.; Jones, R. W.; Stiens, G.; Stoppe, G.; Eriksdotter Jönhagen, M.; Cherubini, A.; Lage, P. M.; Gomez-Isla, T.; Camus, V.; Agüera-Morales, E.; Lopez, F.; Savy, S.; Cantet, C.; Coley, N. Duration of Preclinical, Prodromal and Dementia Alzheimer Disease Stages in Relation to Age, Sex, and APOE Genotype. *Alzheimers Dement* 2019, 15 (7), 888. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JALZ.2019.04.001.

- Jack, C. R.; Knopman, D. S.; Jagust, W. J.; Petersen, R. C.; Weiner, M. W.; Aisen, P. S.; Shaw, L. M.; Vemuri, P.; Wiste, H. J.; Weigand, S. D.; Lesnick, T. G.; Pankratz, V. S.; Donohue, M. C.; Trojanowski, J. Q. Tracking Pathophysiological Processes in Alzheimer's Disease: An Updated Hypothetical Model of Dynamic Biomarkers. *Lancet Neurol* 2013, *12* (2), 207–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70291-0.
- (24) Gauthier, S.; Reisberg, B.; Zaudig, M.; Petersen, R. C.; Ritchie, K.; Broich, K.; Belleville, S.; Brodaty, H.; Bennett, D.; Chertkow, H.; Cummings, J. L.; de Leon, M.; Feldman, H.; Ganguli, M.; Hampel, H.; Scheltens, P.; Tierney, M. C.; Whitehouse, P.; Winblad, B. Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Lancet* 2006, *367* (9518), 1262–1270. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68542-5.
- (25) Cho, S. H.; Woo, S.; Kim, C.; Kim, H. J.; Jang, H.; Kim, B. C.; Kim, S. E.; Kim, S. J.; Kim, J. P.; Jung, Y. H.; Lockhart, S.; Ossenkoppele, R.; Landau, S.; Na, D. L.; Weiner, M.; Kim, S.; Seo, S. W. Disease Progression Modelling from Preclinical Alzheimer's Disease (AD) to AD Dementia. *Scientific Reports 2021 11:1* 2021, *11* (1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-83585-3.
- (26) *Alzheimer's Stages Early, Middle, Late Dementia Symptoms | alz.org.* https://www.alz.org/alzheimers-dementia/stages (accessed 2023-08-09).
- (27) Lanctôt, K. L.; Amatniek, J.; Ancoli-Israel, S.; Arnold, S. E.; Ballard, C.; Cohen-Mansfield, J.; Ismail, Z.; Lyketsos, C.; Miller, D. S.; Musiek, E.; Osorio, R. S.; Rosenberg, P. B.; Satlin, A.; Steffens, D.; Tariot, P.; Bain, L. J.; Carrillo, M. C.; Hendrix, J. A.; Jurgens, H.; Boot, B. Neuropsychiatric Signs and Symptoms of Alzheimer's Disease: New Treatment Paradigms. *Alzheimer's & Dementia : Translational Research & Clinical Interventions* 2017, *3* (3), 440. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRCI.2017.07.001.
- (28) Alzheimer, A. Neuere Arbeiten Über Die Dementia Senilis Und Die Auf Atheromatöser Gefässerkrankung Basierenden Gehirnkrankheiten. *Eur Neurol* **1898**, *3* (1), 101–115. https://doi.org/10.1159/000228782.
- (29) Gouras, G. K.; Olsson, T. T.; Hansson, O. β-Amyloid Peptides and Amyloid Plaques in Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurotherapeutics* **2015**, *12* (1), 3. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13311-014-0313-Y.
- (30) He, Z.; Guo, J. L.; McBride, J. D.; Narasimhan, S.; Kim, H.; Changolkar, L.; Zhang, B.; Gathagan, R. J.; Yue, C.; Dengler, C.; Stieber, A.; Nitla, M.; Coulter, D. A.; Abel, T.; Brunden, K. R.; Trojanowski, J. Q.; Lee, V. M. Y. Amyloid-β Plaques Enhance Alzheimer's Brain Tau-Seeded Pathologies by Facilitating Neuritic Plaque Tau Aggregation. *Nat Med* 2018, *24* (1), 29. https://doi.org/10.1038/NM.4443.
- (31) Ferrer, I.; Martí, E.; Tortosa, A.; Blasi, J. Dystrophic Neurites of Senile Plaques Are Defective in Proteins Involved in Exocytosis and Neurotransmission. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* 1998, 57 (3), 218–225. https://doi.org/10.1097/00005072-199803000-00002.
- (32) LaFerla, F. M.; Green, K. N.; Oddo, S. Intracellular Amyloid-β in Alzheimer's Disease. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience 2007 8:7* **2007**, *8* (7), 499–509. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn2168.
- (33) Chen, G. F.; Xu, T. H.; Yan, Y.; Zhou, Y. R.; Jiang, Y.; Melcher, K.; Xu, H. E. Amyloid Beta: Structure, Biology and Structure-Based Therapeutic Development. *Acta Pharmacologica Sinica 2017 38:9* 2017, 38 (9), 1205–1235. https://doi.org/10.1038/aps.2017.28.

- (34) Chuang, E.; Hori, A. M.; Hesketh, C. D.; Shorter, J. Amyloid Assembly and Disassembly. *J Cell Sci* **2018**, *131* (8). https://doi.org/10.1242/JCS.189928.
- (35) Lee, S. J. C.; Nam, E.; Lee, H. J.; Savelieff, M. G.; Lim, M. H. Towards an Understanding of Amyloidβ Oligomers: Characterization, Toxicity Mechanisms, and Inhibitors. *Chem Soc Rev* 2017, 46 (2), 310–323. https://doi.org/10.1039/C6CS00731G.
- (36) Steiner, H.; Fukumori, A.; Tagami, S.; Okochi, M. Making the Final Cut: Pathogenic Amyloid-β
 Peptide Generation by γ-Secretase. *Cell Stress* 2018, 2 (11), 292.
 https://doi.org/10.15698/CST2018.11.162.
- (37) Stroo, E.; Koopman, M.; Nollen, E. A. A.; Mata-Cabana, A. Cellular Regulation of Amyloid Formation in Aging and Disease. *Front Neurosci* 2017, *11* (FEB), 64. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNINS.2017.00064.
- (38) Low, K. J. Y.; Venkatraman, A.; Mehta, J. S.; Pervushin, K. Molecular Mechanisms of Amyloid Disaggregation. *J Adv Res* **2021**, *36*, 113–132. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JARE.2021.05.007.
- (39) Rodrigue, K. M.; Kennedy, K. M.; Park, D. C. Beta-Amyloid Deposition and the Aging Brain. *Neuropsychol Rev* **2009**, *19* (4), 436. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11065-009-9118-X.
- (40) Mawuenyega, K. G.; Sigurdson, W.; Ovod, V.; Munsell, L.; Kasten, T.; Morris, J. C.; Yarasheski, K. E.; Bateman, R. J. Decreased Clearance of CNS Amyloid-β in Alzheimer's Disease. *Science* 2010, *330* (6012), 1774. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1197623.
- Hampel, H.; Hardy, J.; Blennow, K.; Chen, C.; Perry, G.; Kim, S. H.; Villemagne, V. L.; Aisen, P.;
 Vendruscolo, M.; Iwatsubo, T.; Masters, C. L.; Cho, M.; Lannfelt, L.; Cummings, J. L.; Vergallo, A.
 The Amyloid-β Pathway in Alzheimer's Disease. *Molecular Psychiatry 2021 26:10* 2021, *26* (10), 5481–5503. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-021-01249-0.
- (42) Tönnies, E.; Trushina, E. Oxidative Stress, Synaptic Dysfunction, and Alzheimer's Disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* **2017**, *57* (4), 1105–1121. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-161088.
- Juan, S. M. A.; Adlard, P. A. Ageing and Cognition. Subcell Biochem 2019, 91, 107–122. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3681-2_5.
- Kaushik, S.; Tasset, I.; Arias, E.; Pampliega, O.; Wong, E.; Martinez-Vicente, M.; Cuervo, A. M. Autophagy and the Hallmarks of Aging. *Ageing Res Rev* 2021, *72*, 101468. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ARR.2021.101468.
- (45) Castellazzi, M.; Patergnani, S.; Donadio, M.; Giorgi, C.; Bonora, M.; Bosi, C.; Brombo, G.; Pugliatti, M.; Seripa, D.; Zuliani, G.; Pinton, P. Autophagy and Mitophagy Biomarkers Are Reduced in Sera of Patients with Alzheimer's Disease and Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Sci Rep* 2019, *9* (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41598-019-56614-5.
- (46) Fang, E. F.; Hou, Y.; Palikaras, K.; Adriaanse, B. A.; Kerr, J. S.; Yang, B.; Lautrup, S.; Hasan-Olive, M. M.; Caponio, D.; Dan, X.; Rocktäschel, P.; Croteau, D. L.; Akbari, M.; Greig, N. H.; Fladby, T.; Nilsen, H.; Cader, M. Z.; Mattson, M. P.; Tavernarakis, N.; Bohr, V. A. Mitophagy Inhibits Amyloid-β and Tau Pathology and Reverses Cognitive Deficits in Models of Alzheimer's Disease. *Nat Neurosci* 2019, *22* (3), 401. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41593-018-0332-9.

- Uddin, M. S.; Stachowiak, A.; Al Mamun, A.; Tzvetkov, N. T.; Takeda, S.; Atanasov, A. G.; Bergantin,
 L. B.; Abdel-Daim, M. M.; Stankiewicz, A. M. Autophagy and Alzheimer's Disease: From Molecular
 Mechanisms to Therapeutic Implications. *Front Aging Neurosci* 2018, *10* (JAN).
 https://doi.org/10.3389/FNAGI.2018.00004.
- (48) Aizenstein, H. J.; Nebes, R. D.; Saxton, J. A.; Price, J. C.; Mathis, C. A.; Tsopelas, N. D.; Ziolko, S. K.; James, J. A.; Snitz, B. E.; Houck, P. R.; Bi, W.; Cohen, A. D.; Lopresti, B. J.; DeKosky, S. T.; Halligan, E. M.; Klunk, W. E. Frequent Amyloid Deposition without Significant Cognitive Impairment among the Elderly. *Arch Neurol* 2008, *65* (11), 1509–1517. https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHNEUR.65.11.1509.
- Bennett, D. A.; Schneider, J. A.; Arvanitakis, Z.; Kelly, J. F.; Aggarwal, N. T.; Shah, R. C.; Wilson, R. S. Neuropathology of Older Persons without Cognitive Impairment from Two Community-Based Studies. *Neurology* 2006, *66* (12), 1837–1844. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000219668.47116.E6.
- (50) Perez-Nievas, B. G.; Stein, T. D.; Tai, H. C.; Dols-Icardo, O.; Scotton, T. C.; Barroeta-Espar, I.;
 Fernandez-Carballo, L.; De Munain, E. L.; Perez, J.; Marquie, M.; Serrano-Pozo, A.; Frosch, M. P.;
 Lowe, V.; Parisi, J. E.; Petersen, R. C.; Ikonomovic, M. D.; López, O. L.; Klunk, W.; Hyman, B. T.;
 Gómez-Isla, T. Dissecting Phenotypic Traits Linked to Human Resilience to Alzheimer's Pathology.
 Brain 2013, 136 (8), 2510. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWT171.
- (51) Frisoni, G. B.; Altomare, D.; Thal, D. R.; Ribaldi, F.; van der Kant, R.; Ossenkoppele, R.; Blennow, K.; Cummings, J.; van Duijn, C.; Nilsson, P. M.; Dietrich, P. Y.; Scheltens, P.; Dubois, B. The Probabilistic Model of Alzheimer Disease: The Amyloid Hypothesis Revised. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2022, 23 (1), 53. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41583-021-00533-W.
- (52) Campioni, S.; Mannini, B.; Zampagni, M.; Pensalfini, A.; Parrini, C.; Evangelisti, E.; Relini, A.; Stefani, M.; Dobson, C. M.; Cecchi, C.; Chiti, F. A Causative Link between the Structure of Aberrant Protein Oligomers and Their Toxicity. *Nat Chem Biol* **2010**, *6* (2), 140–147. https://doi.org/10.1038/NCHEMBIO.283.
- (53) Braak, H.; Del Tredici, K. Neurofibrillary Tangles. *Encyclopedia of Movement Disorders* **2010**, 265–269. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-374105-9.00269-0.
- Youssef, S. A. Pathology of Brain Aging and Animal Models of Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Conn's Handbook of Models for Human Aging* 2018, 899–908. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-811353-0.00066-X.
- (55) Zhang, Y.; Wu, K. M.; Yang, L.; Dong, Q.; Yu, J. T. Tauopathies: New Perspectives and Challenges. *Mol Neurodegener* **2022**, *17* (1), 28. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13024-022-00533-Z.
- Weingarten, M. D.; Lockwood, A. H.; Hwo, S. Y.; Kirschner, M. W. A Protein Factor Essential for Microtubule Assembly. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1975, 72 (5), 1858. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.72.5.1858.
- (57) Guo, T.; Noble, W.; Hanger, D. P. Roles of Tau Protein in Health and Disease. *Acta Neuropathologica 2017 133:5* 2017, *133* (5), 665–704. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00401-017-1707-9.

- (58) Jie, C. V. M. L.; Treyer, V.; Schibli, R.; Mu, L. Tauvid[™]: The First FDA-Approved PET Tracer for Imaging Tau Pathology in Alzheimer's Disease. *Pharmaceuticals* **2021**, *14* (2), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.3390/PH14020110.
- (59) Dixit, R.; Ross, J. L.; Goldman, Y. E.; Holzbaur, E. L. F. Differential Regulation of Dynein and Kinesin Motor Proteins by Tau. *Science (1979)* 2008, *319* (5866), 1086–1089. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1152993.
- Wegmann, S.; Nicholls, S.; Takeda, S.; Fan, Z.; Hyman, B. T. Formation, Release, and Internalization of Stable Tau Oligomers in Cells. *J Neurochem* 2016, *139* (6), 1163. https://doi.org/10.1111/JNC.13866.
- Buée, L.; Bussière, T.; Buée-Scherrer, V.; Delacourte, A.; Hof, P. R. Tau Protein Isoforms, Phosphorylation and Role in Neurodegenerative Disorders. *Brain Res Rev* 2000, 33 (1), 95–130. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0165-0173(00)00019-9.
- (62) Iqbal, K.; Zaidi, T.; Wen, G. Y.; Grundke-Iqbal, I.; Merz, P. A.; Shaikh, S. S.; Wisniewski, H. M.;
 Alafuzoff, I.; Winblad, B. Defective Brain Microtubule Assembly in Alzheimer's Disease. *Lancet* 1986, 2 (8504), 421–426. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(86)92134-3.
- (63) Iqbal, K.; Liu, F.; Gong, C. X.; del Alonso, A. C.; Grundke-Iqbal, I. Mechanisms of Tau-Induced Neurodegeneration. *Acta Neuropathol* 2009, *118* (1), 53. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00401-009-0486-3.
- (64) Alonso, A. D. C.; Zaidi, T.; Novak, M.; Grundke-Iqbal, I.; Iqbal, K. Hyperphosphorylation Induces Self-Assembly of τ into Tangles of paired Helical Filaments/Straight Filaments. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* U S A 2001, 98 (12), 6923. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.121119298.
- Lindwall, G.; Cole, R. D. Phosphorylation Affects the Ability of Tau Protein to Promote Microtubule Assembly. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **1984**, *259* (8), 5301–5305. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0021-9258(17)42989-9.
- (66) Chen, Y.; Yu, Y. Tau and Neuroinflammation in Alzheimer's Disease: Interplay Mechanisms and Clinical Translation. *Journal of Neuroinflammation 2023 20:1* 2023, 20 (1), 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1186/S12974-023-02853-3.
- (67) Frontzkowski, L.; Ewers, M.; Brendel, M.; Biel, D.; Ossenkoppele, R.; Hager, P.; Steward, A.; Dewenter, A.; Römer, S.; Rubinski, A.; Buerger, K.; Janowitz, D.; Binette, A. P.; Smith, R.; Strandberg, O.; Carlgren, N. M.; Dichgans, M.; Hansson, O.; Franzmeier, N. Earlier Alzheimer's Disease Onset Is Associated with Tau Pathology in Brain Hub Regions and Facilitated Tau Spreading. *Nat Commun* **2022**, *13* (1). https://doi.org/10.1038/S41467-022-32592-7.
- Vogel, J. W.; Young, A. L.; Oxtoby, N. P.; Smith, R.; Ossenkoppele, R.; Strandberg, O. T.; La Joie, R.; Aksman, L. M.; Grothe, M. J.; Iturria-Medina, Y.; Weiner, M.; Aisen, P.; Petersen, R.; Jack, C. R.; Jagust, W.; Trojanowki, J. Q.; Toga, A. W.; Beckett, L.; Green, R. C.; Saykin, A. J.; Morris, J. C.; Shaw, L. M.; Liu, E.; Montine, T.; Thomas, R. G.; Donohue, M.; Walter, S.; Gessert, D.; Sather, T.; Jiminez, G.; Harvey, D.; Bernstein, M.; Fox, N.; Thompson, P.; Schuff, N.; DeCArli, C.; Borowski, B.; Gunter, J.; Senjem, M.; Vemuri, P.; Jones, D.; Kantarci, K.; Ward, C.; Koeppe, R. A.; Foster, N.; Reiman, E. M.; Chen, K.; Mathis, C.; Landau, S.; Cairns, N. J.; Householder, E.; Reinwald, L. T.; Lee, V.; Korecka, M.; Figurski, M.; Crawford, K.; Neu, S.; Foroud, T. M.; Potkin, S.; Shen, L.; Kelley, F.; Kim, S.; Nho, K.; Kachaturian, Z.; Frank, R.; Snyder, P. J.; Molchan, S.; Kaye, J.; Quinn, J.; Lind, B.;

Carter, R.; Dolen, S.; Schneider, L. S.; Pawluczyk, S.; Beccera, M.; Teodoro, L.; Spann, B. M.; Brewer, J.; Vanderswag, H.; Fleisher, A.; Heidebrink, J. L.; Lord, J. L.; Mason, S. S.; Albers, C. S.; Knopman, D.; Johnson, K.; Doody, R. S.; Meyer, J. V.; Chowdhury, M.; Rountree, S.; Dang, M.; Stern, Y.; Honig, L. S.; Bell, K. L.; Ances, B.; Carroll, M.; Leon, S.; Mintun, M. A.; Schneider, S.; Oliver, A.; Griffith, R.; Clark, D.; Geldmacher, D.; Brockington, J.; Roberson, E.; Grossman, H.; Mitsis, E.; deToledo-Morrell, L.; Shah, R. C.; Duara, R.; Varon, D.; Greig, M. T.; Roberts, P.; Albert, M.; Onyike, C.; D'Agostino, D.; Kielb, S.; Galvin, J. E.; Pogorelec, D. M.; Cerbone, B.; Michel, C. A.; Rusinek, H.; de Leon, M. J.; Glodzik, L.; De Santi, S.; Doraiswamy, P. M.; Petrella, J. R.; Wong, T. Z.; Arnold, S. E.; Karlawish, J. H.; Wolk, D.; Smith, C. D.; Jicha, G.; Hardy, P.; Sinha, P.; Oates, E.; Conrad, G.; Lopez, O. L.; Oakley, M. A.; Simpson, D. M.; Porsteinsson, A. P.; Goldstein, B. S.; Martin, K.; Makino, K. M.; Ismail, M. S.; Brand, C.; Mulnard, R. A.; Thai, G.; McAdams Ortiz, C.; Womack, K.; Mathews, D.; Quiceno, M.; Arrastia, R. D.; King, R.; Weiner, M.; Cook, K. M.; DeVous, M.; Levey, A. I.; Lah, J. J.; Cellar, J. S.; Burns, J. M.; Anderson, H. S.; Swerdlow, R. H.; Apostolova, L.; Tingus, K.; Woo, E.; Silverman, D. H. S.; Lu, P. H.; Bartzokis, G.; Radford, N. R. G.; Parfitt, F.; Kendall, T.; Johnson, H.; Farlow, M. R.; Hake, A. M.; Matthews, B. R.; Herring, S.; Hunt, C.; van Dyck, C. H.; Carson, R. E.; MacAvoy, M. G.; Chertkow, H.; Bergman, H.; Hosein, C.; Black, S.; Stefanovic, B.; Caldwell, C.; Hsiung, G. Y. R.; Feldman, H.; Mudge, B.; Past, M. A.; Kertesz, A.; Rogers, J.; Trost, D.; Bernick, C.; Munic, D.; Kerwin, D.; Mesulam, M. M.; Lipowski, K.; Wu, C. K.; Johnson, N.; Sadowsky, C.; Martinez, W.; Villena, T.; Turner, R. S.; Johnson, K.; Reynolds, B.; Sperling, R. A.; Johnson, K. A.; Marshall, G.; Frey, M.; Yesavage, J.; Taylor, J. L.; Lane, B.; Rosen, A.; Tinklenberg, J.; Sabbagh, M. N.; Belden, C. M.; Jacobson, S. A.; Sirrel, S. A.; Kowall, N.; Killiany, R.; Budson, A. E.; Norbash, A.; Johnson, P. L.; Obisesan, T. O.; Wolday, S.; Allard, J.; Lerner, A.; Ogrocki, P.; Hudson, L.; Fletcher, E.; Carmichael, O.; Olichney, J.; DeCarli, C.; Kittur, S.; Borrie, M.; Lee, T. Y.; Bartha, R.; Johnson, S.; Asthana, S.; Carlsson, C. M.; Potkin, S. G.; Preda, A.; Nguyen, D.; Tariot, P.; Reeder, S.; Bates, V.; Capote, H.; Rainka, M.; Scharre, D. W.; Kataki, M.; Adeli, A.; Zimmerman, E. A.; Celmins, D.; Brown, A. D.; Pearlson, G. D.; Blank, K.; Anderson, K.; Santulli, R. B.; Kitzmiller, T. J.; Schwartz, E. S.; Sink, K. M.; Williamson, J. D.; Garg, P.; Watkins, F.; Ott, B. R.; Querfurth, H.; Tremont, G.; Salloway, S.; Malloy, P.; Correia, S.; Rosen, H. J.; Miller, B. L.; Mintzer, J.; Spicer, K.; Bachman, D.; Finger, E.; Pasternak, S.; Rachinsky, I.; Drost, D.; Pomara, N.; Hernando, R.; Sarrael, A.; Schultz, S. K.; Ponto, L. L. B.; Shim, H.; Smith, K. E.; Relkin, N.; Chaing, G.; Raudin, L.; Smith, A.; Fargher, K.; Raj, B. A.; Pontecorvo, M. J.; Devous, M. D.; Rabinovici, G. D.; Alexander, D. C.; Lyoo, C. H.; Evans, A. C.; Hansson, O. Four Distinct Trajectories of Tau Deposition Identified in Alzheimer's Disease. Nat Med 2021, 27 (5), 871. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41591-021-01309-6.

- (69) Deture, M. A.; Dickson, D. W. The Neuropathological Diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease. *Molecular Neurodegeneration 2019 14:1* **2019**, *14* (1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1186/S13024-019-0333-5.
- Li, T.; Braunstein, K. E.; Zhang, J.; Lau, A.; Sibener, L.; Deeble, C.; Wong, P. C. The Neuritic Plaque Facilitates Pathological Conversion of Tau in an Alzheimer's Disease Mouse Model. *Nature Communications 2016 7:1* 2016, 7 (1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1038/ncomms12082.
- Wong, P. C.; Cai, H.; Borchelt, D. R.; Price, D. L. Genetically Engineered Mouse Models of Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Nature Neuroscience 2002 5:7* 2002, *5* (7), 633–639. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn0702-633.
- (72) 2023 Alzheimer's Disease Facts and Figures. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* **2023**, *19* (4), 1598–1695. https://doi.org/10.1002/ALZ.13016.

- (73) Congdon, E. E. Sex Differences in Autophagy Contribute to Female Vulnerability in Alzheimer's Disease. *Front Neurosci* **2018**, *12* (JUN), 372. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNINS.2018.00372.
- (74) Mielke, M. M. Sex and Gender Differences in Alzheimer's Disease Dementia. The Psychiatric times. /pmc/articles/PMC6390276/ (accessed 2023-10-12).
- (75) Guerreiro, R.; Brás, J.; Hardy, J. SnapShot: Genetics of Alzheimer's Disease. *Cell* **2013**, *155* (4), 968-968.e1. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CELL.2013.10.037.
- (76) Wu, L.; Rosa-Neto, P.; Hsiung, G. Y. R.; Sadovnick, A. D.; Masellis, M.; Black, S. E.; Jia, J.; Gauthier, S. Early-Onset Familial Alzheimer's Disease (EOFAD). *Can J Neurol Sci* 2012, *39* (4), 436–445. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0317167100013949.
- (77) Sims, R.; Hill, M.; Williams, J. The Multiplex Model of the Genetics of Alzheimer's Disease. *Nature Neuroscience 2020 23:3* **2020**, *23* (3), 311–322. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-020-0599-5.
- (78) Corder, E. H.; Saunders, A. M.; Strittmatter, W. J.; Schmechel, D. E.; Gaskell, P. C.; Small, G. W.; Roses, A. D.; Haines, J. L.; Pericak-Vance, M. A. Gene Dose of Apolipoprotein E Type 4 Allele and the Risk of Alzheimer's Disease in Late Onset Families. *Science* **1993**, *261* (5123), 921–923. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.8346443.
- (79) Potter, H.; Wisniewski, T. Apolipoprotein e: Essential Catalyst of the Alzheimer Amyloid Cascade. *Int J Alzheimers Dis* **2012**, *2012*. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/489428.
- (80) Verghese, P. B.; Castellano, J. M.; Holtzman, D. M. Apolipoprotein E in Alzheimer's Disease and Other Neurological Disorders. *Lancet Neurol* 2011, *10* (3), 241–252. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(10)70325-2.
- Holtzman, D. M.; Herz, J.; Bu, G. Apolipoprotein E and Apolipoprotein E Receptors: Normal Biology and Roles in Alzheimer Disease. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med* 2012, 2 (3). https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A006312.
- (82) Qiu, C.; Kivipelto, M.; Agüero-Torres, H.; Winblad, B.; Fratiglioni, L. Risk and Protective Effects of the APOE Gene towards Alzheimer's Disease in the Kungsholmen Project: Variation by Age and Sex. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 2004, 75 (6), 828–833. https://doi.org/10.1136/JNNP.2003.021493.
- Shi, Y.; Holtzman, D. M. Interplay between Innate Immunity and Alzheimer Disease: APOE and TREM2 in the Spotlight. *Nat Rev Immunol* 2018, *18* (12), 759–772. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41577-018-0051-1.
- (84) Guerreiro, R.; Wojtas, A.; Bras, J.; Carrasquillo, M.; Rogaeva, E.; Majounie, E.; Cruchaga, C.; Sassi, C.; Kauwe, J. S. K.; Younkin, S.; Hazrati, L.; Collinge, J.; Pocock, J.; Lashley, T.; Williams, J.; Lambert, J.-C.; Amouyel, P.; Goate, A.; Rademakers, R.; Morgan, K.; Powell, J.; St. George-Hyslop, P.; Singleton, A.; Hardy, J. TREM2 Variants in Alzheimer's Disease. *N Engl J Med* 2013, *368* (2), 117–127. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1211851.
- (85) Dourlen, P.; Kilinc, D.; Malmanche, N.; Chapuis, J.; Lambert, J. C. The New Genetic Landscape of Alzheimer's Disease: From Amyloid Cascade to Genetically Driven Synaptic Failure Hypothesis? Acta Neuropathol 2019, 138 (2), 221–236. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00401-019-02004-0.

- (86) de Bruijn, R. F. A. G.; Ikram, M. A. Cardiovascular Risk Factors and Future Risk of Alzheimer's Disease. BMC Med 2014, 12 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S12916-014-0130-5.
- (87) Van Dijk, E. J.; Breteler, M. M. B.; Schmidt, R.; Berger, K.; Nilsson, L. G.; Oudkerk, M.; Pajak, A.; Sans, S.; De Ridder, M.; Dufouil, C.; Fuhrer, R.; Giampaoli, S.; Launer, L. J.; Hofman, A. The Association Between Blood Pressure, Hypertension, and Cerebral White Matter Lesions. *Hypertension* **2004**, *44* (5), 625–630. https://doi.org/10.1161/01.HYP.0000145857.98904.20.
- (88) Dhana, K.; Evans, D. A.; Rajan, K. B.; Bennett, D. A.; Morris, M. C. Healthy Lifestyle and the Risk of Alzheimer Dementia: Findings from 2 Longitudinal Studies. *Neurology* **2020**, *95* (4), e374. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000009816.
- (89) Wang, H.; Naghavi, M.; Allen, C.; Barber, R. M.; Carter, A.; Casey, D. C.; Charlson, F. J.; Chen, A. Z.; Coates, M. M.; Coggeshall, M.; Dandona, L.; Dicker, D. J.; Erskine, H. E.; Haagsma, J. A.; Fitzmaurice, C.; Foreman, K.; Forouzanfar, M. H.; Fraser, M. S.; Fullman, N.; Goldberg, E. M.; Graetz, N.; Haagsma, J. A.; Hay, S. I.; Huynh, C.; Johnson, C. O.; Kassebaum, N. J.; Kulikoff, X. R.; Kutz, M.; Kyu, H. H.; Larson, H. J.; Leung, J.; Lim, S. S.; Lind, M.; Lozano, R.; Marquez, N.; Mikesell, J.; Mokdad, A. H.; Mooney, M. D.; Nguyen, G.; Nsoesie, E.; Pigott, D. M.; Pinho, C.; Roth, G. A.; Sandar, L.; Silpakit, N.; Sligar, A.; Sorensen, R. J. D.; Stanaway, J.; Steiner, C.; Teeple, S.; Thomas, B. A.; Troeger, C.; VanderZanden, A.; Vollset, S. E.; Wanga, V.; Whiteford, H. A.; Wolock, T.; Zoeckler, L.; Achoki, T.; Afshin, A.; Alexander, L. T.; Anderson, G. M.; Bell, B.; Biryukov, S.; Blore, J. D.; Brown, A.; Brown, J.; Cercy, K.; Chew, A.; Cohen, A. J.; Daoud, F.; Dossou, E.; Estep, K.; Flaxman, A.; Friedman, J.; Frostad, J.; Godwin, W. W.; Hancock, J.; Kemmer, L.; Khalil, I. A.; Liu, P. Y.; Masiye, F.; Millear, A.; Mirarefin, M.; Misganaw, A.; Moradi-Lakeh, M.; Morgan, K.; Ng, M.; Pain, A.; Quame-Amaglo, J.; Rao, P.; Reitsma, M. B.; Shackelford, K. A.; Sur, P.; Wagner, J. A.; Vos, T.; Lopez, A. D.; Murray, C. J. L.; Ellenbogen, R. G.; Mock, C. N.; Quistberg, D. A.; Anderson, B. O.; Blosser, C. D.; Futran, N. D.; Heckbert, S. R.; Jensen, P. N.; Montine, T. J.; Tirschwell, D. L.; Watkins, D. A.; Bhutta, Z. A.; Nisar, M. I.; Akseer, N.; Alam, N. K. M.; Knibbs, L. D.; Lalloo, R.; Gouda, H. N.; McGrath, J. J.; Jeemon, P.; Dandona, R.; Kumar, G. A.; Gething, P. W.; Cooper, C.; Darby, S. C.; Deribew, A.; Ali, R.; Bennett, D. A.; Jha, V.; Rahimi, K.; Kinfu, Y.; Faghmous, I. D. A.; Langan, S. M.; McKee, M.; Murthy, G. V. S.; Pearce, N.; Roberts, B.; Campos-Nonato, I. R.; Campuzano, J. C.; Gomez-Dantes, H.; Heredia-Pi, I. B.; Mejia-Rodriguez, F.; Montañez Hernandez, J. C.; Montero, P.; Rios Blancas, M. J.; Servan-Mori, E. E.; Villalpando, S.; Duan, L.; Liu, S.; Wang, L.; Ye, P.; Liang, X.; Yu, S.; Mensah, G. A.; Salomon, J. A.; Thorne-Lyman, A. L.; Ajala, O. N.; Bärnighausen, T.; Ding, E. L.; Farvid, M. S.; Wagner, G. R.; James, P.; Osman, M.; Shrime, M. G.; Fitchett, J. R. A.; Knudsen, A. K.; Ellingsen, C. L.; Krog, N. H.; Savic, M.; Hailu, A. D.; Norheim, O. F.; Abate, K. H.; Gebrehiwot, T. T.; Gebremedhin, A. T.; Abbafati, C.; Abbas, K. M.; Abd-Allah, F.; Abera, S. F.; Melaku, Y. A.; Tesfay, F. H.; Abyu, G. Y.; Aregay, A. F.; Betsu, B. D.; Gebru, A. A.; Hailu, G. B.; Yalew, A. Z.; Yebyo, H. G.; Abreu, D. M. X.; Franca, E. B.; Abu-Raddad, L. J.; Adelekan, A. L.; Akinyemi, R. O.; Ojelabi, F. A.; Ademi, Z.; Fürst, T.; Azzopardi, P.; Cowie, B. C.; Gibney, K. B.; MacLachlan, J. H.; Meretoja, A.; Alam, K.; Colquhoun, S. M.; Colquhoun, S. M.; Patton, G. C.; Weintraub, R. G.; Szoeke, C. E. I.; Vijayakumar, L.; Bohensky, M. A.; Taylor, H. R.; Wijeratne, T.; Adou, A. K.; Adsuar, J. C.; Afanvi, K. A.; Agardh, E. E.; Rehm, J.; Badawi, A.; Lindsay, M. P.; Popova, S.; Agarwal, A.; Agrawal, A.; Hotez, P. J.; Ahmad Kiadaliri, A.; Norrving, B.; Akanda, A. S.; Akinyemiju, T. F.; Schwebel, D. C.; Singh, J. A.; Al Lami, F. H.; Alabed, S.; Al-Aly, Z.; Driscoll, T. R.; Kemp, A. H.; Leigh, J.; Kemp, A. H.; Alasfoor, D.; Aldhahri, S. F.; Altirkawi, K. A.; Terkawi, A. S.; Aldridge, R. W.; Banerjee, A.; Tillmann, T.; Alegretti, M. A.; Aleman, A. V.; Cavalleri, F.; Colistro, V.; Alemu, Z. A.; Alhabib, S.; Alkerwi, A.; Alla, F.; Allebeck, P.; Carrero, J. J.; Fereshtehnejad, S.; Weiderpass, E.; Havmoeller, R.; Al-Raddadi, R.;

Alsharif, U.; Alvarez Martin, E.; Alvis-Guzman, N.; Amare, A. T.; Ciobanu, L. G.; Tessema, G. A.; Amegah, A. K.; Kudom, A. A.; Ameh, E. A.; Amini, H.; Karema, C. K.; Ammar, W.; Harb, H. L.; Amrock, S. M.; Andersen, H. H.; Antonio, C. A. T.; Faraon, E. J. A.; Ärnlöv, J.; Larsson, A.; Arsic Arsenijevic, V. S.; Barac, A.; Artaman, A.; Asayesh, H.; Asghar, R. J.; Atique, S.; Avokpaho, E. F. G. A.; Gankpé, F. G.; Awasthi, A.; Bacha, U.; Bahit, M. C.; Balakrishnan, K.; Barker-Collo, S. L.; Mohammed, S.; Barregard, L.; Petzold, M.; Barrero, L. H.; Basu, A.; Basu, S.; Bayou, Y. T.; Bazargan-Hejazi, S.; Beardsley, J.; Bedi, N.; Beghi, E.; Deribe, K.; Belay, H. A.; Giref, A. Z.; Haile, D.; Jibat, T.; Manamo, W. A. A.; Tefera, W. M.; Yirsaw, B. D.; Sheth, K. N.; Bell, M. L.; Biroscak, B. J.; Bello, A. K.; Santos, I. S.; Bensenor, I. M.; Lotufo, P. A.; Berhane, A.; Wolfe, C. D. A.; Bernabé, E.; Beyene, A. S.; Gishu, M. D.; Bhala, N.; Bhalla, A.; Biadgilign, S.; Bikbov, B.; Bin Abdulhak, A. A.; Bjertness, E.; Htet, A. S.; Bose, D.; Bourne, R. R. A.; Brainin, M.; Brayne, C. E. G.; Brazinova, A.; Majdan, M.; Shen, J.; Breitborde, N. J. K.; Brenner, H.; Schöttker, B.; Brewer, J. D.; Brugha, T. S.; Buckle, G. C.; Gosselin, R. A.; Butt, Z. A.; Calabria, B.; Lal, A.; Lucas, R. M.; Degenhardt, L.; Resnikoff, S.; Carapetis, J. R.; Cárdenas, R.; Carpenter, D. O.; Castañeda-Orjuela, C. A.; Castillo Rivas, J.; Catalá-López, F.; Cerda, J.; Chen, W.; Chiang, P. P.; Chibalabala, M.; Chibueze, C. E.; Mori, R.; Chimed-Ochir, O.; Jiang, Y.; Takahashi, K.; Chisumpa, V. H.; Mapoma, C. C.; Choi, J. J.; Chowdhury, R.; Christensen, H.; Christopher, D. J.; Cirillo, M.; Colomar, M.; Cooper, L. T.; Crump, J. A.; Poulton, R. G.; Damsere-Derry, J.; Danawi, H.; Refaat, A. H.; Dargan, P. I.; das Neves, J.; Massano, J.; Pedro, J. M.; Davey, G.; Davis, A. C.; Greaves, F.; Newton, J. N.; Davitoiu, D. V.; de Castro, E. F.; de Jager, P.; De, D.; Dellavalle, R. P.; Dharmaratne, S. D.; Dhillon, P. K.; Ganguly, P.; Lal, D. K.; Zodpey, S.; Diaz-Torné, C.; dos Santos, K. P. B.; Dubey, M.; Rahman, M. H. U.; Singh, A.; Duncan, B. B.; Kieling, C.; Schmidt, M. I.; Elyazar, I.; Endries, A. Y.; Ermakov, S. P.; Eshrati, B.; Esteghamati, A.; Hafezi-Nejad, N.; Fahimi, S.; Malekzadeh, R.; Roshandel, G.; Sepanlou, S. G.; Farzadfar, F.; Kasaeian, A.; Parsaeian, M.; Heydarpour, P.; Rahimi-Movaghar, V.; Sheikhbahaei, S.; Yaseri, M.; Farid, T. A.; Khan, A. R.; Farinha, C. S. E. S.; Faro, A.; Feigin, V. L.; Te Ao, B. J.; Fernandes, J. G.; Fernandes, J. C.; Fischer, F.; Foigt, N.; Shiue, I.; Fowkes, F. G. R.; Franklin, R. C.; Piel, F. B.; Majeed, A.; Gall, S. L.; Gambashidze, K.; Gamkrelidze, A.; Kereselidze, M.; Shakh-Nazarova, M.; Iyer, V. J.; Gebre, T.; Geleijnse, J. M.; Gessner, B. D.; Ghoshal, A. G.; Gillum, R. F.; Mehari, A.; Gilmour, S.; Inoue, M.; Kawakami, N.; Shibuya, K.; Giroud, M.; Glaser, E.; Halasa, Y. A.; Shepard, D. S.; Undurraga, E. A.; Gona, P.; Goodridge, A.; Gopalani, S. V.; Gotay, C. C.; Kissoon, N.; Kopec, J. A.; Murthy, S.; Pourmalek, F.; Goto, A.; Gugnani, H. C.; Gupta, R.; Gupta, R.; Gupta, V.; Gutiérrez, R. A.; Hamadeh, R. R.; Hamidi, S.; Handal, A. J.; Hankey, G. J.; Norman, P. E.; Hao, Y.; Harikrishnan, S.; Haro, J. M.; Hilderink, H. B.; Hoek, H. W.; Tura, A. K.; Hogg, R. S.; Horino, M.; Horita, N.; Hosgood, H. D.; Hoy, D. G.; Hsairi, M.; Htike, M. M. T.; Hu, G.; Huang, C.; Huang, H.; Huiart, L.; Husseini, A.; Huybrechts, I.; Huynh, G.; Iburg, K. M.; Innos, K.; Jacobs, T. A.; Jacobsen, K. H.; Jahanmehr, N.; Katibeh, M.; Rajavi, Z.; Jakovljevic, M. B.; Javanbakht, M.; Jayaraman, S. P.; Jayatilleke, A. U.; Prabhakaran, D.; Jiang, G.; Jimenez-Corona, A.; Jonas, J. B.; Joshi, T. K.; Kabir, Z.; Kamal, R.; Kesavachandran, C. N.; She, J.; Shen, Z.; Zhang, H.; Kan, H.; Kant, S.; Karch, A.; Karimkhani, C.; Karletsos, D.; Karthikeyan, G.; Naik, N.; Paul, V. K.; Roy, A.; Sagar, R.; Satpathy, M.; Tandon, N.; Kaul, A.; Kayibanda, J. F.; Keiyoro, P. N.; Lyons, R. A.; Parry, C. D.; Kengne, A. P.; Matzopoulos, R.; Wiysonge, C. S.; Stein, D. J.; Mayosi, B. M.; Keren, A.; Khader, Y. S.; Khan, E. A.; Khang, Y. H.; Won, S.; Khera, S.; Tavakkoli, M.; Khoja, T. A. M.; Kim, D.; Kim, Y. J.; Kissela, B. M.; Kokubo, Y.; Kolte, D.; McGarvey, S. T.; Kosen, S.; Koul, P. A.; Koyanagi, A.; Kuate Defo, B.; Kucuk Bicer, B.; Kuipers, E. J.; Kulkarni, V. S.; Kwan, G. F.; Rao, S. R.; Lam, H.; Lam, J. O.; Nachega, J. B.; Tran, B. X.; Lansingh, V. C.; Laryea, D. O.; Latif, A. A.; Lawrynowicz, A. E. B.; Levi, M.; Li, Y.; Lipshultz, S. E.; Wilkinson, J. D.; Simard, E. P.; Liu, Y.; Phillips, M. R.; Xiao, Q.; Lo, L.; Logroscino, G.;

Lunevicius, R.; Ma, S.; Machado, V. M.; Mackay, M. T.; Magdy Abd El Razek, H.; Magdy Abd El Razek, M.; Mandisarisa, J.; Mangalam, S.; Marcenes, W.; Meaney, P. A.; Margolis, D. J.; Silberberg, D. H.; Martin, G. R.; Martinez-Raga, J.; Marzan, M. B.; Mason-Jones, A. J.; McMahon, B. J.; Mehndiratta, M. M.; Woldeyohannes, S. M.; Tedla, B. A.; Zeleke, B. M.; Memiah, P.; Memish, Z. A.; Mendoza, W.; Meretoja, T. J.; Lallukka, T.; Mhimbira, F. A.; Micha, R.; Mozaff, D.; Shi, P.; Singh, G. M.; Miller, T. R.; Mohammad, K. A.; Mohammadi, A.; Mohan, V.; Mola, G. L. D.; Monasta, L.; Montico, M.; Ronfani, L.; Morawska, L.; Werdecker, A.; Mueller, U. O.; Westerman, R.; Musa, K. I.; Paternina Caicedo, A. J.; Seedat, S.; Nagel, G.; Rothenbacher, D.; Naidoo, K. S.; Sartorius, B.; Naldi, L.; Remuzzi, G.; Nangia, V.; Nash, D.; Nejjari, C.; Neupane, S.; Newton, C. R.; Ngalesoni, F. N.; Ngirabega, J. D.; Nguyen, Q. L.; Nkamedjie Pete, P. M.; Nomura, M.; Nyakarahuka, L.; Ogbo, F. A.; Ohkubo, T.; Olivares, P. R.; Olusanya, B. O.; Olusanya, J. O.; Opio, J. N.; Oren, E.; Ortiz, A.; Ota, E.; Ozdemir, R.; Mahesh, P. A.; Pandian, J. D.; Pant, P. R.; Papachristou, C.; Park, E.; Park, J.; Patten, S. B.; Tonelli, M.; Stokic Pejin, L.; Pereira, D. M.; Cortinovis, M.; Giussani, G.; Perico, N.; Pesudovs, K.; Pillay, J. D.; Plass, D.; Platts-Mills, J. A.; Polinder, S.; Pope, C. A.; Qorbani, M.; Rafay, A.; Rana, S. M.; Rahman, M.; Rahman, S. U.; Rai, R. K.; Rajsic, S.; Raju, M.; Rakovac, I.; Ranabhat, C. L.; Rangaswamy, T.; Ribeiro, A. L.; Ricci, S.; Roca, A.; Rojas-Rueda, D.; Roy, N. K.; Ruhago, G. M.; Sunguya, B. F.; Saha, S.; Sahathevan, R.; Saleh, M. M.; Sanabria, J. R.; Sanchez-Niño, M. D.; Sanchez-Riera, L.; Sarmiento-Suarez, R.; Sawhney, M.; Schaub, M. P.; Schneider, I. J. C.; Silva, D. A. S.; Schutte, A. E.; Shaddick, G.; Shaheen, A.; Shahraz, S.; Shaikh, M. A.; Sharma, R.; Shetty, B. P.; Shin, M.; Shiri, R.; Sigfusdottir, I. D.; Silveira, D. G. A.; Silverberg, J. I.; Yano, Y.; Singh, O. P.; Singh, P. K.; Singh, V.; Soneji, S.; Søreide, K.; Soriano, J. B.; Sposato, L. A.; Sreeramareddy, C. T.; Stathopoulou, V.; Stein, M. B.; Stranges, S.; Stroumpoulis, K.; Swaminathan, S.; Sykes, B. L.; Tabarés-Seisdedos, R.; Tabb, K. M.; Takala, J. S.; Talongwa, R. T.; Taye, B.; Ten Have, M.; Tuzcu, E. M.; Thomson, A. J.; Thrift, A. G.; Thurston, G. D.; Topor-Madry, R.; Topouzis, F.; Towbin, J. A.; Traebert, J.; Truelsen, T.; Trujillo, U.; Uchendu, U. S.; Ukwaja, K. N.; Uthman, O. A.; Van Dingenen, R.; van Donkelaar, A.; Vasankari, T.; Vasconcelos, A. M. N.; Venketasubramanian, N.; Vidavalur, R.; Violante, F. S.; Vlassov, V. V.; Wallin, M. T.; Weichenthal, S.; White, R. A.; Williams, H. C.; Wong, J. Q.; Woolf, A. D.; Xavier, D.; Xu, G.; Yakob, B.; Yan, L. L.; Yip, P.; Yonemoto, N.; Yonga, G.; Younis, M. Z.; Zaidi, Z.; Zaki, M. E.; Zannad, F.; Zavala, D. E.; Zeeb, H.; Zonies, D.; Zuhlke, L. J. Global, Regional, and National Life Expectancy, All-Cause Mortality, and Cause-Specific Mortality for 249 Causes of Death, 1980–2015: A Systematic Analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. The Lancet 2016, 388 (10053), 1459–1544. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31012-1.

- (90) Sarkar, S.; Rokad, D.; Malovic, E.; Luo, J.; Harischandra, D. S.; Jin, H.; Anantharam, V.; Huang, X.; Lewis, M.; Kanthasamy, A.; Kanthasamy, A. G. Manganese Activates NLRP3 Inflammasome Signaling and Propagates Release of ASC in Microglial Cells. *Sci Signal* **2019**, *12* (563). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCISIGNAL.AAT9900.
- (91) Chen, R.; Wilson, K.; Chen, Y.; Zhang, D.; Qin, X.; He, M.; Hu, Z.; Ma, Y.; Copeland, J. R. Association between Environmental Tobacco Smoke Exposure and Dementia Syndromes. *Occup Environ Med* 2013, *70* (1), 63–69. https://doi.org/10.1136/OEMED-2012-100785.
- (92) Wu, Y. C.; Lin, Y. C.; Yu, H. L.; Chen, J. H.; Chen, T. F.; Sun, Y.; Wen, L. L.; Yip, P. K.; Chu, Y. M.; Chen, Y. C. Association between Air Pollutants and Dementia Risk in the Elderly. *Alzheimer's & Dementia : Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring* **2015**, *1* (2), 220. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DADM.2014.11.015.

- (93) Valenzuela, M. J.; Sachdev, P.; Wen, W.; Chen, X.; Brodaty, H. Lifespan Mental Activity Predicts Diminished Rate of Hippocampal Atrophy. *PLoS One* 2008, *3* (7). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0002598.
- Jack, C. R.; Bennett, D. A.; Blennow, K.; Carrillo, M. C.; Dunn, B.; Haeberlein, S. B.; Holtzman, D. M.; Jagust, W.; Jessen, F.; Karlawish, J.; Liu, E.; Molinuevo, J. L.; Montine, T.; Phelps, C.; Rankin, K. P.; Rowe, C. C.; Scheltens, P.; Siemers, E.; Snyder, H. M.; Sperling, R.; Elliott, C.; Masliah, E.; Ryan, L.; Silverberg, N. NIA-AA Research Framework: Toward a Biological Definition of Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimers Dement* **2018**, *14* (4), 535. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JALZ.2018.02.018.
- McKhann, G. M.; Knopman, D. S.; Chertkow, H.; Hyman, B. T.; Jack, C. R.; Kawas, C. H.; Klunk, W. E.; Koroshetz, W. J.; Manly, J. J.; Mayeux, R.; Mohs, R. C.; Morris, J. C.; Rossor, M. N.; Scheltens, P.; Carrillo, M. C.; Thies, B.; Weintraub, S.; Phelps, C. H. The Diagnosis of Dementia Due to Alzheimer's Disease: Recommendations from the National Institute on Aging-Alzheimer's Association Workgroups on Diagnostic Guidelines for Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimers Dement* 2011, 7 (3), 263. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JALZ.2011.03.005.
- (96) Molloy, D. W.; Standish, T. I. M. A Guide to the Standardized Mini-Mental State Examination. *Int Psychogeriatr* **1997**, *9 Suppl 1* (SUPPL. 1), 87–94. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610297004754.
- (97) Crum, R. M.; Anthony, J. C.; Bassett, S. S.; Folstein, M. F. Population-Based Norms for the Mini-Mental State Examination by Age and Educational Level. JAMA 1993, 269 (18), 2386–2391. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.1993.03500180078038.
- (98) Scazufca, M.; Almeida, O. P.; Vallada, H. P.; Tasse, W. A.; Menezes, P. R. Limitations of the Mini-Mental State Examination for Screening Dementia in a Community with Low Socioeconomic Status : Results from the Sao Paulo Ageing& Health Study. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2009, 259 (1), 8–15. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00406-008-0827-6.
- (99) Lim, M. Y. L.; Loo, J. H. Y. Screening an Elderly Hearing Impaired Population for Mild Cognitive Impairment Using Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) and Montreal Cognitive Assessment (MoCA). *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry* **2018**, *33* (7), 972–979. https://doi.org/10.1002/GPS.4880.
- (100) Arevalo-Rodriguez, I.; Smailagic, N.; Roquéi Figuls, M.; Ciapponi, A.; Sanchez-Perez, E.; Giannakou, A.; Pedraza, O. L.; Bonfill Cosp, X.; Cullum, S. Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) for the Detection of Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias in People with Mild Cognitive Impairment (MCI). *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2015, *2015* (3). https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD010783.PUB2.
- (101) Jaeger, J. Digit Symbol Substitution Test: The Case for Sensitivity Over Specificity in Neuropsychological Testing. J Clin Psychopharmacol 2018, 38 (5), 513. https://doi.org/10.1097/JCP.00000000000941.
- (102) Atri, A. The Alzheimer's Disease Clinical Spectrum: Diagnosis and Management. *Medical Clinics of North America* **2019**, *103* (2), 263–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MCNA.2018.10.009.
- (103) Montine, T. J.; Monsell, S. E.; Beach, T. G.; Bigio, E. H.; Bu, Y.; Cairns, N. J.; Frosch, M.; Henriksen, J.; Kofler, J.; Kukull, W. A.; Lee, E. B.; Nelson, P. T.; Schantz, A. M.; Schneider, J. A.; Sonnen, J. A.; Trojanowski, J. Q.; Vinters, H. V.; Zhou, X. H.; Hyman, B. T. Multisite Assessment of NIA-AA Guidelines for the Neuropathologic Evaluation of Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimers Dement* 2016, *12* (2), 164. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JALZ.2015.07.492.

- (104) Thal, D. R.; Rüb, U.; Orantes, M.; Braak, H. Phases of Aβ-Deposition in the Human Brain and Its Relevance for the Development of AD. *Neurology* **2002**, *58* (12), 1791–1800. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.58.12.1791.
- (105) Braak, H.; Braak, E. Neuropathological Stageing of Alzheimer-Related Changes. *Acta Neuropathol* **1991**, *82* (4), 239–259. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00308809.
- (106) Thal, D. R.; Beach, T. G.; Zanette, M.; Heurling, K.; Chakrabarty, A.; Ismail, A.; Smith, A. P. L.; Buckley, C. [18F]Flutemetamol Amyloid Positron Emission Tomography in Preclinical and Symptomatic Alzheimer's Disease: Specific Detection of Advanced Phases of Amyloid-β Pathology. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2015, *11* (8), 975–985. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JALZ.2015.05.018.
- (107) Braak, H.; Alafuzoff, I.; Arzberger, T.; Kretzschmar, H.; Tredici, K. Staging of Alzheimer Disease-Associated Neurofibrillary Pathology Using Paraffin Sections and Immunocytochemistry. Acta Neuropathol 2006, 112 (4), 389. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00401-006-0127-Z.
- (108) Goedert, M. NEURODEGENERATION. Alzheimer's and Parkinson's Diseases: The Prion Concept in Relation to Assembled Aβ, Tau, and α-Synuclein. *Science* **2015**, *349* (6248). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1255555.
- (109) van Oostveen, W. M.; de Lange, E. C. M. Imaging Techniques in Alzheimer's Disease: A Review of Applications in Early Diagnosis and Longitudinal Monitoring. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences 2021, Vol. 22, Page 2110* **2021**, *22* (4), 2110. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS22042110.
- (110) Mirra, S. S.; Heyman, A.; McKeel, D.; Sumi, S. M.; Crain, B. J.; Brownlee, L. M.; Vogel, F. S.; Hughes, J. P.; van Belle, G.; Berg, L.; Ball, M. J.; Bierer, L. M.; Claasen, D.; Hansen, L. R.; Hart, M.; Hedreen, J.; Baltimore, B.; Hen Derson, V.; Hyman, B. T.; Joachim, C.; Mark-Esbery, W.; Mar Tinez, A. J.; McKee, A.; Miller, C.; Moossy, J.; Nochlin, D.; Perl, D.; Petito, C.; Rao, G. R.; Schelper, R. L.; Slager, U.; Terry, R. D. The Consortium to Establish a Registry for Alzheimer's Disease (CERAD). Part II. Standardization of the Neuropathologic Assessment of Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurology* 1991, *41* (4), 479–486. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.41.4.479.
- (111) Hyman, B. T.; Phelps, C. H.; Beach, T. G.; Bigio, E. H.; Cairns, N. J.; Carrillo, M. C.; Dickson, D. W.; Duyckaerts, C.; Frosch, M. P.; Masliah, E.; Mirra, S. S.; Nelson, P. T.; Schneider, J. A.; Thal, D. R.; Thies, B.; Trojanowski, J. Q.; Vinters, H. V.; Montine, T. J. National Institute on Aging–Alzheimer's Association Guidelines for the Neuropathologic Assessment of Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimers Dement* 2012, *8* (1), 1. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JALZ.2011.10.007.
- (112) Nelson, P. T.; Abner, E. L.; Schmitt, F. A.; Kryscio, R. J.; Jicha, G. A.; Santacruz, K.; Smith, C. D.; Patel, E.; Markesbery, W. R. Brains with Medial Temporal Lobe Neurofibrillary Tangles But No Neuritic Amyloid Plaques Are a Diagnostic Dilemma But May Have Pathogenetic Aspects Distinct from Alzheimer Disease. *J Neuropathol Exp Neurol* **2009**, *68* (7), 774. https://doi.org/10.1097/NEN.0B013E3181AACBE9.
- (113) Pressman, P.; Rabinovici, G. D. Alzheimer's Disease. *Encyclopedia of the Neurological Sciences* **2014**, 122–127. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385157-4.00475-9.
- (114) Jack, C. R.; Bennett, D. A.; Blennow, K.; Carrillo, M. C.; Feldman, H. H.; Frisoni, G. B.; Hampel, H.; Jagust, W. J.; Johnson, K. A.; Knopman, D. S.; Petersen, R. C.; Scheltens, P.; Sperling, R. A.; Dubois, B. A/T/N: An Unbiased Descriptive Classification Scheme for Alzheimer Disease Biomarkers. *Neurology* 2016, *87* (5), 539–547. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000002923.

- (115) Telano, L. N.; Baker, S. Physiology, Cerebral Spinal Fluid. StatPearls. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK519007/ (accessed 2023-09-05).
- (116) Strozyk, D.; Blennow, K.; White, L. R.; Launer, L. J. CSF Abeta 42 Levels Correlate with Amyloid-Neuropathology in a Population-Based Autopsy Study. *Neurology* 2003, 60 (4), 652–656. https://doi.org/10.1212/01.WNL.0000046581.81650.D0.
- (117) Mattsson, N.; Zetterberg, H.; Hansson, O.; Andreasen, N.; Parnetti, L.; Jonsson, M.; Herukka, S. K.; Van Der Flier, W. M.; Blankenstein, M. A.; Ewers, M.; Rich, K.; Kaiser, E.; Verbeek, M.; Tsolaki, M.; Mulugeta, E.; Rosén, E.; Aarsland, D.; Jelle Visser, P.; Schröder, J.; Marcusson, J.; De Leon, M.; Hampel, H.; Scheltens, P.; Pirttilä, T.; Wallin, A.; Eriksdotter Jönhagen, M.; Minthon, L.; Winblad, B.; Blennow, K. CSF Biomarkers and Incipient Alzheimer Disease in Patients With Mild Cognitive Impairment. *JAMA* 2009, *302* (4), 385–393. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.2009.1064.
- (118) Grimmer, T.; Riemenschneider, M.; Förstl, H.; Henriksen, G.; Klunk, W. E.; Mathis, C. A.; Shiga, T.; Wester, H. J.; Kurz, A.; Drzezga, A. Beta Amyloid in Alzheimer's Disease: Increased Deposition in Brain Is Reflected in Reduced Concentration in Cerebrospinal Fluid. *Biol Psychiatry* 2009, 65 (11), 927. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCH.2009.01.027.
- (119) Fagan, A. M.; Mintun, M. A.; Mach, R. H.; Lee, S. Y.; Dence, C. S.; Shah, A. R.; LaRossa, G. N.; Spinner, M. L.; Klunk, W. E.; Mathis, C. A.; DeKosky, S. T.; Morris, J. C.; Holtzman, D. M. Inverse Relation between in Vivo Amyloid Imaging Load and Cerebrospinal Fluid Abeta42 in Humans. *Ann Neurol* 2006, *59* (3), 512–519. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.20730.
- (120) Palmqvist, S.; Zetterberg, H.; Blennow, K.; Vestberg, S.; Andreasson, U.; Brooks, D. J.; Owenius, R.; Hägerström, D.; Wollmer, P.; Minthon, L.; Hansson, O. Accuracy of Brain Amyloid Detection in Clinical Practice Using Cerebrospinal Fluid β-Amyloid 42: A Cross-Validation Study against Amyloid Positron Emission Tomography. JAMA Neurol 2014, 71 (10), 1282–1289. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMANEUROL.2014.1358.
- (121) Hulstaert, F.; Blennow, K.; Ivanoiu, A.; Schoonderwaldt, H. C.; Riemenschneider, M.; De Deyn, P.
 P.; Bancher, C.; Cras, P.; Wiltfang, J.; Mehta, P. D.; Iqbal, K.; Pottel, H.; Vanmechelen, E.;
 Vanderstichele, H. Improved Discrimination of AD Patients Using β-Amyloid(1-42) and Tau Levels in CSF. *Neurology* 1999, *52* (8), 1555–1555. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.52.8.1555.
- (122) Janelidze, S.; Zetterberg, H.; Mattsson, N.; Palmqvist, S.; Vanderstichele, H.; Lindberg, O.; van Westen, D.; Stomrud, E.; Minthon, L.; Blennow, K.; Hansson, O. CSF Aβ42/Aβ40 and Aβ42/Aβ38 Ratios: Better Diagnostic Markers of Alzheimer Disease. *Ann Clin Transl Neurol* 2016, *3* (3), 154–165. https://doi.org/10.1002/ACN3.274.
- (123) Lehmann, S.; Delaby, C.; Boursier, G.; Catteau, C.; Ginestet, N.; Tiers, L.; Maceski, A.; Navucet, S.; Paquet, C.; Dumurgier, J.; Vanmechelen, E.; Vanderstichele, H.; Gabelle, A. Relevance of Aβ42/40 Ratio for Detection of Alzheimer Disease Pathology in Clinical Routine: The PLMR Scale. *Front Aging Neurosci* **2018**, *10* (MAY), 325959. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNAGI.2018.00138.
- (124) Teunissen, C. E.; Petzold, A.; Bennett, J. L.; Berven, F. S.; Brundin, L.; Comabella, M.; Franciotta, D.;
 Frederiksen, J. L.; Fleming, J. O.; Furlan, R.; Hintzen, R. Q.; Hughes, S. G.; Johnson, M. H.;
 Krasulova, E.; Kuhle, J.; Magnone, M. C.; Rajda, C.; Rejdak, K.; Schmidt, H. K.; Van Pesch, V.;
 Waubant, E.; Wolf, C.; Giovannoni, G.; Hemmer, B.; Tumani, H.; Deisenhammer, F. A Consensus
Protocol for the Standardization of Cerebrospinal Fluid Collection and Biobanking. *Neurology* **2009**, *73* (22), 1914. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0B013E3181C47CC2.

- (125) Kuhlmann, J.; Andreasson, U.; Pannee, J.; Bjerke, M.; Portelius, E.; Leinenbach, A.; Bittner, T.;
 Korecka, M.; Jenkins, R. G.; Vanderstichele, H.; Stoops, E.; Lewczuk, P.; Shaw, L. M.; Zegers, I.;
 Schimmel, H.; Zetterberg, H.; Blennow, K. CSF Aβ1–42 an Excellent but Complicated Alzheimer's Biomarker a Route to Standardisation. *Clinica Chimica Acta* 2017, 467, 27–33. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CCA.2016.05.014.
- (126) Bellomo, G.; Cataldi, S.; Paciotti, S.; Paolini Paoletti, F.; Chiasserini, D.; Parnetti, L. Measurement of CSF Core Alzheimer Disease Biomarkers for Routine Clinical Diagnosis: Do Fresh vs Frozen Samples Differ? *Alzheimers Res Ther* **2020**, *12* (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S13195-020-00689-0.
- (127) Hansson, O.; Batrla, R.; Brix, B.; Carrillo, M. C.; Corradini, V.; Edelmayer, R. M.; Esquivel, R. N.; Hall, C.; Lawson, J.; Bastard, N. Le; Molinuevo, J. L.; Nisenbaum, L. K.; Rutz, S.; Salamone, S. J.; Teunissen, C. E.; Traynham, C.; Umek, R. M.; Vanderstichele, H.; Vandijck, M.; Wahl, S.; Weber, C. J.; Zetterberg, H.; Blennow, K. The Alzheimer's Association International Guidelines for Handling of Cerebrospinal Fluid for Routine Clinical Measurements of Amyloid β and Tau. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2021, *17* (9), 1575–1582. https://doi.org/10.1002/ALZ.12316.
- (128) Jack, C. R.; Lowe, V. J.; Weigand, S. D.; Wiste, H. J.; Senjem, M. L.; Knopman, D. S.; Shiung, M. M.; Gunter, J. L.; Boeve, B. F.; Kemp, B. J.; Weiner, M.; Petersen, R. C. Serial PIB and MRI in Normal, Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease: Implications for Sequence of Pathological Events in Alzheimer's Disease. *Brain* **2009**, *132* (5), 1355. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWP062.
- Murray, M. E.; Lowe, V. J.; Graff-Radford, N. R.; Liesinger, A. M.; Cannon, A.; Przybelski, S. A.; Rawal, B.; Parisi, J. E.; Petersen, R. C.; Kantarci, K.; Ross, O. A.; Duara, R.; Knopman, D. S.; Jack, C. R.; Dickson, D. W. Clinicopathologic and 11C-Pittsburgh Compound B Implications of Thal Amyloid Phase across the Alzheimer's Disease Spectrum. *Brain* 2015, *138* (5), 1370. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWV050.
- (130) Klunk, W. E.; Engler, H.; Nordberg, A.; Wang, Y.; Blomqvist, G.; Holt, D. P.; Bergström, M.;
 Savitcheva, I.; Huang, G. F.; Estrada, S.; Ausén, B.; Debnath, M. L.; Barletta, J.; Price, J. C.; Sandell, J.; Lopresti, B. J.; Wall, A.; Koivisto, P.; Antoni, G.; Mathis, C. A.; Långström, B. Imaging Brain Amyloid in Alzheimer's Disease with Pittsburgh Compound-B. *Ann Neurol* 2004, *55* (3), 306–319. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.20009.
- (131) Clark, C. M.; Pontecorvo, M. J.; Beach, T. G.; Bedell, B. J.; Coleman, R. E.; Doraiswamy, P. M.; Fleisher, A. S.; Reiman, E. M.; Sabbagh, M. N.; Sadowsky, C. H.; Schneider, J. A.; Arora, A.; Carpenter, A. P.; Flitter, M. L.; Joshi, A. D.; Krautkramer, M. J.; Lu, M.; Mintun, M. A.; Skovronsky, D. M. Cerebral PET with Florbetapir Compared with Neuropathology at Autopsy for Detection of Neuritic Amyloid-β Plaques: A Prospective Cohort Study. *Lancet Neurol* 2012, *11* (8), 669–678. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(12)70142-4.
- (132) Contador, J.; Vargas-Martínez, A. M.; Sánchez-Valle, R.; Trapero-Bertran, M.; Lladó, A. Cost-Effectiveness of Alzheimer's Disease CSF Biomarkers and Amyloid-PET in Early-Onset Cognitive Impairment Diagnosis. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 2023, 273 (1), 243–252. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00406-022-01439-Z.

- (133) Hornberger, J.; Bae, J.; Watson, I.; Johnston, J.; Happich, M. Clinical and Cost Implications of Amyloid Beta Detection with Amyloid Beta Positron Emission Tomography Imaging in Early Alzheimer's Disease - the Case of Florbetapir. *Curr Med Res Opin* **2017**, *33* (4), 675–685. https://doi.org/10.1080/03007995.2016.1277197.
- (134) Buerger, K.; Ewers, M.; Pirttilä, T.; Zinkowski, R.; Alafuzoff, I.; Teipel, S. J.; DeBernardis, J.; Kerkman, D.; McCulloch, C.; Soininen, H.; Hampel, H. CSF Phosphorylated Tau Protein Correlates with Neocortical Neurofibrillary Pathology in Alzheimer's Disease. *Brain* 2006, *129* (Pt 11), 3035– 3041. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWL269.
- (135) Gordon, B. A.; Friedrichsen, K.; Brier, M.; Blazey, T.; Su, Y.; Christensen, J.; Aldea, P.; McConathy, J.; Holtzman, D. M.; Cairns, N. J.; Morris, J. C.; Fagan, A. M.; Ances, B. M.; Benzinger, T. L. S. The Relationship between Cerebrospinal Fluid Markers of Alzheimer Pathology and Positron Emission Tomography Tau Imaging. *Brain* **2016**, *139* (Pt 8), 2249–2260. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWW139.
- (136) Hampel, H.; Buerger, K.; Zinkowski, R.; Teipel, S. J.; Goernitz, A.; Andreasen, N.; Sjoegren, M.; DeBernardis, J.; Kerkman, D.; Ishiguro, K.; Ohno, H.; Vanmechelen, E.; Vanderstichele, H.; McCulloch, C.; Möller, H. J.; Davies, P.; Blennow, K. Measurement of Phosphorylated Tau Epitopes in the Differential Diagnosis of Alzheimer Disease: A Comparative Cerebrospinal Fluid Study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 2004, *61* (1), 95–102. https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHPSYC.61.1.95.
- (137) Forlenza, O. V.; Radanovic, M.; Talib, L. L.; Aprahamian, I.; Diniz, B. S.; Zetterberg, H.; Gattaz, W. F. Cerebrospinal Fluid Biomarkers in Alzheimer's Disease: Diagnostic Accuracy and Prediction of Dementia. *Alzheimer's & Dementia : Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring* **2015**, *1* (4), 455. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DADM.2015.09.003.
- (138) Mattsson, N.; Zetterberg, H.; Hansson, O.; Andreasen, N.; Parnetti, L.; Jonsson, M.; Herukka, S. K.;
 Van Der Flier, W. M.; Blankenstein, M. A.; Ewers, M.; Rich, K.; Kaiser, E.; Verbeek, M.; Tsolaki, M.;
 Mulugeta, E.; Rosén, E.; Aarsland, D.; Jelle Visser, P.; Schröder, J.; Marcusson, J.; De Leon, M.;
 Hampel, H.; Scheltens, P.; Pirttilä, T.; Wallin, A.; Eriksdotter Jönhagen, M.; Minthon, L.; Winblad,
 B.; Blennow, K. CSF Biomarkers and Incipient Alzheimer Disease in Patients with Mild Cognitive
 Impairment. JAMA 2009, 302 (4), 385–393. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.2009.1064.
- (139) Duits, F. H.; Martinez-Lage, P.; Paquet, C.; Engelborghs, S.; Lleó, A.; Hausner, L.; Molinuevo, J. L.; Stomrud, E.; Farotti, L.; Ramakers, I. H. G. B.; Tsolaki, M.; Skarsgård, C.; Åstrand, R.; Wallin, A.; Vyhnalek, M.; Holmber-Clausen, M.; Forlenza, O. V.; Ghezzi, L.; Ingelsson, M.; Hoff, E. I.; Roks, G.; De Mendonça, A.; Papma, J. M.; Izagirre, A.; Taga, M.; Struyfs, H.; Alcolea, D. A.; Frölich, L.; Balasa, M.; Minthon, L.; Twisk, J. W. R.; Persson, S.; Zetterberg, H.; Van Der Flier, W. M.; Teunissen, C. E.; Scheltens, P.; Blennow, K. Performance and Complications of Lumbar Puncture in Memory Clinics: Results of the Multicenter Lumbar Puncture Feasibility Study. *Alzheimers Dement* 2016, *12* (2), 154–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JALZ.2015.08.003.
- (140) Tissot, C.; Therriault, J.; Kunach, P.; L Benedet, A.; Pascoal, T. A.; Ashton, N. J.; Karikari, T. K.; Servaes, S.; Lussier, F. Z.; Chamoun, M.; Tudorascu, D. L.; Stevenson, J.; Rahmouni, N.; Poltronetti, N. M.; Pallen, V.; Bezgin, G.; Kang, M. S.; Mathotaarachchi, S. S.; Wang, Y. T.; Fernandez Arias, J.; Ferreira, P. C. L.; Ferrari-Souza, J. P.; Vanmechelen, E.; Blennow, K.; Zetterberg, H.; Gauthier, S.; Rosa-Neto, P. Comparing Tau Status Determined via Plasma PTau181, PTau231 and [18F]MK6240 Tau-PET. *EBioMedicine* 2022, *76*, 103837. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ebiom.2022.103837.

- (141) Mielke, M. M.; Dage, J. L.; Frank, R. D.; Algeciras-Schimnich, A.; Knopman, D. S.; Lowe, V. J.; Bu, G.; Vemuri, P.; Graff-Radford, J.; Jack, C. R.; Petersen, R. C. Performance of Plasma Phosphorylated Tau 181 and 217 in the Community. *Nature Medicine 2022 28:7* 2022, *28* (7), 1398–1405. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-022-01822-2.
- (142) Shen, X. N.; Huang, Y. Y.; Chen, S. D.; Guo, Y.; Tan, L.; Dong, Q.; Yu, J. T.; Weiner, M. W.; Aisen, P.; Petersen, R.; Jack, C. R.; Jagust, W.; Trojanowki, J. Q.; Toga, A. W.; Beckett, L.; Green, R. C.; Saykin, A. J.; Morris, J. C.; Perrin, R. J.; Shaw, L. M.; Carrillo, M.; Potter, W.; Barnes, L.; Bernard, M.; González, H.; Ho, C.; Hsiao, J. K.; Jackson, J.; Masliah, E.; Masterman, D.; Okonkwo, O.; Ryan, L.; Silverberg, N.; Fleisher, A.; Fockler, J.; Conti, C.; Veitch, D.; Neuhaus, J.; Jin, C.; Nosheny, R.; Ashford, M.; Flenniken, D.; Kormos, A.; Jimenez, G.; Donohue, M.; Gessert, D.; Salazar, J.; Zimmerman, C.; Cabrera, Y.; Walter, S.; Miller, G.; Coker, G.; Clanton, T.; Hergesheimer, L.; Smith, S.; Adegoke, O.; Mahboubi, P.; Moore, S.; Pizzola, J.; Shaffer, E.; Sloan, B.; Harvey, D.; Borowski, B.; Ward, C.; Schwarz, C.; Jones, D.; Gunter, J.; Kantarci, K.; Senjem, M.; Vemuri, P.; Reid, R.; Fox, N. C.; Malone, I.; Thompson, P.; Thomopoulos, S. I.; Nir, T. M.; Jahanshad, N.; DeCarli, C.; Knaack, A.; Fletcher, E.; Tosun-Turgut, D.; Chen, S. R.; Choe, M.; Crawford, K.; Yushkevich, P. A.; Das, S.; Koeppe, R. A.; Reiman, E. M.; Chen, K.; Mathis, C.; Landau, S.; Cairns, N. J.; Householder, E.; Franklin, E.; Bernhardt, H.; Taylor-Reinwald, L.; Shaw, L. M.; Trojanowki, J. Q.; Korecka, M.; Figurski, M.; Crawford, K.; Neu, S.; Saykin, A. J.; Nho, K.; Risacher, S. L.; Apostolova, L. G.; Shen, L.; Foroud, T. M.; Nudelman, K.; Faber, K.; Wilmes, K.; Thal, L.; Khachaturian, Z.; Hsiao, J. K.; Silbert, L. C.; Lind, B.; Crissey, R.; Kaye, J. A.; Carter, R.; Dolen, S.; Quinn, J.; Schneider, L. S.; Pawluczyk, S.; Becerra, M.; Teodoro, L.; Dagerman, K.; Spann, B. M.; Brewer, J.; Vanderswag, H.; Fleisher, A.; Ziolkowski, J.; Heidebrink, J. L.; Zbizek-Nulph, L.; Lord, J. L.; Albers, C. S.; Knopman, D.; Johnson, K.; Villanueva-Meyer, J.; Pavlik, V.; Pacini, N.; Lamb, A.; Kass, J. S.; Doody, R. S.; Shibley, V.; Chowdhury, M.; Rountree, S.; Dang, M.; Stern, Y.; Honig, L. S.; Mintz, A.; Ances, B.; Winkfield, D.; Carroll, M.; Stobbs-Cucchi, G.; Oliver, A.; Creech, M. L.; Mintun, M. A.; Schneider, S.; Geldmacher, D.; Love, M. N.; Griffith, R.; Clark, D.; Brockington, J.; Marson, D.; Grossman, H.; Goldstein, M. A.; Greenberg, J.; Mitsis, E.; Shah, R. C.; Lamar, M.; Samuels, P.; Duara, R.; Greig-Custo, M. T.; Rodriguez, R.; Albert, M.; Onyike, C.; Farrington, L.; Rudow, S.; Brichko, R.; Kielb, S.; Smith, A.; Raj, B. A.; Fargher, K.; Sadowski, M.; Wisniewski, T.; Shulman, M.; Faustin, A.; Rao, J.; Castro, K. M.; Ulysse, A.; Chen, S.; Sheikh, M. O.; Singleton-Garvin, J.; Doraiswamy, P. M.; Petrella, J. R.; James, O.; Wong, T. Z.; Borges-Neto, S.; Karlawish, J. H.; Wolk, D. A.; Vaishnavi, S.; Clark, C. M.; Arnold, S. E.; Smith, C. D.; Jicha, G. A.; El Khouli, R.; Raslau, F. D.; Lopez, O. L.; Oakley, M. A.; Simpson, D. M.; Porsteinsson, A. P.; Martin, K.; Kowalski, N.; Keltz, M.; Goldstein, B. S.; Makino, K. M.; Ismail, M. S.; Brand, C.; Thai, G.; Pierce, A.; Yanez, B.; Sosa, E.; Witbracht, M.; Kelley, B.; Nguyen, T.; Womack, K.; Mathews, D.; Quiceno, M.; Levey, A. I.; Lah, J. J.; Hajjar, I.; Cellar, J. S.; Burns, J. M.; Swerdlow, R. H.; Brooks, W. M.; Silverman, D. H. S.; Kremen, S.; Apostolova, L.; Tingus, K.; Lu, P. H.; Bartzokis, G.; Woo, E.; Teng, E.; Graff-Radford, N. R.; Parfitt, F.; Poki-Walker, K.; Farlow, M. R.; Hake, A. M.; Matthews, B. R.; Brosch, J. R.; Herring, S.; van Dyck, C. H.; Mecca, A. P.; Good, S. P.; MacAvoy, M. G.; Carson, R. E.; Varma, P.; Chertkow, H.; Vaitekunis, S.; Hosein, C.; Black, S.; Stefanovic, B.; Heyn, C. (Chinthaka); Hsiung, G. Y. R.; Kim, E.; Mudge, B.; Sossi, V.; Feldman, H.; Assaly, M.; Finger, E.; Pasternak, S.; Rachinsky, I.; Kertesz, A.; Drost, D.; Rogers, J.; Grant, I.; Muse, B.; Rogalski, E.; Robson, J.; Mesulam, M. M.; Kerwin, D.; Wu, C. K.; Johnson, N.; Lipowski, K.; Weintraub, S.; Bonakdarpour, B.; Pomara, N.; Hernando, R.; Sarrael, A.; Rosen, H. J.; Miller, B. L.; Perry, D.; Turner, R. S.; Johnson, K.; Reynolds, B.; MCCann, K.; Poe, J.; Sperling, R. A.; Johnson, K. A.; Marshall, G. A.; Belden, C. M.; Atri, A.; Spann, B. M.; Clark, K. A.; Zamrini, E.; Sabbagh, M.; Killiany, R.; Stern, R.; Mez, J.; Kowall, N.; Budson, A. E.; Obisesan, T. O.; Ntekim, O. E.; Wolday, S.;

Khan, J. I.; Nwulia, E.; Nadarajah, S.; Lerner, A.; Ogrocki, P.; Tatsuoka, C.; Fatica, P.; Fletcher, E.; Maillard, P.; Olichney, J.; DeCarli, C.; Carmichael, O.; Bates, V.; Capote, H.; Rainka, M.; Borrie, M.; Lee, T. Y.; Bartha, R.; Johnson, S.; Asthana, S.; Carlsson, C. M.; Burke, A.; Scharre, D. W.; Kataki, M.; Tarawneh, R.; Kelley, B.; Hart, D.; Zimmerman, E. A.; Celmins, D.; Miller, D. D.; Boles Ponto, L. L.; Smith, K. E.; Koleva, H.; Shim, H.; Nam, K. W.; Schultz, S. K.; Williamson, J. D.; Craft, S.; Cleveland, J.; Yang, M.; Sink, K. M.; Ott, B. R.; Drake, J.; Tremont, G.; Daiello, L. A.; Drake, J. D.; Sabbagh, M.; Ritter, A.; Bernick, C.; Munic, D.; Mintz, A.; O'Connelll, A.; Mintzer, J.; Wiliams, A.; Masdeu, J.; Shi, J.; Garcia, A.; Sabbagh, M.; Newhouse, P.; Potkin, S.; Salloway, S.; Malloy, P.; Correia, S.; Kittur, S.; Pearlson, G. D.; Blank, K.; Anderson, K.; Flashman, L. A.; Seltzer, M.; Hynes, M. L.; Santulli, R. B.; Relkin, N.; Chiang, G.; Lin, M.; Ravdin, L.; Lee, A.; Petersen, R.; Neylan, T.; Grafman, J.; Montine, T.; Danowski, S.; Nguyen-Barrera, C.; Finley, S.; Harvey, D.; Donohue, M.; Bernstein, M.; Foster, N.; Foroud, T. M.; Potkin, S.; Shen, L.; Faber, K.; Kim, S.; Nho, K.; Wilmes, K.; Vanderswag, H.; Fleisher, A.; Sood, A.; Blanchard, K. S.; Fleischman, D.; Greig, M. T.; Goldstein, B.; Martin, K. S.; Thai, G.; Pierce, A.; Reist, C.; Yanez, B.; Sosa, E.; Witbracht, M.; Sadowsky, C.; Martinez, W.; Villena, T.; Rosen, H.; Peskind, E. R.; Petrie, E. C.; Li, G.; Yesavage, J.; Taylor, J. L.; Chao, S.; Coleman, J.; White, J. D.; Lane, B.; Rosen, A.; Tinklenberg, J.; Jimenez-Maggiora, G.; Drake, E.; Donohue, M.; Nelson, C.; Bickford, D.; Butters, M.; Zmuda, M.; Borowski, B.; Gunter, J.; Senjem, M.; Kantarci, K.; Ward, C.; Reyes, D.; Faber, K. M.; Nudelman, K. N.; Au, Y. H.; Scherer, K.; Catalinotto, D.; Stark, S.; Ong, E.; Fernandez, D.; Zmuda, M. Plasma Phosphorylated-Tau181 as a Predictive Biomarker for Alzheimer's Amyloid, Tau and FDG PET Status. Translational Psychiatry 2021 11:1 2021, 11 (1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41398-021-01709-9.

- (143) Marquié, M.; Normandin, M. D.; Vanderburg, C. R.; Costantino, I. M.; Bien, E. A.; Rycyna, L. G.;
 Klunk, W. E.; Mathis, C. A.; Ikonomovic, M. D.; Debnath, M. L.; Vasdev, N.; Dickerson, B. C.;
 Gomperts, S. N.; Growdon, J. H.; Johnson, K. A.; Frosch, M. P.; Hyman, B. T.; Gómez-Isla, T.
 Validating Novel Tau Positron Emission Tomography Tracer [F-18]-AV-1451 (T807) on Postmortem
 Brain Tissue. Ann Neurol 2015, 78 (5), 787–800. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.24517.
- (144) Marquié, M.; Siao Tick Chong, M.; Antón-Fernández, A.; Verwer, E. E.; Sáez-Calveras, N.; Meltzer, A. C.; Ramanan, P.; Amaral, A. C.; Gonzalez, J.; Normandin, M. D.; Frosch, M. P.; Gómez-Isla, T. [F-18]-AV-1451 Binding Correlates with Postmortem Neurofibrillary Tangle Braak Staging. *Acta Neuropathol* 2017, 134 (4), 619–628. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00401-017-1740-8.
- (145) Pascoal, T. A.; Therriault, J.; Benedet, A. L.; Savard, M.; Lussier, F. Z.; Chamoun, M.; Tissot, C.; Qureshi, M. N. I.; Kang, M. S.; Mathotaarachchi, S.; Stevenson, J.; Hopewell, R.; Massarweh, G.; Soucy, J. P.; Gauthier, S.; Rosa-Neto, P. 18F-MK-6240 PET for Early and Late Detection of Neurofibrillary Tangles. *Brain* 2020, *143* (9), 2818–2830. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWAA180.
- (146) Van Wambeke, É.; Gérard, T.; Lhommel, R.; Hanseeuw, B. Disclosing Tau Tangles Using PET Imaging: A Pharmacological Review of the Radiotracers Available in 2021. Acta Neurol Belg 2022, 122 (2), 263–272. https://doi.org/10.1007/S13760-021-01797-W.
- (147) Chiaravalloti, A.; Barbagallo, G.; Ricci, M.; Martorana, A.; Ursini, F.; Sannino, P.; Karalis, G.; Schillaci, O. Brain Metabolic Correlates of CSF Tau Protein in a Large Cohort of Alzheimer's Disease Patients: A CSF and FDG PET Study. *Brain Res* 2018, 1678, 116–122. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BRAINRES.2017.10.016.

- (148) Fennema-Notestine, C.; Hagler, D. J.; McEvoy, L. K.; Fleisher, A. S.; Wu, E. H.; Karow, D. S.; Dale, A. M. Structural MRI Biomarkers for Preclinical and Mild Alzheimer's Disease. *Hum Brain Mapp* 2009, *30* (10), 3238–3253. https://doi.org/10.1002/HBM.20744.
- (149) Siddiqui, T. G.; Whitfield, T.; Praharaju, S. J.; Sadiq, Di.; Kazmi, H.; Ben-Joseph, A.; Walker, Z.
 Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Stable Mild Cognitive Impairment, Prodromal Alzheimer's
 Disease, and Prodromal Dementia with Lewy Bodies. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* 2020, 49 (6), 583–588. https://doi.org/10.1159/000510951.
- (150) Atiya, M.; Hyman, B. T.; Albert, M. S.; Killiany, R. Structural Magnetic Resonance Imaging in Established and Prodromal Alzheimer Disease: A Review. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord* 2003, *17* (3), 177–195. https://doi.org/10.1097/00002093-200307000-00010.
- (151) Ridha, B. H.; Barnes, J.; Bartlett, J. W.; Godbolt, A.; Pepple, T.; Rossor, M. N.; Fox, N. C. Tracking Atrophy Progression in Familial Alzheimer's Disease: A Serial MRI Study. *Lancet Neurol* 2006, 5 (10), 828–834. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(06)70550-6.
- (152) Dickerson, B. C.; Bakkour, A.; Salat, D. H.; Feczko, E.; Pacheco, J.; Greve, D. N.; Grodstein, F.; Wright, C. I.; Blacker, D.; Rosas, H. D.; Sperling, R. A.; Atri, A.; Growdon, J. H.; Hyman, B. T.; Morris, J. C.; Fischl, B.; Buckner, R. L. The Cortical Signature of Alzheimer's Disease: Regionally Specific Cortical Thinning Relates to Symptom Severity in Very Mild to Mild AD Dementia and Is Detectable in Asymptomatic Amyloid-Positive Individuals. *Cerebral Cortex* 2009, *19* (3), 497–510. https://doi.org/10.1093/CERCOR/BHN113.
- (153) Levin, F.; Ferreira, D.; Lange, C.; Dyrba, M.; Westman, E.; Buchert, R.; Teipel, S. J.; Grothe, M. J. Data-Driven FDG-PET Subtypes of Alzheimer's Disease-Related Neurodegeneration. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 2021, *13* (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S13195-021-00785-9.
- (154) Kljajevic, V.; Grothe, M. J.; Ewers, M.; Teipel, S. Distinct Pattern of Hypometabolism and Atrophy in Preclinical and Predementia Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 2014, 35 (9), 1973–1981. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROBIOLAGING.2014.04.006.
- (155) Carlson, M. L.; DiGiacomo, P. S.; Fan, A. P.; Goubran, M.; Khalighi, M. M.; Chao, S. Z.; Vasanawala, M.; Wintermark, M.; Mormino, E.; Zaharchuk, G.; James, M. L.; Zeineh, M. M. Simultaneous FDG-PET/MRI Detects Hippocampal Subfield Metabolic Differences in AD/MCI. *Scientific Reports 2020* 10:1 2020, 10 (1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-69065-0.
- (156) Jack, C. R.; Wiste, H. J.; Weigand, S. D.; Therneau, T. M.; Lowe, V. J.; Knopman, D. S.; Gunter, J. L.; Senjem, M. L.; Jones, D. T.; Kantarci, K.; Machulda, M. M.; Mielke, M. M.; Roberts, R. O.; Vemuri, P.; Reyes, D. A.; Petersen, R. C. Defining Imaging Biomarker Cut Points for Brain Aging and Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2017, *13* (3), 205–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JALZ.2016.08.005.
- (157) Nugent, S.; Croteau, E.; Potvin, O.; Castellano, C. A.; Dieumegarde, L.; Cunnane, S. C.; Duchesne, S. Selection of the Optimal Intensity Normalization Region for FDG-PET Studies of Normal Aging and Alzheimer's Disease. *Scientific Reports 2020 10:1* 2020, *10* (1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-65957-3.
- (158) Cohen, A. D.; Klunk, W. E. Early Detection of Alzheimer's Disease Using PiB and FDG PET. *Neurobiol Dis* **2014**, *72PA* (Part A), 117. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NBD.2014.05.001.

- (159) Schraen-Maschke, S.; Sergeant, N.; Dhaenens, C. M.; Bombois, S.; Deramecourt, V.; Caillet-Boudin, M. L.; Pasquier, F.; Maurage, C. A.; Sablonnière, B.; Vanmechelen, E.; Buée, L. Tau as a Biomarker of Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Biomark Med* 2008, 2 (4), 363. https://doi.org/10.2217/17520363.2.4.363.
- (160) Blennow, K.; Hampel, H.; Weiner, M.; Zetterberg, H. Cerebrospinal Fluid and Plasma Biomarkers in Alzheimer Disease. *Nature Reviews Neurology 2010 6:3* **2010**, *6* (3), 131–144. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrneurol.2010.4.
- (161) Otto, M.; Wiltfang, J.; Tumani, H.; Zerr, I.; Lantsch, M.; Kornhuber, J.; Weber, T.; Kretzschmar, H. A.; Poser, S. Elevated Levels of Tau-Protein in Cerebrospinal Fluid of Patients with Creutzfeldt-Jakob Disease. *Neurosci Lett* 1997, *225* (3), 210–212. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3940(97)00215-2.
- (162) Kester, M. I.; Van Der Vlies, A. E.; Blankenstein, M. A.; Pijnenburg, Y. A. L.; Van Elk, E. J.; Scheltens, P.; Van Der Flier, W. M. CSF Biomarkers Predict Rate of Cognitive Decline in Alzheimer Disease. *Neurology* 2009, *73* (17), 1353–1358. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0B013E3181BD8271.
- (163) Blom, E. S.; Giedraitis, V.; Zetterberg, H.; Fukumoto, H.; Blennow, K.; Hyman, B. T.; Irizarry, M. C.; Wahlund, L. O.; Lannfelt, L.; Ingelsson, M. Rapid Progression from Mild Cognitive Impairment to Alzheimer's Disease in Subjects with Elevated Levels of Tau in Cerebrospinal Fluid and the APOE Epsilon4/Epsilon4 Genotype. *Dement Geriatr Cogn Disord* **2009**, *27* (5), 458–464. https://doi.org/10.1159/000216841.
- (164) Sjögren, M.; Davidsson, P.; Tullberg, M.; Minthon, L.; Wallin, A.; Wikkelso, C.; Granérus, A. K.; Vanderstichele, H.; Vanmechelen, E.; Blennow, K. Both Total and Phosphorylated Tau Are Increased in Alzheimer's Disease. *J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry* 2001, *70* (5), 624–630. https://doi.org/10.1136/JNNP.70.5.624.
- (165) Hansson, O. Biomarkers for Neurodegenerative Diseases. *Nature Medicine 2021 27:6* **2021**, *27* (6), 954–963. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01382-x.
- (166) Winblad, B.; Amouyel, P.; Andrieu, S.; Ballard, C.; Brayne, C.; Brodaty, H.; Cedazo-Minguez, A.; Dubois, B.; Edvardsson, D.; Feldman, H.; Fratiglioni, L.; Frisoni, G. B.; Gauthier, S.; Georges, J.; Graff, C.; Iqbal, K.; Jessen, F.; Johansson, G.; Jönsson, L.; Kivipelto, M.; Knapp, M.; Mangialasche, F.; Melis, R.; Nordberg, A.; Rikkert, M. O.; Qiu, C.; Sakmar, T. P.; Scheltens, P.; Schneider, L. S.; Sperling, R.; Tjernberg, L. O.; Waldemar, G.; Wimo, A.; Zetterberg, H. Defeating Alzheimer's Disease and Other Dementias: A Priority for European Science and Society. *Lancet Neurol* 2016, 15 (5), 455–532. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1474-4422(16)00062-4.
- (167) Chen, Z. R.; Huang, J. B.; Yang, S. L.; Hong, F. F. Role of Cholinergic Signaling in Alzheimer's Disease. *Molecules* **2022**, *27* (6). https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES27061816.
- (168) Haam, J.; Yakel, J. L. Cholinergic Modulation of the Hippocampal Region and Memory Function. *J Neurochem* **2017**, *142*, 111–121. https://doi.org/10.1111/JNC.14052.
- (169) Pope, C.; Karanth, S.; Liu, J. Pharmacology and Toxicology of Cholinesterase Inhibitors: Uses and Misuses of a Common Mechanism of Action. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol* 2005, *19* (3), 433–446. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ETAP.2004.12.048.

- (170) Tewari, D.; Stankiewicz, A. M.; Mocan, A.; Sah, A. N.; Tzvetkov, N. T.; Huminiecki, L.; Horbanczuk, J. O.; Atanasov, A. G. Ethnopharmacological Approaches for Dementia Therapy and Significance of Natural Products and Herbal Drugs. *Front Aging Neurosci* **2018**, *10* (FEB), 3. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNAGI.2018.00003.
- (171) Hogg, R. C.; Raggenbass, M.; Bertrand, D. Nicotinic Acetylcholine Receptors: From Structure to Brain Function. *Rev Physiol Biochem Pharmacol* 2003, 147, 1–46. https://doi.org/10.1007/S10254-003-0005-1.
- (172) Albuquerque, E. X.; Santos, M. D.; Alkondon, M.; Pereira, E. F. R.; Maelicke, A. Modulation of Nicotinic Receptor Activity in the Central Nervous System: A Novel Approach to the Treatment of Alzheimer Disease. *Alzheimer Dis Assoc Disord* **2001**, *15 Suppl 1* (SUPPL. 1). https://doi.org/10.1097/00002093-200108001-00004.
- (173) Wang, R.; Reddy, P. H. Role of Glutamate and NMDA Receptors in Alzheimer's Disease. J Alzheimers Dis **2017**, 57 (4), 1041. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-160763.
- (174) Newcomer, J. W.; Farber, N. B.; Olney, J. W. NMDA Receptor Function, Memory, and Brain Aging. Dialogues Clin Neurosci 2000, 2 (3), 219–232. https://doi.org/10.31887/DCNS.2000.2.3/JNEWCOMER.
- (175) Hynd, M. R.; Scott, H. L.; Dodd, P. R. Glutamate-Mediated Excitotoxicity and Neurodegeneration in Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurochem Int* 2004, 45 (5), 583–595. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuint.2004.03.007.
- (176) Sattler, R.; Charlton, M. P.; Hafner, M.; Tymianski, M. Distinct Influx Pathways, Not Calcium Load, Determine Neuronal Vulnerability to Calcium Neurotoxicity. *J Neurochem* 1998, *71* (6), 2349– 2364. https://doi.org/10.1046/J.1471-4159.1998.71062349.X.
- (177) Olivares, D.; Deshpande, V. K.; Shi, Y.; Lahiri, D. K.; Greig, N. H.; Rogers, J. T.; Huang, X. N-Methyl D-Aspartate (NMDA) Receptor Antagonists and Memantine Treatment for Alzheimer's Disease, Vascular Dementia and Parkinson's Disease. *Curr Alzheimer Res* **2012**, *9* (6), 746. https://doi.org/10.2174/156720512801322564.
- (178) Karran, E.; De Strooper, B. The Amyloid Hypothesis in Alzheimer Disease: New Insights from New Therapeutics. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 2022, *21* (4), 306–318. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41573-022-00391-W.
- (179) Panza, F.; Lozupone, M.; Seripa, D.; Imbimbo, B. P. Amyloid-β Immunotherapy for Alzheimer Disease: Is It Now a Long Shot? *Ann Neurol* 2019, *85* (3), 303–315. https://doi.org/10.1002/ANA.25410.
- (180) Zhang, Y.; Chen, H.; Li, R.; Sterling, K.; Song, W. Amyloid β-Based Therapy for Alzheimer's Disease: Challenges, Successes and Future. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy 2023 8:1* 2023, 8 (1), 1–26. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-023-01484-7.
- (181) Sevigny, J.; Chiao, P.; Bussière, T.; Weinreb, P. H.; Williams, L.; Maier, M.; Dunstan, R.; Salloway, S.; Chen, T.; Ling, Y.; O'Gorman, J.; Qian, F.; Arastu, M.; Li, M.; Chollate, S.; Brennan, M. S.; Quintero-Monzon, O.; Scannevin, R. H.; Arnold, H. M.; Engber, T.; Rhodes, K.; Ferrero, J.; Hang, Y.; Mikulskis, A.; Grimm, J.; Hock, C.; Nitsch, R. M.; Sandrock, A. The Antibody Aducanumab Reduces

Aβ Plaques in Alzheimer's Disease. *Nature 2016 537:7618* **2016**, *537* (7618), 50–56. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature19323.

- (182) Gunawardena, I. P. C.; Retinasamy, T.; Shaikh, M. F. Is Aducanumab for LMICs? Promises and Challenges. *Brain Sci* **2021**, *11* (11). https://doi.org/10.3390/BRAINSCI11111547.
- (183) Kuller, L. H.; Lopez, O. L. ENGAGE and EMERGE: Truth and Consequences? *Alzheimer's & Dementia* **2021**, *17* (4), 692. https://doi.org/10.1002/ALZ.12286.
- (184) Wojtunik-Kulesza, K.; Rudkowska, M.; Orzeł-Sajdłowska, A. Aducanumab—Hope or Disappointment for Alzheimer's Disease. Int J Mol Sci 2023, 24 (5). https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS24054367.
- (185) van Dyck, C.; Swanson, C.; Aisen, P.; Bateman, R.; Chen, C.; Gee, M.; Kanekiyo, M.; Li, D.; Reyderman, L.; Cohen, S.; Froelich, L.; Katayama, S.; Sabbagh, M.; Vellas, B.; Watson, D.; Dhadda, S.; Irizarry, M.; Kramer, L.; Iwatsubo, T. Lecanemab in Early Alzheimer's Disease. *N Engl J Med* 2023, *388* (1), 142–143. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA2212948.
- (186) Hardy, J. A.; Higgins, G. A. Alzheimer's Disease: The Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis. *Science (1979)* **1992**, *256* (5054), 184–185. https://doi.org/10.1126/SCIENCE.1566067.
- (187) Golde, T. E.; Schneider, L. S.; Koo, E. H. Anti-Aβ Therapeutics in Alzheimer's Disease: The Need for a Paradigm Shift. *Neuron* 2011, 69 (2), 203–213. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEURON.2011.01.002.
- (188) Kepp, K. P.; Robakis, N. K.; Høilund-Carlsen, P. F.; Sensi, S. L.; Vissel, B. The Amyloid Cascade Hypothesis: An Updated Critical Review. *Brain* **2023**. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWAD159.
- (189) Hassan, M. CANTOS: A Breakthrough That Proves the Inflammatory Hypothesis of Atherosclerosis. *Glob Cardiol Sci Pract* **2018**, *2018* (1). https://doi.org/10.21542/GCSP.2018.2.
- (190) Baylis, R. A.; Gomez, D.; Mallat, Z.; Pasterkamp, G.; Owens, G. K. The CANTOS Trial: One Important Step for Clinical Cardiology but a Giant Leap for Vascular Biology. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 2017, *37* (11), e174. https://doi.org/10.1161/ATVBAHA.117.310097.
- (191) Chen, L.; Deng, H.; Cui, H.; Fang, J.; Zuo, Z.; Deng, J.; Li, Y.; Wang, X.; Zhao, L. Inflammatory Responses and Inflammation-Associated Diseases in Organs. *Oncotarget* **2018**, *9* (6), 7204. https://doi.org/10.18632/ONCOTARGET.23208.
- (192) Meizlish, M. L.; Franklin, R. A.; Zhou, X.; Medzhitov, R. Tissue Homeostasis and Inflammation. Annu Rev Immunol 2021, 39, 557–581. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-IMMUNOL-061020-053734.
- (193) Charles A Janeway, J.; Travers, P.; Walport, M.; Shlomchik, M. J. *Principles of Innate and Adaptive Immunity*; Garland Science, 2001.
- (194) Tan, L. Y.; Komarasamy, T. V.; RMT Balasubramaniam, V. Hyperinflammatory Immune Response and COVID-19: A Double Edged Sword. *Front Immunol* **2021**, *12*, 742941. https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2021.742941.
- (195) Fali, T.; Vallet, H.; Sauce, D. Impact of Stress on Aged Immune System Compartments: Overview from Fundamental to Clinical Data. *Exp Gerontol* **2018**, *105*, 19–26. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EXGER.2018.02.007.

- (196) Akiyama, H.; Barger, S.; Barnum, S.; Bradt, B.; Bauer, J.; Cole, G. M.; Cooper, N. R.; Eikelenboom, P.; Emmerling, M.; Fiebich, B. L.; Finch, C. E.; Frautschy, S.; Griffin, W. S. T.; Hampel, H.; Hull, M.; Landreth, G.; Lue, L. F.; Mrak, R.; MacKenzie, I. R.; McGeer, P. L.; O'Banion, M. K.; Pachter, J.; Pasinetti, G.; Plata-Salaman, C.; Rogers, J.; Rydel, R.; Shen, Y.; Streit, W.; Strohmeyer, R.; Tooyoma, I.; Van Muiswinkel, F. L.; Veerhuis, R.; Walker, D.; Webster, S.; Wegrzyniak, B.; Wenk, G.; Wyss-Coray, T. Inflammation and Alzheimer's Disease. *Neurobiol Aging* 2000, *21* (3), 383. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0197-4580(00)00124-X.
- (197) Paulson, G. W. Environmental Effects on the Central Nervous System. *Environ Health Perspect* **1977**, *20*, 75. https://doi.org/10.1289/EHP.772075.
- (198) Hemonnot, A. L.; Hua, J.; Ulmann, L.; Hirbec, H. Microglia in Alzheimer Disease: Well-Known Targets and New Opportunities. *Front Cell Infect Microbiol* **2019**, *9* (JUL). https://doi.org/10.3389/FNAGI.2019.00233.
- (199) Fakhoury, M. Microglia and Astrocytes in Alzheimer's Disease: Implications for Therapy. *Curr Neuropharmacol* **2018**, *16* (5), 508. https://doi.org/10.2174/1570159X15666170720095240.
- (200) Skokowa, J.; Cario, G.; Uenalan, M.; Schambach, A.; Germeshausen, M.; Battmer, K.; Zeidler, C.; Lehmann, U.; Eder, M.; Baum, C.; Grosschedl, R.; Stanulla, M.; Scherr, M.; Welte, K. Inflammation in Alzheimer Disease: Driving Force, Bystander or Beneficial Response? *Nature Medicine 2006* 12:9 2006, 12 (9), 1005–1015. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm1484.
- (201) Kinney, J. W.; Bemiller, S. M.; Murtishaw, A. S.; Leisgang, A. M.; Salazar, A. M.; Lamb, B. T. Inflammation as a Central Mechanism in Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia : Translational Research & Clinical Interventions* **2018**, *4*, 575. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TRCI.2018.06.014.
- (202) Livingston, N. R.; Calsolaro, V.; Hinz, R.; Nowell, J.; Raza, S.; Gentleman, S.; Tyacke, R. J.; Myers, J.; Venkataraman, A. V.; Perneczky, R.; Gunn, R. N.; Rabiner, E. A.; Parker, C. A.; Murphy, P. S.; Wren, P. B.; Nutt, D. J.; Matthews, P. M.; Edison, P. Relationship between Astrocyte Reactivity, Using Novel 11C-BU99008 PET, and Glucose Metabolism, Grey Matter Volume and Amyloid Load in Cognitively Impaired Individuals. *Molecular Psychiatry 2022 27:4* 2022, 27 (4), 2019–2029. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-021-01429-y.
- (203) Yetirajam, R.; Kanneganti, T. D. Innate Immune Cell Death in Neuroinflammation and Alzheimer's Disease. *Cells* **2022**, *11* (12). https://doi.org/10.3390/CELLS11121885.
- (204) Halliday, M. R.; Rege, S. V.; Ma, Q.; Zhao, Z.; Miller, C. A.; Winkler, E. A.; Zlokovic, B. V. Accelerated Pericyte Degeneration and Blood–Brain Barrier Breakdown in Apolipoprotein E4 Carriers with Alzheimer's Disease. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism* **2016**, *36* (1), 216. https://doi.org/10.1038/JCBFM.2015.44.
- (205) Cai, Z.; Qiao, P. F.; Wan, C. Q.; Cai, M.; Zhou, N. K.; Li, Q. Role of Blood-Brain Barrier in Alzheimer's Disease. *J Alzheimers Dis* **2018**, *63* (4), 1223–1234. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-180098.
- (206) Clifford, P. M.; Zarrabi, S.; Siu, G.; Kinsler, K. J.; Kosciuk, M. C.; Venkataraman, V.; D'Andrea, M. R.; Dinsmore, S.; Nagele, R. G. Aβ Peptides Can Enter the Brain through a Defective Blood–Brain Barrier and Bind Selectively to Neurons. *Brain Res* 2007, *1142* (1), 223–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BRAINRES.2007.01.070.

- (207) Kurz, C.; Walker, L.; Rauchmann, B. S.; Perneczky, R. Dysfunction of the Blood–Brain Barrier in Alzheimer's Disease: Evidence from Human Studies. *Neuropathol Appl Neurobiol* **2022**, *48* (3), e12782. https://doi.org/10.1111/NAN.12782.
- (208) Miners, J. S.; Kehoe, P. G.; Love, S.; Zetterberg, H.; Blennow, K. CSF Evidence of Pericyte Damage in Alzheimer's Disease Is Associated with Markers of Blood-Brain Barrier Dysfunction and Disease Pathology. *Alzheimers Res Ther* **2019**, *11* (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S13195-019-0534-8.
- (209) Barisano, G.; Montagne, A.; Kisler, K.; Schneider, J. A.; Wardlaw, J. M.; Zlokovic, B. V. Blood–Brain Barrier Link to Human Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease. *Nature Cardiovascular Research 2022 1:2* 2022, 1 (2), 108–115. https://doi.org/10.1038/s44161-021-00014-4.
- (210) Galea, I. The Blood–Brain Barrier in Systemic Infection and Inflammation. *Cell Mol Immunol* **2021**, *18* (11), 2489. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41423-021-00757-X.
- (211) Silver Spring (MD): Food and Drug Administration (US); Bethesda (MD): National Institutes of Health (US). BEST (Biomarkers, EndpointS, and other Tools) Resource. BEST (Biomarkers, EndpointS, and other Tools) Resource. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK326791/ (accessed 2023-09-27).
- (212) Califf, R. M. Biomarker Definitions and Their Applications. *Exp Biol Med* **2018**, *243* (3), 213. https://doi.org/10.1177/1535370217750088.
- (213) Strimbu, K.; Tavel, J. A. What Are Biomarkers? *Curr Opin HIV AIDS* **2010**, *5* (6), 463. https://doi.org/10.1097/COH.0B013E32833ED177.
- Bodaghi, A.; Fattahi, N.; Ramazani, A. Biomarkers: Promising and Valuable Tools towards Diagnosis, Prognosis and Treatment of Covid-19 and Other Diseases. *Heliyon* 2023, 9 (2), e13323. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.HELIYON.2023.E13323.
- (215) Swanson, K. V.; Deng, M.; Ting, J. P. Y. The NLRP3 Inflammasome: Molecular Activation and Regulation to Therapeutics. *Nature Reviews Immunology 2019 19:8* **2019**, *19* (8), 477–489. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41577-019-0165-0.
- (216) Marsh, S. E.; Abud, E. M.; Lakatos, A.; Karimzadeh, A.; Yeung, S. T.; Davtyan, H.; Fote, G. M.; Lau, L.; Weinger, J. G.; Lane, T. E.; Inlay, M. A.; Poon, W. W.; Blurton-Jones, M. The Adaptive Immune System Restrains Alzheimer's Disease Pathogenesis by Modulating Microglial Function. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2016, *113* (9), E1316–E1325. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1525466113.
- (217) Singh, S.; Anshita, D.; Ravichandiran, V. MCP-1: Function, Regulation, and Involvement in Disease. Int Immunopharmacol **2021**, *101*, 107598. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INTIMP.2021.107598.
- (218) Mattsson, N.; Cullen, N. C.; Andreasson, U.; Zetterberg, H.; Blennow, K. Association Between Longitudinal Plasma Neurofilament Light and Neurodegeneration in Patients With Alzheimer Disease. JAMA Neurol 2019, 76 (7), 791. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMANEUROL.2019.0765.
- Weston, P. S. J.; Poole, T.; Ryan, N. S.; Nair, A.; Liang, Y.; Macpherson, K.; Druyeh, R.; Malone, I. B.; Ahsan, R. L.; Pemberton, H.; Klimova, J.; Mead, S.; Blennow, K.; Rossor, M. N.; Schott, J. M.; Zetterberg, H.; Fox, N. C. Serum Neurofilament Light in Familial Alzheimer Disease: A Marker of Early Neurodegeneration. *Neurology* 2017, *89* (21), 2167. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000004667.

- (220) Preische, O.; Schultz, S. A.; Apel, A.; Kuhle, J.; Kaeser, S. A.; Barro, C.; Gräber, S.; Kuder-Buletta, E.; LaFougere, C.; Laske, C.; Vöglein, J.; Levin, J.; Masters, C.; Martins, R.; Schofield, P.; Rossor, M. N.; Graff-Radford, N.; Salloway, S.; Ghetti, B.; Ringman, J.; Noble, J.; Chhatwal, J.; Goate, A.; Benzinger, T.; Morris, J.; Bateman, R.; Wang, G.; Fagan, A.; McDade, E.; Gordon, B.; Jucker, M.; Allegri, R.; Amtashar, F.; Berman, S.; Bodge, C.; Brandon, S.; Brooks, W.; Buck, J.; Buckles, V.; Chea, S.; Chrem, P.; Chui, H.; Cinco, J.; Clifford, J.; Cruchaga, C.; D'Mello, M.; Donahue, T.; Douglas, J.; Edigo, N.; Erekin-Taner, N.; Farlow, M.; Farrar, A.; Feldman, H.; Flynn, G.; Fox, N.; Franklin, E.; Fujii, H.; Gant, C.; Gardener, S.; Goldman, J.; Gray, J.; Gurney, J.; Hassenstab, J.; Hirohara, M.; Holtzman, D.; Hornbeck, R.; DiBari, S. H.; Ikeuchi, T.; Ikonomovic, S.; Jerome, G.; Karch, C.; Kasuga, K.; Kawarabayashi, T.; Klunk, W.; Koeppe, R.; Lee, J. H.; Marcus, D.; Mason, N. S.; Maue-Dreyfus, D.; Montoya, L.; Mori, H.; Nagamatsu, A.; Neimeyer, K.; Norton, J.; Perrin, R.; Raichle, M.; Roh, J. H.; Shimada, H.; Shiroto, T.; Shoji, M.; Sigurdson, W.; Sohrabi, H.; Sparks, P.; Suzuki, K.; Swisher, L.; Taddei, K.; Wang, J.; Wang, P.; Weiner, M.; Wolfsberger, M.; Xiong, C.; Xu, X. Serum Neurofilament Dynamics Predicts Neurodegeneration and Clinical Progression in Presymptomatic Alzheimer's Disease. Nat Med 2019, 25 (2), 277. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41591-018-0304-3.
- Milà-Alomà, M.; Salvadó, G.; Gispert, J. D.; Vilor-Tejedor, N.; Grau-Rivera, O.; Sala-Vila, A.;
 Sánchez-Benavides, G.; Arenaza-Urquijo, E. M.; Crous-Bou, M.; González-de-Echávarri, J. M.;
 Minguillon, C.; Fauria, K.; Simon, M.; Kollmorgen, G.; Zetterberg, H.; Blennow, K.; Suárez-Calvet,
 M.; Molinuevo, J. L. Amyloid Beta, Tau, Synaptic, Neurodegeneration, and Glial Biomarkers in the
 Preclinical Stage of the Alzheimer's Continuum. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2020, *16* (10), 1358.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/ALZ.12131.
- (222) Elahi, F. M.; Casaletto, K. B.; la Joie, R.; Walters, S. M.; Harvey, D.; Wolf, A.; Edwards, L.; Rivera-Contreras, W.; Karydas, A.; Cobigo, Y.; Rosen, H. J.; DeCarli, C.; Miller, B. L.; Rabinovici, G. D.; Kramer, J. H. Plasma Biomarkers of Astrocytic and Neuronal Dysfunction in Early- and Late-Onset Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimers Dement* **2020**, *16* (4), 681. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JALZ.2019.09.004.
- (223) Baiardi, S.; Quadalti, C.; Mammana, A.; Dellavalle, S.; Zenesini, C.; Sambati, L.; Pantieri, R.;
 Polischi, B.; Romano, L.; Suffritti, M.; Bentivenga, G. M.; Randi, V.; Stanzani-Maserati, M.;
 Capellari, S.; Parchi, P. Diagnostic Value of Plasma P-Tau181, NfL, and GFAP in a Clinical Setting
 Cohort of Prevalent Neurodegenerative Dementias. *Alzheimers Res Ther* 2022, *14* (1).
 https://doi.org/10.1186/S13195-022-01093-6.
- (224) Yang, Z.; Wang, K. K. W. Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein: From Intermediate Filament Assembly and Gliosis to Neurobiomarker. *Trends Neurosci* 2015, *38* (6), 364. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.TINS.2015.04.003.
- (225) Craig-Schapiro, R.; Perrin, R. J.; Roe, C. M.; Xiong, C.; Carter, D.; Cairns, N. J.; Mintun, M. A.; Peskind, E. R.; Li, G.; Galasko, D. R.; Clark, C. M.; Quinn, J. F.; D'Angelo, G.; Malone, J. P.; Townsend, R. R.; Morris, J. C.; Fagan, A. M.; Holtzman, D. M. YKL-40: A Novel Prognostic Fluid Biomarker for Preclinical Alzheimer's Disease. *Biol Psychiatry* **2010**, *68* (10), 903. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCH.2010.08.025.
- (226) Lananna, B. V.; McKee, C. A.; King, M. W.; Del-Aguila, J. L.; Dimitry, J. M.; Farias, F. H. G.;
 Nadarajah, C. J.; Xiong, D. D.; Guo, C.; Cammack, A. J.; Elias, J. A.; Zhang, J.; Cruchaga, C.; Musiek,
 E. S. Chi3l1/YKL-40 Is Controlled by the Astrocyte Circadian Clock and Regulates

Neuroinflammation and Alzheimer Disease Pathogenesis. *Sci Transl Med* **2020**, *12* (574). https://doi.org/10.1126/SCITRANSLMED.AAX3519.

- (227) Rosmus, D. D.; Lange, C.; Ludwig, F.; Ajami, B.; Wieghofer, P. The Role of Osteopontin in Microglia Biology: Current Concepts and Future Perspectives. *Biomedicines* 2022, *10* (4). https://doi.org/10.3390/BIOMEDICINES10040840.
- (228) Comi, C.; Carecchio, M.; Chiocchetti, A.; Nicola, S.; Galimberti, D.; Fenoglio, C.; Cappellano, G.; Monaco, F.; Scarpini, E.; Dianzani, U. Osteopontin Is Increased in the Cerebrospinal Fluid of Patients with Alzheimer's Disease and Its Levels Correlate with Cognitive Decline. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease* 2010, 19 (4), 1143–1148. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-2010-1309.
- (229) Rentsendorj, A.; Sheyn, J.; Fuchs, D. T.; Daley, D.; Salumbides, B. C.; Schubloom, H. E.; Hart, N. J.; Li, S.; Hayden, E. Y.; Teplow, D. B.; Black, K. L.; Koronyo, Y.; Koronyo-Hamaoui, M. A Novel Role for Osteopontin in Macrophage-Mediated Amyloid-β Clearance in Alzheimer's Models. *Brain Behav Immun* **2018**, *67*, 163. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBI.2017.08.019.
- (230) Jonsson, T.; Stefansson, H.; Steinberg, S.; Jonsdottir, I.; Jonsson, P. v.; Snaedal, J.; Bjornsson, S.; Huttenlocher, J.; Levey, A. I.; Lah, J. J.; Rujescu, D.; Hampel, H.; Giegling, I.; Andreassen, O. A.; Engedal, K.; Ulstein, I.; Djurovic, S.; Ibrahim-Verbaas, C.; Hofman, A.; Ikram, M. A.; Duijn, C. M. van; Thorsteinsdottir, U.; Kong, A.; Stefansson, K. Variant of TREM2 Associated with the Risk of Alzheimer's Disease. *N Engl J Med* **2013**, *368* (2), 107. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMOA1211103.
- Yaghmoor, F.; Noorsaeed, A.; Alsaggaf, S.; Aljohani, W.; Scholtzova, H.; Boutajangout, A.;
 Wisniewski, T. The Role of TREM2 in Alzheimer's Disease and Other Neurological Disorders. J Alzheimers Dis Parkinsonism 2014, 4 (5). https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0460.1000160.
- (232) Yong, V. W.; Power, C.; Edwards, D. R. Metalloproteinases in Biology and Pathology of the Nervous System. *Nat Rev Neurosci* **2001**, *2* (7), 502. https://doi.org/10.1038/35081571.
- (233) Gardner, J.; Ghorpade, A. Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase (TIMP)-1: The TIMPed Balance of Matrix Metalloproteinases in the Central Nervous System. *J Neurosci Res* 2003, 74 (6), 801–806. https://doi.org/10.1002/JNR.10835.
- (234) DuoSet ELISA Development Systems Assay Principle: R&D Systems. https://www.rndsystems.com/resources/technical/duoset-elisa-development-systems-assayprinciple?_ga=2.145505459.661999191.1630619690-1401787948.1623256528 (accessed 2023-06-26).
- (235) Ju, H.; Lai, G.; Yan, F. Electrochemiluminescent Immunosensing. *Immunosensing for Detection of Protein Biomarkers* **2017**, 171–206. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-101999-3.00006-2.
- (236) S-PLEX Technology | Meso Scale Discovery. https://www.mesoscale.com/en/products_and_services/assay_kits/s-plex/s-plex_technology (accessed 2023-09-02).
- (237) Valentin, M. A.; Ma, S.; Zhao, A.; Legay, F.; Avrameas, A. Validation of Immunoassay for Protein Biomarkers: Bioanalytical Study Plan Implementation to Support Pre-Clinical and Clinical Studies. J Pharm Biomed Anal 2011, 55 (5), 869–877. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JPBA.2011.03.033.

- (238) Ciotti, S.; Purushothama, S.; Ray, S. What Is Going on with My Samples? A General Approach to Parallelism Assessment and Data Interpretation for Biomarker Ligand-Binding Assays. *Bioanalysis* 2013, 5 (16), 1941–1943. https://doi.org/10.4155/BIO.13.174.
- (239) Tu, J.; Bennett, P. Parallelism Experiments to Evaluate Matrix Effects, Selectivity and Sensitivity in Ligand-Binding Assay Method Development: Pros and Cons. *Bioanalysis* **2017**, *9* (14), 1107–1122. https://doi.org/10.4155/BIO-2017-0084.
- (240) Desilva, B.; Smith, W.; Weiner, R.; Kelley, M.; Smolec, J. M.; Lee, B.; Khan, M.; Tacey, R.; Hill, H.; Celniker, A. Recommendations for the Bioanalytical Method Validation of Ligand-Binding Assays to Support Pharmacokinetic Assessments of Macromolecules. *Pharm Res* 2003, 20 (11), 1885– 1900. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:PHAM.0000003390.51761.3D.
- (241) ADNI / ACCESS DATA. https://adni.loni.usc.edu/data-samples/access-data/ (accessed 2023-08-13).
- (242) *Our PEA technology Olink*. https://olink.com/our-platform/our-pea-technology/ (accessed 2023-10-12).
- (243) Schmidt-Morgenroth, I.; Michaud, P.; Gasparini, F.; Avrameas, A. Central and Peripheral Inflammation in Mild Cognitive Impairment in the Context of Alzheimer's Disease. *Int J Mol Sci* 2023, 24 (13), 10523. https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS241310523.
- (244) Whelan, C. D.; Mattsson, N.; Nagle, M. W.; Vijayaraghavan, S.; Hyde, C.; Janelidze, S.; Stomrud, E.; Lee, J.; Fitz, L.; Samad, T. A.; Ramaswamy, G.; Margolin, R. A.; Malarstig, A.; Hansson, O. Multiplex Proteomics Identifies Novel CSF and Plasma Biomarkers of Early Alzheimer's Disease. Acta Neuropathol Commun 2019, 7 (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S40478-019-0795-2.
- (245) Weiss, T. W.; Samson, A. L.; Niego, B.; Daniel, P. B.; Medcalf, R. L.; Weiss, T. W.; Samson, A. L.; Niego, B.; Daniel, P. B.; Medcalf, R. L. Oncostatin M Is a Neuroprotective Cytokine That Inhibits Excitotoxic Injury in Vitro and in Vivo. *The FASEB Journal* **2006**, *20* (13), 2369–2371. https://doi.org/10.1096/FJ.06-5850FJE.
- (246) Masjedi, A.; Hajizadeh, F.; Beigi Dargani, F.; Beyzai, B.; Aksoun, M.; Hojjat-Farsangi, M.; Zekiy, A.; Jadidi-Niaragh, F. Oncostatin M: A Mysterious Cytokine in Cancers. *Int Immunopharmacol* 2021, 90, 107158. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.INTIMP.2020.107158.
- Huang, J.; Khademi, M.; Fugger, L.; Lindhe, Ö.; Novakova, L.; Axelsson, M.; Malmeström, C.; Constantinescu, C.; Lycke, J.; Piehl, F.; Olsson, T.; Kockum, I. Inflammation-Related Plasma and CSF Biomarkers for Multiple Sclerosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2020, *117* (23), 12952–12960. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1912839117.
- (248) Hermans, D.; Houben, E.; Baeten, P.; Slaets, H.; Janssens, K.; Hoeks, C.; Hosseinkhani, B.; Duran, G.; Bormans, S.; Gowing, E.; Hoornaert, C.; Beckers, L.; Fung, W. K.; Schroten, H.; Ishikawa, H.; Fraussen, J.; Thoelen, R.; de Vries, H. E.; Kooij, G.; Zandee, S.; Prat, A.; Hellings, N.; Broux, B. Oncostatin M Triggers Brain Inflammation by Compromising Blood–Brain Barrier Integrity. *Acta Neuropathol* 2022, 144 (2), 259–281. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00401-022-02445-0.
- (249) Couturier, J.; Stancu, I. C.; Schakman, O.; Pierrot, N.; Huaux, F.; Kienlen-Campard, P.; Dewachter, I.; Octave, J. N. Activation of Phagocytic Activity in Astrocytes by Reduced Expression of the

Inflammasome Component ASC and Its Implication in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer Disease. *J Neuroinflammation* **2016**, *13* (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S12974-016-0477-Y.

- (250) Rehker, J.; Rodhe, J.; Nesbitt, R. R.; Boyle, E. A.; Martin, B. K.; Lord, J.; Karaca, I.; Naj, A.; Jessen, F.; Helisalmi, S.; Soininen, H.; Hiltunen, M.; Ramirez, A.; Scherer, M.; Farrer, L. A.; Haines, J. L.; Pericak-Vance, M. A.; Raskind, W. H.; Cruchaga, C.; Schellenberg, G. D.; Joseph, B.; Brkanac, Z. Caspase-8, Association with Alzheimer's Disease and Functional Analysis of Rare Variants. *PLoS One* 2017, *12* (10). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0185777.
- (251) Tsuchiya, K. Inflammasome-Associated Cell Death: Pyroptosis, Apoptosis, and Physiological Implications. *Microbiol Immunol* **2020**, *64* (4), 252–269. https://doi.org/10.1111/1348-0421.12771.
- (252) Knights, A. J.; Redding, S. J.; Maerz, T. Inflammation in Osteoarthritis: The Latest Progress and Ongoing Challenges. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* 2023, 35 (2), 128–134. https://doi.org/10.1097/BOR.0000000000923.
- (253) Chen, L.; Niu, X.; Wang, Y.; Lv, S.; Zhou, X.; Yang, Z.; Peng, D. Plasma Tau Proteins for the Diagnosis of Mild Cognitive Impairment and Alzheimer's Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Front Aging Neurosci* 2022, 14. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNAGI.2022.942629.
- (254) van Harten, A. C.; Wiste, H. J.; Weigand, S. D.; Mielke, M. M.; Kremers, W. K.; Eichenlaub, U.; Dyer, R. B.; Algeciras-Schimnich, A.; Knopman, D. S.; Jack, C. R.; Petersen, R. C. Detection of Alzheimer's Disease Amyloid Beta 1-42, P-tau, and T-tau Assays. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2022, *18* (4), 635. https://doi.org/10.1002/ALZ.12406.
- (255) Ferri, E.; Rossi, P. D.; Geraci, A.; Ciccone, S.; Cesari, M.; Arosio, B. The STREM2 Concentrations in the Blood: A Marker of Neurodegeneration? *Front Mol Biosci* **2021**, *7*, 627931. https://doi.org/10.3389/FMOLB.2020.627931.
- (256) Knapskog, A. B.; Henjum, K.; Idland, A. V.; Eldholm, R. S.; Persson, K.; Saltvedt, I.; Watne, L. O.; Engedal, K.; Nilsson, L. N. G. Cerebrospinal Fluid STREM2 in Alzheimer's Disease: Comparisons between Clinical Presentation and AT Classification. *Scientific Reports 2020 10:1* 2020, *10* (1), 1– 10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-72878-8.
- (257) Suárez-Calvet, M.; Kleinberger, G.; Caballero, M. Á. A.; Brendel, M.; Rominger, A.; Alcolea, D.; Fortea, J.; Lleó, A.; Blesa, R.; Gispert, J. D.; Sánchez-Valle, R.; Antonell, A.; Rami, L.; Molinuevo, J. L.; Brosseron, F.; Traschütz, A.; Heneka, M. T.; Struyfs, H.; Engelborghs, S.; Sleegers, K.; Broeckhoven, C. Van; Zetterberg, H.; Nellgård, B.; Blennow, K.; Crispin, A.; Ewers, M.; Haass, C. STREM2 Cerebrospinal Fluid Levels Are a Potential Biomarker for Microglia Activity in Early-Stage Alzheimer's Disease and Associate with Neuronal Injury Markers. *EMBO Mol Med* 2016, *8* (5), 466–476. https://doi.org/10.15252/EMMM.201506123.
- (258) Heslegrave, A.; Heywood, W.; Paterson, R.; Magdalinou, N.; Svensson, J.; Johansson, P.; Öhrfelt, A.; Blennow, K.; Hardy, J.; Schott, J.; Mills, K.; Zetterberg, H. Increased Cerebrospinal Fluid Soluble TREM2 Concentration in Alzheimer's Disease. *Mol Neurodegener* **2016**, *11* (1). https://doi.org/10.1186/S13024-016-0071-X.
- (259) Icer, M. A.; Gezmen-Karadag, M. The Multiple Functions and Mechanisms of Osteopontin. *Clin Biochem* **2018**, *59*, 17–24. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CLINBIOCHEM.2018.07.003.

- (260) Orsi, G.; Hayden, Z.; Cseh, T.; Berki, T.; Illes, Z. Osteopontin Levels Are Associated with Late-Time Lower Regional Brain Volumes in Multiple Sclerosis. *Scientific Reports 2021 11:1* **2021**, *11* (1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-03173-3.
- (261) Clemente, N.; Raineri, D.; Cappellano, G.; Boggio, E.; Favero, F.; Soluri, M. F.; Dianzani, C.; Comi, C.; Dianzani, U.; Chiocchetti, A. Osteopontin Bridging Innate and Adaptive Immunity in Autoimmune Diseases. *J Immunol Res* 2016, 2016. https://doi.org/10.1155/2016/7675437.
- Bishop, P.; Rocca, D.; Henley, J. M. Ubiquitin C-Terminal Hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1): Structure, Distribution and Roles in Brain Function and Dysfunction. *Biochemical Journal* 2016, 473 (16), 2453. https://doi.org/10.1042/BCJ20160082.
- (263) Wang, K. K. W.; Kobeissy, F. H.; Shakkour, Z.; Tyndall, J. A. Thorough Overview of Ubiquitin Cterminal Hydrolase-L1 and Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein as Tandem Biomarkers Recently Cleared by US Food and Drug Administration for the Evaluation of Intracranial Injuries among Patients with Traumatic Brain Injury. *Acute Medicine & Surgery* **2021**, *8* (1). https://doi.org/10.1002/AMS2.622.
- (264) Abdelhak, A.; Foschi, M.; Abu-Rumeileh, S.; Yue, J. K.; D'Anna, L.; Huss, A.; Oeckl, P.; Ludolph, A. C.; Kuhle, J.; Petzold, A.; Manley, G. T.; Green, A. J.; Otto, M.; Tumani, H. Blood GFAP as an Emerging Biomarker in Brain and Spinal Cord Disorders. *Nature Reviews Neurology 2022 18:3* 2022, *18* (3), 158–172. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-021-00616-3.
- (265) Kumar, A.; Fontana, I. C.; Nordberg, A. Reactive Astrogliosis: A Friend or Foe in the Pathogenesis of Alzheimer's Disease. *J Neurochem* **2023**, *164* (3), 309–324. https://doi.org/10.1111/JNC.15565.
- (266) Escartin, C.; Galea, E.; Lakatos, A.; O'Callaghan, J. P.; Petzold, G. C.; Serrano-Pozo, A.; Steinhäuser, C.; Volterra, A.; Carmignoto, G.; Agarwal, A.; Allen, N. J.; Araque, A.; Barbeito, L.; Barzilai, A.; Bergles, D. E.; Bonvento, G.; Butt, A. M.; Chen, W. T.; Cohen-Salmon, M.; Cunningham, C.; Deneen, B.; De Strooper, B.; Díaz-Castro, B.; Farina, C.; Freeman, M.; Gallo, V.; Goldman, J. E.; Goldman, S. A.; Götz, M.; Gutiérrez, A.; Haydon, P. G.; Heiland, D. H.; Hol, E. M.; Holt, M. G.; Iino, M.; Kastanenka, K. V.; Kettenmann, H.; Khakh, B. S.; Koizumi, S.; Lee, C. J.; Liddelow, S. A.; MacVicar, B. A.; Magistretti, P.; Messing, A.; Mishra, A.; Molofsky, A. V.; Murai, K. K.; Norris, C. M.; Okada, S.; Oliet, S. H. R.; Oliveira, J. F.; Panatier, A.; Parpura, V.; Pekna, M.; Pekny, M.; Pellerin, L.; Perea, G.; Pérez-Nievas, B. G.; Pfrieger, F. W.; Poskanzer, K. E.; Quintana, F. J.; Ransohoff, R. M.; Riquelme-Perez, M.; Robel, S.; Rose, C. R.; Rothstein, J. D.; Rouach, N.; Rowitch, D. H.; Semyanov, A.; Sirko, S.; Sontheimer, H.; Swanson, R. A.; Vitorica, J.; Wanner, I. B.; Wood, L. B.; Wu, J.; Zheng, B.; Zimmer, E. R.; Zorec, R.; Sofroniew, M. V.; Verkhratsky, A. Reactive Astrocyte Nomenclature, Definitions, and Future Directions. *Nat Neurosci* 2021, *24* (3), 312. https://doi.org/10.1038/S41593-020-00783-4.
- (267) Bellaver, B.; Ferrari-Souza, J. P.; da Ros, L. U.; Carter, S. F.; Rodriguez-Vieitez, E.; Nordberg, A.;
 Pellerin, L.; Rosa-Neto, P.; Leffa, D. T.; Zimmer, E. R. Astrocyte Biomarkers in Alzheimer Disease.
 Neurology 2021, 96 (24), e2944–e2955. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000012109.
- (268) Serrano-Pozo, A.; Mielke, M. L.; Gómez-Isla, T.; Betensky, R. A.; Growdon, J. H.; Frosch, M. P.; Hyman, B. T. Reactive Glia Not Only Associates with Plaques but Also Parallels Tangles in Alzheimer's Disease. *Am J Pathol* 2011, *179* (3), 1373–1384. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AJPATH.2011.05.047.

- (269) Qiu, Y.; Shen, X.; Ravid, O.; Atrakchi, D.; Rand, D.; Wight, A. E.; Kim, H. J.; Liraz-Zaltsman, S.;
 Cooper, I.; Beeri, M. S.; Cantor, H. Definition of the Contribution of an Osteopontin-Producing
 CD11c+ Microglial Subset to Alzheimer's Disease. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2023, *120* (6).
 https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.2218915120.
- (270) Cheng, C.; Gao, S.; Lei, G. Association of Osteopontin with Osteoarthritis. *Rheumatol Int* **2014**, *34* (12), 1627–1631. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00296-014-3036-9.
- Mavroudis, I.; Chowdhury, R.; Petridis, F.; Karantali, E.; Chatzikonstantinou, S.; Balmus, I. M.; Luca, I. S.; Ciobica, A.; Kazis, D. YKL-40 as a Potential Biomarker for the Differential Diagnosis of Alzheimer's Disease. *Medicina 2022, Vol. 58, Page 60* 2021, *58* (1), 60. https://doi.org/10.3390/MEDICINA58010060.
- (272) Huang, K.; Wu, L. D. YKL-40: A Potential Biomarker for Osteoarthritis. *Journal of International Medical Research* **2009**, *37* (1), 18–24. https://doi.org/10.1177/147323000903700102.
- (273) Dinarello, C. A.; Novick, D.; Kim, S.; Kaplanski, G. Interleukin-18 and IL-18 Binding Protein. *Front Immunol* **2013**, *4* (OCT), 57626. https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2013.00289.
- (274) Kaplanski, G. Interleukin-18: Biological Properties and Role in Disease Pathogenesis. *Immunol Rev* **2018**, *281* (1), 138–153. https://doi.org/10.1111/IMR.12616.
- (275) Swardfager, W.; Lanctt, K.; Rothenburg, L.; Wong, A.; Cappell, J.; Herrmann, N. A Meta-Analysis of Cytokines in Alzheimer's Disease. *Biol Psychiatry* **2010**, *68* (10), 930–941. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPSYCH.2010.06.012.
- (276) Ojala, J.; Alafuzoff, I.; Herukka, S. K.; van Groen, T.; Tanila, H.; Pirttilä, T. Expression of Interleukin-18 Is Increased in the Brains of Alzheimer's Disease Patients. *Neurobiol Aging* 2009, *30* (2), 198– 209. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROBIOLAGING.2007.06.006.
- (277) Waszczykowski, M.; Fabiś-Strobin, A.; Bednarski, I.; Narbutt, J.; Fabiś, J. Serum and Synovial Fluid Concentrations of Interleukin-18 and Interleukin-20 in Patients with Osteoarthritis of the Knee and Their Correlation with Other Markers of Inflammation and Turnover of Joint Cartilage. Arch Med Sci 2022, 18 (2), 448. https://doi.org/10.5114/AOMS.2020.96717.
- (278) Guo, H.; Callaway, J. B.; Ting, J. P. Y. Inflammasomes: Mechanism of Action, Role in Disease, and Therapeutics. *Nature Medicine 2015 21:7* 2015, *21* (7), 677–687. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.3893.
- (279) Chan, A. H.; Schroder, K. Inflammasome Signaling and Regulation of Interleukin-1 Family Cytokines. *Journal of Experimental Medicine* **2020**, *217* (1). https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.20190314/132565.
- (280) Alboni, S.; Cervia, D.; Ross, B.; Montanari, C.; Gonzalez, A. S.; Sanchez-Alavez, M.; Marcondes, M. C. G.; De Vries, D.; Sugama, S.; Brunello, N.; Blom, J.; Tascedda, F.; Conti, B. Mapping of the Full Length and the Truncated Interleukin-18 Receptor Alpha in the Mouse Brain. *J Neuroimmunol* 2009, *214* (1–2), 43–54. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUROIM.2009.06.016.
- (281) Sutinen, E. M.; Pirttilä, T.; Anderson, G.; Salminen, A.; Ojala, J. O. Pro-Inflammatory Interleukin-18 Increases Alzheimer's Disease-Associated Amyloid-β Production in Human Neuron-like Cells. *Journal of Neuroinflammation 2012 9:1* 2012, *9* (1), 1–14. https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-2094-9-199.

- (282) Palada, V.; Ahmed, A. S.; Freyhult, E.; Hugo, A.; Kultima, K.; Svensson, C. I.; Kosek, E. Elevated Inflammatory Proteins in Cerebrospinal Fluid from Patients with Painful Knee Osteoarthritis Are Associated with Reduced Symptom Severity. *J Neuroimmunol* 2020, 349, 577391. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JNEUROIM.2020.577391.
- (283) Inoue, H.; Hiraoka, K.; Hoshino, T.; Okamoto, M.; Iwanaga, T.; Zenmyo, M.; Shoda, T.; Aizawa, H.; Nagata, K. High Levels of Serum IL-18 Promote Cartilage Loss through Suppression of Aggrecan Synthesis. Bone 2008, 42 (6), 1102–1110. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BONE.2008.01.031.
- (284) Bakouny, Z.; Choueiri, T. K. IL-8 and Cancer Prognosis on Immunotherapy. *Nature Medicine 2020* 26:5 **2020**, *26* (5), 650–651. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0873-9.
- (285) Gonzalez-Aparicio, M.; Alfaro, C. Significance of the IL-8 Pathway for Immunotherapy. *Hum Vaccin Immunother* **2020**, *16* (10), 2312–2317. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.2019.1696075.
- (286) Mao, Y. M.; Zhao, C. N.; Liu, L. N.; Wu, Q.; Dan, Y. L.; Wang, D. G.; Pan, H. F. Increased Circulating Interleukin-8 Levels in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Patients: A Meta-Analysis. *Biomark Med* 2018, 12 (11), 1291–1302. https://doi.org/10.2217/BMM-2018-0217.
- (287) Cesta, M. C.; Zippoli, M.; Marsiglia, C.; Gavioli, E. M.; Mantelli, F.; Allegretti, M.; Balk, R. A. The Role of Interleukin-8 in Lung Inflammation and Injury: Implications for the Management of COVID-19 and Hyperinflammatory Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. *Front Pharmacol* 2022, 12, 808797. https://doi.org/10.3389/FPHAR.2021.808797.
- (288) Ehrlich, L. C.; Hu, S.; Sheng, W. S.; Sutton, R. L.; Rockswold, G. L.; Peterson, P. K.; Chao, C. C.
 Cytokine Regulation of Human Microglial Cell IL-8 Production. *The Journal of Immunology* 1998, 160 (4), 1944–1948. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.160.4.1944.
- (289) McLarnon, J. G. Chemokine Interleukin-8 (IL-8) in Alzheimer's and Other Diseases. *Journal of Alzheimers Disease & Parkinsonism 2016 6:6* **2016**, *6* (6), 1–4. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0460.1000273.
- (290) Doroszkiewicz, J.; Kulczynska-Przybik, A.; Dulewicz, M.; Borawska, R.; Krawiec, A.; Slowik, A.; Mroczko, B. The Cerebrospinal Fluid Interleukin 8 (IL-8) Concentration in Alzheimer's Disease (AD). Alzheimer's & Dementia 2021, 17 (S5), e051317. https://doi.org/10.1002/ALZ.051317.
- (291) Zhu, Y.; Chai, Y. L.; Hilal, S.; Ikram, M. K.; Venketasubramanian, N.; Wong, B. S.; Chen, C. P.; Lai, M. K. P. Serum IL-8 Is a Marker of White-Matter Hyperintensities in Patients with Alzheimer's Disease. *Alzheimer's & Dementia : Diagnosis, Assessment & Disease Monitoring* 2017, 7, 41. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.DADM.2017.01.001.
- (292) Galimberti, D.; Schoonenboom, N.; Scheltens, P.; Fenoglio, C.; Bouwman, F.; Venturelli, E.; Guidi,
 I.; Blankenstein, M. A.; Bresolin, N.; Scarpini, E. Intrathecal Chemokine Synthesis in Mild Cognitive
 Impairment and Alzheimer Disease. *Arch Neurol* 2006, *63* (4), 538–543.
 https://doi.org/10.1001/ARCHNEUR.63.4.538.
- (293) McLarnon, J. G. Chemokine Interleukin-8 (IL-8) in Alzheimer's and Other Neurodegenerative Diseases. **2016**. https://doi.org/10.4172/2161-0460.1000273.
- (294) Aratani, Y. Myeloperoxidase: Its Role for Host Defense, Inflammation, and Neutrophil Function. *Arch Biochem Biophys* **2018**, *640*, 47–52. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ABB.2018.01.004.

- (295) Khalil, M.; Pirpamer, L.; Hofer, E.; Voortman, M. M.; Barro, C.; Leppert, D.; Benkert, P.; Ropele, S.; Enzinger, C.; Fazekas, F.; Schmidt, R.; Kuhle, J. Serum Neurofilament Light Levels in Normal Aging and Their Association with Morphologic Brain Changes. *Nature Communications 2020 11:1* 2020, *11* (1), 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-14612-6.
- (296) Sproston, N. R.; Ashworth, J. J. Role of C-Reactive Protein at Sites of Inflammation and Infection. *Front Immunol* **2018**, *9* (APR), 754. https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2018.00754.
- (297) Ansar, W.; Ghosh, S. Inflammation and Inflammatory Diseases, Markers, and Mediators: Role of CRP in Some Inflammatory Diseases. *Biology of C Reactive Protein in Health and Disease* **2016**, 67. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-81-322-2680-2_4.
- (298) Del Giudice, M.; Gangestad, S. W. Rethinking IL-6 and CRP: Why They Are More than Inflammatory Biomarkers, and Why It Matters. *Brain Behav Immun* **2018**, *70*, 61–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBI.2018.02.013.
- (299) Kang, S.; Kishimoto, T. Interplay between Interleukin-6 Signaling and the Vascular Endothelium in Cytokine Storms. *Experimental & Molecular Medicine 2021 53:7* **2021**, *53* (7), 1116–1123. https://doi.org/10.1038/s12276-021-00649-0.
- (300) Fjell, A. M.; McEvoy, L.; Holland, D.; Dale, A. M.; Walhovd, K. B. What Is Normal in Normal Aging? Effects of Aging, Amyloid and Alzheimer's Disease on the Cerebral Cortex and the Hippocampus. *Prog Neurobiol* **2014**, *117*, 20–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.PNEUROBIO.2014.02.004.
- (301) Saha, P.; Sarkar, S.; Paidi, R. K.; Biswas, S. C. TIMP-1: A Key Cytokine Released from Activated Astrocytes Protects Neurons and Ameliorates Cognitive Behaviours in a Rodent Model of Alzheimer's Disease. *Brain Behav Immun* 2020, *87*, 804–819. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BBI.2020.03.014.
- (302) Ries, C. Cytokine Functions of TIMP-1. *Cellular and Molecular Life Sciences* **2014**, *71* (4), 659–672. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00018-013-1457-3.
- (303) Liu, L.; Yang, S.; Lin, K.; Yu, X.; Meng, J.; Ma, C.; Wu, Z.; Hao, Y.; Chen, N.; Ge, Q.; Gao, W.; Wang, X.; Lam, E. W. F.; Zhang, L.; Li, F.; Jin, B.; Jin, D. Sp1 Induced Gene TIMP1 Is Related to Immune Cell Infiltration in Glioblastoma. *Scientific Reports 2022 12:1* 2022, *12* (1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-022-14751-4.
- (304) Ferrari-Souza, J. P.; Ferreira, P. C. L.; Bellaver, B.; Tissot, C.; Wang, Y. T.; Leffa, D. T.; Brum, W. S.; Benedet, A. L.; Ashton, N. J.; De Bastiani, M. A.; Rocha, A.; Therriault, J.; Lussier, F. Z.; Chamoun, M.; Servaes, S.; Bezgin, G.; Kang, M. S.; Stevenson, J.; Rahmouni, N.; Pallen, V.; Poltronetti, N. M.; Klunk, W. E.; Tudorascu, D. L.; Cohen, A. D.; Villemagne, V. L.; Gauthier, S.; Blennow, K.; Zetterberg, H.; Souza, D. O.; Karikari, T. K.; Zimmer, E. R.; Rosa-Neto, P.; Pascoal, T. A. Astrocyte Biomarker Signatures of Amyloid-β and Tau Pathologies in Alzheimer's Disease. *Molecular Psychiatry 2022 27:11* 2022, *27* (11), 4781–4789. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-022-01716-2.
- (305) Frost, G. R.; Li, Y. M. The Role of Astrocytes in Amyloid Production and Alzheimer's Disease. *Open Biol* **2017**, *7* (12). https://doi.org/10.1098/RSOB.170228.
- (306) Takahashi, K.; Rochford, C. D. P.; Neumann, H. Clearance of Apoptotic Neurons without Inflammation by Microglial Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid Cells-2. *J Exp Med* 2005, 201 (4), 647–657. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.20041611.

- (307) Wang, Y.; Cao, C.; Zhu, Y.; Fan, H.; Liu, Q.; Liu, Y.; Chen, K.; Wu, Y.; Liang, S.; Li, M.; Li, L.; Liu, X.; Zhang, Y.; Wu, C.; Lu, G.; Wu, M. TREM2/β-Catenin Attenuates NLRP3 Inflammasome-Mediated Macrophage Pyroptosis to Promote Bacterial Clearance of Pyogenic Bacteria. *Cell Death & Disease 2022 13:9* 2022, *13* (9), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41419-022-05193-x.
- (308) Ulland, T. K.; Colonna, M. TREM2 a Key Player in Microglial Biology and Alzheimer Disease. Nature Reviews Neurology 2018 14:11 2018, 14 (11), 667–675. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41582-018-0072-1.
- (309) Reinicke, A. T.; Laban, K.; Sachs, M.; Kraus, V.; Walden, M.; Damme, M.; Sachs, W.; Reichelt, J.; Schweizer, M.; Janiesch, P. C.; Duncan, K. E.; Saftig, P.; Rinschen, M. M.; Morellini, F.; Meyer-Schwesinger, C. Ubiquitin C-Terminal Hydrolase L1 (UCH-L1) Loss Causes Neurodegeneration by Altering Protein Turnover in the First Postnatal Weeks. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **2019**, *116* (16), 7963–7972. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1812413116.
- (310) Stukas, S.; Gill, J.; Cooper, J.; Belanger, L.; Ritchie, L.; Tsang, A.; Dong, K.; Streijger, F.; Street, J.; Paquette, S.; Ailon, T.; Dea, N.; Charest-Morin, R.; Fisher, C. G.; Dhall, S.; Mac-Thiong, J. M.; Wilson, J. R.; Bailey, C.; Christie, S.; Dvorak, M. F.; Wellington, C.; Kwon, B. K. Characterization of Cerebrospinal Fluid Ubiquitin C-Terminal Hydrolase L1 as a Biomarker of Human Acute Traumatic Spinal Cord Injury. *J Neurotrauma* 2021, *38* (15), 2055–2064. https://doi.org/10.1089/NEU.2020.7352.
- (311) Kim, G.-Y.; Lee, J.-W.; Ryu, H.-C.; Wei, J.-D.; Seong, C.-M.; Kim, J.-H. Proinflammatory Cytokine IL-1β Stimulates IL-8 Synthesis in Mast Cells via a Leukotriene B4 Receptor 2-Linked Pathway, Contributing to Angiogenesis. *The Journal of Immunology* **2010**, *184* (7), 3946–3954. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.0901735.
- (312) *Hypertension*. https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hypertension (accessed 2023-10-10).
- (313) Tanase, D. M.; Gosav, E. M.; Radu, S.; Ouatu, A.; Rezus, C.; Ciocoiu, M.; Costea, C. F.; Floria, M. Arterial Hypertension and Interleukins: Potential Therapeutic Target or Future Diagnostic Marker? Int J Hypertens 2019, 2019. https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/3159283.
- (314) Weber, A.; Mak, S. H.; Berenbaum, F.; Sellam, J.; Zheng, Y. P.; Han, Y.; Wen, C. Association between Osteoarthritis and Increased Risk of Dementia: A Systemic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Medicine* **2019**, *98* (10). https://doi.org/10.1097/MD.000000000014355.
- (315) Du, J.; Li, A.; Shi, D.; Chen, X.; Wang, Q.; Liu, Z.; Sun, K.; Guo, T.; Initiative, for the A. D. N. Association of APOE-E4, Osteoarthritis, β-Amyloid, and Tau Accumulation in Primary Motor and Somatosensory Regions in Alzheimer Disease. *Neurology* **2023**, *101* (1), e40–e49. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.00000000207369.
- (316) Whitlock, E. L.; Diaz-Ramirez, L. G.; Glymour, M. M.; Boscardin, W. J.; Covinsky, K. E.; Smith, A. K. Association Between Persistent Pain and Memory Decline and Dementia in a Longitudinal Cohort of Elders. JAMA Intern Med 2017, 177 (8), 1146. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMAINTERNMED.2017.1622.
- (317) Ikram, M.; Innes, K.; Sambamoorthi, U. Association of Osteoarthritis and Pain with Alzheimer's Diseases and Related Dementias among Older Adults in the United States. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2019, 27 (10), 1470. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JOCA.2019.05.021.

- (318) Gkanatsiou, E.; Nilsson, J.; Toomey, C. E.; Vrillon, A.; Kvartsberg, H.; Portelius, E.; Zetterberg, H.;
 Blennow, K.; Brinkmalm, A.; Lashley, T.; Brinkmalm, G. Amyloid Pathology and Synaptic Loss in
 Pathological Aging. J Neurochem 2021, 159 (2), 258–272. https://doi.org/10.1111/JNC.15487.
- (319) Franzmeier, N.; Rubinski, A.; Neitzel, J.; Kim, Y.; Damm, A.; Na, D. L.; Kim, H. J.; Lyoo, C. H.; Cho, H.; Finsterwalder, S.; Duering, M.; Seo, S. W.; Ewers, M. Functional Connectivity Associated with Tau Levels in Ageing, Alzheimer's, and Small Vessel Disease. *Brain* **2019**, *142* (4), 1093. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWZ026.
- (320) Lowe, V. J.; Wiste, H. J.; Senjem, M. L.; Weigand, S. D.; Therneau, T. M.; Boeve, B. F.; Josephs, K. A.; Fang, P.; Pandey, M. K.; Murray, M. E.; Kantarci, K.; Jones, D. T.; Vemuri, P.; Graff-Radford, J.; Schwarz, C. G.; Machulda, M. M.; Mielke, M. M.; Roberts, R. O.; Knopman, D. S.; Petersen, R. C.; Jack, C. R. Widespread Brain Tau and Its Association with Ageing, Braak Stage and Alzheimer's Dementia. *Brain* 2018, 141 (1), 271. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWX320.
- (321) Juan, S. M. A.; Adlard, P. A. Ageing and Cognition. *Subcell Biochem* **2019**, *91*, 107–122. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-3681-2_5.
- (322) Pearle, A. D.; Scanzello, C. R.; George, S.; Mandl, L. A.; DiCarlo, E. F.; Peterson, M.; Sculco, T. P.; Crow, M. K. Elevated High-Sensitivity C-Reactive Protein Levels Are Associated with Local Inflammatory Findings in Patients with Osteoarthritis. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage* 2007, 15 (5), 516– 523. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JOCA.2006.10.010.
- (323) Goldring, M. B.; Otero, M. Inflammation in Osteoarthritis. *Curr Opin Rheumatol* **2011**, *23* (5), 471. https://doi.org/10.1097/BOR.0B013E328349C2B1.
- (324) Le Maitre, C. L.; Hoyland, J. A.; Freemont, A. J. Catabolic Cytokine Expression in Degenerate and Herniated Human Intervertebral Discs: IL-1β and TNFα Expression Profile. *Arthritis Res Ther* **2007**, 9 (4), R77. https://doi.org/10.1186/AR2275.
- (325) Babić Leko, M.; Nikolac Perković, M.; Klepac, N.; Štrac, D. Š.; Borovečki, F.; Pivac, N.; Hof, P. R.;
 Šimić, G. IL-1β, IL-6, IL-10, and TNFα Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms in Human Influence the Susceptibility to Alzheimer's Disease Pathology. *J Alzheimers Dis* 2020, 75 (3), 1029–1047. https://doi.org/10.3233/JAD-200056.
- (326) Park, J. K.; Lee, K. J.; Kim, J. Y.; Kim, H. The Association of Blood-Based Inflammatory Factors IL-1β, TGF-β and CRP with Cognitive Function in Alzheimer's Disease and Mild Cognitive Impairment. *Psychiatry Investig* **2021**, *18* (1), 11–18. https://doi.org/10.30773/PI.2020.0205.
- (327) Ren, K.; Torres, R. Role of Interleukin-1β during Pain and Inflammation. *Brain Res Rev* 2009, 60 (1), 57. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BRAINRESREV.2008.12.020.
- (328) Meier-Stephenson, F. S.; Meier-Stephenson, V. C.; Carter, M. D.; Meek, A. R.; Wang, Y.; Pan, L.; Chen, Q.; Jacobo, S.; Wu, F.; Lu, E.; Simms, G. A.; Fisher, L.; McGrath, A. J.; Fermo, V.; Barden, C. J.; Clair, H. D. S.; Galloway, T. N.; Yadav, A.; Campágna-Slater, V.; Hadden, M.; Reed, M.; Taylor, M.; Kelly, B.; Diez-Cecilia, E.; Kolaj, I.; Santos, C.; Liyanage, I.; Sweeting, B.; Stafford, P.; Boudreau, R.; Reid, G. A.; Noyce, R. S.; Stevens, L.; Staniszewski, A.; Zhang, H.; Murty, M. R. V. S.; Lemaire, P.; Chardonnet, S.; Richardson, C. D.; Gabelica, V.; DePauw, E.; Brown, R.; Darvesh, S.; Arancio, O.; Weaver, D. F. Alzheimer's Disease as an Autoimmune Disorder of Innate Immunity Endogenously Modulated by Tryptophan Metabolites. *Alzheimer's & Dementia : Translational Research & Clinical Interventions* 2022, 8 (1). https://doi.org/10.1002/TRC2.12283.

- (329) Weaver, D. F.; Donald Weaver, C. F. Alzheimer's Disease as an Innate Autoimmune Disease (AD2): A New Molecular Paradigm. *Alzheimer's & Dementia* 2023, *19* (3), 1086–1098. https://doi.org/10.1002/ALZ.12789.
- (330) Eder, C. Mechanisms of Interleukin-1β Release. *Immunobiology* **2009**, *214* (7), 543–553. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IMBIO.2008.11.007.
- (331) Tsai, S. J. Effects of Interleukin-1beta Polymorphisms on Brain Function and Behavior in Healthy and Psychiatric Disease Conditions. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* **2017**, *37*, 89–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CYTOGFR.2017.06.001.
- (332) Clark, J. A.; Peterson, T. C. Cytokine Production and Aging: Overproduction of IL-8 in Elderly Males in Response to Lipopolysaccharide. *Mech Ageing Dev* 1994, 77 (2), 127–139. https://doi.org/10.1016/0047-6374(94)90020-5.
- (333) Chakraborty, S.; Tabrizi, Z.; Bhatt, N. N.; Franciosa, S. A.; Bracko, O. A Brief Overview of Neutrophils in Neurological Diseases. *Biomolecules* 2023, 13 (5). https://doi.org/10.3390/BIOM13050743.
- (334) Asby, D.; Boche, D.; Allan, S.; Love, S.; Miners, J. S. Systemic Infection Exacerbates Cerebrovascular Dysfunction in Alzheimer's Disease. *Brain* 2021, 144 (6), 1869. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWAB094.
- (335) Tubi, M. A.; Feingold, F. W.; Kothapalli, D.; Hare, E. T.; King, K. S.; Thompson, P. M.; Braskie, M. N. White Matter Hyperintensities and Their Relationship to Cognition: Effects of Segmentation Algorithm. *Neuroimage* 2020, 206, 116327. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROIMAGE.2019.116327.
- (336) Prins, N. D.; Scheltens, P. White Matter Hyperintensities, Cognitive Impairment and Dementia: An Update. *Nat Rev Neurol* **2015**, *11* (3), 157–165. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRNEUROL.2015.10.
- (337) Graff-Radford, J.; Arenaza-Urquijo, E. M.; Knopman, D. S.; Schwarz, C. G.; Brown, R. D.; Rabinstein, A. A.; Gunter, J. L.; Senjem, M. L.; Przybelski, S. A.; Lesnick, T.; Ward, C.; Mielke, M. M.; Lowe, V. J.; Petersen, R. C.; Kremers, W. K.; Kantarci, K.; Jack, C. R.; Vemuri, P. White Matter Hyperintensities: Relationship to Amyloid and Tau Burden. *Brain* 2019, *142* (8), 2483. https://doi.org/10.1093/BRAIN/AWZ162.
- (338) Weaver, N. A.; Doeven, T.; Barkhof, F.; Biesbroek, J. M.; Groeneveld, O. N.; Kuijf, H. J.; Prins, N. D.; Scheltens, P.; Teunissen, C. E.; van der Flier, W. M.; Biessels, G. J. Cerebral Amyloid Burden Is Associated with White Matter Hyperintensity Location in Specific Posterior White Matter Regions. *Neurobiol Aging* **2019**, *84*, 225–234. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.NEUROBIOLAGING.2019.08.001.
- (339) Waugh, D. J. J.; Wilson, C. The Interleukin-8 Pathway in Cancer. *Clin Cancer Res* **2008**, *14* (21), 6735–6741. https://doi.org/10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-07-4843.
- (340) Vagnucci, A. H.; Li, W. W. Alzheimer's Disease and Angiogenesis. *Lancet* **2003**, *361* (9357), 605–608. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(03)12521-4.
- (341) Zhang, Y.; Bander, E. D.; Lee, Y.; Muoser, C.; Schaffer, C. B.; Nishimura, N. Microvessel Occlusions Alter Amyloid-Beta Plaque Morphology in a Mouse Model of Alzheimer's Disease. *Journal of Cerebral Blood Flow & Metabolism* **2020**, *40* (10), 2115. https://doi.org/10.1177/0271678X19889092.

- (342) Xie, B.; Shi, X.; Xing, Y.; Tang, Y. Association between Atherosclerosis and Alzheimer's Disease: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. *Brain Behav* 2020, 10 (4). https://doi.org/10.1002/BRB3.1601.
- (343) Takata, F.; Nakagawa, S.; Matsumoto, J.; Dohgu, S. Blood-Brain Barrier Dysfunction Amplifies the Development of Neuroinflammation: Understanding of Cellular Events in Brain Microvascular Endothelial Cells for Prevention and Treatment of BBB Dysfunction. *Front Cell Neurosci* 2021, 15. https://doi.org/10.3389/FNCEL.2021.661838.
- (344) Keaney, J.; Campbell, M. The Dynamic Blood–Brain Barrier. *FEBS J* **2015**, *282* (21), 4067–4079. https://doi.org/10.1111/FEBS.13412.
- (345) Linnerbauer, M.; Rothhammer, V. Protective Functions of Reactive Astrocytes Following Central Nervous System Insult. *Front Immunol* **2020**, *11*. https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2020.573256.
- (346) Kwon, H. S.; Koh, S. H. Neuroinflammation in Neurodegenerative Disorders: The Roles of Microglia and Astrocytes. *Translational Neurodegeneration 2020 9:1* **2020**, *9* (1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40035-020-00221-2.

Inflammasome and innate immunity biomarkers in patients affected by Mild cognitive impairment due to Alzheimer's disease.

Abstract

This work project is a focus study centred on the inflammatory response implication in Alzheimer's disease (AD) development at an early disease onset. The primary objective was to investigate the inflammatory signature in pre-demented subject suffering from mild cognitive impairment (MCI). To do so, soluble inflammatory biomarkers were measured in the serum and cerebrospinal fluid of three different populations using different quantitative immunoassays along with one semi-quantitative profiling method. Then, in-group comparisons and correlations between biomarkers were performed with statistical analyses. Results confirmed that MCI due to AD patients presented a higher inflammatory status compared to a healthy population. Additionally, data suggested that two inflammatory responses are occurring at the beginning of the dementia, one in the systemic circulation and one in the central nervous system. Soluble biomarkers associated with astrogliosis (glial fibrillary acidic protein (GFAP), chitinase 3 like-1 (YKL-40)), microgliosis (soluble triggering receptor on myeloid cells 2 (sTREM-2)) and neurodegenerative processes (neurofilament light chain protein (NFL), total Tau protein (tTau)) were significantly increased in the cerebrospinal fluid of the MCI patients. In addition, systemic inflammatory biomarkers were increased in MCI patients serum as well compared to healthy controls, especially the IL-(Interleukin) 1 β and IL-8. As a secondary objective, focus was drawn on the role of IL-1 β and the inflammasome pathway, as MCI patients demonstrated higher blood IL-1β concentration. In addition, IL-8 confirmed the potential role and infiltration of monocytes and neutrophils in the brain. Overall, both biomarkers are important players of the innate immunity. Our results are encouraging evidence that inflammatory processes are activated in MCI patients, although they only give a snapshot of all processes involved at a given moment. This certainly reflects the heterogeneity and complexity associated with Alzheimer's disease continuum.

Keywords: Alzheimer's disease, Biomarkers, Mild Cognitive Impairment, Neuroinflammation.

Biomarqueurs de l'inflammasome et du système immunitaire inné chez les patients atteints d'un trouble cognitif léger dû à la maladie d'Alzheimer

Résumé

Contexte de la thèse

La maladie d'Alzheimer (MA) est une maladie neurodégénérative caractérisée par une perte progressive de la mémoire et de certaines fonctions cognitives. C'est la première cause de démence dans le monde et représente un défi majeur pour les autorités de santé dans les années à venir. En effet, l'âge grandissant de la population mondiale risque d'augmenter davantage le nombre de patients touchés par cette pathologie. A ce jour, 55 millions de personnes souffriraient de démence dans le monde d'après l'organisation mondiale de la santé (OMS). Chaque année, environ 10 millions de nouveaux cas sont diagnostiqués. D'après les estimations, 130 millions de personnes pourraient être concernées d'ici 2050. La démence constitue la septième cause de décès dans le monde et est l'une des principales causes d'invalidité et de dépendances chez les personnes âgées.

Aujourd'hui, la majorité des traitements disponibles sur le marché permettent de traiter uniquement les symptômes des patients. Ces traitements agissent principalement sur la mémoire et permettent de limiter et ralentir les symptômes associés aux troubles cognitifs. Au cours de ces dernières années, beaucoup d'études cliniques ont vu le jour, mais très peu ont réussi à démontrer un bénéfice-risque avantageux pour les patients. Récemment, deux traitements thérapeutiques ont été approuvés par la Food and Drug Administration (FDA), bien que leurs bénéfices soient limités. Le diagnostic de la MA à un stade précoce reste compliqué puisqu'elle est difficile à différencier des autres types de démences (démence vasculaire, démence à corps de Lewy ou maladie de Parkinson). Actuellement, le diagnostic clinique repose principalement sur des tests cognitifs. Dans certains cas, il est combiné à la mesure des biomarqueurs caractéristiques de la maladie, que sont les protéines bêtaamyloïdes (Aβ)42 et les protéines Tau présentes dans le cerveau. Elles peuvent être mesurées dans le liquide céphalo-rachidien (LCR) ou par imagerie médicale et notamment tomographie par émission de positons (TEP ou PET scan en anglais). Pourtant le lien entre ces biomarqueurs et la progression de la maladie reste encore incertain et plusieurs études remettent en question le rôle central des amyloïdes dans la MA.

Les patients sont souvent diagnostiqués lorsque les symptômes apparaissent et les affectent modérément voire sévèrement. Par conséquent, il est encore nécessaire de mieux comprendre tous les mécanismes qui sont impliqués dans la neuropathologie de la MA, surtout à un stade précoce. Ceci permettrait d'améliorer le diagnostic et la prise en charge des patients et de leurs proches.

En fait, bien que certains facteurs, notamment les protéines amyloïdes et Tau, soient connus, leur lien avec le déclin cognitif n'est pas encore complètement compris. De nombreuses études ont montré que d'autres facteurs de la MA tel que l'inflammation ont un impact majeur sur son développement. L'inflammation peut être générée dans le système périphérique ou dans le système nerveux central. Dans la MA, ces inflammations pourraient avoir un impact important à un stade précoce (pré-démentiel), aussi appelé déficit cognitif léger ou trouble cognitif léger (TCL), et contribuer au développement de la neuropathologie. Par conséquent, les biomarqueurs inflammatoires solubles, tels que les chimiokines et cytokines pourraient être utilisées dans le diagnostic ou le pronostic de la MA à un stade pré-démentiel. Certains biomarqueurs spécifiques sécrétés par des cellules comme les astrocytes ou la microglie permettraient l'identification de la neuro-dégénération ou des dommages neuronaux. De plus, ils pourraient répondre aux besoins de nouvelles stratégies thérapeutiques nécessaires dans le but de ralentir, réduire ou stopper la MA.

Le travail de cette thèse repose sur l'étude de biomarqueurs de la réponse inflammatoire périphérique et centrale, et leurs rôles dans la progression de la MA, tout particulièrement à un stade précoce de la maladie, comme le TCL. L'objectif principal était d'identifier une signature protéique inflammatoire chez des patients atteints d'un trouble cognitif léger. Pour ce faire, différents biomarqueurs solubles inflammatoires ont été mesurés dans du sérum et dans du liquide céphalo-rachidien dans trois populations différentes. La première population était constituée d'individus avec un trouble cognitif léger, la seconde de patients sans trouble cognitif mais souffrant d'arthrose et enfin la troisième population était composée de contrôles sains. Les concentrations des différents biomarqueurs sélectionnés ont été mesurées par différents tests immunologiques. Ces tests pouvant analyser simultanément un à neufs biomarqueurs maximums. Une méthode semi-quantitative (pas de gamme d'étalonnage) permettant d'analyser simultanément quatre-vingt-douze protéines a aussi été testée. Les mesures obtenues ont été comparées à l'aide de tests statistiques entre les groupes, puis en testant les corrélations entre les biomarqueurs.

La Covid-19 et le conflit en Ukraine ont fortement retardé la collecte et l'envoi des échantillons avec TCL, qui ont été reçus en deux fois avec dix-huit mois d'écart. Par conséquent, les analyses ont été faites en deux parties. Nous avons donc divisé les résultats de la thèse en trois parties distinctes. La première partie, qui contient les résultats obtenus avec un peu moins de la moitié de la population totale d'individus avec TCL (trente-deux sur soixante-quinze), a été publié dans un article intitulé « Central and Peripheral Inflammation in Mild Cognitive Impairment in the Context of Alzheimer's Disease » dans International Journal of Molecular Sciences. Ces résultats suggèrent qu'une réponse inflammatoire a bien lieu dans le système périphérique et le système nerveux central chez les patients au stade pré démentiel. De plus, ces résultats ont permis de confirmer que les biomarqueurs mesurés dans le LCR, NFL (pour Chaîne légère des neurofilaments), GFAP (protéine acide fibrillaire gliale), OPN (Ostéopontine), sTREM-2 (soluble Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid cells 2) étaient spécifiquement élevés dans le TCL. Dans le sérum, les résultats ont mis en évidence une augmentation spécifique des biomarqueurs de l'inflammasome, tels que l'ASC (apoptosis-associated Speck-like protein containing a caspase recruitment domain) et la Caspase-1, qui conduit à une augmentation de la production d'IL-1 β par rapport à la population contrôle. Dans la population de patients atteints d'arthrose, qui ont un profil inflammatoire systémique très élevé (CRP (protéine C-réactive) et IL (interleukine)-6 quatre fois plus élevées que les patients atteints d'un TCL), les biomarqueurs de l'inflammasome étaient comparables à ceux des patients avec un TCL.

Dans une deuxième partie, le deuxième lot d'échantillons (quarante-trois sur soixantequinze) a été reçu et analysé. Les résultats obtenus ont permis de vérifier que l'ensemble des patients avec un TCL (soixante-quinze) présentaient les mêmes profils caractéristiques de la MA (Aβ42, pTau (protéine Tau phosphorylée) et tTau (totale des protéines Tau). Néanmoins, pour certains biomarqueurs (ASC, CRP, sTREM-2) des différences significatives ont été constatées entre les deux lots. Ces différences montrent une hétérogénéité du profil inflammatoire chez les patients souffrant d'un TCL, qui suggère plusieurs étapes de l'inflammation dans la progression du stade précoce. En effet, le TCL est une phase de transition entre le stade asymptomatique et la progression de la MA qui peut être assez longue dans le temps, et durer entre six et quinze ans.

Dans une troisième partie, les deux lots de patients souffrant d'un TCL ont été combinés ensemble afin de les comparer statistiquement avec les deux autres populations. Les résultats obtenus confirment certains des résultats observés dans les deux premières parties (IL-8, IP-10 (Interferon gamma-induced protein 10), OPN, YKL-40 (Chitinase 3-like-1)). Néanmoins, en vérifiant la corrélation entre les biomarqueurs de l'inflammasome et l'IL-1 β , les résultats de la première partie n'ont pas pu être reproduits. En effet, bien que ces biomarqueurs étaient plus élevés dans la population avec un TCL, et que la voie de l'inflammasome restait activée par rapport aux contrôles sains, il n'y avait plus de corrélation significative avec l'IL-1 β . L'IL-1 β est un biomarqueur central de la réponse du système immunitaire inné, et est produit par de nombreuses cellules (monocytes, cellules dendritiques, macrophages) impliquées dans différentes voies métaboliques. Par conséquent, nos résultats suggèrent que sa production n'est pas uniquement liée à la cascade de l'inflammasome.

En parallèle, deux interleukines, l'IL-1β et l'IL-8, se sont particulièrement démarquées, dans l'ensemble des échantillons sériques. La corrélation statistique observée dans la première partie (avec trente-deux échantillons) a été confirmée avec l'ensemble des échantillons de la population avec un TCL. Ces deux biomarqueurs sont impliqués dans des voies biologiques

192

spécifiques du système immunitaire inné, et ont été décrites dans les maladies neurodégénératives. Afin de mieux comprendre l'origine cellulaire de cette corrélation, un autre biomarqueur des neutrophiles (la MPO pour myélopéroxydase) a été testé. L'absence de corrélation entre l'IL-8 et la MPO suggère que la production de l'IL-8 n'est pas due uniquement aux neutrophiles. L'ensemble de nos résultats suggèrent un rôle primordial de l'ensemble du système immunitaire inné dans le TCL, démontré par la corrélation entre l'IL-1β et l'IL-8. Finalement, ce travail soutient que la mesure de biomarqueurs inflammatoires solubles pourrait venir en aide au diagnostic et pronostic de la MA en combinaison de biomarqueurs déjà connus.

Matériel et méthode

Les échantillons utilisés pour analyser les trois populations proviennent tous de fournisseurs commerciaux. Une collecte prospective a été menée par National Bioservice LLC (Saint-Pétersbourg, Russie) pour les échantillons de patients avec un TCL, qui seront appelés MCI par la suite (pour Mild Cognitive Impairment), et les échantillons de contrôle sans troubles cognitifs ou NCI pour Non-impaired Control. Enfin la dernière population ne comportant que des échantillons sanguins de patients sains, appelés HC pour Healthy Control proviennent d'un autre fournisseur, Bioreclamation IVT LLC (BIOIVT, Westbury, NY, Etats-Unis).

Plusieurs critères d'inclusion ont été établis afin de sélectionner les sujets des différentes populations. Pour les patients de la population MCI, ils devaient avoir un score entre 20 et 30 au test MMSE (pour Mini-Mental State Examination) ou test de Folstein. Ce test permet d'évaluer les capacités cognitives et mnésiques des patients et de dépister la présence de démence comme la MA. Il est composé d'une trentaine de questions et est dispensé par un médecin lors d'un entretien avec le patient. A l'issu du test, le patient est noté sur un score de 30 points. Lorsque le score est inférieur à 24, une altération marquée des fonctions cognitives est constatée. En plus, les patients MCI devaient être âgés de plus de 45 ans et moins de 90 ans. Afin de confirmer la présence d'un TCL ou d'un stade pré-démentiel, le fournisseur devait mesurer certains biomarqueurs caractéristiques de la MA comme l'Aβ40,

l'Aβ42, le total Tau et la protéine Tau phosphorylée. Ces patients devaient avoir un diagnostic confirmé d'un stade prodromal ou un stade léger de démence lié à la maladie d'Alzheimer selon les critères de la NIA-AA (pour National Institute of Aging – Alzheimer's Association).

Les patients de la population NIC, devaient quant à eux avoir un MMSE score supérieur ou égal à 29 pour être inclus. Ils devaient être âgés de plus de 55 ans afin de correspondre le plus possible à la population MCI. Comme critère d'exclusion, les patients ne devaient souffrir d'aucunes maladies neurodégénératives chroniques. Le prélèvement du LCR, réalisé par ponction lombaire, est invasif et considéré comme un acte chirurgical. Pour cette raison, le LCR ne peut pas être prélevé sur des sujets sains. Sa collecte est donc limitée aux personnes souffrant d'un trouble pathologique ou atteints d'une maladie. Dans notre cas, les patients NIC ont pu être prélevés dans le cadre d'une suspicion de traumatisme crânien. En prime, ces patients souffraient d'ostoéarthrite, celle-ci était caractérisée pour une majorité d'une arthrose du genou et d'une hernie discale pour le reste de la population.

Enfin, pour la dernière population constituée de patients sains (Healthy Control ou HC), les individus ne devaient pas souffrir de maladies chroniques et être âgés d'au moins 50 ans. Pour cette population, nous avons donc seulement eu accès aux échantillons sanguins et non à ceux de LCR.

Pour les trois populations, certaines informations supplémentaires ont été réunies par les fournisseurs, telles que la date de collecte, l'âge, le sexe, l'ethnie, les éventuels traitements et les maladies concomitantes des patients.

Ensuite, les biomarqueurs ont d'abord été mesurés de manière quantitative par des immunoessais à l'aide de kits commerciaux. Les immunoessais sont des tests biochimiques qui permettent de mesurer la concentration d'une protéine d'intérêt grâce à l'utilisation d'anticorps spécifiques. Souvent, l'analyte d'intérêt est d'abord fixé par un premier anticorps, dit de capture, sur lequel on dépose l'échantillon ou la gamme étalon. Un second anticorps, dit de détection, va ensuite être incubé après les échantillons et les standards pour se fixer lui-aussi à l'analyte d'intérêt. Cet anticorps est généralement couplé à un ligand chimique ou

une enzyme. Chaque étape d'incubation est séparée par une phase de lavage qui permet de retirer ce qui ne s'est pas lié aux anticorps de façon spécifique. Le substrat de l'enzyme est ensuite ajouté et la réaction permet la formation d'un produit dont le signal est mesurable. Par exemple, la réaction peut être colorimétrique et il sera alors possible de lire l'absorbance par spectrophotométrie. Lors de chaque essai, une gamme étalon est réalisée grâce à une protéine recombinante, elle va permettre de déterminer la relation entre le signal mesuré et la concentration de la protéine d'intérêt. Les nouveaux marqueurs couplés aux anticorps ont beaucoup évolué ces dernières années et ont permis d'améliorer la sensibilité des immunoessais. C'est notamment le cas pour l'IL-1 β , IL-2 et l'IL-4 qui jusqu'à peu n'étaient pas ou très peu quantifiables à cause de leur faible concentration dans la plupart des biofluides. Grâce à ces nouveaux marqueurs, détectés par électro-chimiluminescence, il est maintenant possible de quantifier des protéines avec des concentrations autour de fg/ml. Un des objectifs de cette thèse était de tester ces nouveaux essais avec une meilleure sensibilité et d'évaluer leurs spécificités et reproductibilités.

De plus, une autre méthode semi-quantitative a aussi été testée. Cette méthode de profilage a été développée par Olink[®] Proteomics et permet la détection simultanée de 92 protéines différentes. La détection est basée sur une combinaison des méthodes immunitaires (en utilisant des anticorps pour détecter l'analyte d'Intérêt) et une amplification en chaîne par polymérase (PCR) grâce au marquage des anticorps par des oligonucléotides spécifiques. Cette technique permet d'analyser une large gamme de biomarqueurs avec très de peu de volume d'échantillon (1µl). Dans cette thèse, le panel inflammatoire Olink[®] a été testé.

Enfin, toutes les concentrations de biomarqueurs obtenues ont été comparées à l'aide de tests statistiques. D'abord, un test de Kolmogorov-Smirnov a été utilisé afin d'évaluer si les populations présentaient une distribution normale ou non. Comme la plupart des biomarqueurs ne suivaient pas une distribution normale, et pour rester homogène dans les analyses, toutes les corrélations ont été faites avec les mêmes tests. Les comparaisons entre deux populations ont été faites à l'aide du t-test de Mann-Withney. Ensuite, pour les trois

populations, nous avons utilisé le test de Kruskal-Wallis suivi d'une comparaison par un test de Dunn. Enfin, pour les biomarqueurs entre eux, un test de Spearman a été appliqué. Pour comparer les méthodes entre elles, nous avons utilisé une régression linéaire avec le même biomarqueur mesuré avec chaque méthode. Pour tous les tests statistiques utilisés, la pvaleur significative a été fixée à <0.05. Pour les corrélations avec le test de Spearman, en plus de la p-valeur, les résultats étaient considérés comme significatifs si la valeur de r était \ge 0.50 ou \le -0.50.

Première partie des résultats avec les échantillons des patients MCI reçus en décembre 2021

Comme évoqué précédemment, la Covid-19 ainsi que le conflit en Ukraine ont rendu la collecte des échantillons prospectifs plus difficile et retardé leur réception. Le total des échantillons de la population MCI a donc été reçu en deux lots distincts. Un premier lot a été reçu courant décembre 2021 et un second en avril 2023. Les deux autres populations n'ont pas été impactées. De ce fait, la plupart des analyses ont été faites sur le premier lot contenant trente-deux échantillons MCI seulement, sur les soixante-quinze attendus. Les résultats obtenus sur ce lot, et comparé avec les deux populations ont été publiés dans *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, dans un article intitulé « Central and Peripheral Inflammation in Mild Cognitive Impairment ».

Schmidt-Morgenroth, I., Michaud, P., Gasparini, F. & Avrameas, A. Central and Peripheral Inflammation in Mild Cognitive Impairment in the Context of Alzheimer's Disease. *Int J Mol Sci* **24**, 10523 (2023).

Dans un premier temps, nous avons comparé les biomarqueurs caractéristiques de la MA, les protéines amyloïdes β (A β) 42, le total des protéines Tau (tTau) et les protéines Tau phosphorylées (pTau) dans le LCR de la population NIC et de la population MCI. Etonnamment, la concentration moyenne d'A β 42 était plus faible dans la population sans démence (496.3pg/ml) comparée à la population avec un TCL (735.8 pg/ml). Pourtant, la formation d'agrégats extracellulaires de protéines amyloïdes dans le cerveau des patients atteints de MA fait partie de la neuropathologie de la maladie. De ce fait, plusieurs études

ont mis en avant une baisse du niveau d'Aβ42 solubles dans le LCR de patients souffrant de la MA. Cette baisse corrélerait avec l'augmentation des dépôts d'amyloïdes sous formes de plaques. Dans notre cas, les niveaux d'Aβ42 des deux populations correspondaient à une population avec un TCL. De même, les études ont mis en évidence une accumulation de protéines Tau phosphorylées, et la formation de dégénérescences neurofibrillaires (DNF) dans les neurones des patients atteints de MA. Ces DNF bloquent la bonne communication des neurones et sont responsables du phénomène de neurodégénérescence. En conséquence, une augmentation du niveau des protéines Tau phosphorylées et Tau total solubles ont été observés dans le LCR des patients avec la MA. Dans notre cas, il n'y avait pas de différences significatives pour les concentrations de tTau and pTau entre la population MCI et la population NIC.

Ensuite, nous nous sommes intéressés à certains biomarqueurs qui ont été mis en avant pour leur rôle dans le processus inflammatoire du système nerveux central (SNC). Par exemple, l'utilisation du NFL a été proposée comme biomarqueur de la neurodégénérescence dans le LCR et le sérum. Les cellules du cerveau ont aussi été étudiées pour leur rôle dans la réponse inflammatoire du cerveau, aussi appelée neuroinflammation. Les cellules du cerveau sont composées de deux types de cellules : les neurones et les cellules gliales. Les neurones sont organisés en réseau et vont permettre la transmission de l'information nerveuse par l'intermédiaire de synapses. Les cellules gliales sont quant à elles composées de trois types de cellule : les oligodendrocytes, les astrocytes et la microglie. Les oligodendrocytes forment la gaine de myéline qui entoure les axones des neurones. Cette gaine permet d'augmenter la vitesse de transmission de l'information nerveuse. Les astrocytes ont une fonction de support et contribuent à maintenir un environnement optimal pour les neurones. Ils participent à la régulation de la transmission synaptique et contribuent également à la formation de la barrière hémato-encéphalique, qui contrôle les échanges entre la circulation sanguine et le cerveau. Enfin, la microglie correspond aux macrophages résidents du cerveau et constitue la première défense immunitaire du cerveau. Dans les cas de la MA, les astrocytes et la microglie sont particulièrement intéressants puisqu'ils sont impliqués dans la réponse

197

inflammatoire et le bon fonctionnement des fibres nerveuses. Plusieurs études ont mis en évidence l'importance de l'activation de ces cellules (aussi appelé activation astrocytaire et activation microgliale) dans les processus inflammatoires de la MA et leur potentiel influence dans la progression de la pathologie. C'est l'activation prolongée de ces cellules qui pourraient aggraver certaines pathologies. Plusieurs biomarqueurs solubles ont ainsi été mis en évidence comme témoins de l'activation de ces cellules. Par exemple, la protéine acide fibrillaire gliale ou GFAP (Glial Fibrillary Acidic Protein), qui est un filament intermédiaire constitutif des astrocytes. Les astrocytes sont aussi impliqués dans la sécrétion de certaines protéines comme TIMP-1 (Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase) et YKL-40. Des niveaux élevés de GFAP et de YKL-40 ont été observés dans le LCR et le plasma de patients atteints d'un TCL ou de la MA. De même, le TREM-2 et l'ostéopontine (OPN) sont des protéines liées aux cellules microgliales et qui pourraient refléter leur activation dans le cerveau des patients souffrant de démence.

Dans le LCR, tous ces biomarqueurs solubles (GFAP, NFL, OPN, sTREM-2 et YKL-40) avaient une concentration plus élevée chez les patients de la population MCI comparés à ceux de la population NIC. Cette différence n'était pas significative pour la plupart, à cause de la grande hétérogénéité des patients MCI. En s'intéressant à ces mêmes biomarqueurs dans le sérum, seulement deux (la GFAP et le TIMP-1) étaient significativement plus élevés dans la population MCI comparés aux contrôles sains et aucuns n'étaient plus élevés comparés à la population NIC.

Enfin, nous nous sommes intéressés à des biomarqueurs moins spécifiques de certaines fonctions du CNS mais liés aux processus inflammatoires plus généralement. Par exemple, la CRP qui est très fréquemment mesurée dans le sang en laboratoire biologique, mais aussi l'IL-6 ou le TNFα (Tumor Necrosis Factor) qui sont des biomarqueurs connus du système immunitaire inné et parmi les premiers sécrétés en réponse immédiate contre un agent infectieux par exemple. Dans le sérum, quatre biomarqueurs, l'IL-10, l'IL-8, le MCP-1 (monocyte chemoattractant protein1) et le TNFα étaient significativement plus élevés dans la population MCI comparés aux contrôles sains. Seul l'IP-10 était significativement plus élevé dans la population MCI comparée à la population NIC. Etonnamment, la CRP et l'IL-6 étaient quatre et quatorze fois plus élevées respectivement chez les patients NIC comparés aux patient MCI. Ces protéines témoignent d'un profil inflammatoire très élevé dans la population atteinte d'arthrose. A l'inverse, dans le LCR, tous les biomarqueurs (dont la CRP et l'IL-6, ainsi que l'IL-8, l'IP-10 et le MCP-1) étaient plus élevés dans la population MCI.

Par ailleurs, un autre biomarqueur impliqué dans la réponse immunitaire innée, l'IL-1β était aussi plus élevé mais son hétérogénéité chez les patients MCI ne le rendait pas statistiquement significatif. Pour comprendre l'augmentation de l'IL-1β chez les individus MCI, nous nous sommes penchés sur la voie inflammatoire de l'inflammasome. L'inflammasome est un complexe protéique fonctionnel formé par oligomérisation d'un récepteur, le NLRP3 (Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain, leucine-rich repeat and pyrin domain-containing protein3), d'un adaptateur, l'ASC (pour apoptosis-associated Specklike protein containing a caspase recruitment domain) et d'un effecteur, la caspase-1. L'inflammasome est impliqué dans l'immunité inné où il est chargé de cliver les protéines pro-IL-1β et pro-IL-18 en leur forme pro-inflammatoire active, l'IL-1β et l'IL-18.

Nos résultats ont démontré une très forte corrélation entre les biomarqueurs du complexe (ASC et Capase-1) et l'IL-1β dans le sérum chez les patients MCI comparés aux deux autres populations, suggérant que cette voie biologique était spécifiquement activée dans le contexte de la MA. En revanche il n'y avait pas de corrélation entre les biomarqueurs de l'inflammasome et l'IL-18 dans cette population. La plupart des biomarqueurs n'étant pas quantifiables dans le LCR, nous n'avons pas pu tirer de conclusion dans cette matrice.

Finalement, les premiers résultats obtenus avec seulement trente-deux des patients de la population MCI ont permis de confirmer un profil inflammatoire sanguin élevé chez les individus MCI. Cependant, les biomarqueurs de l'inflammation dans le sang n'était pas spécifique à la MA, à l'exception de la voie métabolique de l'inflammasome qui semblait plus activée chez ces patients. De plus, tous les biomarqueurs étaient plus élevés dans le LCR de

199

la population MCI, ce qui semble indiquer que la neuroinflammation est plus spécifique pour discriminer ces patients. Enfin, il n'y avait pas de corrélations entre les biomarqueurs mesurés dans la périphérie (par le sérum) et ceux analysés dans le LCR. Ceci tend à démontrer que les deux réponses inflammatoires agissent de façon indépendante dans la population MCI.

Le premier lot d'échantillon a aussi permis de tester une technologie semi-quantitative de criblage protéomique grâce à la plateforme Olink[®]. Cette technique se base sur une méthode d'immunoessai, avec l'utilisation d'anticorps, couplée à une réaction en chaîne par polymérase quantitative (qPCR). La réaction de qPCR est en effet possible grâce au marquage des anticorps par des oligonucléotides. Deux kits du panel Inflammatoire de 92-plex ont été analysés avec plusieurs mois d'intervalle dans cette thèse. Sur le premier, trente échantillons de LCR, plasma et sérum de la population MCI ont été testés. Le deuxième kit contenait trente échantillons de LCR et sérum de la population NIC ainsi que trente sérums du groupe contrôle sains. Les signaux du kit contenant les échantillons MCI étaient globalement plus faibles comparés à l'autre plaque, surtout dans le LCR. Afin de pouvoir comparer les trois populations les unes avec les autres, les deux kits ont été normalisés ensemble. Idéalement, il aurait fallu aléatoiriser l'ensemble des échantillons sur les deux kits et les analyser le même jour. Cela aurait éviter d'introduire de la variabilité aux analyses. Comme certains biomarqueurs du panel (92 biomarqueurs) étaient communs à ceux mesurés par immunoessais quantitatifs, nous avons pu vérifier la spécificité du panel Olink[®]. Pour ce faire, nous avons testé les régressions linéaires des biomarqueurs communs. Dans le sérum, les six biomarqueurs communs (l'IL-10, l'IL-18, l'IFNy, l'IP-10 et le MCP-1) corrélaient entre les deux méthodes avec des R² allant de 0.64 à 0.79 pour l'IP-10. De même, toutes les *p*-valeurs des corrélations linéaires étaient significatives (p<0.0001). Dans le LCR, sur les quatre protéines comparables (l'IL-18, l'IL-8, l'IP-10 et le MCP-1) les corrélations étaient significatives (p<0.0001), pour l'IL-8, l'IP-10 et le MCP-1, et les valeurs de R^2 allaient de 0.61 à 0.77. Cependant, pour l'IL-18 seulement, la corrélation était plus faible, avec un R² de 0.31. Cela peut s'expliquer par le fait que moins d'échantillons étaient quantifiables avec Olink[®], ce qui a fortement réduit la taille de l'échantillon. En comparant les populations entre elles par des

tests de Kruskal-Wallis, les tendances étaient similaires à celles observées précédemment avec les méthodes d'immunoessais quantitatives. Ceci était particulièrement vrai dans le sérum, où certains biomarqueurs étaient significativement différents entre les différentes populations (l'IP-10 et le MCP-1). Dans le LCR, nous avons observé les mêmes tendances que précédemment entre les populations bien qu'aucunes des corrélations n'étaient statistiquement significatives. Encore une fois, ceci est probablement lié au fait que la taille des échantillons pour les deux populations était plus petite, car seulement trente patients NIC (contre quarante-cinq) et vingt-quatre LCR de patients MCI (contre trente-deux) ont été mesurés avec la plateforme Olink[®]. De plus, certains résultats obtenus dans le sérum ont confirmé ceux publiés par Whelan et al., utilisant le même panel sur des patients MCI Aβ positif et des sujets contrôles Aβ négatifs. Toutefois, ces résultats doivent être comparés prudemment puisque l'étude publiée est basée sur des échantillons de plasma et non de sérum. Enfin bien que nos résultats n'aient pas pu être exploités à leur plein potentiel, ils ont permis de mettre en évidence que la méthode proposée par Olink[®] Proteomics est un bon outil de profilage comparée aux immunoessais quantitatifs plus classiques.

Dans un dernier temps, ce premier lot de patients MCI a permis d'étudier l'impact de la matrice sanguine choisie sur la quantification des biomarqueurs. En effet, trois matrices ont été collectées pour ce premier lot, le LCR, le sérum et le plasma. Les biofluides sanguins sont déjà utilisés quotidiennement en laboratoire dans les routines de diagnostic, notamment pour mesurer les facteurs inflammatoires (CRP par exemple). Dans le cas du TCL et de la MA, la matrice la plus utilisée à ce jour reste le LCR, puisque ce fluide permet d'avoir un aperçu des médiateurs et protéines transitant dans le cerveau. Cependant, même si cette matrice est plus accessible et moins coûteuse que l'imagerie médicale, sa collecte reste un acte chirurgical invasif et douloureux pour les patients. Pour cette raison, l'utilisation de biomarqueurs sanguins est très intéressante dans le cadre du diagnostic de la MA. Plusieurs études ont déjà mis en avant certains médiateurs cellulaires dans le sang dans le cas de la MA. C'est notamment le cas du NFL et du GFAP, dont des concentrations élevées ont été observées spécifiquement chez des patients avec un TCL ou atteints de la MA. Ces médiateurs
sont assez pertinents puisqu'ils sont associés respectivement aux dommages neuronaux et à l'activation des astrocytes.

En ce qui concerne le compartiment sanguin, deux biofluides, le sérum et le plasma, peuvent dériver d'une prise de sang. Après leurs collectes, ils sont tous les deux séparés des cellules sanguines par centrifugation. La différence entre le sérum et le plasma réside dans la présence de coagulants. Le plasma contient des coagulants, comme les fibrinogènes, qui sont absents dans le sérum. De ce fait, il est nécessaire d'ajouter des anticoagulants dans le plasma afin qu'il ne coagule pas après la collecte. Il existe plusieurs anticoagulants différents, dont l'acide éthylènediaminetétraacétique (EDTA), utilisé dans notre étude. Les comparaisons des biomarqueurs dans le sérum et l'EDTA plasma ont permis de mettre en évidence que tous les médiateurs ne se comportaient pas de la même façon dans les deux matrices. Par exemple, l'IL-6 avait une corrélation quasi-parfaite entre les deux matrices (R² = 0.99) avec un ratio de concentration de 1:1, de même que la concentration totale de protéines Tau (R² = 0.87), avec cette fois un ratio de concentration de 1 :1,5 entre le plasma et le sérum respectivement. A l'inverse, certains biomarqueurs comme l'IL-8 et l'IL-1 β ne corrélaient pas entre les deux matrices. Par conséquent, ceci a permis de démontrer que le choix de la matrice sanguine est primordial selon le biomarqueur ciblé, et qu'il ne peut pas être interchangé au cours d'un essai clinique. Dans le cas de ce travail, le sérum a été sélectionné de manière arbitraire au début du projet.

Seconde partie des résultats : comparaison des deux lots d'échantillons de patients avec un TCL

Le deuxième lot d'échantillons MCI reçu en avril 2023 a été analysé afin de confirmer les premiers résultats avec un plus grand nombre d'échantillon. Ce deuxième lot était composé de quarante-trois échantillons de sérum et de LCR. Comme la collecte de ce lot s'est étalée sur une plus grande durée, (environ quinze mois entre les premiers et les derniers échantillons collectés du deuxième lot contre sept mois pour le premier lot), ils étaient plus

âgés au moment de l'analyse par rapport aux échantillons du premier lot. Pour cette raison, nous avons comparé les biomarqueurs sanguins et du LCR pour vérifier que les deux lots présentaient les mêmes profils inflammatoires. Dans un premier temps, en comparant les biomarqueurs caractéristiques de la MA (Aβ42, tTau and pTau), il n'y avait pas de différence entre les deux lots. Ceci confirme que ces biomarqueurs sont stables dans le temps dans le LCR et que l'ensemble de nos échantillons MCI avaient le même profil par rapport aux biomarqueurs de la MA. Dans le LCR, sur les treize biomarqueurs testés, quatre avaient des concentrations significativement plus élevées dans le second lot, l'ASC, la CRP, le TREM-2 soluble et l'UCH-L1 (Ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1). Pour le reste des biomarqueurs, dans le sérum, douze sur vingt-quatre, soit la moitié, présentaient une différence significative entre les deux lots. Neuf biomarqueurs étaient plus élevés dans les nouveaux échantillons, dont ceux de l'inflammasome (ASC, Caspase-1, IL-1ra) et certains de l'inflammation systémique (CRP, IL-6 TNFα). Nous avons constaté qu'il y avait plus d'échantillons avec des valeurs aberrantes dans ce nouveau lot, ce qui a eu pour effet de tirer la moyenne et la médiane vers le haut. Le reste des échantillons avaient les mêmes niveaux de concentrations entre les deux lots et des profils inflammatoires similaires. Le fait d'augmenter la taille de l'échantillon, bien que cela permette d'améliorer la fiabilité et le seuil de signification des résultats, peut aussi conduire à l'introduction de plus d'hétérogénéité comme c'est le cas chez les patients avec un TCL. Finalement, cela représente assez bien le fait que la phase entre le TCL et la MA soit assez hétérogène à cause de sa durée (entre six et quinze ans) et que les processus inflammatoires de chaque individu peuvent être à des stades différents, ce qui est reflété par la disparité des biomarqueurs solubles.

Troisième partie des résultats : analyse de l'ensemble des patients avec un TCL

Une fois que nous avons vérifié que les échantillons des deux lots de patients MCI appartenaient bien à la même population, nous les avons combinés ensemble afin de les comparer aux deux autres populations (NIC et HC). Les résultats finaux comprennent un total de cent cinquante individus, dont soixante-quinze patients MCI, quarante-cinq patients NIC

et enfin trente contrôles sains. En ce qui concerne les caractéristiques des populations, la moyenne d'âge était la plus élevée dans la population MCI (67 ans), puis dans la population NIC (64 ans) et enfin celle des contrôles sains était la moins élevée (59 ans). La différence d'âge était significative entre la population MCI et la population contrôle ainsi qu'entre la population NIC et la population contrôle. Cependant il n'y avait pas de différence significative d'âge entre la population MCI et NIC. Pour le sexe, 52% des participants étaient des femmes chez les patients MCI, contre 62% chez les patients NIC et 50% chez les contrôles sains. Il n'y avait pas de différences significatives entre les populations pour le sexe. Enfin, la plupart des patients MCI étaient atteints de maladies concomitantes, vingt-sept d'entre eux était atteints d'hypertension, vingt-sept de cardiopathie ischémique et deux de diabète de type 2. Dans la population NIC, tous les patients étaient atteints d'arthrose, dont trente-deux d'une gonarthrose et treize d'une hernie discale. Deux de ces patients souffraient en plus d'hypertension. En effet, l'âge est un facteur de risque pour un bon nombre de pathologie en plus de la MA.

Les résultats des biomarqueurs de la MA sont différents de ceux de la première partie. Les analyses ont été reconduites dans les deux populations à cause de la variabilité du même kit testés avec deux lots différents. En comparant les biomarqueurs de la MA, le taux d'Aβ42 dans le LCR était comparable dans les populations NIC et MCI (pas de LCR disponible pour la population de contrôles sains). En revanche, la concentration totale de Tau était significativement plus élevée dans la population MCI. Cependant, les concentrations de pTau181 étaient similaires dans le LCR entre les deux populations. En appliquant les valeurs limites décrites dans les populations avec un TCL et/ou la MA de certaines études (Aβ42 et le ratio pTau181/Aβ42), aucunes ne permettaient de discriminer la population MCI de la population NIC. Les deux correspondants à un stade avec un TCL. Ceci confirme que les biomarqueurs caractéristiques de la MA seuls ne permettent pas un diagnostic des patients avec un TCL.

Pour cette raison, et de la même manière qu'avec la première partie des résultats, nous nous sommes intéressés aux autres biomarqueurs de l'inflammation. Nous avons d'abord mesuré les biomarqueurs associés aux processus neurodégénératifs ou aux cellules neuronales et autres cellules du cerveau comme la microglie et les astrocytes. Dans le LCR, quatre biomarqueurs étaient significativement plus élevés dans la population MCI, dont la GFAP, le NFL, l'ostéopontine ainsi que le sTREM-2. Deux autres biomarqueurs, le TIMP-1 et la YKL-40 étaient aussi plus élevés dans cette population mais de manière non-significative, à cause notamment de l'hétérogénéité de la population MCI. Tous ces biomarqueurs témoignent de l'activation astrocytaire et microgliale (GFAP, sTREM-2, YKL-40) qui a lieu dans le cerveau. Ils sont aussi liés au phénomène de neurodégénérescence (NFL). Un seul biomarqueur, l'UCH-L1 était plus élevé dans la population NIC. Cette protéine est très abondante dans le cerveau et est essentielle au maintien de l'intégrité des axones des neurones. Son utilisation comme biomarqueur a donc aussi été proposée dans les maladies neurodégénératives. C'est aussi le cas dans le cadre de traumatismes crâniens. Dans notre cas, les patients NIC sont soupçonnés d'avoir subi un traumatisme crânien, ceci pourrait donc expliquer une augmentation de cette protéine dans le LCR. En comparant ces mêmes biomarqueurs dans le sérum, seul l'ostéopontine et la GFAP étaient significativement plus élevées entre les populations MCI et NIC. L'utilisation de la GFAP dans le plasma a été proposée comme biomarqueur dans le cadre d'un TCL et de la MA, car une augmentation de sa concentration a été observée chez ces patients. Nos résultats confirment cette utilisation chez les patients MCI. Le NFL était aussi plus élevé dans la population MCI comparée à la population NIC, mais non de manière significative. De plus, en comparant les concentrations de ces deux populations avec celles des contrôles sains, tous les biomarqueurs excepté le sTEM-2 étaient plus élevés. Encore une fois, cela a permis de confirmer l'activation des cellules du cerveau impliquées dans les voies inflammatoires du SNC chez les patients MCI. Il semblerait aussi que les biomarqueurs de l'inflammation soient plus spécifiques dans le LCR que les biomarqueurs inflammatoires transitant dans le système périphérique chez les patients MCI.

Ensuite, nous nous sommes concentrés sur les biomarqueurs de la réponse immunitaire innée et adaptative dans le sérum. Certains biomarqueurs ont été ajoutés par rapport à la première partie des résultats, par exemple l'IL-2, l'IL-4, l'IL-17a et l'IFN- (Interféron) y, qui sont des biomarqueurs plus spécifiques de la réponse du système immunitaire adaptatif. Dans le sérum, nos résultats additionnels ont permis de confirmer le profil inflammatoire élevé des patients NIC, avec une forte augmentation de la CRP, l'IL-6 et l'IL-10 qui restaient significativement plus élevées que dans la population MCI. A l'inverse, deux biomarqueurs, l'IL-1β et l'IL-8, étaient significativement plus élevés dans la population MCI comparée à la population NIC. Pour les autres biomarqueurs, tous exceptés la CRP, l'IL-6 et l'IP-10, avaient une concentration plus élevée dans la population MCI comparée aux contrôles sains. Toutes les différences n'étaient pas pour autant significatives à cause de la disparité des concentrations dans cette population. Ces résultats ont permis de mettre en évidence l'importance de la réponse inflammatoire chez les patients avec un TCL comparés à des patients sains. Ils ont aussi permis de comparer cette inflammation à celle d'une autre population inflammée. En effet, les patients avec ostéoarthrite démontraient un niveau de CRP et d'IL-6 particulièrement élevés. Finalement seulement deux biomarqueurs, l'IL-1ß et l'IL-8 se sont particulièrement démarqués dans le sérum des patients MCI.

En s'intéressant aux mêmes biomarqueurs dans le LCR, pour ceux qui étaient quantifiables, nous avons pu confirmer la tendance observée dans la première partie. En effet, tous les biomarqueurs étaient plus élevés dans la population MCI, dont significativement pour quatre sur cinq d'entre eux, parmi lesquels, la CRP, l'IL-6, l'IL-8 et l'IP-10. Ceci semblait aussi confirmer que l'IL-8 était un biomarqueur plus spécifique dans le cadre d'un TCL.

Afin d'étudier le rôle de l'IL-1 β et de confirmer les résultats obtenus précédemment, nous nous sommes intéressés à l'activation de l'inflammasome. Nous avons ajouté ici l'IL-18, qui est clivé de la même façon que le l'IL-1 β dans sa forme active par le complexe de l'inflammasome ainsi que la concentration d'IL-18BPa (Binding Protein). L'IL-18, une fois sécrétée, se lie soit à ses récepteurs (l'IL-18R α et l'IL-18R β), soit à l'IL-18BPa. La liaison de l'IL- 18 à l'IL-18BPa permet ainsi d'inhiber la réponse induite par la liaison de l'IL-18 à ses récepteurs, et la sécrétion de cytokines inflammatoires comme l'IFNy. En ce sens, nous avons considéré l'IL-18BPa, comme un biomarqueur en aval de la cascade de l'inflammasome. L'avantage de l'IL-18 et l'IL-18BPa est que ces biomarqueurs sont mesurables dans le LCR contrairement aux autres biomarqueurs (IL-1β, IL-1Ra). En comparant les niveaux des biomarqueurs dans le LCR (entre les populations MCI et NIC), ils étaient tous plus élevés dans la population MCI, dont significativement pour l'IL-18BPa. Dans le sérum, l'ASC, la caspase-1, l'IL-1β et l'IL-1Ra étaient aussi significativement plus élevés dans la population MCI, comparée à la population de contrôles sains. Finalement, en corrélant tous les biomarqueurs entre eux, seuls les biomarqueurs ASC et Caspase-1 corrélaient positivement et significativement dans les trois populations. De plus, seules les corrélations de l'IL-1Ra avec l'ASC et la Caspase-1 étaient spécifiquement significatives dans la population MCI. En ajoutant les biomarqueurs de l'immunité innée (IL-6, CRP, TNFa (Facteur de nécrose tumorale)) aux corrélations, aucuns liens directs avec ceux de l'inflammasome ne semblaient se dessiner. Dans le LCR, les trois biomarqueurs mesurables corrélaient tous positivement et significativement entre eux dans les deux populations (NIC et MCI). Nos résultats suggèrent que la voie de l'inflammasome est activée chez les patients avec un TCL, mais qu'elle n'explique pas à elle seule la surproduction d'IL-1 β .

Ensuite, le deuxième biomarqueur avec une concentration spécifique élevée chez les patients MCI, était l'IL-8 dans le sérum et le LCR. Ce biomarqueur est connu pour sa capacité à favoriser le recrutement et l'adhésion des monocytes et des neutrophiles aux cellules endothéliales des vaisseaux sanguins. Il permet ainsi le passage de ces cellules, du sang aux tissus enflammés. L'IL-8 a ainsi été liée à plusieurs pathologies, comme les maladies cardiovasculaires (maladie cérébro-vasculaire, athérosclérose). L'IL-8 a aussi été décrite dans la participation de processus inflammatoires chez les patients atteints de polyarthrite rhumatoïde. Dans la MA, l'IL-8 participerait au recrutement de deux types de cellules à travers la barrière hémato-encéphalique, les neutrophiles et les monocytes. Les neutrophiles sont parmi les premières cellules à arriver sur le site inflammatoire. Ils vont participer à la

production de dérivés réactifs de l'oxygène (DRO). Deux enzymes liées à la génération des DRO, la catalase et la glutathionne réductase, ont été mesurées afin d'évaluer la potentielle implication des neutrophiles dans la population avec un TCL. Malheureusement aucunes de ces deux enzymes n'étaient quantifiables dans les échantillons. En plus des DRO, les neutrophiles expriment une enzyme spécifique, la myélopéroxydase (MPO). Afin d'établir si les neutrophiles étaient impliqués chez les patients avec un TCL, la MPO a été mesurée dans les échantillons de sérum de la population MCI. Nous avons ensuite testé la corrélation entre l'IL-8 et la MPO. Malheureusement, les tests n'ont pas permis de démontrer de corrélation significative entre ces deux biomarqueurs. Encore une fois, la production d'IL-8 dans le TCL et la MA, n'est probablement pas uniquement liée au recrutement des neutrophiles.

Enfin pour s'intéresser aux rôles des deux réponses inflammatoires engagées (dans la circulation systémique et dans le cerveau) dans la pathologie de la MA, nous avons comparé chaque concentration de biomarqueurs dans le LCR et le sérum à l'aide de tests de Spearman. Ceci dans le but d'évaluer si certains biomarqueurs provenaient uniquement de la circulation sanguine ou du SNC, et comment l'inflammation systémique pouvait influencer celle du cerveau et vice-versa. Dans un premier temps, en comparant les médiateurs généralement associés à des processus centraux (GFAP, NFL, OPN, TIMP-1, sTREM-2 et YKL-40), aucuns d'entre eux ne corrélaient entre le LCR et le sérum pour la population MCI. Dans la population NIC, seul un biomarqueur, le NFL avait une corrélation positive significative entre les deux matrices. Même si ces biomarqueurs sont associés à des mécanismes centraux et certaines cellules du cerveau, ils ne sont, pour la plupart, pas uniquement produits dans le cerveau. Il est donc possible que les biomarqueurs soient sécrétés de façon indépendante dans chaque compartiment. Ensuite, en comparant les biomarqueurs de l'immunité innée et adaptative, plutôt associés au système périphérique, la même tendance a été observée. En effet pour la plupart des biomarqueurs il n'y avait aucune corrélation entre les deux matrices. Chez les patients MCI, seule la CRP corrélait positivement, alors que dans la population NIC, uniquement l'IL-18 corrélait positivement de façon significative. En sachant que la CRP est produite uniquement par le foie dans le système périphérique, seulement une très faible

quantité, de l'ordre de 0.001% ou moins se retrouve dans le cerveau. Cela pourrait donc indiquer une plus grande perméabilité de cette protéine dans le cerveau des patients atteins de TCL, ce qui corrèle avec les niveaux observés. En effet, alors que dans le sérum la concentration de CRP est quatre fois plus élevée dans la population NIC, dans le LCR, c'est l'opposé, avec une concentration quatre fois plus élevée chez les patients MCI. Ces résultats sont aussi encourageants car certains biomarqueurs, dont l'IP-10, le MCP-1 et l'IL-8 ont été associés avec le passage de cellules à travers la barrière hémato-encéphalique. De plus, ils sont liés à la possible dégradation de la barrière et sa perte de perméabilité due à l'action chronique de la réponse inflammatoire.

Enfin en s'intéressant au potentiel lien direct entre les biomarqueurs pathologiques de la MA (Aβ42, tTau, pTau) et les médiateurs de l'inflammation dans le LCR, très peu de biomarqueurs avaient une corrélation significative dans la population MCI. Etonnamment, dans cette population, quasiment aucuns des biomarqueurs neuronaux (GFAP, NFL, OPN, TIMP-1, TREM-2, UCHL-1 et YKL-40) ne semblaient corréler avec les caractéristiques de la MA. Seulement une corrélation entre le NFL et le tTau était significative. C'est assez intéressant puisque ces deux protéines ont été proposées par la NIA-AA comme biomarqueurs de la neurodégénérescence. En revanche, quasi-tous, excepté le NFL, corrélaient avec tTau dans la population NIC, et quatre d'entre eux avec pTau181 également. De même en comparant les biomarqueurs de l'inflammasome et de l'inflammation systémique dans le LCR, avec ceux associés à la MA, seul l'IL-18 binding protein a (BPa) corrélait avec le tTau chez les patients avec un TCL. A l'opposé, chez les patients NIC avec de l'ostéoarthrite, le tTau et la pTau181 corrélaient tous les deux significativement avec l'ASC et l'IL-18BPa et l'Aβ42 avec l'IL-8. Pourtant ces biomarqueurs semblaient être spécifiques des patients MCI. Ensuite en s'intéressant aux biomarqueurs neuronaux entre eux dans le LCR, quasiment tous, excepté l'ostéopontine, étaient liés dans la population MCI. Etant issus de l'activation des mêmes cellules dans le cerveau, ils reflètent potentiellement que les processus du SNC fonctionnent dépendamment les uns des autres. En observant de plus près ces mêmes biomarqueurs dans

le sérum, moins de corrélations significatives ont été observées dans la population MCI bien qu'elles étaient plus nombreuses que chez les patients NIC et contrôles sains.

Finalement en corrélant tous les autres biomarqueurs inflammatoires ensemble dans le LCR, l'IL-8 semblait corréler positivement avec TIMP-1. Ces deux biomarqueurs sont impliqués dans le recrutement de cellules inflammatoires sur le site de l'infection. Ceci pourrait confirmer leur rôle dans l'ouverture de la barrière hémato-encéphalique, d'autant plus qu'ils ont des concentrations significativement plus élevées dans la population MCI. Enfin en effectuant les mêmes tests dans le sérum des trois populations, plus de résultats significatifs ont été trouvées dans la population MCI, avec entre autres, une forte corrélation entre l'IL-8 et l'IL-1 β . Cela semble donc confirmer que ces deux biomarqueurs jouent un rôle important chez les patients atteins de troubles cognitifs légers. De plus, les biomarqueurs associés au système immunitaire inné corrélaient significativement entre eux (CRP, IL-6, TNF α). Pour conclure, l'ensemble de ces résultats démontrent l'importance de la réponse inflammatoire du système immunitaire inné dans le trouble cognitif léger et possiblement la progression dans la maladie d'Alzheimer.

Conclusion

Le projet de cette thèse repose sur une étude de population afin de comparer les différents biomarqueurs inflammatoires solubles dans du sang et du liquide céphalo-rachidien. L'objectif était d'évaluer si les patients avec un trouble cognitif léger dû à la maladie d'Alzheimer présentaient une signature inflammatoire spécifique qui pourrait prédire leur progression vers le stade de démence. Les différentes concentrations de biomarqueurs solubles ont été mesurées par des immunoessais dans trois populations différentes. La première était composée de soixante-quinze patients souffrant d'un trouble cognitif léger, la seconde de quarante-cinq patients cognitivement sains mais atteints d'arthrose et enfin la troisième, de trente contrôles sains. Comme la collecte du liquide Céphalo-rachidien est réservée aux patients malades, seules les deux premières populations disposaient des deux matrices (LCR et sérum).

En comparant les biomarqueurs caractéristiques de la MA, l'ensemble des protéines Tau était significativement plus élevé chez les patients au stade de pré-démence. Les autres biomarqueurs, l'Aβ42 et la pTau, avaient des concentrations similaires, ce qui suggère que le diagnostic doit être étendu à d'autres composants de la maladie. Ces résultats sont néanmoins intéressants car ils confirment des études mettant en évidence que l'arthrose était un facteur de risque associé à la démence. Cette maladie, qui est aussi fortement influencée par l'âge des patients, pourrait également faciliter et accélérer l'accumulation et le dépôt des plaques amyloïdes et des protéines pTau. Ceci pourrait expliquer les mêmes niveaux de concentration observés entre les biomarqueurs spécifiques de la maladie d'Alzheimer dans ces deux populations.

Des concentrations comparables entre les patients MCI et NIC ont également été observées pour les biomarqueurs du système immunitaire inné dans le sérum. En effet, bien que les deux populations eussent des profils inflammatoires élevés, seuls deux biomarqueurs semblaient être spécifiques au trouble cognitif léger. Ces deux biomarqueurs sont l'IL-1 β et l'IL-8. Dans l'arthrose, plusieurs études ont montré une augmentation du niveau d'IL-1 β et de la caspase-1 associés à l'inflammation de l'articulation. Cela expliquerait les corrélations similaires obtenues en comparant les biomarqueurs de l'inflammasome chez ces patients et ceux avec un TCL. L'IL-1 β est produite par plusieurs voies métaboliques et cellules du système immunitaire inné, il est donc possible qu'elle ne soit pas uniquement sécrétée par cette voie inflammatoire.

En plus de l'IL-1β, l'IL-8 est très intéressante car les concentrations que nous avons mesurées étaient significativement plus élevées aussi bien dans le sérum que dans le LCR des patients avec un TCL. L'IL-8, est une cytokine connue pour son rôle dans l'activation et le recrutement de neutrophiles et monocytes sur le site de l'inflammation. Dans la maladie d'Alzheimer, les résultats suggèrent que l'IL-8 est aussi associée aux passages de cellules et cytokines à travers la barrière hémato-encéphalique. C'est aussi le cas de trois autres biomarqueurs qui étaient plus élevés dans le LCR cette population (l'IP-10, le MCP-1 et le TIMP-1). De plus, l'IL-8 est

211

impliquée dans les mécanismes périvasculaires et pourrait contribuer à leurs dysfonctionnements. C'est particulièrement intéressant puisqu'une majeure partie des patients MCI souffrent également de maladies cardio-vasculaires. Or, plusieurs évidences ont démontré que ces pathologies participaient grandement à l'augmentation des risques de développer la MA.

Pour conclure, les résultats de cette thèse confirment que des processus inflammatoires sont impliqués chez les personnes souffrant d'un trouble cognitif léger. Ces processus se produisent aussi bien dans la circulation systémique que dans le cerveau, mais semblent indépendants dans le continuum de la MA. Bien que certains biomarqueurs inflammatoires étaient plus spécifiques dans le cerveau (GFAP, OPN, sTREM-2, YKL-40), deux autres biomarqueurs étaient remarquablement élevés dans le sang, à savoir l'IL-1 β et l'IL-8. Ces deux cytokines sont connues pour être impliquées dans l'immunité innée, et pourraient jouer un rôle dans la progression de la démence. Les biomarqueurs solubles étudiés ne donnent qu'un bref aperçu des processus inflammatoires engagés à un moment donné. L'ensemble de ces résultats témoigne de la complexité et de l'hétérogénéité du continuum de la maladie d'Alzheimer.

Mots clés : Maladie d'Alzheimer, Biomarqueurs, Trouble cognitif léger, Neuroinflammation, Système immunitaire inné.

Abréviations :

ASC : Apoptosis-associated Speck-like protein containing a Caspase recruitment domain Aβ : Amyloïde Bêta BP : Binding Protein Covid-19: maladie à Coronavirus 2019 CRP: Protéine C-Réactive DNF: Dégénérescences NeuroFibrillaires DRO: Dérivé Réactif de l'Oxygène EDTA : Acide éthylènediaminetétraacétique FDA: Food and Drug Administration GFAP : Protéine acide fibrillaire gliale HC : Healthy Control IFN : Interféron

IL : Interleukine

IP-10 : Protéine-10 induite par l'interféron gamma

LCR : Liquide Céphalo-Rachidien

MA : Maladie d'Alzheimer

MCI : Mild Cognitive Impairment

MCP-1 : Monocyte chemoattractant protein-1

MMSE : Mini examen de l'était mental

MPO : Myélopéroxydase

NFL : Chaîne légère des neurofilaments

NIA-AA : National Institute of Aging – Alzheimer's Association).

NIC : Non-Impaired Control

NLRP3 : Nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain, leucine-rich repeat and pyrin domain-

containing protein 3

OMS : Organisation Mondiale de la Santé

OPN : Ostéopontine

pTau : Protéine Tau phosphorylée

qPCR : Réaction en chaîne par polymérase quantitative

SNC : Système Nerveux Central

TCL : Trouble Cognitif Léger

TEP : Tomographie par Emission de Positons

TIMP-1 : Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinase

TNF : Facteur de nécrose tumorale

TREM-2 : Triggering Receptor Expressed on Myeloid cells 2

tTau : Total des protéines Tau

UCH-L1 : Ubiquitin carboxy-terminal hydrolase L1

YKL-40 : Chitinase 3-like-1